MICROBIOLOGY OF COMPOSTING EUCALYPT BARK

bу N.J. Ashbolt, B.Agr.Sc.(Hons.)

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

to be conferred

University of Tasmania Hobart November 1984 This thesis contains no material which has been accepted for any other degree or diploma in any university, and to the best of my knowledge, contains no copy or paraphrase of material previously published or written by any other person, except where due reference is made in the text of the thesis.

J. J. appol

N.J.Ashbolt

The University of Tasmania

Hobart

Table of Conten**ts**

| , | ٥ÿ |
|--|----------------|
| Abbreviations | i |
| Publications | i i |
| Acknowledgements i | ii |
| Abstract | i v |
| 1. LITERATURE REVIEW | 1 |
| 1.1 The Microbiology of Composting | 1 |
| 1.1.1 Historical | 1 |
| 1.1.2 Microbial successions in compost | 3 |
| 1.1.3 Biodegradation of bark Components | 6 |
| 1.1.3.1 Cellulose biodegradation 1.1.3.2 Hemicellulose biodegradation 1.1.3.3 Lignin and tannin biodegradation | 6 8 9 |
| 1.1.4 Nitrogen transformations | 14 |
| 1.1.4.1 Ammonification and ammonia volatilization 1.1.4.2 Nitrification 1.1.4.3 Denitrification | 14 15 17 |
| 1.1.5 Assays of microbial activity and biomass | 18 |
| 1.1.5.1 Microbial activity 1.1.5.2 Microbial biomass 1.1.5.3 Effect of composting on pathogens | 18 21 22 |
| 1.1.6 The thermophilic microflora | 24 |
| 1.1.6.1 Definitions 1.1.6.2 The range of thermophilic organisms 1.1.6.3 Nomenclature of thermophilic Bacillus | 24 25 |
| spp, | 26 |
| 1.2 Composting of Bark | 32 |
| 1.2.1 Methods of composting | 32 |
| 1.2.1.1 Bench-scale composting 1.2.1.2 Large-scale composting | 32 33 |
| 1.2.2 Conditions for composting | 34 |
| 1.2.2.1 Temperature, moisture and aeration 1.2.2.2 pH and chemical amendments | 34 35 |
| 1.2.3 Compost maturity | 37 |
| 1.3 Bark as a Plant Growth Medium | 37 |
| 1.3.1 Nitrogen-immobilization | 38 |
| 1.3.2 Phytotoxicity of bark | 39 |

Page

Table of Conten**te**

| | 2. MATERIALS and METHODS | 41 |
|---|---|----------|
| | 2.1 Collection and Storage of Compost Materials | 41 |
| | 2.1.1 Bark | 41 42 |
| | 2.1.3 Fish waste | 42 |
| | 2.2 Compost Mixes and Apparatus | 42 |
| | 2.2.1 Large-scale composting | 42 |
| | 2.2.2 Bench-scale composting | 42 |
| | 2.2.2.1 Constituents and conditions used for | Δ٦ |
| | 2.2.2.2 Gas chromatographic monitoring of | 45 43 |
| | 2.3 Monitorian of Compost Activity and Conditions | 50 |
| | 2 3.1 Compost enzyme activity | 51 |
| | 2.3.2 Estimation of microbial biomass in compost | 57 |
| | 7 4 Chemical Analysis | 52 |
| | 2.5 Icolation and Enumeration of Microorganisms | 52 |
| | 2.5.1 Microbiological media | 53 |
| | 2.5.1 1 For total estimated numbers and | |
| | identification of microorganisms | 53 |
| | utilizing complex wood components 2.5.1.3 Estimated numbers & assay of lipolytic | ,53 |
| | bacteria 2.5.1.4 Most probable number & assay of | . 55 |
| | nitrifiers 2.5.1.5 Medium used in cell wall & esterase | 55 |
| | assays 2.5.1.6 Screening for nuclease activity | 56 57 |
| ` | 2.5.2 Anaerobic techniques | 57 |
| | 2.6 Detection Methods Used for Assaving Microproanisms | 57 |
| | 2.6.1 Detection methods used to assav the utilization | |
| | of complex carbon sources | 57 |
| | 2.6.1.1 Utilization of cellulose 2.6.1.2 Utilization of lignin | 57 58 |
| | 2.6.2 Detection of nitrification | 58 |
| | 2.6.3 Estimated numbers of faecal indicator bacteria | 58 |
| | 2.7 Identification of Isolates | 59 |
| | 2.7.1 Identification of bacterial isolates | 59 |
| | 2.7.1.1 Cell wall analysis | 60 |
| | 2.7.1.2 Estimated %(6+Ĉ) ratio 2.7.1.3 Pigment analysis | 60 61 |
| | 2.7.1.4 Scánning electron microscopy 2.7.1.5 Transmission electron microscopy | 61 61 |
| | 2.7.1.6 Isoenzyme patterns | 62 |
| | 2.7.2 Identification of fungal isolates | 63 |
| | 2.8 Toxins in Bark and Compost | 63 |
| | 2.8.1 Antibacterial components in compost | 63 |
| | 2.8.2 Plant bioassay of phytotoxins | 64 |
| | 2.8.2.1 Chemical assay of compost extracts | 64 |
| | 2.9 Physical Properties of Bark Compost | 67 |

 \sim

Table of Contents

-

| 3. RESULTS | 68 |
|--|------------|
| 3.1 Large-scale composting | 68 |
| 3.1.1 Monitoring of temperature | 68 |
| 3.1.2 Monitoring of cellulase activity, pH and moisture content | 68 |
| 3.1.3 Enumeration of bacteria | 71 |
| 3.2 Bench-scale composting | 73 |
| 3.2.1 Evaluation of the bench-scale system and parameters used to monitor the composting of bark | 73 |
| 3.2.1.1 Reproducibility of the results achieved by the bench-scale system | 73 |
| 3.2.1.2 Correlations between the parameters of compost activity | 77 |
| 3.2.1.3 Degradation of compost components | 77 |
| 3.2.2 Optimization of the bench-scale system | 79 |
| 3.2.2.1 Optimal temperature and rate of aeration for composting | 79 |
| 3.2.2.2 Optimal mix of compost components based on respiratory activity | 83 |
| 3,2.2.3 Estimated numbers of microorganisms in relation to optimization of composting | 90 |
| 3.2.3 Enzyme activities during composting | 97 |
| 3.2.3.1 Determination of the effects of pH and temperature on CMCase activity in | |
| composts 3.2.3.2 Determination of the CMCase activity | 97 |
| during composting 3.2.3.3 Detection of other enzymes during | 97 |
| composting | 98 |
| 3.2.4 Nitrogen transformation during composting 1 | .03 |
| 3.2.4.1 Ammonifications and nitrification 1 3.2.4.2 Volatilization of nitrogen during | .03 |
| composting 3.2.4.3 Non-biological N+transformations 1 | $13 \\ 11$ |
| 3.2.5 Estimation of compost microbial biomass 1 | 19 |
| 3.3 Identification and biochemical properties of compost isolates. | 21 |
| 3.3.1 Grouping of thermophilic bacilli based on isoenzyme patterns | 28 |
| 3.3.1.1 Isoenzymes of RNase 1 3.3.1.2 Isoenzymes of esterases 1 | 28 |
| 3.3.1.3 Isoenzymes of lipase 1 | 30 |
| 3.3.2 Production of hydrolytic enzymes by compost isolates | 32 |
| 3.3.3 Isolation of nitrifying microorganisms during composting 1 | 35 |
| 3.3.4 Estimated numbers of faecal indicator bacteria composting | 35 |
| 3.3.5 Toxicity of compost components to the predominant compost microflora 1 | 37 |
| 3.4 Destruction of phytotoxins by composting 1 | 37 |
| 3.4.1 Identification of phenolics in raw bark and composts 1 | 140 |
| 3.5 Physical properties of bark compost | 41 |

• .

| Table of Content | 2 |
|------------------|---|
|------------------|---|

| 4. DISCUSSION | 142 |
|---|---------------------------------|
| 4.1 The bench-scale system | 142 |
| 4.2 Parameters influencing the composting of bark | 143 |
| 4.2.1 Large-scale composting | 144 |
| 4.2.2 Bench-scale composting | 145 |
| 4.2.2.1 Temperature 4.2.2.2 Aeration, particle size and moiture 4.2.2.3 C:N ratio, nutrient availability and pH | 145 146 149 |
| 4.3 Nutrient transformations | 151 |
| 4.3.1 Carbon transformations | 151 |
| 4.3.1.1 Lipid degradation 4.3.1.2 Cellulose degradation 4.3.1.3 Hemicellulose degradation 4.3.1.4 Pectin degradation 4.3.1.5 Lignin degradation | 151 153 154 154 155 |
| 4.3.2 Nitrogen transformations | 156 |
| 4.4 The microorganisms in bark compost | 158 |
| 4.4.1 Influence of bark components on microbial successions during composting | 161 |
| 4.4.2 Taxonomy of thermophilic isolates | 162 |
| 4.4.2.1 Nonsporeforming genera 4.4.2.2 Thermophilic Bacillus | 162 163 |
| 4.5 Suitability of bark compost as a plant growth medium | 164 |
| 4.5.1 Chemical properties of bark compost | 164 |
| 4.5.2 Physical properties of compost | 165 |
| REFERENCES | 166 |
| APPENDICES | 217 |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |

Tables

| | | page |
|-----|--|--------------|
| 1. | Differentiation of <i>B.stearothermophilus</i> from <i>B.coagulans</i> . | 29 |
| 2. | Reactions characterizing the pricipal groups of Bacillus stearothermophilus. | 30 |
| 3. | Classification of recognized Bacillus thermophiles after Walker and Wolf (1971). | 31 |
| 4. | Composition of bark, fish waste and sewage cake used in compost mixes. | 49 |
| 5. | Correlation Matrix and PCA of Compost Variables Assayed During R1 & R2. | 78 |
| 6. | Mean Percentage Losses of Compost Components after 35d Composting. | 79 |
| 7. | Mean CO ₂ Output at Various Temperatures in Fish-bark composts of Initial C:N=45 and 55. | 80 |
| 8. | Mean CO ₂ Output and % Loss of CO ₂ -C at 55° and Various Aeration Rates During 720 hours of Composting Fish-bark of Initial C:N 45. | 80 |
| 9. | Mean % Weight Loss as CO2-C ¹ in Composts of Various C:N Ratios after 28d of composting. | 84 |
| 10. | Mean Estimates of Numbers of Thermophilic Bacteria Isolated at Intervals During Composting of Fish-bark of Initial C:N = 45 or 65. | 91 |
| 11. | Mean Estimates of Numbers of Microorganisms During Compo of Fish- and Urea-bark of Initial C:N = 45 During R4. | osting 92 |
| 12. | Correlation Matrix of Microbial Counts and Respiration During R1 and R2 and R4. | 93 |
| 13. | Comparison of Bacterial Counts During Composting of Fist bark (Initial C:N=45) at Two Rates of Aeration. | n- 94 |
| 14. | Correlation Matrix of Microbial Counts and Respiration During R7 and R8. | 96 |
| 15. | Correlation Matrix of pH, Ammonium and Nitrate During 28 Days Composting of all Mixes. | 107 |
| 16. | Mean Percentage Losses of Nitrogen by Volatilization after 28d of Composting. | 118 |
| 17. | Percentage Distribution of Thermophilic Isolates Among Taxa at Various Time Intervals R2. | 125 |
| 18. | Percentage Distribution of Isolates Among Taxa at - Various Time Intervals R4. | 126 |
| 19. | Estimated Numbers and % Distribution of Isolates Among Taxa Durino R7 & R8. | . 127 |
| 20. | Electrophoretic Mobility of RNases in Extracts of Thermophilic Bacillus Culture. | 129 |
| 21. | Electrophoretic Mobility of Alpha-Naphthyl Esterases in Extracts of Thermophilic Bacillus Cultures. | 131 |
| 22. | Relative CMCase Activity Produced by Compost Isolates | 133 |
| 23. | Lignoclastic Activity of Selected Compost Isolates. | 134 |
| 24. | Mean Lettuce Root Lengths Following Growth of Plants | |
| | in Water Extracts of 28d Old Composts. | 139 |
| 25. | Predominant Phenolics Present in 28d Old Composts. | 140 |
| 26. | Physical Properties of Large-scale Eucalypt Bark, Pine Bark Composts and of Peat Moss. | 141 |

Figures

| | | page |
|-----|---|-------------------|
| 1. | Scheme of the bench-scale composting apparartus. | 46 |
| 2. | Polyvinylchloride composter unit. | 46 |
| 3. | Automated gas sampling system. | 48 |
| 4. | Microbial assay of compost toxicity. | 66 |
| 5. | Temperatures in large-scale compost heaps during 300d of composting urea- and sewage-bark mixes. | 69 |
| 6. | Moisture content; pH and carboxymethylcellulase activity composting of urea- and sewage-bark in large-scale heap | / during s. 70 |
| 7. | Estimated numbers of bacteria during large-scale composting of urea- and sewage-bark mixes. | 72 |
| 8. | Mean CO2 output, O2 uptake and CMCase activity over time for two fish-bark composts. | 74 |
| 9. | Mean NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻ production and pH over time from two fish-bark composts. | 75 |
| 10. | Mean humification indices and moisture content over time from two fish-bark composts. | ? 76 |
| 11. | CO₂ output during the composting of fish-bark of initial C:N=45 or 55, aerated at 30 mL min ⁻¹ and incubated at 50 55° and 60° during latter stages. | ,°,81 |
| 12. | \dot{CO}_2 output during the composting of fish-bark of initial C:N=45 aerated at 10, 20 or 30 mL min ⁻¹ . | 82 |
| 13. | CO ₂ output during the composting of fish-bark of initial C:N=45, aeration 15 mL min ⁻¹ . | 85 |
| 14. | CO2 output during the composting of fish- and urea-bark of initial C:N=45, aeration 10 mL min ⁻¹ . | 86 |
| 15. | CO ₂ output during the composting of fish-, urea- and sewage- bark of initial C:N=35, aeration 20 mL min ⁻¹ . | 87 |
| 16. | CO ₂ output during the composting of fish-, urea- and sewage- bark of initial C:N=25, aeration 20 mL min ⁻¹ . | 88 |
| 17. | CO ₂ output during the composting of urea-, urea + p-benzoquinone- and IBDU-bark of initial C:N=35, aeratic 20 mL min ⁻¹ . | on 89 |
| 18. | Total Counts of Microorganisms Isolated During Peaks of Respiratory Activity in Various Compost Mixes, Initial C:N=35. | 95 |
| 19. | Effect of pH on the assay of CMCase activity in 20d old fish-bark compost (pH= 7.2, initial C:N=45). | 99 |
| 20. | Relative CMCase activity against temperature within fish-bark compost samples of various ages (initial C:N=45). | 100 |
| 21. | Relative CMC:se activity in fish-bark compost of various initial C:N ratios. | 100 |
| 22. | Relative CMCase activity in fish-, urea- and sewage-bark compost of initial C:N ratios 25 and 35. | : 101 |
| 23. | Lipolytic activity during the composting of fish-bark composts of initial C:N ratios 45 and 55. | 102 |
| 24. | Net ammonification and nitrification in fish-bark composts of various initial C:N ratios. | 104 |

Figures

| 25. | Net ammonification and nitrification in fish, urea- and sewage-bark composts of initial C:N=25. | 105 |
|-----|--|------|
| 26. | Net ammonification and nitrification in fish, urea- and sewage-bark composts of initial C:N=35. | 106 |
| 27. | pH levels in composts of various initial C:N ratios. | 108 |
| 28. | Net mineralization of N in fish- and urea-bark composts of initial C:N=45. | ,109 |
| 29. | Residual urea in urea- and IBDU-bark composts of initial C:N=35. | 110 |
| 30. | Net mineralization of N in sterile and non-sterile fish-bark composts of initial C:N=45. | 112 |
| 31. | Volatilization of ammonia and N-oxides from fish-bark composts of various initial C:N ratios. | 114 |
| 32. | Volatilization of ammonia and N-oxides from fish-, urea- and sewage-bark composts of initial C:N=25. | 1.15 |
| 33. | Volatilization of ammonia and N-oxides from fish-, urea- and sewage-bark composts of initial C:N=35. | 116 |
| 34. | Volatilization of ammonia and N-oxides from urea-, urea + p-benzoquinone & IBDU-bark composts of initial C:N=35. | 117 |
| 35. | Net respiration curves showing the release of CO ₂ -C from CHCl ₃ -fumigated, reinoculated composts of initial C:N=35. | 420 |
| 36. | Dendrogram showing the relationship between thermophilic Bacillus isolates. | 124 |
| 37. | Estimated numbers of faecal coliforms and streptococci in sewage-bark composts. | 136 |
| 38. | Relative tolerance to composts (C:N=35) of the predominant flora isolated at each peak of respiratory activity. | 138 |
| 39. | Mean percent losses of N versus CO $_2$ from various mixes. | 149 |

. .

```
* - degree centigrade
                                             µm - micron
mA - milliamphere
                                             min - minute
AOV - analysis of variance
                                             MS - mean square
ATCC - American Type Culture Collection
                                             N - nitrogen
ATP - adenosine triphosphate
                                             NO<sub>x</sub> - nitrogen oxide(s)
b - beta
                                             nov. spec. - novel species
B. - Bacillus
                                             ODW - oven dry (105°) weight
C - carbon
                                             p - para
CFU - colony forming unit(s)
                                             p < - probability less than</p>
C<sub>1</sub> - exoglucanase
                                             PCA - principal component anaylysis
cm - centimeter
                                             pers. comm. - personal communication
CMC - carboxymethylcellulose
                                             PVC - polyvinyl chloride
CMCase - carboxymethylcellulase
                                             PVP = Polyvinylpolypyrrolidone
C:N - carbon to nitrogen ratio
                                             q or quinone - para-benzoquinone
d - dav(s)
                                             r - correlation coefficient
m-DAP - meso-2,6-diaminopimelic acid
                                             RBBR - Remazol brilliant blue r dye
df - degrees of freedom
                                             SEM - scanning electron
                                                    microscopy/microscope
E. - Eucalyptus
                                             S<sub>sm</sub> - simple matching coefficient
______of Sokal and Michener (1958)
ed. - editer
F - variance ratio
                                             sp(p). - species
q - qram
                                             TA - tannin agar
% (G+C) or % GC - percent quanine
                                             TB - tryptone liquid medium
                   plus cytósine
                                             Topt - temperature optimum
GC - gas chromatography
                                             Tmex - temperature maximum
microgram – وير
                                             Tmin - termperature minimum
h - hour
                                             TSA - tryptic soy agar
IBDU - isobutylidene diurea
                                             kV - kilovolt
kg - kilogram
L - litre
LigA - lignin agar
LSD - least significant difference
M'- molar
m - meter
m<sup>2</sup> - square meter
m³ - cubic meter
m.c. - moisture content(s)
mL - millilitre
mm - millimeter
```

e .

Publications

- Ashbolt, N.J. and Line, M.A. (1980). Development of Bench-Scale Composting Units for Studies on Composting of Waste Eucalypt Bark. Aust. Soc. Microbiol. & N.Z. Microbiol. Soc. Combined Sci. Meeting, Univ. Otago, Dunedin, N.Z., May 20-23, 1980. Abstract E33.
- Ashbolt, N.J. and Line, M.A. (1982). A Bench-Scale System to Study the Composting of Organic Wastes. J. Environ. Qual., 11:405-408.
- Ashbolt, N.J. and Line, M.A. (1983). Microbial Ecology of Composting Eucalypt Bark. Aust. Soc. Microbiol. Ann. Meeting, St. Lucia Univ., Brisbane, May 16-20, 1983. Abstract S31.6.
- Ashbolt, N.J. (1983). Process for Eucalypt Bark Composting. Australian patent application PF 8783.

. Acknowledgements

I wish to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. M.A. Line (Department of Agricultural Science, The University of Tasmania) for his considerable help provided throughout the duration of this project. I am also indebted to his persistence in grant applications.

I gratefully acknowledge the financial support given by Australian Newsprint Mills, Boyer, The Tasmanian Fishery Development Authority, the Tasmanian Department of Agriculture and the Rural Credit Development Fund of the Australian Government. These grants enabled the construction of a bench-scale composter and the purchase of an automatic gas analysis system.

Thanks are also due to the following people for providing materials and advice: The Late Mr. V.S. Clark, Millvale nursery, Dromadary for ever encouraging this project which he initiated and for his generous help in the construction of large-scale compost heaps; Mr. D. Richardson, Australian Newsprint Mills, Boyer for donating eucalypt bark; Mr. J. Appelby, Bass-Isle Seafoods, Glenorchy for donating fish wastes; Mr. H. Gunter, Glenorchy Sewage Depot, Glenorchy for donating and transporting sewage sludge; Dr. J. Olley, C.S.I.R.O., Hobart for encouragement and mincing of fish wastes.

Finally, I am sincerely greatful to Mr. W. Peterson and Mr. R. Cruickshank for tolerating persistent questioning and providing technical assistance, Mr. A. Beswick and Mr. B. Stilbek for the construction of the bench-scale composter and Dr. P. Doe for the design and construction of the automated gas sampler.

Abstract

The main aims of this study were to examine the optimal conditions for composting and factors influencing microbiological changes during the composting of *Eucalyptus* bark in the production of a plant growth medium.

bench-scale composter was designed to provide strict Α control over air composition, moisture content, temperature and six 4-L capacity gas-tight mixing. The composter consisted of units of PVC plastic, each of which was provided with a mixing paddle coupled to a common drive. A natural temperature rise was simulated by having the units immersed in a water bath, with the temperature increased at rates consistent with those observed in large-scale compost heaps. This provided a comparatively inexpensive versatile system, with rates of CD₂ and CH4 production and O₂ consumption automatically monitored by gas Levels of volatilized NH₃ and nitrogen chromatography. oxides (NO_{*}) were manually monitored from acid traps. The reproducibility of the system was as good as the best reported.

Optimal conditions for the bench-scale composting of eucalypt bark were considered to be a temperature of 55°, an aeration rate of at least 20 mL min⁻¹ and an initial C:N ratio of 25-30, depending on the availability of nitrogen. Nitrogen, in decreasing order of availability, was provided in the form of urea, isobutylidene diurea (IBDU), fish wastes or sewage cake. Both respiratory activity and nitrogen loss data were considered to be of value in determining the economic as well as the microbiological optimal C:N ratio of bark compost. further No amendment other than water (giving an initial moisture content of 114% d.w. basis) was found to be necessary.

Ammonification and NH₃ volatilization occurred during the first sixteen days of composting while volatilization of ND_x was substantial during times of undesirable nitrogen availability. Delaying ammonification in the urea amended composts (by either the addition of quinone or urea's replacement with IBDU) increased ammonia volatilization. Net nitrification followed peak net ammonification, but nitrate appeared to be produced largely chemically rather than biologically. Volatilization of NO_x was greatest from compost prepared using sewage cake.

Up to five peaks of CO2 output were observed over a 30 day run, three occurring during the transition to thermophilic conditions and one or two peaks occurring during a plateau temperature of 55°. The predominant flora comprised Bacillus spp. during the mesophilic and early thermophilic phases (B.brevis and B.sphaericus followed bу B.circulans and B.brevis then B.circulans, B.sphaericus or B.stearothermophilus). Bacillus spp. continued to predominate throughout the composting of sewage-bark and most of the fish-bark composts. However, actinomycetes (Streptomyces spp. and Thermomonospora spp.) and coryneforms predominated at latter stages of urea-bark composts. Strictly anaerobic bacteria appeared to be unimportant during the composting of bark. The predominant flora isolated during the mesophilic phase were not inhibited by compost components of any while members of the climax flora were inhibited by fresh age, compost components. Cellulase activity was not correlated with peaks in CO₂ output, but showed a slow increase or decrease, depending on the initial C:N ratio, over 30 days composting. However, lipase activity correlated with the peak in CO2 output at about day sixteen in a fish-bark compost.

The identification of thermophilic Bacillus spp. was aided by a study of their esterase mobilities and the use of numerical taxonomy. Phenolic compounds present after 30 days composting were phytotoxic. However, levels of residual ammonium could largely account for the phytotoxicity exhibited by water extracts from most of these composts. Eucalypt bark composts had a higher density than pine-bark composts or peat moss, but were as good as or better than the latter materials with regard to their water characteristics and particle-size distribution.

1 - LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 The Microbiology of Composting

1.1.1 Historical

Composting, defined as the microbial degradation of organic solid material under controlled conditions to a state in which it will not adversely affect the environment (Golueke, 1977), has been practiced since biblical times (Crawford, 1983). It was not until the turn of the century that the microbial transformation of plant and animal residues to a uniform, dark coloured mass, known as humus, was first studied (Hebert, 1893; Deherain and: Demoussy, 1896). However, these initial studies on the microbiology and chemistry of composting failed to show any correlation between the changing microbial population of the compost and the chemical transformations involved (Russell and Ritchards, 1917; Ruschmann, 1928).

The 1920's saw the development of large-scale composting processes such as the Indore process in India and the Beccari process in Italy. These processes were largely anaerobic, resulting in problems related to putrefaction and survival of pathogens (due to the low temperatures achieved). It was not until the substantial work of Waksman and co-workers, on the physical conditions for, and microbial successions in, composting straw, that a clearer understanding of the microbiology of composting began to evolve (Waksman, et.al., 1939a, 1939b). The results of this work showed that the media (favouring eubacteria) and incubation temperatures (favouring mesophiles) used by previous workers, severely limited the growth of the predominant compost flora, which comprised of mesophilic actinomycetes, fungi and, most importantly, their thermophilic counterparts. They also demonstrated that the major chemical changes occurred during the

thermophilic stage of composting (Waksman and Gerretsen, 1931; Waksman, et.al., 1939b). Despite this and other more recent work, some workers have persisted with inappropriate temperatures for the isolation of compost microflora. For example, in an attempt to include both mesophilic and thermophilic microorganisms on the same isolation medium Deschamps, et.al. (1980a) used a single incubation temperature of 37°.

The need for nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium and the use of soil as inoculum in the windrow composting of plant material was noted by Rodale (1945). Realizing a potential for organic fertiliser, several commercial companies developed mechanized composting systems, making use of forced aeration to reduce the composting time. Examples include the VAM (Vuil-Arvoer-Mast) process in Holland, the Dano process in Denmark and the Frazer process in the United States (Golueke, 1977). All of these systems however, were developed by engineers with little knowledge of the microbiology and biochemistry essential to the process. It was not until the 1950's that the necessary research was undertaken at the University of California, and later by the U.S. Public Health Service. The publications of Golueke, et.al. (1954), Gotaas (1956), Hart (1970), McGauhey (1971), and Jeris and Regan (1973a) describe this work in detail. In brief, forced aeration and special additives were found to be unnecessary in ordinary windrow composting. Oxygen diffusion, aided by occasional turning, was shown to provide sufficient aeration. Given organic material with sufficiently available nutrients, no added chemicals were beneficial and special inocula were shown to be worthless.

Studies on the composting of straw, municipal wastes and sewage sludge have been reviewed by Updegraff (1972) and Finstein and Morris (1975). Only recently have microbial studies turned to aspects of bark composting (Nordstrom, 1974; Ross and Corden, 1975; Grant, 1976; Bagstam, 1977, 1978; Toskov et.al., 1979; Deschamps, 1982; Solbraa, et.al., 1983; Solbraa, 1984). The more recent findings and general aspects of composting relevant to the microbiology of bark composting are reviewed here.

1.1.2 Microbial Successions in Compost

Composting is a slow process depending on a sequential change in the microbial flora. The precise nature of the succession and the number of organisms present at each stage depends on the nature of the composting material and upon the preceding organisms in the succession (Crawford, 1983). The changes in temperature during aerobic composting have a fundamental influence on these microbial successions, first detailed by Waksman (1939a, 1939b). Three stages may be delineated; an initial mesophilic stage during which there is a rapid temperature rise over a few days, a thermophilic stage of at least ten days (or considerably longer if the material is not finely ground) and finally, following a decline in temperature, a maturing mesophilic stage of several weeks' (Golueke, 1977).

The initial rapid temperature increase in moist material is considered to be due to bacterial activity (Dye and Rothbaum, 1964), with acid producers and Gram positive cocci predominating in hay compost (Gray and Biddlestone, 1976; Fesenstein, et.al., 1965). During the composting of spruce bark, Bagstam (1978) found that after two days bacteria represented about 70% of the "total" estimated microbial numbers of 8.3 x 10¹⁰ organisms g⁻¹, and 90-100% during the later thermophilic stage. Fungi on the other hand are primarily found in the cooler outer regions of compost and are not present above 65° (Alexander, 1977). Furthermore, Finstein and Morris (1975) suggested that the rapid temperature rise and high temperature of the first two composting stages were not conducive to fungal growth.

The bacterial flora of various composts has been found to change from one dominated at low temperatures by species of Achromobacter (now Alcalagenes), Bacillus, Flavobacterium, Hicrococcus and Pseudomonas (Anon, 1955; Niese, 1959) to one dominated by sporeforming Streptomyces and Bacillus at 45-50° (Lacey, 1973; Strom, 1978) and Thermoactinomyces, Hicropolyspora, Thermomonospora and Bacillus species up to 65° (Lacey, 1973; Stutzenberger, et.al., 1970; Strom, 1978) with Bacillus species at

the higher temperatures (Niese, 1959).

Despite the predominance of bacteria other that actinomycetes during the thermophilic stage of composting, few studies have been made on the species involved. Strom (1978) , however, in reviewing the role of bacteria in composting municipal wastes, identified fifteen species, ten of which belong to the genus Bacillus. In decreasing order of frequency he isolated B. circulans, B.stearothermophilus, B. coagulans, B. licheniforma, B. brevis, B. sphaericus, and B. subtilis. Bacillus dominated all of his samples taken at compost temperatures from 50° to 65°, although Streptomyces, Thermoactinomyces, two genera of nonsporing bacteria, and the fungus Aspergillus fumigatus were also isolated.

Information on the presence of anaerobic bacteria during composting is very limited. With high rates of microbial activity, particularly during the first week of composting, anaerobic micro-sites would be expected despite active aeration. Slathe (1934) demonstrated the presence of Clostridium in compost. however, few workers have since identified the anaerobes in Gregory, et.al. (1963) found no anaerobic bacterium in compost. moulding hay until after two days of composting, and then "total" estimated numbers of anaerobes were at least three orders of magnitude below the "total" aerobes (greater than 10" organisms per gram). Muller and Ritter (1972) similarly found "total" estimated numbers of anaerobes to be 1-2 orders of magnitude below those of "total" aerobes in mushroom compost. At temperatures above 70° they demonstrated that the anaerobic flora primarily comprised of anaerobic spore-forming bacteria.

Thermophilic fungi have been isolated from a number of high temperature environments including mushroom compost (Fergus, 1964), wheat straw compost (Chang and Hudson, 1967), municipal compost (Stutzenberger, et.al., 1970; Kane and Mullins, 1973; Millner, et.al., 1977) and self-heated bark/woodchip piles (Tansey, 1971; Smith and Ofosu-Asiedu, 1972; Flannigan and Sagoo, 1977). The relative importance of fungi during thermophilic composting is likely to be slight given their poor heat tolerance

(Hulme and Stranks, 1976; Ogundero and Oso, 1980) and low relative abundance (Hankin, et.al., 1976; Bagstam, 1978), although at temperatures below 50° fungi are abundant with the thermoduric A. fumigatus being the most common (Flannigan and Sagoo, 1977; Moubasher, et.al., 1982), being isolated (at 45°) even from antarctic soils (Ellis, 1980).

Little information exists on the microbial recolonization during the temperature descent and maturing stage of composting (Finstein and Morris, 1975). Recolonization of wheat straw compost by fungi was demonstrated by Chang and Hudson (1967) to depend on many factors in addition to the maximum temperature reached and Hankin, et.al. (1976) found that "total" estimated its duration. numbers of bacteria (other than actinomycetes) increased after the thermophilic stage in a leaf compost as the temperature dropped from 50° to 10°, while Bagstam (1978) observed an increase in actinomycetes and a decrease of other bacteria as the temperature dropped from 45° to a steady 20° in a bark compost. Van Klopotek (1962) studied both fungal and bacterial recolonization of compost and found that "numbers" of fungi increased with time with "total" counts of actinomycetes and fungi being greater than those found in rich soils. The importance of this active mesophilic flora with regards to the control of plant pathogens (Hoitink, 1980) is reviewed later (1.1.3.3.).

Rodale, et.al. (1975) stated that nitrogen-fixing bacteria may invade maturing compost if sufficient lime, air, and humus are present. This seems unlikely considering the low C:N ratio of a well made compost (30 or below) and the presence of mineral nitrogen both of which inhibit nitrogenase induction or activity (Quispel, 1974; Golueke, 1977). Likewise, thermophilic nitrogen fixation during composting is unlikely. Also, thermophilic nitrogen-fixing bacteria have only been isolated from alkaline thermal springs (Wickstrom, 1984).

1.1.3 Biodegradation of Bark Components

Bark contains cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin in about equal amounts (Srivastava, 1964) and various extractable substances (Hillis, 1962). Bark also contains pectic substances (ca. 7% in hardwoods) much of which may be soluble and associated with starch, with the remainder being generally associated with the hemicellulose component (Kertesz, 1951). Mixed cultures of microorganisms are more efficient degraders of cellulose (Enebo, 1949; Alexander, 1977) and lignin (Sundman and Nase, 1971, 1972) than are pure cultures. Han and Callihan (1974) have indicated the importance of pretreating plant material for increased microbial decomposition. Work on the microbial decompostion of cellulose has been reviewed by Keilish, et.al. (1970) and Bisaria and Ghose (1981), that of lignin by Kirk (1971) and Crawford and Crawford (1980), phenolics by Dagley (1967) and wood by Rossell, et.al. (1973), and Bisaria and Ghose (1981).

Only recently have microbial studies been undertaken on aspects of bark biodegradation (Nordstrom, 1974; Updegraff and Grant, 1975; Wilhelm, 1976; Deschamps, 1982), despite the several hundreds of thousands of tonnes of bark composted every year in the U.S.A. and Europe (Hoitink, 1980; Mach, 1983).

1.1.3.1 Cellulose Biodegradation

Cellulose, a linear homopolymer of anhydroglucose units linked by b(1->4)-glucosidic bonds and is always associated with a variety of polysaccharides, (hemicellulose, starch and pectin) and also lignin (Bisaria and Ghose, 1981). The initiation and completion of cellulose degradation in compost material is attributable to fungi (Waksman, et.al., 1939a; Burman, 1961; Updegraff, 1972) since they are known to have a maximum growth temperature below 55° (Cooney and Emerson, 1964; Romanelli, et.al., 1975). It is the thermophilic stage of composting, however, that is considered the most important period for

cellulolysis (Poincelot, 1974). Hankin, et.al. (1976) in their study of leaf composts showed that the increase in fungal cellulase production occurred as the cellulose content had already begun to decline, during the middle to late thermophilic stage (54-51°) and they established that actinomycetes were the major agents of cellulolysis. Stutzenberger (1971, 1972) found that the actinomycete Thermomonospora curvarta was the major agent of cellulolysis in a municipal compost (containing about 50% cellulose). He showed that the maximum carboxylmethylcellulase (CMCase) activity of clarified compost extracts occurred consistently at pH 6.0 and at 65°. Contrary to the findings by Stutzenberger, the compost microflora of another municipal waste (Jeris and Regan, 1973a) or of hardwood or softwood bark composts 1978) optimal (Cappaert et.al., 1976a; Baostam, exhibited cellulose degradation between 40-50°. Recently Deschamps, et.al. (1980a) isolated nine cellulolytic strains of bacteria from bark compost and soil using an incubation temperature of: 37°. Six strains were identified as Bacillus spp., two as Cellulomonas spp., and one as a Pseudomonas sp.. Numerous workers have shown a decrease in cellulolysis at temperatures above 65° (Obrist, 1966; Regan and Jeris, 1970) although anaerobic cellulolytic bacteria are known to be active up to about 75° (Waksman et.al., 1939b). Chino, et.al. (1983) in their study of composting sewage with rice hulls also found that aerobic bacteria predominated throughout all composting stages. They did not however find an increase in numbers of actinomycetes during the time of high cellulase activity, which was not until 23d after the thermophilic stage.

The identification of thermophilic cellulolytic anaerobic bacteria present during composting has only been reported by Deschamps (1982), who isolated thermoduric *Cellulomonas spp*. from bark compost at 37°. Actual identification of strictly anaerobic cellulolytic bacteria may be difficult as mixed cultures are often required for activity (Enebo, 1951; Brandon, 1979). Several thermophilic, anaerobic , cellulolytic bacteria have been described (Mc Bee, 1950; Lee and Blackburn, 1975) and Ng, et.al. (1977) made one of the first studies on the physiology and cellulase complex of *Clostridium thermocellum*. They found the

optimal pH for two glucanases to lie between pH 5.2-5.4, with an optimal temperature between 64-65°. Both of these cellulases were oxygen and thermally stable at 70° for 45 minutes. This cellulase complex appeared to be different from all other bacterial cellulases in that the proteins were combined with a carbohydrate, possibly to protect against proteolytic degradation (Ait, et.al., 1979). Recent interest in *C.thermocellum* and other thermophilic anaerobes has increased due to their favourable conversion of cellulose to fuel ethanol (e.g. Ng, et.al., 1981; Saddler, et.al., 1981).

1.1.3.2 Hemicellulose Biodegradation

The hemicelluloses are polymers of galactose, mannose, xylose, arabinose, other sugars and their uronic acids. They are mainly concentrated in the primary and secondary cell wall layers, where they are closely associated with cellulose and lignin (Bisaria and Ghose, 1981). Xylan or mannitol are typically used for hemicellulose biodegradation studies.

The biodegradation of hemicellulose occurs at a faster rate than that of cellulose under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions (Acharya, 1935; Kirk and Highley, 1973). Optimal conditions for hemicellulases and cellulases from the one organism are similar (Keilich, et.al., 1970) and similar rates of activity of these enzymes in various litters have also been demonstrated (Caldwell, et.al., 1979; Spalding, 1980). In general cellulases (Reese and Mandels, 1953) and mannanases (Reese and Shibata, 1965) are inducible while xylanases are largely constitutive (Reese and Mantels, 1963). Dekker and Richards (1976) have reviewed the occurrence, purification, physico-chemical properties and modes of action of the hemicellulases.

The few studies on hemicellulases in composts generally agree with the concept of concurrent activity with cellulases. Equal degradation of hemicellulose and cellulose in bark composts by both mesophilic fungi (Wilhelm, 1976) and thermophilic

microorganisms (Bagstam, 1979) has been demonstrated. Different microorganisms however, may be responsible for the biodegradation of the hexoses and pentoses. Waksman et.al. (1939b) found hemicellulolytic spore-forming bacteria in compost at 75° when no cellulolytic bacteria were present. Also, most of the thermotolerant bacteria isolated by Deschamps (1982)which produced xylanases could not produce cellulases and vice-versa. Numerous thermophilic or thermotolerant bacteria can produce xylanases, including Bacillus spp. (Gordon, et.al., 1973; Deschamps and Lebeault, 1980; King, et.al., 1980) Arthrobacter sp., Corynebacterium spp., Klebsiella sp., Hicrococcus Sp., Pseudomonas sp., Sporocytophaga sp., Streptomyces sp., (Deschamps and Lebeault, 1980) and Clostridium thermohydrosulphuricum nov. spec. (Anon, 1979). Fungi rather than bacteria have been shown to be the most significant degraders of xylan at temperatures of 45°, with Aspergillus fischeri showing the greatest utilization (Basu, t 1980).

1.1.3.3 Lignin and Tannin Biodegradation

Lignin is a highly polydispersed polyphenolic macromolecule of nine-carbon phenylpropane units linked by C-C and C-O-C bonds (Hall, 1980). The bark lignin from hardwood is similar to that of the corresponding wood, but with a lower syringyl content in the guaiacyl-syringyl moieties (Adler, 1977). Bland and Menshun (1971) have examined the chemistry of eucalypt lignins. Lignin acts as a physical barrier to enzymes that attack cellulose and hemicellulose and the rate of decomposition in litter attributable to such enzymes is inversely proportional to the lignin content (Lindeberg, 1949).

Enzymes considered to be important in fungal lignolytic activity are intracellular oxygenases and extracellular laccases and peroxidases which produce partial fragmentation of the polymer (Crawford and Crawford, 1980). Hall (1980) however has proposed an alternative hypothesis that the enzymes responsible for lignolytic activity do not interact with the polymer itself, but generate reactive diffusible species, such as superoxide radical anions

which in turn attack the macromolecule.

The lignolytic system is considered inducible, with nitrogen starvation being the principle inducer with some fungi (Keyser, et.al., 1978; Fenn, et.al., 1981). As with cellulose decompostion, the rate of lignin decompositon increases with increasing temperature, and enrichment cultures of thermophilic bacteria degrade the lignin of finely ground wood in a relatively short period (Alexander, 1977). The work of Odier and colleagues indicated that several strains of bacteria can rapidly utilize more than 55% of the lignin supplied in a mineral medium (Odier and Monties, 1977; Odier, et.al., 1981). Contrary to the proposal of Kirk, et.al. (1976), that lignin does not serve as an energy source for fungi, Odier and Monties (1978) found that glucose suppressed bacterial lignin degradation. Forney and Reddy (1979) also showed that glucose suppressed bacterial lignolytic activity, but complex carbohydrate may be required for an energy source (Ander and Eriksson, 1975). Xylose has been shown to `facilitate fungi by some and prevent depolymerization of lignin polymerization of low-molecular-size fractions of the lignocarbohydrate complex (Milstein, et.al., 1983).

Only recently has a sensitive and unequivocal ¹⁴C-label method for the assay of lignolytic activity emerged (Kirk, et.al., 1975; Crawford and Crawford, 1976), as there is little evidence to suggest a correlation between ability to degrade single-ring aromatic or lignin model compounds and ability to degrade polymeric lignin (Crawford and Crawford, 1980). Recently, Haars, et.al. (1982) have developed a simple and inexpensive means of detecting the occurrence of lignin breakdown, not requiring complete decomposition to CO_2 , by using fluorescein labelled lignin. Using the 14C-label technique, lignolytic strains of Nocardia and Pseudomonas species were isolated by Haider et.al. (1978), of a Bacillus megaterium by Robinson and Crawford (1978), three Streptomyces strains by Crawford (1978). The and of degradation products of a lignolytic Streptomcyes sp. may be important in the production of surfactants and adhesive precursors (Crawford, et.a1., 1983).

Lignin has long been considered inert in the absence of oxygen, hence the formation of peat and coal (Zeikus, 1980). However, anaerobic lignolytic activity has been demonstrated by a *Xanthomonas* strain in the presence of nitrate and glucose (Odier and Monties, 1978), by a filamentous bacterium (Akin, 1980) and by mixed cultures with the (¹⁴C)-lignin technique (Colberg and Young, 1982; Benner, et.al., 1984). Evans (1977) has reviewed the anaerobic catabolism of aromatic compounds, including the possible role of nitrate respiration.

The importance of lignolytic fungi in compost is unknown. Α number of studies on the well-known mesophilic, lignolytic, white carried out using the rot funqi have recently been (**C)-lignin technique (Ander and Eriksson, 1978; Kirk, et.al., 1978), but only one thermotolerant lignin degrader, Phanerochaete chrysosporium has been isolated (Kirk, et.al., 1976). Tansey, et.al. (1977) were unable to show clearing of lignin agar by a number of thermotolerant fungi isolated from various habitats including wood and bark chip piles. An inadequate technique for the assay of lignin (by the "sulfuric acid" method) puts in doubt the reported lignolytic activity of thermophilic Thermomyces sp. (Waksman and Cordon, 1939). Paecilomyces sp. and Allescheria spp. (Eslyn, et.al., 1975).

lignin and tannins contain phenolic groups, their As biodegradation by fungi is thought to occur by similar enzyme systems (Kirk, 1981), and the role of phenol oxidases (peroxidases and laccase) in lignin degradation by fungi have already been mentioned (Adler and Eriksson, 1976; Kirk, et.al., 1977). Also, Basidiomycetes characterizaton of wood-rotting as the lignin-degrading (white) or brown-rotting types, by the Bavendamm (1928) test, makes use of a gallic or tannic acid containing Cellulose degradation may also be involved in lignin medium. biodegradation, as Westermark and Eriksson (1974) have indicated the necessity for a quinone group (formed by laccase activity in lignin degradation) in the co-degradation of lignin and cellulose by some white rot fungi. In the absence of the cellobiose dehydrogenase proposed by Westermark and Eriksson (1974), phenol

oxidase-catalyzed condensation reactions in lignin could aid in humus formation (Flaig, 1977). Two other phenol active enzymes, peroxidase and tyrosinase, may also be directly involved in humification (Flaig, et.al., 1975), but there does not appear to be any correlation between lignolytic activity of fungi and their ability to form humic acid (Martin and Haider, 1971; Jain, et.al., 1979). The pathways for phenolic acid degradation to carbon dioxide or humic acid production are discussed by Shindo and Kunatsuka (1975) and Martin and Haider (1980). The production of humic compounds from straw is greater under aerobic than anaerobic their mineralization conditions and is accompanied bу multiplication of Nocardia and Arthrobacter under aerobic and of members of the *Hicromonosporaceae* under anaerobic conditions (Tepper, et.al., 1981).

Research on the degradation of lignin by bacteria only partly supports the concept of joint lignin and tannin decomposition. Of eleven lignin degrading bacteria isolated by Deschamp's (1982), only six could assimilate tannic acid, while some 30 strains were isolated that degraded tannic acid. The greatest lignolytic activity was observed with a Bacillus sp. which was also able to Bacterial delignification of lignocellulosic degrade tannin. waste has not been demonstrated with pure cultures, but mixed cultures of a lignolytic Bacillus sp. and a cellulolytic Cellulomonas sp., was shown to result in up to 44% delignification of bark chips (Deschamps, et.al., 1981). This simultaneous depolymerization of lignin and cellulose during the degradation of lignocellulose by white rot fungi has also been observed (Setlif and Eudy, 1980). Crawford, et.al. (1982) recently demonstrated that chemical changes in lignin degradation of bark chips by Streptomyces viridosporus, were very similar to those reported for white-rotted lignins. It is also of interest to note that some extractives from Eucalyptus woods are natural inhibitors of enzymes (Hart and Hillis, 1974) and in general, tannins inactivate enzymes by complexing with them as well as with other components to make them highly resistant to microbial attack (Benoit, et.al., 1968; Van Summere, et.al., 1975). Also, as the degree of tannin polymerization increases, their toxicity decreases (Rudman, 1964).

Some flavanoids however, have been shown to stimulate rather than inhibit basidiomycetes in the decomposition of leaf litter (Lindeberg, et.al., 1980). Phenolic compounds from barks are also highly toxic to plants (Krogstad and Solbraa, 1975; Still, et.al., 1976; Yazaki and Nichols, 1979) so their destruction is vital in the production of bark compost.

Tannins are separated into two groups; 1) the hydrolysable tannins (esters of sugar,usually glucose, with at least one trihydroxybenzenecarboxylic acid) and 2) the condensed tannins (Haslam, 1979). (derivatives of flavanols) The important hydrolysable tannins in eucalypt bark and wood are ellaqitannins (which hydrolyse to ellagic and gallic acids) (Seikel and Hillis, 1970) while leucoanthocyanins and catechin are the predominant condensed tannins (Hathway, 1962). In an examination of fungi able to degrade eucalypt leaf litter, Macauley (1977) found species of Coelomycetes and Honiliales as the primary invaders to be subsequently replaced by other species of Honiliales, in particular Trichoderma, Penicillium and Hucorales spp. . Tannin degrading isolated from compost and soil include bacteria Bacillus. Klebsiella, Horaxella, Pseudomonas and Staphylococcus strains (Buswell and Clark, 1976; Evans, 1977; Deschamps, et.al., 1980b). Thermophilic Bacillus spp. have also been shown to catabolise protocatechuate by a unique 2,3-dioxygenase pathway (Crawford et.al., 1979). Deschamps, et.al. (1980b) found that most strains examined assimilated the hydrolysable tannins, gallic or protocatechuic acids, but only a few could degrade the condensed tanning like catechin. Bacteria involved in the utilization of condensed tannins include Azotobacter vinelandii, Escherichia coli and Pseudomonas fluorescens (Basaraba, 1966). Microbial attack of tannins of bark have only recently the condensed been The first report of the degradation of investigated. pure condensed tannins was made by Grant (1976), who demonstrated the degradation of these tannins from *Pinus* radiata by *Penicillium* Grant and McMurtry (1978) attempted to quantify the admetzi. effects of these pine tannins on bacteria, algae and protozoa. They demonstrated that Gram negative bacteria and protozoans could grow in the presence of at least 0.05% tannins whereas Gram

positive bacteria and algae were very sensitive to these condensed tannins. Yeasts, too, are generally sensitive to tannins (Jacob and Pignal, 1975), although some show potential for the removal of resin acids from mill effluents (Spencer, et.al., 1974).

anoidsmaotenent negondiv 4.1.1

.(0891 ,.ls.ts ,dtrowdzA) zstadins bns (7791, nosliw) eletem (veed, 1983), heavy metals (Wilson, 1977) '(ZZ6I wore) (Laura, ..le.ta , Ybaas (V) sapioidead \$226I degradation products (Bundy and Bremmer, 1974), salt (0.44% or ningil basibixo eucitev (CTQ1 , Vlohones bns eidi (4001 (safased)) a lesser degree ammonification are also suppressed by taning 1981). Apart from the effects of temperature, nitrification and to place during the first two weeks of composiing (Aldag and Rochus, pronounced transformation of nitrogen within organic matter take teom adf .noitsilitslov devout teol zew negonin-sinomms bus volatiitation. Similary, above 65° less nitrification occurred or too low a temperature, then nitrogen ٨q 7201 SPM decomposition was delayed from the outset, either through too high (after about 33 days) was followed by nitrification. lf rapid ncifizoqmogab biqsh of noifalqmod adl .muinomms as ylinaminq and microbial cells, were decomposed, liberating mineral nitrogen, carbohydrates. Next proteins, present both in the raw materials noitizoqmosab әцт βλ bewollot besilidommi ĴΟ. alqmiz active decomposition, soluble forms of nitrogen were first ĴΟ anoitibnos rabou tent betertenomeb arodrow ezent .(d9291) * · 15 · 19 the most significant influence on these transformations (Wakaman, puived endergend ditw. ,enume eldets to puitsogmoded build A clear succession in the forms of nitrogen has been observed

noidszilidslov sinommA bus noidsoidinommA 1.4.1.1

The biochemistry of ammonification and the processes by which organic nitrogenous compounds are enzymatically transformed to

4 I

ammonium, have been reviewed by Ladd and Jackson (1982). The volatilization of ammonia during thermophilic composting may be high due to rapid ammonification (Alexander, 1977), increased air movement, rapid diffusion rates or a high pKa NH₃ (increasing with higher temperatures and pH) (Nelson, 1982), Various enzyme inhibitors have been examined to reduce ammonia volatilization from soil. Urease inhibitors have been studied in greatest detail because of urea's rapid rate of decomposition and its wide use as a fertilizer, or as an amendment for the composting of bark (Hoitink, 1980; Solbraa, et.al., 1982) or leaves (Hankin, et.al., 1976) where complete degradation of urea occurred within eight days. Bremmer and Douglas (1971) examined over 100 compounds as urease inhibitors in soil and found these to be in the following (decreasing) order of effectiveness: catechol > phenylmercuric acetate > hydroquinone > various benzoquinones (Bundy and Bremner, 1973). Mulvaney and Bremner (1977) studied three antimetabolites patented as inhibitors of urease; pyridine-3-sulfokic acid. desthiobiotin and oxythramine chloride. These inhibitors were shown to be ineffective, even at levels above those recommended. Also. nitrification inhibitors such as 4-amino-1,2,4-triazole (ATC) and N-serve (2-chloro-6-methylpyrimidine), have no effect on (Guthrie and Bomke, 1981). The urea hvdrolysis use of ammonification or nitrification inhibitors during composting has not been reported. Chemical ammonia fixation to phenolics and quinones at pH's above 7 may be important in the conservation of nitrogen in compost (Nommik and Vahtras, 1982).

1.1.4.2 Nitrification

The topic of nitrification and the microorganisms responsible for it have been reviewed by Verstraete (1975), Focht and Verstraete (1977) and Schmidt (1982). Biological nitrification occurs optimally at about 25° and is considered to be inhibited at temperatures above 50° (Evans, et.al., 1982). Nitrification in thermophilic environments, however, has been demonstrated at temperatures of up to 60° (Waksman et.al., 1939b; Ishaque and

Cornfield, 1974). The production of ammonia and the high pH during thermophilic composting (Golueke, 1977) is likely, however, to inhibit autotrophic .nitrification (Anthonisen, et.al., 1976). Although work with gamma-irradiated soils has indicated microbial thermophilic nitrification in some soils (Ishaque, et.al., 1971), chemical nitrification under thermophilic conditions has also been observed (Cawse and White, 1969). Heterotrophic nitrification is another as yet unexamined possibility during composting, since heterotrophic nitrifiers have been isolated from many harsh environments (Ishaque and Cornfield, 1974; Remacle and Froment, 1972; Focht and Verstraete, 1977; Tate, 1977). Wiechers (1975) regards nitrification during the first stage of composting essential if very high (80°) temperatures are to be obtained during composting (by the reaction of nitrates and organic substances). The autotrophic nitrification inhibitors acetylene (Hynes and Knowles, 1978), ethyl urethane and thiourea (Quastel and Scholefield, 1949; Thomazeau, 1980) have been used to examine heterotrophic nitrification. Even though most heterotrophic nitrifiers are weak nitrifiers, Castignetti and co-worker (Castignetti and Gunner 1981; Castignetti and Hollocher, 1982) have recently reported a potent nitrifying Alcaligenes sp. which is also capable of denitrification. It is of interest to note that obligate methylotrophs are also capable of heterotrophic nitrification (Romanovskaia, et.al., 1977). Representatives of various fungal genera (Aspergillus spp, Cephalosporium sp. Penicillium sp., Chlorella sp., Ankistrodesmus sp. and one bacterial genus (Arthrobacter spp.) are the only heterotrophic nitrifiers that have demonstrated oxidation of ammonium to nitrate (Focht and Verstraete, 1977). Golovacheva (1975) reported the first thermophilic nitrifying bacterium belonging to the genus Nitrosomonas. This bacterium, which oxidized ammonium at 40-70°, resembled N. europaea. Despite the apparent symbiotic association for nitrification with a Thermus sp. and a Bacillus sp. these heterotrophs, in pure culture, could not oxidize ammonium (Golovacheva, 1975), while the Thermus sp. was found to be able to reduce nitrite and nitrate (Golovacheva, 1976). No report the microorganism(s) responsible for appears to exist on

nitrification during thermophilic composting, or of the possibility of thermophilic chemonitrification in compost. Considering the formation of nitrite (Yates and Rogers, 1981) and nitrate (Knuth, 1970) during thermophilic composting (40-50°) of solid wastes, but not in thermophilic liquid composting (Thaer, et.al. (1975), thermophilic actinomycetes have been suggested as the active nitrifiers (Focht and Verstraete, 1977). Chemical oxidation of ammonium has been observed by Laudelout (1977) to 25-32° with nitrite as the occur between end product. Non-microbial transformation of nitrite to nitrate is possible at low pH (Bremner and Nelson, 1968) or following a corresponding reduction in manganese oxides (Bartlett, 1981).

1.1.4.3 Denitrification

Denitrification has been reviewed by Focht and (Verstraete (1977), Firestone (1982) and Knowles (1982) with 23 genera of denitrifiers being detailed by these workers. Denitrification is defined by Firestone (1982) as the reduction of NO_3^- or

 NO_{2}^{-} to a large volume of N_{2} and/or $N_{2}O$ only

under anaerobic conditions to distinguish it from gaseous Ν produced during nitrification or other possibily N transformations. Except Propionibacterium (anaerobic for to aerotolerant) all other denitrifiers are aerobic bacteria (Firestone, 1982). Unlike nitrification, denitrification may occur optimally at about 65°, and continue up to about 75° due to the activity of Bacillus spp (Keeney, et.al., 1979), although more than 85% of the nitrogen evolved at 70° was nitrous oxide. At temperatures above 50° more nitrogen was recovered as gaseous N than was initially present in the system as nitrate-nitrogen and no nitrite- plus nitrate-nitrogen remained after four days incubation. From these findings and work with sterilized soil Keeney, et.al. (1979) suggested that the commonly-stated optimum temperature may be too high for true biological denitrification and that at temperatures above 50°, nitrite, produced at least by thermophilic Bacillus spp., could react with oxidized nitrogen

functional groups to form nitrogenous gases. The use of the acetylene-inhibition of nitrous oxide reductase to quantify denitrification in soil is well established (Yoshinari and Knowles, 1976; Klemedtsson, et.al., 1977; Kaspar and Tiedje, 1981), but interference by chemical denitrification, as just described, would limit its use to mesophilic temperatures. There is also an excellent positive correlation between mesophilic denitrification and the level of organic carbon in soil (Burford and Bremner, 1975), although assimilative nitrate reduction is also increased by the presence of readily oxidizable organic and Patrick, 1978). The conservation of matter (Buresh nitrate-nitrogen by assimilation in the presence of a complex carbon source is, however, only slight (below 5%) (Buresh and Patrick, 1978). Loss of nitrogen through volatilization of ammonia during thermophilic composting is well known, but no mention is made regarding the potential loss of nitrogen from compost through reactions such as nitrite with lignin components at high temperatures (Stevenson and Kirkman, 1964), heterotrophic nitrification-denitrification (Focht and Verstraete, 1977) or chemodenitrification (Keeney, et.al., 1979; Smith and Chalk, 1980a, 1980b).

1.1.5 Assay of Microbial Activity and Biomass

1.1.5.1 Microbial Activity

Problems relating to the assay of microbial activity in compost, or other natural environments, stem from the inherent variability of the decay process. This variability can result from the changes in the environmental factors (pH, moisture, aeration, nutrient supply) and the composition of the decaying material as it interacts with the microbial flora (Alexander, 1977). Because of this variability, extensive replication of assay is necessary, despite the fact that many assay-parameters used are already averages of microbial activity (Grossbard, 1979). Parameters used to assay the microbial activity of straw and other organic matter

include loss of weight, shear strength, nitrogen content, respiratory activity (Nannipieri, et.al., 1978; Grossbard, 1979) enzyme activity (Domsch, et.al., 1979) and microcalorimetry (Sparling, 1981) but each has its own limitation(s). Assay of weight loss may be misleading as it is not practicable to separate microbial mass from the remaining tissue (Grossbard. 1979). Determinations of shear strength, enzyme activity and nitrogen content do have an advantage in that any sample of material can be used, replacing the constraints imposed by the use of nylon bags for weight loss assay. All of these assays are, however, destructive, requiring a considerable initial bulk if sequential sampling is undertaken. Respiratory activity on the other hand can be monitored automatically and nondestructively, with CO₂ evolution being a more sensitive assay than O₂ uptake, especially when ¹⁴C labelled substrate is available (Stotzky, 1965; Grossbard, 1979). Also the specificity of O₂ uptake is lessened by interference due to chemical oxidation reactions (Wang and Ferng, 1978). The assay of CO_2 evolution is however not entirely satisfactory as it reflects the activity of all organisms present, not just microbial. Problems associated with the assay of ¹⁴CO₂ due to interference from ¹⁴C labelled microorganisms and/or their metabolites can reduce the usefulness technique (Paul and Van Veen, 1978). Other workers of the label who have not demonstrated good correlations between microbial counts and respiratory activity attribute these differences to activity (chemical decarboxylation non-biological or free carbonate) (Stotzky, 1965) or by the "priming effect" (an increase in microbial activity by the addition of an energy material) (Laura, 1977). Nevertheless, Bunnell, et.al. (1977a, 1977b) have successfully developed a model relating microbial respiration to temperature, moisture, 0_2 and substrate loss in bench-scale experiments, accounting for 70-90% of the weight loss of litter bags in the field.

Criticisms of a CO₂-free atmosphere used in some respirometry assays (Warburg experiments) (Parkinson, *et.al.*, 1971) are not valid in systems using flow through aeration or BaO₂ (which releases a mole of O₂ for each mole of

 CO_2 absorbed) (Cornfield, 1961). In the assay of microbial activity in compost, flow through systems to assay respiratory activity are used almost exclusively (Jeris and Regan, 1973a: Bagstam, et.al., 1974; Cappaert, et.al., 1976a; Clark, et.al., 1977; Deschamps, et.al., 1979; Mote and Griffis, 1979), although Schulze (1961) and Nell and Wiechers (1978) used microcalorimetry in conjunction with respirometry. The simplicity of the assay of respiratory gases and ease in automating a respiratory system, particularly when gas chromatography is used, are also important reasons for the widespread use of respiratory activity as an indicator of degradation. The recent developments of radio gas chromatographic assay of (14C)-labelled compounds (Tykva and Seda, 1975) and of a very sensitive assay of inert gases by ultrasonic detector GC (Blackmer and Bremner, 1977) have further stimulated the use of respirometry.

Although respiratory activity is useful as an indication of general microbial activity, other assay techniques are required for the assessment of specific groups of microorganisms, such as the cellulolytic or lipolytic bacteria. There are basically two techniques employed, those that inhibit particular groups and those that selectively assay a group without disrupting the system. of inhibition techniques are the use of Examples acetylene for the assay of heterotrophic nitrification (Hynes and Knowles, 1978) or heterotrophic denitrification (Yeomans and Beauchamp, 1978) and the use of antibiotics to remove the influence of particular groups of microorganisms (Sparling, et.al., 1982). Because of their disruptive nature, inhibition techniques are generally valid only over a short period (Anderson and Domsch, 1978). For longer term studies, label techniques have been shown to be most useful (Paul and Van Veen, 1978). If sub-sampling is possible then the simultaneous sampling for estimation of numbers of the microorganisms of interest and an assay of their enzyme activity in the sample is preferable over estimation of microbial numbers alone (Hankin, et.al., 1976). This is because the presence of a particular degradative organism, even in large numbers, does not necessarily correlate with active metabolism of a substrate in question. For example, peak rates of

CO₂ evolution may commonly preceed peak biomass production by 24 h (Nannipieri, et.al., 1978).

1.1.5.2 Microbial Biomass

In an effort to understand organic matter transformations it is now common practice to assay the biomass involved rather than just the presence of reaction products (Jansson and Persson, 1982). As a consequence there is a need to define the microbial biomass, its energy requirements, functions and metabolic processes. It is a common feature of composting that the "total" estimated numbers of microorganisms remain about the same throughout composting, but there is a succession of flora (Robinson, 1974; Bagstam, 1978) which may well change the magnitude of the biomass. Actual determinations of the microbial biomass in compost has only recently been reported (Thouvenot *et.al.*, 1979; Sparling, *et.al.*, 1982; Sparling and Eiland, 1983).

The following assay techniques have been utilized for the determination of microbial biomass in composts:-

- Microbial activity:
 - * dehydrogenase (Benefield, et.al., 1977)
 - * respiration following chloroform fumigation and reinoculation (Jenkinson and Powlson, 1976) or following glucose amendment (Anderson and Domsch, 1978)
 - * microcalorimetry (Sparling, 1981)
 - * ATP (Dades and Jenkinson, 1979; Lethokarl, et.al., 1983)
- Microbial components:
 - * chitin (Swift, 1973)
 - * lipid phosphate (McKinley and Vestal, 1984)
 - * lipopolysaccharide (Jorgensen et.al., 1979)
 - * muramic acid (King and White, 1977)
- Estimates of numbers:

- * dilution plating (Sparling, et.al., 1982)
- * direct (Trolldenier, 1973; Sparling, et.al., 1982)
- * direct viable (fluorescein diacetate vital staining (Soderstrom, 1979a, 1979b) or its stained hydrolysis products (Swisher and Carroll, 1980). Acridine orange vital staining (Ramsay and Bawden, 1983).)

Of these, the classical dilution plate method underestimates numbers observed by direct microscopic examination by at least 50% (Sparling, et.al., 1982). Non-viable cells nav oive an overestimate of active biomass by the chitin (for fungi), muramic (for bacterial) or direct staining methods (Ineson and Anderson. 1982). Assay for ATP activity however may give a more reliable indication of the active biomass as ATP rapidly dissipates after cell death and levels are dependent on the physiological state of the organism (King and White, 1977). In a compàrison of ATP-luciferase assay and biomass assay by fumigation or glucose amendment, Sparling and Eiland (1983) reported that the level of ATP was very variable and depended on the extractant used. Respiration following glucose amendment suggested a biomass some 20% greater than that calculated from the fumigation assay. In another study Sparling et.al. (1982) obtained very similar results counts, fumigation, by direct qlucose amendment and microcalorimetry, but some 54% more biomass was indicated over other assay techniques by the ATP assay.

1.1.5.3 Effect of Composting on Pathogens

There are two types of pathogens present in composting wastes, those that are introduced with the raw materials such as sewage (Dudley, et.al., 1980) and those that develop during the composting process. The latter group is of lesser significance since it includes only a few opportunistic pathogenic microorganisms. Examples of these are the fungus Aspergillus fumigatus (Millner, et.al., 1977; Marsh, et.al., 1979), certain
actinomycetes such as *Thermoactinomyces vulgaris* and *Hicropolyspora* faeni which cause farmer's lung disease (Festenstein, et.al., 1965; Lacey, 1975) and airborne Gram negative bacteria (Lundholm and Rylander, 1980). Control of these opportunistic pathogens may be possible by maintaining a high moisture level in the compost and adequately protecting compost workers:

Most attention has however been paid to the introduced pathogens and parasites. The die-off of these organisms during composting is dependent upon temperature, time, antagonistic microbial activity and nutrient availability (Diaz, et.al., 1977). Numerous data are presented in the literature giving the thermal death times (not in compost) of most pathogens, parasites and indicator organisms (Gotaas, 1956; Golueke, 1977). Most (Salmonella spp., Shiqella spp., Escherichia coli, Staphylococcus aureus, Streptococcus pyrogenes, Corynebacterium diptheriae, Nector americanus, Ascaricus lumbricoides eqqs, Entamoeba Àistolytica cysts, Brucella saginata, and Trichinella spiralis larvae) were killed within one hour at 55°. Hycobacterium tuberculosis were killed within 20 min. at 65° and poliovirus type 1 within one hour at 60° (Golueke, 1977). Pathogen survival has been observed in windrow (Burge et.al., 1978) and forced aeration composting of sewage sludge (Epstein, et.al., 1976) due to inclement weather ٥r insufficient heating in the outer compost surfaces. Heat alone however is not entirely responsible for the elimination of pathogens during composting. Microbial antagonism (Diaz, et.al.. 1977; Lindgren and Clevstrom, 1978; Makawi, 1980) is also important. Maximal microbial antagonism is attained under optimal conditions of moisture and nutrient content (Krogstad and Gudding, pathogens reported to survive the 1975). The only animal composting process for more than a few days are Salmonella cairo Bacillus anthracis. Knoll (1961) found that complete and destruction of heat resistant S.cairo took some 6-7 days at 50°. The sporeformer, B.anthracis was generally eliminated after 6-11 days at 34-65° in a Dano drum composter.

Most plant pathogens including species of Botrytis, Erwinia,

Phytophthora, Pythium and Rhizoctonia are also destroyed during composting at 40-60° for 10-13 weeks (Hoitink, et.al., 1976). Virus diseases of lettuce were however resistant to temperatures < 70° (Martin, 1966) and tobacco mosaic virus is completely resistant to composting (Hoitink, et.al., 1982). Overheating during the composting of hardwood bark (> 60°) however, results in a loss of the microflora (e.g. Trichoderma spp.) which are antagonistic to plant pathogens in mature compost (Hoitink and Kuter, 1983). Hoitink and Kuter (1984) recently showed that T.harizanum in composted hardwood bark containing media continued to suppress root-rot fungi long after the degradation of the naturally occurring fungicides in that bark (e.g. ethyl esters of hydroxylated oleic acids).

In searching for a suitable indicator organism for pathogen survival in compost Burge, et.al. (1981) found coliphage F2 to be considerably more heat resistant than enteric pathogens, including viruses, bacteria, protozoan cysts and helminth ova. Nevertheless, a 15 log decline in coliphage F2 occurs in 2.5d at 55°. Coliphage F2 is also more resistant to NH_3 (an antiviral agent in sludge (Ward and Ashley, 1976, 1977)) than polioviruses, it does not replicate in sewage and is easily identified (Cramer, et.al., 1983). As a consequence they proposed it as an indicator, with a time-temperature relationship based upon that required to inactivate 15 logs of coliphage F2 indicating satisfactory pathogen kill (Burge, 1983).

1.1.6 The Thermophilic Microflora

1.1.6.1 Definitions

Microorganisms have been arbitrarily placed into at least three groups depending on their cardinal temperatures, that is their minimum (T_{min}) , optimum (T_{opt}) and maximum (T_{max}) growth temperatures and the history of these classification schemes is given by Ljungdahl (1979). For the present study the following definitions of Tansey and Brock (1978) are used:

Microorganisms that grow at 0° are described as psychrophiles, from 10° to 55° as mesophiles and above 55° as thermophiles. Three other divisions are also mentioned: psychrotrophs being organisms with their T_{opt} at mesophilic temperatures but also capable of growth at 0°, thermodurics being organisms that may grow above 55° but have their T_{opt} in the mesophilic stage and T_{min} below 35° for bacteria and 20° for fungi and extreme thermophiles (or caldoactive organisms) which are thermophiles with a T_{opt} above 65° (Williams, 1975).

1.1.6.2 The Range of Thermophilic Organisms

There have been several reviews of thermophilic actinomycetes (Cross, 1968; Cross and Goodfellow, 1973), other thermophilic bacteria (Williams, 1975), thermophilic fungi (Cooney and Emerson, 1964; Crisan, 1973) and thermophilic microorganisms (Brock. 1978a; Tansey and Brock, 1978). Brock (1978a) has compiled extensive data on well characterized, thermophilic procaryotic and eukaryotic microorganisms, quoting their cardinal growth are however, still problems temperatures. There in the classification of thermophiles because of similarities of some thermophilic strains with certain mesophilic strains and the pleomorphism of other strains at high temperatures. Only by the use of methods such as DNA hybridization, isoenzyme analysis (Sharp, et.al., 1980), pyrolysis gas-liquid chromatography (GLC) (Wolf and Sharp, 1981) or assay of cell wall components (Kandler and Hippe, 1977; Hippchen, et.al., 1981; Pask-Hughes and Shaw. 1982) have clear taxonomic differentiation been possible for some of these organisms.

There are only 23 thermophilic actinomycetes listed by Tansey and Brock (1978) for which the highest Tmex reported is about 75°. Genera containing thermophilic species include Actinobifida, Hicrobispora, Micropolyspora, Pseudonocardia, Streptomyces, Streptosporangium, Thermoact Momyces and Thermomonospora.

Of the other 65 procaryotic species reported to grow above 55° most fall into four groups: photosynthetic (Chloroflexus, Chromatium, Cyanobacterium, Mastigocladus and Synechococcus), aerobic or facultative sporeformers (Bacillus), anaerobic sporeformers (Clostridium, and Desulfotomaculum nigrificans), and Gram-negative non-sporeforming aerobes (Thermus and the Thermomicrobium). There are a few other thermophiles, scattered amongst several genera, with most isolates being generally obtained from anaerobic environments. These belong to the genera Acetogenium (Leigh, et.al., 1981), Desulfovibrio (Rosanova and Khudiakova, 1974), Kalobacterium (Tansey and Brock, 1978), Hydrogenbacter (Kawasumi, et.al., 1984), Lactobacillus (Roqosa. 1974), Hethanobacterium, Kethanosarcina (Zinder and Mah, 1979). Streptococcus (Deibel and Seeley, 1974), Sulfolobus (Zillig and Holz, 1981), Thermoanaerobacter (Wiegel and Ljungdahl, 1981), (Lamed and Zeikus, 1980), Thermobacteroides Thermoanaerobium (Ben-Bassat and Zeikus, 1981), Thermoplasma (Brock, 19786). Thermodesulfobacterium (Zeikus, et.al., 1983) and Thermoproteus (Woese et.al., 1978). Recently mycelia-forming organisms from submarine volcanic areas, which equivocally grow at 250° (at 265 atms.), have been isolated and placed into the new genus Pyrodictium (Baross and Deming, 1983; Fischer, et.al., 1983; Stettter, et.al., 1983).

A similar number of thermophilic or thermoduric fungi are listed by Tansey and Brock (1978). However, only some twenty species were reported to grow above 55° and the T_{max} for fungi was stated to be 60-62°. The thermoduric and thermophilic fungi are mainly scattered amongst the Deuteromycetes (seventeen genera) and Ascomycetes (ten genera) with a few genera in the Zygomycetes, Basidiomycetes and Mycelia Sterilia.

1.1.6.3 Nomenclature of Thermophilic Bacillus

The genus *Bacillus* is reported to represent the predominant, if not the total flora isolated during the composting of wastes (Snell, 1960; Finstein and Morris, 1975; Morris, 1975; Poincelot,

1975; Strom, 1978). Its classification will therefore be discussed in some detail in this report.

Thermophilic aerobic sporeformer bacteria capable of growth at 73° were first isolated by Miquel (1888) and named B. calfactor by Miehe (1907). However, since 1920 most thermophilic Bacillus at 65° have been lumped into the capable of growth Β. stearothermophilus group with the type strain (ATCC 12980) as described by Donk (1920). An excellent review of the taxonomy of thermophilic Bacillus was recently reported by Wolf and Sharp (1981). The type strain of B. stearothermophilus (ATCC 12980) grows with a Tmin, Topt and Tmax of 29°, 60° and 75° respectively. In 1928 Hussong and Hammer proposed B. caldolactis and Prickett (1928) proposed the name B, kaustophilus for two isolates from milk which were capable of growth at 75°. Smith (1948) in the sixth edition of Bergey's Manual gives descriptions of twenty thermophilic species of Bacillus capable of growth at 55°. These were classified largely on sporangial morphology and several species were recognized by Bergey including those mentioned above. Subsequent work by Gordon and Smith from 1949 to 1974 (Gordon and Smith, 1949; Gordon, et.al., 1973) formed the basis for the description of the genus in the seventh (Breed, et.al., 1957) and eighth (Gibson and Gordon, 1974) editions of Bergey's Manual. Gordon, et.al. (1973) concluded that virtually all previously described Bacillus thermophiles conveniently fell into either B. coagulans or B. stearothermophilus (Table 1). Numerous other taxonomic studies on the thermophilic Bacillus are reviewed by Wolf and Sharp (1981). This review largely reflects the work of Walker and Wolf (1971) who divided the strains into three distinct major-groups, two of which were further divided into minor subgroups (Table 2). These groupings have been more recently supported by examination of thermophilic Bacillus esterases, although subdivisions within groups 1 and 3 were less evident (Baillie and Walker, 1968; Sharp, et.al., 1980). Heinen and Heinen (1972) differentiated three caldoactive strains from B. stearothermophilus on the basis of their temperature optima, fatty acid patterns and sub-microscopic structure. Sharp et.al. (1980) have also compared seven strains of *B. stearothermophilus* and

another three caldoactive strains on the basis of biochemical properties. DNA base composition. bacteriophage and bacteriocin sensitivities, esterases, constitutive enzyme production and antibiotic resistance and analysed the data by numerical taxonomic methods. In their view the caldoactive strains could be classified into Walker and Wolf's (1971) groups along with most other thermophilic Bacillus spp. (Table 3). However, Β. caldolyticus and B. stearothermophilus 262 showed features common to groups 1 and 3. In conclusion, on the taxonomy of the thermophilic Bacillus, Wolf and Sharp (1981) suggested that the group 1 organisms were best designated as a new species designated B. kaustophilus. The other two groups were distinct but group three possibly contained several elements best segregated to themselves. Further support for the Walker and Wolf (1971) scheme and the proposal for a number of distinct species was recently demonstrated by a numerical taxonomic survey of 57 thermophilic Bacillus isolates from soil (Garcia, et.al., 1982). They found 75% of the strains in 12 major phenons of which two were related to the first group (B. kaustophilus) and two to the third group (B. stearothermophilus) of Walker and Wolf (1971). Β. thermocatenulatus (Golovacheva et.al., 1975) is one isolate sufficiently different from previously described thermophilic rods to be considered as a distinct species. The distinguishing features of this yellow pigmented rod are the negative reactions on starch and gelatin and its ability to grow anaerobically and to reduce nitrate to gas. It is interesting to note that Heinen et.al. (1982) have recently isolated a yellow pigmented Bacillus which fits the description of B. thermocatenulatus, but they have named it B. flavothermus. And finally, B. schlegelii (Schenk and is 1979) first chemolithoautotroph Aragno. the to be comprehensively described. With a Topt of 70° this strict aerobe oxidizes hydrogen in the presence of 0_2 and $C0_2$ and can also grow heterotrophically.

TABLE 1

Differentiation of B. stearothermophilus

from B. coagulans 1

| | B.stearothermophilus | B.coagulans |
|--|-----------------------------------|---------------------------------------|
| Growth at pH 5.7 pH Optimum Growth in azide (0.2%) Growth in sulphadiazine (5ug/m Growth temperature (°C): Maximum Minimum Anaerobic growth Spore survival (min. at 120°) 7 6+0 | >_6 g/ml) - | <+ + + |
| | 65-75 30-45 °) 4-5 44-53 | 55-60 2 15-25 + 0.1 47-56 |
| ¹ From Wolf and Sharp (1981) | | { |

² Maximum growth temperature, some strains of B.coagulans grown at 65° and pH 6.2.

~. _

.

TABLE 2 Reactions Characterizing the Principal Groups of Bacillus stearothermophilus ¹

| | Group 1 | Group 2 | Group 3 | |
|--|---|-----------------------|-----------------------------|--|
| No. of strains | 127 | 40 | 63 | |
| Morphology of spores | oval to cylindrical | oval | oval to cylindrical | |
| Swelling of sporangium | slight to definite | definite | definite | |
| Growth in 3% (W/VO NaCl broth | - | + | - | |
| Hydrolysis of: Gelatin Casein Starch | +- - R | - | + +- ++ | |
| NO ₂ - from NO ₃ - | + | - | +- ; | |
| Gas from NO ₃ - | + | - | - | |
| Tomato-yeast milk | unchanged or reduction, or reduction & weak curd | unchanged | acid, clot, reduction | |
| Litmus milk | unchanged or slight red. | unchanged | unchanged or acid, clot | |
| Growth in glucose anaerobically | poor or - | _ | + | |
| Acid from: Arabinose Cellobiose Lactose Mannitol Rhamnose Xylose | +- +- +- +- | - + - + + | - +- +- - +- | |
| Subgroup division on | T _{min} ,T _{mex} nitrate to gas fermentations | - | limus milk lactose ferm. | |
| * Data from Walker and Wolf (1971); +, positive; -, negative; | | | | |

+-, variable; ++, strongly positive; R, restricted.

TABLE 3 Classification of Recognized Bacillus Thermophiles After Walker and Wolf (1971) ¹

| GROUP 1 | GROUP 2 | GROUP 3 |
|--|--|--|
| B. kaistophilus ATCC 8005 (Prickett, 1928) | B. stearothermophilus (Daron, 1967) | B. stearothermophilus NAC 1503, ATCC 7954 |
| B, thermodenitrificans | B. stearothermophilus RS93 (Sharp et.al., 1980) | B. stearothermophilus NAC 1511B, ATCC 7953 (Donk, 1920) |
| Bstearothermophilus ATCC 12016 | B. stearothermophilus (Epstein & Grossowicz, 1969) | B. caldolactis (Galesloot & Labots, 1959) |
| B. calsotenax (Heinen & Heinen, 1972) B. caldovelox (Heinen & Heinen, 1972) | | B, calidolactis (Grinsted & Clegg, 1955) B, thermoliquefaciens (Galesloot & Labots, 1959) |
| | | B. stearothermophilus NAC 1356 |
| | | B. stearothermophilus NAC 1492 |
| * | | B. stearothermophilus NAC 26 |

¹ Wolf and Sharp (1981).

ATCC, American Type Culture Collection, Rockville, Maryland, U.S.A.; NAC, National Canners Association, Washington D.C., U.S.A.

-....

1.2_Composting_of_Bark

1.2.1 Methods of Composting

Composting is achieved either aerobically or anaerobically, with both methods having advantages and disadvantages. Aerobic methods result in temperatures of up to 80°, with 60-70° commonly held for three weeks in municipal wastes (Alexander, 1977) to several months in bark composts (Hoitink, 1980). Aerobic conditions are necessary for the removal of animal and plant pathogens (Krogstad and Gudding, 1975; Hoitink, et.al., 1977; Kawata, et.al., 1977), malodours (Parr, et.al., 1978), weed seeds (Bollen, 1969) and for the reduction or elimination of phytotoxins (Still, et.al., 1976). Anaerobic composting has the advantage of requiring less nitrogen and practically no nitrogen is lost (Rodale, 1975). Anaerobic composting is however slow and generally will not achieve high temperatures (Kaulander and Lindfors, 1976; Vogtmann and Besson, 1978).

1.2.1.1 Bench-scale Composting

A variety of bench-scale composters for the control and evaluation of composting have been described. These are of two basic designs: rotating drums generally of sufficient volume to allow development of thermophilic conditions (Jeris and Regan, 1968; Galler and Davey, 1971; Bagstam, et.al., 1974) and smaller-scale static systems where temperature levels are supplied from an external source (Cappaert, et.al., 1976a; Clark, et.al., 1977; Deschamps, et.al., 1979). Both designs incorporate a means of forced aeration and water replacement or retrieval (using cooled condensers). Reproducibility of results in both designs has frequently been poor as a result of balling of compost material in rotating drums and development of differential aeration in static systems as a result of gas tracking (Clark,

For large-scale composting of most bark, the bark is first hammermilled, mixed with nutrients then nearly always composted by a windrow method. Various recommendations have been made for turning the compost; from very little (Kawata, 1978), in response to high temperature (Koranski and Hanza, 1978) or every three days for the first 21 days (Solbraa, 1979c). Work on the composting of hardwood bark in Ohio has been by a mechanical method (Hoitink, 1980). The method used is based on the Metro system (Harding, 1968) in which the compost is aerated by fans through a perforated floor of a reactor bin in which an endless conveyor belt periodically mixes the contents.

1.2.2 Conditions for Composting

1.2.2.1 Temperature, Moisture and Aeration

The physical parameters of composting (temperature, moisture content (m.c.) and aeration) are all interrelated, since water is a product of aerobic respiration (the rate of which is dependent on m.c.) and evaporation is a function of aeration and temperature (Wiley and Pearce, 1957). Consequently, the notion that the hotter the compost the better is too simplistic, as the same temperature can be reached with a low m.c. poorly active compost as with a wet highly active compost. Also, cooling a hot compost (60-80°) by increasing the aeration (thus increasing evaporative cooling) will increase microbial activity, as long as the compost does not dry out (MacGregor, et.al., 1981). A case in point is found in the composting of bark where the optimum temperature is 40-50° (Cappaert, et.al., 1976b; Hoitink, 1980) but temperatures commonly reach 80° in bark compost windrows (Hoitink, 1980).

For optimal composting about 35% free air space (Jeris and Regan, 1973b) is required which means a m.c. of about 68% (wet weight) for bark (Cappaert, *et.al.*, 1976b). The calculations relating aeration, moisture loss and temperature for static pile composting are given by Haug and Haug (1977). Although the degree

34

. .

of aeration required depends on the moisture loss and temperature levels, oxygen concentration should be within 5-12% (Hoitink, 1980). Forced aeration of a static pile of compost with a dividing flow is preferable to aeration by vacuum (combining gas flow) as forced flow gives a more uniform aeration, induces evaporative cooling at the most insulated region and transports heat out to the cooler edges. It also enhances convective updraft (set in motion by the temperature differential) and delivers air for less power (Finstein, 1980; Higgins, 1982). If ventilation is used to regulate temperature, as in the Rutgers Static Pile Composting Process (MacGregor, et.al. 1981) anaerobiosis is not a problem. In this latter process there is however the problem of non-uniform distribution of air through perforated piles within long windrows. Fortunately uniform air distribution can simply be achieved by using the program of Psarianos, et.al. (1983) which calculates the optimal perforation sizes and their distribution along the pipe. ţ

1.2.2.2 pH and Chemical Amendments

Changes in pH have been observed in the aerobic batch composting of municipal solid wastes (Anon, 1955; Wiley, 1962; Stutzenberger, et.al., 1970) and of poultry manure plus sawdust (Galler and Davey, 1971). Initially these composts were acidic (pH 4.5-6.0) and became more so during the first few hours, but within one to four days the pH rose to about 7.0. The final products were found to stabilize at, or slightly above, neutrality. In the composting of bark, pH is largely determined by the form of nitrogen used. When an ammoniacal form of nitrogen is used the pH behaves as just described, however the nitrate form results in a compost of pH 6 or below which restricts subsequent microbial activity during composting (Cappaert, et.al., 1976a). Urea is reported to be the best form of N to add to unaerated windrows. However, with forced aeration part of the N added should be as ammonium nitrate or poultry manure to avoid a pH above 7.4 with resultant loss of ammonia (Hoitink, 1980). The correct mix of N is important as the

addition of sulphur (0.6 kg m³) was ineffective in reducing the pH of the end product to the required 6.5 for plant growth (Hoitink, et.al., 1978). Urea may be used to neutralize the low pH of bark (4.5), by producing a pH rise during the first few days of composting. Also, the addition of lime to composts may reduce the time to reach peak temperature by about one day (Wiley, 1962; Rose, et.al., 1965) but, due to the resulting higher pH during the thermophilic stage, considerable quantities of NH_3-N can volatilise and thus lower the quality of the compost (Golueke, et.al., 1954; Satriana, 1974).

Generally, chemical additives for composting bark are 1.1 kg of nitrogen m³, with an additional 0.3 kg of phosphate m³ for softwood bark (Cappaert, et.al., 1976a; Solbraa. 1979b: Hoitink, et.al., 1978). Organic forms of N may be better than inorganic due to their slower degradation, with a consequent reduced loss of NH₃ during the thermophilic stage (Gray and Biddlestone, 1976). Sewage sludge, which contains most of its N in an organic form (Sommers, 1977), has been used in bark and wood composts by a number of workers (Epstein, et.al., 1976; Bagstam, 1977; Parr, et.al., 1978; Taylor, et.al., 1978). Sabey, et.al., (1975) suggested that the problems of ND_{3} -N and high moisture content in sewage sludge and the high C:N ratio in bark are cancelled out by combining the two. Also, detrimental effects of the elements B, Cd, Cu, Ni and Zn, possibly present in sewade sludge at levels toxic to animals or plants (Page, 1974; Keeney, et.al., 1975; Mitchell, et.al., 1978) are greatly reduced in the presence of insoluble organic matter (Barsdate, 1972) such as composted bark (Poonawala, et.al., 1975; Henderson, et.al., 1977). Bagstam (1977) found that composting spruce bark with dewatered fresh sewage sludge (max. water content 74%, wet weight) could be accomplished with the same results as composting bark with urea phosphate. Some inorganic waste products have also been and successfully incorporated with bark for composting. Michiels, et.al. (1981) demonstrated that in addition to 1.5% urea, the addition of blast furnace slag, lime-sludge or gypsum at a concentration of 10% resulted in a similar compost to that produced with just bark and urea.

1.2.3 Compost Maturity

The final or maturing stage of composting is primarily required to allow the possibly phytotoxic levels of NH₄+, H₂S and volatile fatty acids (VFA) produced during the thermophilic stage, to decrease. Compost maturity or stability is recognised by a number of criteria: absence of NH4+ and H₂S (Spohn, 1978), reduction in starch and COD (Lossin 1970, 1971), pile temperature, degree of self heating on aeration, a C:N ratio of less than 20, amount of humus, growth rate plus number of fruiting bodies produced by the fungus Chaetomium gracilis (Jann, et.al., 1960; Keller, 1961; Golueke, 1977), colour, total N > 2%, reducing sugars <35% (Sugahara, et.al., 1979; Inoko, 1982), plant growth in extracts (Zucconi, et.al., 1981), a C:Norganie ratio of 5-6 in compost water extracts (Chanyasak, et.al., 1982) and a decrease in cellulase activity (Chino, et.al., 1983). Most of these criteria are to some degree dependent on the chemical nature of the materials composted and none as yet have been universally accepted (Inoko, 1982). Despite the claim of the universality of the C:Norganic ratio 5-6 (Chanyasak, et.al., 1982), it has yet to be used in other laboratories.

Presently the only guidelines used to assess the absence of inhibitors in bark compost are the onset of stabilization (lack of self-heating above 40°) and a pH 6.3-6.7 (Hoitink, et.al., 1978).

1.3 Bark as a Plant Growth Medium

Hammermilled bark with particle sizes of 2 to 6 mm makes an excellent plant growth medium due to its resistance to packing, its low density, its high nutrient and water holding capacity and its low nutrient immobilization except for nitrogen (Bennett, et.al., 1978). Hardwood bark mixtures have been used successfully to grow ornamentals (Klett, et.al., 1972; Bekedorf, et.al., 1977; Schusler, et.al., 1977; Still, 1977) and vegetables (Nesterenko,

1976; Zhigalov, 1976). However, the highest yields have been obtained using composted hardwood bark mixed with peat or perlite (2:1 or 4:1) (Herr, et.al., 1976; Reese, et.al., 1978; Koranski, 1979).

The major adverse effects of bark as a plant growth medium are N-immobilization and phytotoxicity, with lesser problems of wettability and low available water content. Problems in wetting hardwood bark (Gartner, et.al., 1973) and pine bark (Airhart. et.al., 1978) have been encountered when these materials have been Despite the high water holding capacity of hardwood bark, dried. (1975a) found that only about 25% of this water was Spomer available to plants. Nevertheless, compared to plants grown in other media, plants in hardwood bark are more resistant to wilting (Spomer, 19735). The chemical characteristics of hardwood bark as they relate to plant nutrition has been examined by Albrecht, et.al. (1983). They found little difference in plant nutrition as hardwood bark aged, except that an increase in humic `acids may reduce the availability of micronutrients.

Little work has been undertaken on the potential of eucalypt bark for plant growth media. Eucalypt bark has been used composted, following mixing with other mill wastes (Ironside, 1976) and uncomposted, in compressed blocks combined with pine bark, sawdust and charcoal (Zeijlemaker and de Lasorde, 1976, 1977). The successful use of eucalypt bark compost has been demonstrated by the author (Ashbolt, 1979) and its suppression of plant pathogens by Sivasithamparam, et.al. (1982) as well as by a local nurseryman using ponded bark fines (Clark, V.S. pers. comm.).

1.3.1 Nitrogen-immobilization

N-immobilization in bark (or sawdust) results from the high C:N ratio, the ease with which some of the C compounds are decomposed in the presence of sufficient N (Bollen and Glennie, 1961; Allison and Murphy, 1962) and possibly from strong NH4+

.(0891 ,dfim2 bns neillið) sibem zeel-lioz growth than other different fertilizer regime for optimal plant psek kednikes ,baizoqmoo son0 .(1891 ,isnisad **\$**8791 ...is.ts composting bark with added N (Sterrett and Fretz, 1977; Hoitink, pre-extracting (by acid leaching) the bark (Goodwin, 1980) or λq * (IZ6I +.15.79 (Gartner, fertilizer release MOIS Ν 5 δυτρρε als definition of to become N deficient (Ironside, Alexander, 1977) excess N over that required by the microflora arnalq nadpid nadi V singeni potistimizza ni than hidher plants adsorption (Allison and Jordan, 1973). Because microorganisms are

1.3.2 Phytotoxicity of Bark

. . . .

.(1891 , 2001 ; 7791 , 4009 bus WritioH) anixototyd of svitians. grown, considering that germinating seeds and seedlings are more sinsig test bark mixes used and species and age of the test planallib plant growth medium. This contradiction may be explained by ayı. greatest limiting factor in the utilization of hardwood bark as a ad yem anixototydd tadt bateeppue (9261) '*lerta*''(11145 ayı primarily related to insufficient N, Hoitink and Pool (1977) ous zi fyes) and Klett, et.al. (1972) that reduced plant growth contrast to the claim of Lunt and Clark (1959), Gartner, et.al. et., 19761 , 1976a; Hoitink and Poole, 1977; 5till, et.al., 19761 , 10 Pool, 1976; Bennett, et.al., 1978) and of hardwood bark (Cappaert, softwood bark (Allison, et.al., 1963; Anon, 1975; Hoitink and A number of workers have reported phytotoxicity of fresh

Composting of back has been shown to greatly reduce the level of phytotoxins but depending on the type of back, at least 15-70 days composting are required to reduce or eliminate phytotoxins from hardwood back (Still, et.al., 1976; Cappaert, et.al., 1977; Hoitink and Poole, 1977; Vleeschauwer, et.al., 1981). The complete destruction of phytotoxins may not be beneficial as they are considered important in the antagonism of back compost to plant pathogens (Krogstad and Solbraa, 1975; Hoitink, et.al., 1977; Bennett, et.al., 1978).

Phytotoxins from bark and wood have been broadly classed as polyphenols (Cappaert, et.al., 1977; Kuwatsuka, et.al., 1977). The few phytotoxins that have been isolated from bark include juglone from Walnut bark (Juglans nigra) (Davis, 1928), a tannic-acid-like compound from Silver Maple (Acer saccharium L.) (Still, et.al., 1976) and catechin, 3,5,3',4'-tetrahydroxy stilbene, its glucoside and procyanidins B-1 and B-3 from ground Pinus radiata bark Nichols, 1978, 1979). The phytotoxin in fresh (Yazaki and Eucalyptus camaldulensis and Eucalyptus regnans sawdusts have been shown to be the ellagitannins D5, D6 and D13 (Yazaki and Nichols, 1979; Hillis, W.E., pers. comm.). In a study of the effects of thirteen naturally occurring phenolic acids, lactones and flavanoids on lettuce germination, Wolf, et.al. (1977) showed that the dihydroxy phenolic acids caffeic and chlorogenic and their flavanoid derivatives, quercetin and ratin were non-inhibitory, while the monohydroxy cinnamic acid derivatives and o-, m- and pisomers of cumaric acid showed varying degrees of toxicity. The phytotoxicity of mono- and dihydroxy phenolic acid may be due to different actions on indole acetic acid (IAA) oxidation their (Henderson and Nitsch, 1962; Tomaszewski and Thimann, 1966). Differentiation of the phenolic acids is concentration dependent (Corcoran, 1971) although pH is unlikely to directly influence their phytotoxicity (Mayer and Evenari, 1953).

Phytotoxins may also be produced during the composting of bark. If anaerobic conditions develop then the build up of phytotoxic volatile fatty acids (VFA), H₂S and phenolics (such as ferulic, syringic, vanillic. p-hydroxybenzaldehyde, p-hydroxybenzoic and benzoic acids) may occur (Patrick, 1971; De Wallace and Elliott, 1979; and Lynch, 1982). Harper Vleeschauwer, et.al. (1981) demonstrated phytotoxic levels of acetic acid in refuse compost up to four months old. Ammonia at a concentration of over 0.15-0.20 mM was also phytotoxic (Bennett and Adams, 1970; Imai, 1977).

2 - Materials and Methods

2.1 Collection and Storage of Compost Materials

2.1.1 Bark

(A.) Eucalyptus delegatensis bark

Eucalyptus delegatensis bark was collected on 20/8/79 immediately after high pressure water debarking and prior to dumping (Plate 1) at Australian Newsprint Mills (A.N.M.), Boyer. The bark was air dried on a glasshouse flogr and hammermilled (Ferguson Pty. Ltd.) through a 35mm screen. Material < 1mm was discarded and the remainder was stored at 10% moisture content (m.c.) ¹ (Plate 2) until required.

(B.) Mixed eucalypt bark finings

Mixed eucalypt bark finings (0.5-10.0 mm dia.) were collected from A.N.M.,Boyer and delivered to "Millvale" nursery, Dromedary, on 8/3/79 for composting in large heaps. The species composition of this material was about 46% E. regnans, 44% E. delegatensis and 10% E. obliqua.

(C.) Compost inoculum

Compost inoculum was obtained from stabilized compost of mixed eucalypt bark and urea (1.19 kg m³) located at

1. All m.c. and elemental analyses are given on an oven-dry (105°) weight (DDW) basis.

Millvale Nursery, Dromedary (Plate 2). The material was stored in 20 litre sealed plastic bags at ambient temperature until required.

2.1.2 Sewage Cake

Urban sewage cake (not containing industrial wastes) was collected on 20/11/79 from the Glenorchy Sewage Depot, Derwent Park Rd., following anaerobic digestion at 37° and subsequent air drying on sand beds for six weeks. The material was stored at 224% m.c. at 4° in sealed 25 litre plastic drums until required.

2.1.3 Fish Waste

Flat-head fish heads, bones and guts were collected on 21/11/79 from Bass-Isle Seafoods, Glenorchy and weighed into plastic bags (1 kg) which were stored (327% m.c.) in a plastic drum at -18°.

2.2 Compost Mixes and Apparatus

2.2.1 Large-scale Composting

Two large-scale compost heaps (30m³) of domed pyramidal shape (4m sides by 3m high) were constructed from mixed eucalypt bark and sewage cake or urea to give a C:N ratio of 35 and m.c. of 214% ODW (68% wet weight) (Plate 3). Mixing was partly by hand and partly by a front-end loader. The compositions of the bark, fish wastes and sewage cake used for large-scale and/or bench-scale composting are given in Table 4. Compost heaps were turned once after the second and nineteenth week of composting.

2.2.2 Bench-scale Composting

Either a constant initial content of bark (148g ODW) or a constant initial content of oven dry fish waste (16.5g), sewage cake (59.5g), isobutylidene diurea (IBDU) (3.75g) or urea (2.35g)

was placed in each compost unit. Composted mixed bark (10% w/w) was used as inoculum. The compositions and conditions used for each run of the composter are given in Appendix 1.

2.2.2.1 Constituents and conditions used for bench-scale composting.

The bench-scale composter is illustrated in Figures 1 and 2 and Plate 4. It consisted of six 4-L capacity gas-tight units of PVC plastic, each of which was provided with a mixing paddle coupled to a common drive. The compost was mixed for 15 min h⁻¹ at 15 rpm. A natural temperature increase at rates consistent with those observed in the large-scale compost heaps (5° increase per day to 55° or 60°) was simulated by having the units immersed in a water bath. The compost was aerated by filtered, dry (through activated carbon and silica gel) compressed air at 20 mL per min unless otherwise mentioned. Gas flow rates through the units were checked daily with a ball flowmeter. The moisture content of each unit was maintained at about 214% m.c. by the use of a cooled (1°C) condenser which returned condensate from the effluent gas to the unit by gravity flow.

2.2.2.2 Gas chromatographic monitoring of compost mixes

Microbial activity was initially monitored daily by manual injection of effluent gas samples (1.0 mL) into a qas chromatograph (GC), but later injection was by an automatically operated series of solenoid valves (Figure 3) which sampled each unit every five hours. The GC (Perkin-Elmer Sigma 3B) was fitted with a hot wire thermal conductivity detector (300 mA) and glass-lined stainless steel columns, one of 2 mm by 1.5 m containing molecular sieve 5A 80-100 mesh, and the other of 2 mm by 1.5 m containing Carbosieve B. Columns were used in parallel with a temperature program from 80-120° to separate a range of possible compost gases (N2, O2, CO2, CH4, N_2O , H_2S and H_2O), or were run isothermally at 120° for CO₂ assay. Each treatment was duplicated over a 30 day

Materials and Methods

<u>Plate 1</u>

Mixed eucalypt bark dump at Australian Newsprint Mills, Boyer.

<u>Plate 2</u>

1

Hammermilled raw bark and composted bark inoculum.

Air-dried Eucalyptus delegatensis bark was hammermilled through a 35mm screen, sieved to remove particles < 1mm, then stored at about 10% moisture at ambient temperature.

Compost inoculum was obtained from stabilized compost of mixed eucalypt bark (*E.regnans, E.delegatensis* and *E.obliqua*) and urea (1.19 kg m³) located at Millvale Nursery, Dromedary.



HAMMERMILLED EUCALYPT BARK COMPOSTED EUCALYPT BAF

Figure 3

Automated gas sampling system.

¹ Three-way solenoid valve, the arrow indicates the direction of gas flow in the normal (unenergized) state. Every five hours the time event switcher initiated the following sequence:

lines A and B were energized, diverting helium from the sample loop to a direct vent enabling exhaust gas from the first unit to purge the sample loop for two minutes. Simultaneous signals through lines A, B and C returned the compost exhaust to vent, flushed the sample loop with helium into the GC and initiated a twelve minute run with the GC/computing integrator. This cycle was repeated for the remaining five units then followed by a three hour wait.



SCHEME OF THE BENCH-SCALE COMPOSTING APPARATUS



Fig. 2-Polyvinyl chloride composter unit.

Materials and Methods

<u>Eigure 1</u>

Scheme of the bench-scale composting apparatus.

Compressed air was filtered through activated carbon and silica gel, heated to the temperature of the composter units and the flow rate was controlled by individual needle values to six parallel PVC units (Figure 2). A natural temperature increase at rates consistent with those observed in the large-scale compost heaps (5° increase per day to 55° or 60°) was simulated by having the units immersed in a water bath. The contents of each unit was mixed for 15 min h⁻¹. The moisture content of each unit was maintained at about 214% m.c. by the use of a cooled (1°C) condenser which returned condensate from the effluent gas to the unit by gravity flow. Effluent gas (1.0 mL) was sampled either manually pr automationally (Figure 3) for respiratory gases by gas chromatography.

Figure 2

Polyvinylchloride composter unit.



Materials and Methods

<u>Plate 3</u>

٦

Large-scale sewage-bark compost heap.

The large-scale heap was constructed from mixed eucalypt bark and sewage cake to give a C:N ratio of 35 and m.c. of 214%. Mixing was partly by hand and partly by front-end loader. The composition of components are given in Table 4. The heap is shown after the first turning (second week) and was turned again at week nineteen. A pile of raw eucalypt bark is shown in the background.



Automated gas sampling system.

Table 4

Composition of bark, fish wastes and sewage cake used in compost mixes ¹

| % Composition | Eucalyptus delegatensis bark | Fish waste | Sewage cake |
|---|---|--|--|
| Total C Total N Ammonium-N Nitrate-N Total P Total K Total Ca | 53.9 0.35 30 ppm n.d. 10 ppm 80 ppm 3.8 | 19.3 8.03 0.2 0.01 1.3 1.7 7.8 | 39.5 3.04 0.9 0.03 0.5 0.07 2.7 |
| Ash Cellulose Hemicellulose Lignin Lipid Protein Soluble carbohyd | 2.0 38.1 31.0 21.6 1.0 2.2 rate 4.1 | 23.0 (6.7) (10.4) 0.0 8.0 50.2 1.7 | 32.9 n.t. n.t. n.t. n.t. n.t. n.t. |
| "Tannins" | 44.8 | 10.3 | 7.3 |
| Initial pH | 4.5 | 6.2 | 5.8 |
| | | | |

¹ Determinations were made as follows:-

Organic carbon by the titrimetric method (Allison, 1965), total nitrogen by the micro-Kjeldahl method (Bremner, 1965a), mineral-N by distillation of 2N KCl extracts (Bremner, 1965b); total levels of other elements were determined after an initial nitric digestion with Р perchloric acid measured in vanadomolybdophosphoric-yellow in a nitric acid system (Chapman and Pratt, 1961a), K by flame photometry (Chapman and Pratt, 1961b) and Ca by atomic absorption spectrophotometry (AAS) (Pye Unicam Ltd., 1972); ash, cellulose, hemicellulose, lignin, lipid, protein and soluble carbohydrate by proximate analysis (Allen, 1974); "tannins" were estimated after extraction in boiling water addition of tungsto- and molybdophosphoric acids bу and spectrophotometry against a tannic acid standard curve (American Public Health Assoc., 1971); and pH in a 1:5 suspension of 1N KCl.

Note. Only E.delegatensis bark was assayed, large scale heaps also included E.regnans and E.obliqua. Values in parenthesis only represent residues determined

gravimetrically. n.d. - not detected. n.t. - not tested.

(d) run of the composter. For the first two runs, four replicates of each treatment were assayed so each treatment was also replicated over the 30d period. Treatments were randomly placed between the six PVC units. All compost mixes were brought to 214% moisture by the addition of distilled water.

2.3 Monitoring of Compost Activity and Conditions

Microbial activity in the large-scale compost heaps was monitored for changes in temperature, carboxymethyl cellulase (CMCase) activity, pH and estimated "total" numbers of bacteria. Assays were performed on subsamples obtained after bulking ten snap samples (10g each) taken at random during each sample period. Temperature was automatically monitored for the three weeks of composting at six hourly intervals by a chart temperature recorder (Grant Instruments Ltd., Toft, Cambridge, England) with three thermocouples placed at 0.3, 1.0 and 2.0 m depth from the centre top of each heap. For the remaining composting period temperature was monitored manually at weekly, then monthly intervals. CMCase activity was assayed using 1g subsamples as described below (2.3.1). The pH was determined with a glass electrode in a 2N KCl extract of freshly sampled compost (20g wet weight in 100 mL KCl, shaken for 1h). Bacteria were enumerated on tryptic soy agar (2.5.1.1).

During bench-scale composting compost respiratory activity was assayed by GC. Anaerobic bacterial activity was indicated by the presence of volatile fatty acids (VFA) by GC of acidified ether extracts of compost samples (2g wet weight) (VPI, 1974). The GC was run isothermally at 160° using a hot wire thermal conductivity detector and 4mm by 2m glass column packed with SP1220 (Supgleo). Mineralization of nitrogen was determined by steam distillation of NH_4^+ , NO_3^- and/or NO_2^- present in 2N KCl extracts of freshly sampled compost (2 g wet weight in 10mL KCl) (Bremner, 1965b). Urea was

i fin i status s

assayed in 2N KCl-phenylmercuric acetate extracts by the colorimetric method of Douglas and Bremner (1970). Compost pH was determined with a glass electrode using the KCl extracts. Volatilized nitrogen was collected in 0.1M H₂SO₄ traps (50 mL) and assayed for NH₄+-N and NO₂--N (from N-oxides) by steam distillation (Bremner, 1965b) every 2-3d. Moisture content of compost materials was determined after 24 h at 105°. Temperature within the units was periodically monitored via a temperature probe passed through the condenser to the PVC units. Humification was periodically assayed by the absorbance at 550nm (Kaila, 1956) and ratio of absorbance at 440 and 640nm (Kononova, 1966) in tetra-sodium pyrophosphate (0.025 M) extracts of compost.

2.3.1 Compost Enzyme Activity

The CMCase activity in compost was assayed by a modified viscometric method of Braid and Line (1980). Ten mL 0.4% NaCMC in 0.15 M phosphate buffer pH 6.0 was incubated with 0.5g (wet weight) of compost at 65° for 1 h. Aliquots (1.0mL) of filtered solution were then placed in a Wells-Brookfield microviscometer which was operated at 60 revs min⁻¹ at 30° C. The percentage reduction in viscosity was calculated using the formula:

Lipase activity was assayed by the method of Deploey, *et.al.* (1981), but modified by incubating 0.5g (wet weight) of compost with the tween 20 at 65° for 1 h. One unit of lipase was defined as the release of 0.10 mM of fatty acid h^{-1} . Laccase activity was assayed spectrophotometrically at 525 nm with 0.1 % syringaldazine (Harkin, *et.al.*, 1974).

2.3.2 Estimation of Microbial Biomass in Compost

Microbial biomass in 30 d compost (at 55°) was estimated using the chloroform fumigation technique (Jenkinson and Powlson, 1976) with a k-factor (proportion of CO_2 released in 10d compared to an unfumigated control) of 0.45. The chloroform was purified and stored as described by Jenkinson and Powlson (1976).

2.4 Chemical Analyses

Organic carbon was estimated by the Walkley-Black titrimetric method (Allison, 1965), with the correction factor (f=1.109) being calculated from the carbon yield from tannic acid. Total nitrogen determinations were made by the micro-Kjeldahl method (Bremner, 1965a) while NH4+-N and NO3⁻-N + NO₂⁻⁻N were determined by steam distillation (Bremner, 1965b). For other elements, materials were initially digested in nitric-perchloric acid (Piper, 1950) then total phosphate was determined by the vanadomolybdophosphoric-yellow assay using a Hitachi Perkin-Elmer 139 U.V./Vis. spectrophotometer (Chapman and Prett, 1961a). Total potassium was determined by flame emission spectroscopy on an EEL flame photometer (Evans Electroselenium, Ltd., Essex) (Chapman and Pratt, 1961b), and total calcium by A.A.S. (Pye Unicam Ltd., 1972).

Cellulose, hemicellulose, lignin, lipid and ash were determined by proximate analysis (Allen, 1974) and "total" tannins were estimated by a colorimetric method following extractions from bark in boiling water (Amer. Pub. Health Assoc., 1971). Individual phenolics were assayed quantitatively by high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) of methanol extracts (see 2.9.1.1).

2.5 Isolation and Enumeration of Microorganisms

Samples of compost (5.0g w.w.) were macerated (Stomacher lab-blender 400) for 4 min. in sterile 95 mL volumes of 0.01% (w/v) peptone (Board and Lovelock, 1975) and 0.1mL aliquots of ten-fold serial dilutions spread, in triplicate, onto solid media. Plates were incubated at 28° for one week for mesophiles or at 55° for 4d for thermophiles.

2.5.1 Microbiological Media

Unless otherwise stated all media were sterilised by autoclaving (121° for 15 min). Filter-sterilization was performed where indicated using 0.45um Millipore filters.

2.5.1.1 For Total Estimated Numbers & Identification of Microorganisms

Bacteria were cultured on the modified Tryptic Soy Agar (TSA) of Martin (1975) containing (g/L dist. water): Gibco Diagnostic soy broth, 3.0; yeast extract, 0.1; L-cysteine hydrochloride (for anaerobic culture only), 0.5; agar, 20. Fungi were cultured on Difco potato dextose agar (PDA).

2.5.1.2 Estimated Numbers and Assay of Microorganisms Utilizing Complex Wood Components

Bacteria utilizing complex polysaccharides or lignin were estimated using double-layer agar plates. The mineral salts phosphate buffered (pH 7.2) medium of Hankin and Anagnostakis (1977) formed the basal layer. This contained (g/L dist. water): Na₂HPO₄, 6.0; KH₂PO₄, 4.0; (NH₄)₂SO₄,1.0; sodium thioglycollate, 0.50 (for anaerobic culture only); MgSO₄, 0.20; CaCl₂, 0.001; FeSO₄.7H₂O, 0.001; ZnSO₄, 7 x 10⁻⁵; CuSO₄, 5 x 10⁻⁵; H₃BO₃, 1 x 10⁻⁵; MoO₃, 1 x 10⁻⁵; yeast extract, 1; agar, 20.0. The overlay comprised the same medium amended as follows:-

Materials and Methods

- For cellulolytic bacteria, carboxymethylcellulose (No 7, Herculies, U.S.A.) (0.5%) (CMCA);
- For lignolytic bacteria, acid-swollen cellulose (0.3%)
 (Whatman CC41, W. & R. Balston, England) (Rantela and Cowling, 1966) and 0.1% filter-sterilized Indulin AT (Kraft pine lignin, Westvaco Co., Charleston, SC, USA) (purified as per Westermark and Eriksson, 1974) (LigA);
- For pectolytic bacteria, citrus pectin (0.5%) (Sigma Chemicals.,
 St. Louis, U.S.A.) (PA);
- For phenolic-acid decomposing bacteria, either 0.05% gallic, ellagic or tannic acid (Sigma Chem., St. Louis, U.S.A.); or
- For xylanolytic bacteria, Larch xylan (0.5%) (Larix sp.,
 Sigma Chem., St. Louis, U.S.A.) (XA).

Cellulolytic bacteria were also enumerated on the medium of Teather and Wood (1982) in which cellobiose, 1.0% was the only C source. Microaerophilic cellulolytic bacteria were enumerated in tubes (30mL) containing a slope of the CMC agar which was overlain with a semi-solid (0.5% agar) and inoculated with compost dilutions in mineral salts phosphate buffered (pH 7.2) medium (Hankin and Anagnostakis, 1977). Most probable numbers were calculated from five replicate tubes over five 10-fold dilutions (5x5 tubes). Cellulolytic bacteria and fungi were assayed by release of dye from Remazol Brilliant Blue R (RBBR) cellulose as follows:-

For bacteria the medium contained dye prepared as described by Leisola, et.al. (1975), containing (g/L dist. water): Whatman CC41 dye-cellulose suspension (100g/L with 1% aqueous RBBR dye), 20g; NH₄H₂PO₄, 2g; KH₂PO₄, 0.6g; K₂HPO₄, 0.4g; MgSO₄.7H₂O, 0.5g; CaCl₂.2H₂O, 0.1g; MnSO₄.H₂O, 0.005g; yeast extract, 1g; agar, 5g.
For fungi, a modified Nilsson's (1973) BV11 medium containing (g/L dist. water): (NH₄)₂SO₄, 0.5g; KH₂PO₄, 1.0g; KC1, 0.5g; MgSO₄, 0.2g; CaCl₂.H₂O, 0.1g; yeast extract, 0.2g; agar, 15g; acidswollen cellulose, 2.5g. Whatmans CC41 (W. & R. Balston, England) microgranular cellulose powder was swollen with ortho-phosphoric acid according to the method of Walseth (1952). The swollen cellulose was dialysed (Union Carbon 50mm dialysis tubing) with water before 'repeated decantation and resuspension.

Materials and Methods

Cellulolytic activity was also assayed in microcrystaljine cellulose and NaCMC media. The RBBR-dyed cellulose in the medium described above was replaced with either 1g/L of Whatman CC41 cellulose or 5g/L NaCMC. Fifty mL of the medium was added to 250mL plugged and capped Erlenmyer flasks.

Bacteria were screened for lignolytic activity on the medium of Sundman and Nase (1971) which contained (g/L dist. water): glucose, 5; malt extract, 1; ammonium tartrate, 5; indulin AT (as prepared above), 0.5; and the mineral salts phosphate buffered (pH 7.2) medium of Hankin and Anagnostakis (1977). A quantitative assay of lignolytic activity was obtained by the method of Janshekar, *et.al.* (1981) using the following medium (g/L dist. water):- K₂HPO₄, 1.60; KH₂PO₄, 0.50; (NH₄)₂SO₄, 1.25; NH₄NO₃, 1.00; MgSO₄.H₂O, 0.50; NaCl, 0.25; FeCl₃.6H₂O, 0.025; CaCl₂, 0.010; yeast extract, 0.10.

2.5.1.3 Estimated Numbers & Assay of Lipolytic Bacteria

The lipid agar of Hankin, *et.al.* (1979) was used, containing (g/L dist. water): peptone, 10; NaCl, 5; CaCl₂.H₂O, 0.1; yeast extract, 0.1; agar, 20; and tween 20, 20 m; with pH adjusted to 7.4.

2.5.1.4 Most Probable Number (MPN) and Assay of Nitrifiers

(à) Autotrophic Nitrifiers

Two media were used in 5x5 tube (5mL bijoux bottle) MPN's for autotrophic nitrifiers.

1. The medium of Soriano and Walker (1968) as modified by Belser and Schmidt (1978) containing (g/L dist. water): (NH₄)₂SO₄, 0.5; KH₂PO₄, 0.2; CaCO₃, 7.5; CaCl₂.2H₂O, 0.04; MgSO₄.7H₂O, 0.04; Fe³⁺citrate, 0.0005. After autoclaving the pH was adjusted to 7.4 with 5% NaCO₃.

 The medium of Golovacheva (1975) contained (g/L dist. water'): (NH₄)₂SO₄, 2.0; K₂HPO₄, 1.0; CaCO₃, 10; MgSO₄.7H₂O,

55

t
0.5; NaCl, 0.5; Fe EDTA, 0.005; trace metals 0.5mL. The pH was adjusted to 7.6 with 5% NaCO₃ and the medium modified by the addition, after autoclaving, of 0.1% penicillin G (Sigma Chem.) to inhibit Gram positive bacteria.

(b) Heterotrophic Nitrifiers

- Heterotrophic nitrification was assayed using three media in 5x5 MPN tubes.
- 1. The medium of Hirsch, et.al. (1961) containing (g/L dist. water): glucose, 0.9; (NH₄)₂HPO₄, 1.65; K₂HPO₄, 1.4; KH₂PO₄, 0.8; MgSO₄.7H₂O, 0.5; CaCl₂, 0.1; FeSO₄.7H₂O, 0.001; ZnSO₄.7H₂O, 0.001; NaCl₅, 0.01; MnCl₂.4H₂O, 0.01; MoO₃, 0.01. Filter-sterilized glucose and (NH₄)₂HPO₄ were added to the medium after autoclaving and the pH adjusted if necessary to 7.2.
- 2. The medium of Gunner (1963) contained (g/L dist. water): NH4Cl , 2.0; KH2PO4, 1.0; K2HPO4, 1.5; MgSO4.7H2O, 0.6; Fe EDTA, 0.005; ZnSO4.7H2O, 0.03. After autoclaving the pH was adjusted to 7.0 with 0.05M succinic acid/NaOH buffer.
- 3. The medium of Verstraete and Alexander (1972a), containing (g/L dist. water): KH_2PO_4 , 8.2; NaOH, 1.6; $MgSO_4.7H_2O$, 0.5; KC1, 0.5; $CaSO_4.2H_2O$, 0.0005; $CuSO_F.5H_2O$, 0.0005; $FeC1_3.6H_2O$, 0.0005; $ZnSO_4.H_2O$, 0.0005. The pH was adjusted to 7.0 prior to autoclaving. Filter-sterilized solutions of Na acetate, 16.9 and $(NH_4)_2SO_4$, 4.7 were then added.

2.5.1.5 Medium used in Cell Wall and Esterase Assays

The tryptone medium (TB) of Sargeant, et.al. (1971) was used, containing (g/L dist. water): Bacto tryptone, 20; yeast extract, 10; sucrose, 10; K₂SO₄, 1.3; NaH₂PO₄.2H₂O, 3.2; MgSO₄.7H₂O, 0.27; MnCl₂.4H₂O, 0.015; FeCl₃.H₂O, 0.007; citric ácid, 0.32. The pH was adjusted to 7.1 with 6N KOH.

2.5.1.6 Screening for Nuclease Activity

The screening for DNase producers was performed using DNase test agar (Difco Lab. Detroit U.S.A.). Arella and Sylvestre's (1979) medium was used to screen for RNase producers. The medium contained (g/L dist. water): Difco trypticase soy powder, 23; agar, 15; yeast ribonucleic acid, 0.0002. The pH was adjusted to 7.4 with 0.05M tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane-HCl buffer (Tris-HCl). For the examination of isoenzymes of RNase the following medium was used (g/L dist. water): sucrose, 5.0; tryptone, 10.0; NaCl, 2.0; yeast extract, 0.5; with yeast RNA, 0.5 in the overlay of double layered plates. The pH was adjusted to 7.2 with 0.05M Tris-HCl.

2.5.2 Anaerobic Techniques

Dilution plating and isolations were carried out as described above, except that all diluents and media were pre-reduced (with 0.01% cysteine hydrochloride) and stored in an anaerobic chamber (Kaltec, South Australia) for at least one day. All microbiological manipulations were conducted within the anaerobic chamber. An anaerobic atmosphere within the chamber of about 80% N₂, 10% H₂ and 10% CO₂, was maintained with the palladium catalyst being replaced weekly with freshly regenerated palladium. Mesophilic anaerobes were incubated in the chamber (28°) while the thermophiles were placed in a gas tight jar (containing palladium) and transferred to a 55° incubator.

2.6 Detection Methods Used for Assaying Microorganisms

2.6.1 Detection Methods used for Assaying Utilization of Complex Carbon Sources

2.6.1.1 Utilization of Cellulose

After 4-6d growth on CMC media (2.5.1.2), plates were flooded with 0.04% congo red to stain undegraded NaCMC (Teather and Wood,

1982). Regions of cellulase activity were preserved for several weeks by a subsequent washing with 0.1N HCl. With the medium of Teather and Wood (1982), plates were overlain with the CMC agar (2.5.1.2) after 4-6d growth, incubated a further 16 h then stained as above. Relative cellulolytic activity was determined by the viscometric method previously described (2.3.1) after 14d growth in the microcrystalline cellulose or CMC medium without agar (50mL in 250mL flasks).

2.6.1.2 Utilization of Lignin

Possible utilization of lignin was demonstrated by the production of laccase on LigA (2.5.1.2) after 4-8d growth. Syringaldazine (0.1%) was poured over the incubated plates, with a red colour development indicating a positive test (Harkin, et.al., 1974). Lignolytic bacteria were also screened on the medium of Sundman and Nase (1971). After 10d growth bacteria were scraped off plates and residual lionin was stained with $FeCl_3-K_3(Fe(CN)_4)$. A quantitative assay of lignolytic activity was obtained by the method of Janshekar, et.al. (1981). After one month's growth in liquid lignin medium (2.5.1.2) phenolic in cell-free supernatants were assayed against dioxane:water (1:1, v/v) at 281nm (Hitachi Perkin-Elmer UV/Vis spectrophotometer model 139, Japan).

2.6.2 Detection of Nitrification

Broths were assayed at intervals (following 6-12 weeks incubation) for NOg⁻ and NOg⁻ using the sulfanilic acid-alpha-naphthylamine spot test (Skerman, 1969).

2.6.3 Estimated Numbers of Faecal Indicator Bacteria

(a) Estimated numbers of Faecal Coliforms

Yellow colonies on suitable dilution plates of Lactose Teepol agar (LTA) were tested for indole and acid production, Voges-Proskauer reaction and citrate utilization

as described by Mara (1974).

(b) Estimated numbers of Faecal Streptococci

Following enumeration of red colonies on suitable dilution plates of m-enterococcus agar, representative colonies were streaked onto MacConkey agar. Confirmation of faecal streptococci was indicated by minute red colonies of Gram positive catalase-negative (in 5% H₂O₂) chains of cocci (Mara, 1974).

2.7 Identification of Isolates

2.7.1. Identification of Bacterial Isolates

Over 500 isolates representing the predominant, flora and present in numbers in excess of 10⁵ g⁻¹ compost were selected from dilution plates and assessed for the ability to degrade various substrates (cellulose, pectin, lignin, lipid and xylan). Isolates were identified to genus using Bergey's Manual of Determinative Bacteriology (Buchanan and Gibbons, 1974). The following tests were undertaken as described by Gordon, et.al. (1973): Gram reaction, cell morphology, position and size of spore, motility after 24 h, aerobic and anaerobic growth, acid and gas from glucose, arabinose, mannitol and xylose, growth in 7% salt, growth at pH 5.7, 28°, 55°, 60°, 65° and 70° and ability to hydrolyse starch and reduce nitrate. The production of catalase assayed as described by Skerman (1967). and oxidase were Extracellular DNase and RNase were assayed by the agar plate (2.5.1.6) methods of Arella and Sylvestre (1979). Flagella position was determined by transmission electron microscopy (2.7.1.5).

The identification of actinomycetes was aided by cell wall anaylsis (2.7.1.1) and decomposition of casein, tyrosine and xanthine was assessed by the methods of Staneck and Roberts (1974). Some coryneforms and actinomycetes were also assayed for

the mol percent guanine+cytosine (%6+C) (2.7.1.2) and type of pigment present (2.7.1.3). The morphology of bacteria growing *in situ* on agar was examined at various ages by light and scanning (2.7.1.4) microscopy using the methods of Cure and Keddie (1973).

Assistance with the identification of Bacillus spp. was provided by the use of the keys of Gordon, et.al. (1973), and by comparison of esterase patterns from thermophilic strains B697, (B.brevis B636, B.caldolyticus B.coaqulans B666, B.licheniformis B691 and B.stearothermophilus B1518) supplied by Dr. Lindsay (C.S.I.R.O., Food Res., North Ryde N.S.W., Australia). Thermophilic Bacillus spp. were also analysed using the Clustan 1C program (Wishart, 1968) on a Burroughs B6B00 computer. The simple matching coefficient (S_{em}: Sokal and Michener, 1958) was applied with sorting by the unweighted pair-group method average (UPGMA) algorithm (Sneath and Sokal, 1973).

2.7.1.1 Cell Wall Analysis

The method of Staneck and Roberts (1974) was modified by growing cultures in 250 mL of TB (2.5.1.5) in 500 mL flasks. Cells were washed once in water then in 95% ethanol, dried then hydrolysed in acid. Ascending TLC was then performed (using drops of extracts) on 100° 1h activated glass plates precoated with 0.1 mm cellulose, no. 5552; Merck. The method allows the detection of the sugars arabinose, galactose, glucose, mannose, rhamnose, and ribose and stereoisomers of diaminopimelic acid (DAP).

2.7.1.2 Estimated %(G+C) Ratio

Cells were cultured in TB (2.5.1.5) for 1-2d to give 2-3g wet packed cells. The method of Gibson and Ogden (1979) was used to isolate and purify DNA for the determination of Mol %(G+C) using the thermal denaturation method of Marmur and Doty, (1962). Spectrophotometry at 260 nm was performed using a SP8-200 UV/Vis spectrophotometer fitted with a SPX 876 series 2 temperature programme controller (Pye Unicam, Holland). The %(G+C) was

60

t

calculated by the formula of Mandel and Marmur (1968) using Nocardia cellulans as a standard bacterium :-

> %6C_{*} = % 6C_{*td} + 2.44 (Tm_{*} - Tm_{*td}) x = unknown sample of DNA std = *N.cellulans* UQM ² DNA (% 6C = 72.7 moles %) Tm = temperature at which half the absorbance at 260 nm has occurred

2.7.1.3 Pigment Analysis

Bacterial pigments were extracted by shaking 0.5g of washed packed cells in 10mL methanol for 3 min followed by centrifugation of cell debris at 10,000g. The absorption maxima of the methanol extracts were observed over the range 450-700 nm using a Pye Unicam scanning spectrophotometer.

2.7.1,4 Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) of Bacterial Isolates

Thin sections of agar cultures of bacteria (2 d at 55°) were fixed onto poly L-lysine coated glass coverslips in an osmium tetroxide atmosphere for 2 h followed by 4% glutaraldehyde in sodium phosphate buffer (0.1M, ph 7.2) for 4 h. Dehydration was carried out in a graded ethanol series using three changes of each alcohol concentration (30-50-60-70-80-90-95-100% alcohol in dist. water), infiltrated with acetone (50-100% in ethanol, two changes of each) then critical point dried from CO₂ (Polaron E-3000 critical point dryer, Polacon Equipment Pty. Ltd., Watford, England). Specimens were then mounted on copper stubs, coated with carbon and gold with a Dynavac sputter coater (model SC150, Dynavac High Vacuum Pty. Ltd., Victoria, Australia; at 20mA for 3 min at 0.3 Torr) and examined by SEM (Phillips 505) at 75kV. A11 photomicrographs were recorded on Polaroid type 52 polaplan film.

2.7.1.5 Transmission Electron Microscopy

Flagella arrangement and the presence of spores were determined by electron microscopy. Formvar coated copper grids

2. Univ. Queeńsland Dept. Microbiology culture collection *N.cellulans* strain UQM2589.

were placed on drops of TB (2.5.1.5) cultures for 10-20 seconds, removed and placed on a drop of 0.5% uranyl acetate for 10 seconds. Excess stain was then removed and the grids air dried and examined using a Hitachi-H300 transmission electron microscope operating at 72kV.

2.7.1.6 Isoenzyme Patterns

(a) Preparation of protein extracts.

One day old broth cultures (TB, 2.5.1.5, 100mL) of bacterial isolates were centrifuged at 10,000g for 30 min at 4° (MSE). The supernatant was used for the assay of extracellular enzymes and the residue was further processed for the extraction of intracellular enzymes by the method of Sharp, et.al. (1980). The residue was washed twice in 0.15M NaCl, resuspended in the saline (3g wet cells/15mL) and sonicated on ice (5 times for 30 sec. 15kHz, MSA ultrasonic disint@grator). The final slurry was centrifuged at 48,000g for 1h at 4° to remove the cell debris. Both extraand intracellular extracts were concentrated 25 fold (minicon B15 concentrator, Amicon) and stored at -18°.

(b) Preparation of electrophoresis gels.

The polyacrylamide gels contained 100 mL 0.15M pH 8.7 Tris-citrate (or Tris-NO₃ for lipases) buffer: acrylamide, 7.5g; N,N-methylene bisacrylamide, 0.1875g; N,N,N',N'-tetramethyl ethylene diamine, 0.33µmL; ammonium persulphate, 0.1g; and in some cases either yeast RNA, 0.01g; tributyrin, 0.2 mL; or tween 20, 40, 60 or 80, 0.2 mL. Gels were developed on a horizontal tank at 4° using a discontinucé borate buffer (0.1M, pH 8.7) at an initial standard current (15mA/5cm wide gel) until bromophenol blue indicator added at the loading site, had migrated 5cm.

(c) Staining of gels.

Patterns of esterase activity were developed and stained at 20° by thé method of Baillie and Norris (1963) using the

following solution: 2mL of 0.1% fast naphthanol diazo B salt (Calbiochem, USA) and 1% naphthyl acetate in 50% acetone in water (stored at 4°) was mixed with 50 mL 0.1M Tris-maleate buffer pH 6.4 immediately prior to use. Patterns of lipase activity were developed by incubating the gels at 60° for 16 h in 0.15M phosphate buffer (one of a series pH 5.0, 6.0. 7.0, 8.0, 8.5, 9.0) with 0.01% CaCl₂. If tributyrin or tween was not included in the gel one was added to the buffer (tributyrin, 0.2 mL, tween 20, 40, 60 pr 80, 0.2 mL). Regions of lipase activity were evident as clear zones with tributyrin, or white zones with the tweens. Patterns of RNase activity were developed by incubating the gels at 60° for 2h in one of a series of 0.15M phosphate buffer (pH 5.0, 6.0, 7.0 or 8.0). Gels were then stained with acridine orange (0.05% in 15% acetic acid) for 2h then destained with 1% acetic acid (with several changes). All stained gels were photographed using high contrast film (Kodak,).

2.7.2 Identification of Fungal Isolates

Fungal isolates were identified to genus using "The Genera of Hyphomycetes from Soil" (Barrow, 1968). Colony morphology was directly observed under low power and the nature of the sporing structures and mycelium was observed under high power after staining with lacto-phenol cotton blue.

2.8 Toxins in Bark and Compost

2.8.1 Antibacterial Components in Composts

Compost samples (5g w.w.) were oven dried at 80° for 24h then ground (Laboratory Mill size 8", McPhersons Ltd., Australia) to pass through a 1.0mm mesh screen. A suspension of 10% ground compost in TSA was poured into 90mm Petri dishes and allowed to solidify at 25° from the horizontal. Plates were then irradiated with UV light (260nm) for 5 min, left for 30 min then overlayed with a further 10 mL of TSA as illustrated in Figure 4.

Predominant members of the compost microflora were then streaked across the plate covering a thin to thick layer of compost suspension.

2.8.2 Plant Bioassay of Phytotoxins

A modification of Still's, et.al. (1976) water extraction was used. The materials (20g samples) were ground (Laboratory Mill size 8", McPhersons Ltd., Australia) to pass a 1.0mm mesh screen, mixed with 250 mL of distilled water, homogenized for three min. in a Waring blender, filtered through three layers of cheesecloth and the extracts centrifuged at 5000g for ten min. The supernatant was condensed to 50 ml in a vacuum flask evaporator below 35° (Rotavapor-EL, Buchi, Switzerland), then used immediately or stored at 3° in the dark. Volumes (25mL) of the water extract were also shaken twice with 2.0g of water-insoluble polyvinylpolypyrrolidone (PVP) (Sigma Chem., U.S.A.) for three min each followed by centrifugation for ten min at 5000g and either used immediately or stored as above.

Ten lettuce seeds (*Lactuca sativa* cultivar Penlake, Yates) were placed on Whatman No.3 filter paper in 90mm Petri dishes. To each test batch of seeds was added 2.0 mL of a sterile 15mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 6.0) and 5.0 mL of water extracts or PVP-treated extracts. Water extracts from fish mixes were filter sterilized to reduce microbial growth during the assay. Growth of twenty root radicles was assessed after three days at 21° in the dark.

2.8.2.1 Chemical Assay of Compost Extracts

Individual phenolics were qualitatively assayed by high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) following methanol extraction. Dry finely ground samples (0.5g) were shaken with 5mL of methanol for 15 min, solid material was removed by centrifugation at 10,000g for 10min and any remaining suspended material was removed by filtering (0.45um Millipore filter). The

liquid was dried by vacuum evaporation at 40° then redissolved in 0.2 mL of ethanol and stored at 0° in the dark or immediatly assayed by HPLC.

The liquid chromatograph (Waters Associates, U.S.A.) was fitted with dual pumps (Waters 660), a Waters automated gradient controller, a 280nm absorbance detector (Waters 440) and a Cie Radpak column (Waters Associates). A dual solvent system was used with solvent A consisting of 1% propionic acid in distilled water and solvent B of 50% ethanol in distilled water. A constant solvent flow rate of 2.00 mL min⁻¹ was used throughout a 50 min run. The liquid carrier initially consisted of 100% of solvent A, at 25 min a linear mix of 1:1 of solvents A and B were used for the next 15 min followed by a final linear mix of 3:7 of A:B. Standards (made each day of assay at 10ppm in ethanol) were Cluted as follows (time in min): gallic acid, 3.9; catechol, 6.0; protocatechoic acid, 6.6; p-hydroxybenzoic acid, 9.6; catechin, 12.1; p-coumaric, 18.5; phloridzen, 28.0.

Figure 4

٦

Microbial assay of compost toxicity.

Compost samples (5g w/w) were oven dried at 80° for 24h then ground (Laboratory Mill size 8", McPhersons Ltd., Australia) to pass through a 1.0mm mesh screen. A suspension of 10% ground compost in TSA was poured into 90mm Petri dishes and allowed to solidify at 25° from the horizontal. Plates were then irradiated with UV light (260nm) for 5 min, left for 30 min then overlayed with a further 10 mL of TSA as illustrated.

Predominant members of the compost microflora were streaked across the plate covering a thin to thick layer of compost suspension.

MICROBIAL ASSAY OF COMPOST TOXICITY

ï

<)

9cm AGAR PLATE



. . . .

ť

2.9 Physical Properties of Bark Compost

Bulk density, particle size distribution and moisture characteristics were determined by the methods described by Prasad (1979). Bulk density was determined by oven drying 5L of material at 102° for 24h. Particle size was determined using oven-dried material placed on the topmost sieve of a column of sieves (of 2mm to 0.1mm mesh diameter) shaken for 5 minutes at 180 shakes min.⁻¹.

Moisture characteristics were determined using evenly packed (0.5 g cm⁻²) samples, in rings on a porous plate, at suctions of 10, 31, 50 or 100 cm (pF 1.0, 1.5, 1.7 and 2.0). Samples were weighed after equilibrium (normally 24-48 h). Total porosity (TP) was defined as the moisture content at zero suction. Air space (AS) was defined by the volume of water between TP and moisture at 10 cm suction. Easily available water (EAW) was the volume of water released when the suction was increased from 10 to 50 cm. Water-buffering capacity (WBC) was the volume released from 50 to 100 cm suction. Difficultly available water (DAW) was determined on a high pressure plate apparatus being the moisture between pF 2 and 4.2.

Results

3 - RESULTS

3.1_Large-Scale_Composting

à.

3.1.1 Monitoring of Temperature

Temperatures recorded at different levels through the centre of each pile are illustrated in Figure 5 (Appendix 2.1). Generally in the early stages of composting similar temperatures were found at depths of 1.0 and 2.0m, these being about 10° warmer than at 0.3m. After 75d the upper two probes in the urea-bark heap gave similar and lower readings than the probe at a depth of 2m. Temperatures in the sewage-bark heap, however, generally maintained a difference of about 10° between the top probe and that at 2m.

In the urea-bark pile, peak temperature (73°) was not reached until 16d, two days after the first turning. Mean (of the three probes) temperatures of over 55° were, however, reached after 8d and held for a further 40d. After the second turning (136d) the urea-bark pile held a mean temperature of over 55° for a further 54d.

Temperatures within the sewage-bark pile were lower than those in the urea-bark pile. A peak temperature of 63° was reached on days 10, 15 and 20. A mean temperature of over 55° was held for parts of days 10-12, 16 and 18-48. After the second turning a further peak of activity was observed (mean peak activity 52°), but in contrast with the urea-bark pile this activity was not maintained.

3.1.2 Monitoring of Cellulase Activity, pH and Moisture Content

The pattern of relative carboxymethylcellulase (CMCase) activity in the urea- and sewage-bark heaps was similar (Figure 6), although activity was consistently greater in the urea-bark heap. After the second turning of the heaps the urea-bark heap gure 5

mperatures in large-scale compost heaps during 300d of mposting urea- and sewage-bark mixes.

emperatures within each heap were monitored via three nermocouples placed at 0.3, 1.0 and 2.0 m depth from the entre top of the heaps.

rows indicate time each compost heap was turned.

; ata for Figure 5 are shown in Appendix 2.1 <u>.</u>



<u>igure 6</u>

oisture content, pH and carboxymethylcellulase activity during omposting of urea- and sewage-bark in large-scale heaps.

ompost samples (1g) were oven dried (105°C, 24h) for m.c.; haken in a 1:5 suspension with 2N KCl to determine pH; or ncubated with 20mL 0.4% NaCMC in 0.05 M phosphate buffer, pH .0, for 1h at 65°C to determine the CMCase activity by icroviscometry.

ach determination was the mean of duplicate samples.

rrows indicate time each compost heap was turned.

------ Urea-bark, Initial C:N=35 --- Sewage-bark, Initial C:N=35

ata for Figure 6 are shown in Appendix 2.2



Results

exhibited a significantly (p < 0.01) greater CMCase activity for the remainder of the experiment. This difference was unlikely to be an effect of pH or moisture content, because although these factors differed markedly in the two heaps, in each case optimal activity (Figure 6, Appendix 2.2) lay mid-way between the extremes observed.

3.1.3 Enumeration of Bacteria

Numbers of colony forming units (CFU) of mesophilic and thermophilic bacteria are illustrated in Figure 7. Total estimated numbers of bacteria were relatively constant at $10^{7}-10^{8}$ g^{-1} wet compost while estimated numbers of mesophilic and thermophilic bacteria reflected the change in temperatures below or above about 45° (Appendix 2.2). Numbers of thermophilic CFU were well correlated with compost temperature in both heaps $(r^{2}=0.75)$ while there was a poorer negative correlation between mesophiles and temperature $(r^{2}=-0.31)$.

<u>igure 7</u>

stimated numbers of bacteria during large-scale composting of rea- and sewage-bark mixes.

acteria were enumerated on 0.3% tryptic soy agar plus 0.01% yeast xtract (2.5.1.1). Serial dilutions were carried out in 0.01% eptone and plates were incubated at 28° or 55° C for 3-5d. Each alue was the mean of duplicate plates.

rrows indicate time each compost heap was turned.

------ Mesophiles --- Thermophiles ata for Figure 7 are shown in Appendix 2.2





NUMBERS OF MESOPHILIC & THERMOPHILIC BACTERIA IN UREA-BARK HEAP

Results

3.2_Bench-Scale_Composting

. . .

3

3.2.1 Evaluation of the Bench-scale System and of the Parameters Used to Monitor the Composting of Bark

3.2.1.1 Reproducibility of the Results Achieved by the Bench-scale System

Consecutive runs, R1 and R2, in which the system was loaded with essentially the same fish-bark mixtures were undertaken to determine the reproducibility of the results obtained. There was no significant (p < 0.05) difference between the two runs or between the six replications ¹ of the nine variables monitored (Figures 8-10). The cumulative coefficients of variation for levels of CO₂ output, O₂ uptake, CMCase activity, m.c., NH₄+-N, NO₃--N, pH plus the two indices of humification (absorbance in pyrophosphate extracts at 550 and 440/660 nm) were 15, 15, 4, 3, 9, 4, 3, 7 and 10 respectively. The data compiled from these two runs and the split-plot analysis of variance (AOV) on these results are given in Appendices 4 and 5 respectively.

1. The data was also analysed as a completely randomized block design to isolate the effect of replications (in the split-plot design, replication sums of squares are included in the main effect's residual term). Figure 8

Mean CO₂ output, O₂ uptake and CMCase activity over time for two fish-bark composts.

Samples (1 mL) of effluent compost gas were analysed by thermal conductivity gas chromatography for CO_2 and O_2 at 4h intervals over the 30d period. Compost samples (0.5g) were incubated with 10mL 0.4% Na carboxymethylcellulose (in phosphate buffer, pH 6.0 for 1h at 65°C) to determine the CMCase activity by microviscometry every two days.

Each determination was the mean obtained for samples from triplicate units over duplicate runs of the bench-scale composter.

Each unit of the composter initially contained 148g of bark, 15g of composted inoculum, 16.01 or 8.34g of thawed fish waste (to give a C:N ratio of either 45 or 65) and distilled water to give a moisture content of 214%.

Data for Figure 8 are shown in Appendices 3 and 4 (R1 & R2) and results from the AOV are given in Appendix 5.1-5.2

| LSD(o.o1) between two means at :- | C02 | 02 | CMCase |
|--|----------------|--------------|--------------|
| A) different times in one treatment: B) any time or treatment : | $0.50 \\ 0.48$ | 0.87 1.15 | 5.88 8.67 |
| Fish-bark, Initial C:N=45 | | | |
| Fish-bark, Initial C:N=65 | | | |



TIME (DAYS)

Figure 9

Mean NH4⁺ and NO₃⁻ production and pH over time from two fish-bark composts.

Mineralized forms of nitrogen were determined by steam distillation of 2N KCl extracts of freshly sampled compost (2 g wet compost in 10 mL KCl). Compost pH was also determined using the same KCl extracts and a glass electrode.

Each determination was the mean obtained for samples from triplicate units over duplicate runs of the bench-scale composter.

Each unit of the composter initially contained 148g of bark, 15g of composted inoculum, 16.01 or 8.34g of thawed fish waste (to give a C:N ratio of either 45 or 65) and distilled water to give a moisture content of 214%.

Data for Figure 9 are shown in Appendix 4 (R1 & R2) and results from the AOV are given in Appendix 5.1.

LSD(0.01) between two means at :-

| | naaonitaa | MICIALE | P.0 |
|--|--------------|---------------|--------------|
| A) different times in one treatment: B) any time or treatment | 56.1 74.8 | 71.4 101.7 | $1.0 \\ 1.4$ |
| Fish-bark, Initial C:N=45 | | | |
| Fish-bark, Initial C:N=65 | | | |

Miteste







Figure 10

Mean humification indices and moisture content over time from two fish-bark composts.

Humification indices were assayed by the absorbance at 550nm (pyrophosphate index) and ratio of absorbance at 440 and 660nm in tetra-sodium pyrophosphate (0.5g in 50 mL) extracts. Moisture content was determined after 24h at 105° C.

Each determination was the mean obtained for samples from triplicate units over duplicate runs of the bench-scale composter.

Each unit of the composter initially contained 148g of bark, 15g of composted inoculum, 16.01 or 8.34g of thawed fish waste (to give a C:N ratio of either 45 or 65) and distilled water to give a moisture content of 214%.

Data for Figure 10 are shown in Appendix 4 (R1 & R2) and results from the AOV are given in Appendix 5.1-5.2.

| LSD(0.01) between two mean | s at :- | 550 nm | 440/660nm | % M.C. |
|----------------------------|------------|--------|-----------|--------|
| A) different times in one | treatment: | 0.73 | 0.27 | 27.9 |
| B) any time or treatment | | 0.97 | 0.96 | 28.4 |

Fish-bark, Initial C:N=45 Fish-bark, Initial C:N=65



3.2.1.2 Correlations Between the Parameters of Compost Activity

A study of the correlations between various parameters assayed was undertaken to identify those giving a similar measure of microbial activity during composting. The correlation matrix of the nine variables assayed during R1 and R2 and their correlations after principle component analysis (PCA) are given in Table 5. From the correlation matrix it is evident that all parameters except m.c. show at least two significant (p < 0.001) correlations with other variables. PCA was however, quite successful in reducing the artificial inflation of correlation coeficients due to neighbour effects (Sokal and Rohlf, 1969).

As expected the PCA and data on Figures 8-10 show a strong positive correlation between CO₂ output and O₂ uptake and between pH and ammonium levels. However a high negative correlation between respiratory activity and CMCase activity was Other also evident. notable correlations were between NO₃- and the NH4+, humification index while these characters all showed a negative (abs_{sso} nm) correlation with m.c. .

3.2.1.3 Degradation of Compost Components

Ś.

The degradation of compost components after 35d composting in R2 were determined by proximate analysis and the mean losses are shown in Table 6. The mean percentage losses of the six components assayed were generally significantly (p < 0.05) greater in the lower C:N (45) fish-bark composts. However, the loss of lignin was greater from the higher C:N (65) composts and there was no significant (p < 0.05) difference between the losses of lipid and soluble carbohydrate at the two C:N ratios.

Table - 5

| 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 -(| 1-pH 1.000 0.148 0.302 0.157 0.351 0.350 0.154 0.075 0.166 | 2-m. 1.00 -0.21 -0.24 0.04 -0.22 -0.05 -0.18 -0.13 | C. 3- 0 1. 4 0. 6 0. 4 -0. 5 -0. 6 0. | 02 000 879 640 203 528 055 401 | 4-C02 1.000 -0.488 0.332 -0.414 -0.035 0.355 | r 5-1 2 0 4 0 5 -0 | CMCas .000 .152 .589 .249 .317 | 50 6-NH 1.00 0.28 0.35 0.18 | 4 + 10 18 17 18 18 - (| 7-NO ₃ - 1.000 0.282 0.091 | 8-Abs 1.000 0.008 | 550 9-1 440, 1.(|
|--|---|---|---|--|---|---|--|--|--|---|--|---|
| | 1 | 2 | | 3 | 4 | | 5 | 6 | | 7 | 8 | ç. |
| ¹ See | ≘ Appe | endice | s 3 & | 4 4 | for dat | a. Ci | ritic | cal va | lues | s for | r with | 24 a |
| W | ere O. | 388 % | 0.49 | 6 (1 | for p < | 0.0 | 5 & (| 0.01 r | espe | ective | ely). | |
| | Pr | incip | le Co | mpor | nent Ar | alys | is of | f Comp | ost | Varia | blęs | |
| | | 2 P | | Ass | aved Di | rino | R1 a | and R2 | 2 | | - * - | |
| | | | | | ayeu Du | ii riig | | | • | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | 1 | | 2 | | | | | | | |
| Later | nt Roc | ots | 1 3.17 | | 2 1.91 | 3 | 08 (ci | 0.82 1t-off | for | 5 0.46 vari | max ro | tatio |
| Later Varia | nt Roc max Ro | ots | 1 3.17 ns | | 2 1.91 | 3 | 08 (ci | 4 0.82 ut-off Rotati | for | 5 0.46 vari s | max ro | tatio |
| Later Varin Var | nt Roc max Ro riate | ots | 1 3.17 ns | | 2 1.91 | 3 | 08 (ci | 0.82 ut-off Rotati 2 | f or ons | 5 0.46 vari 3 | max ro 3 | tatio |
| Vario Vario Var pH m.c OAT Car CM(Amo Nit Hun | nt Roc nax Ro riate ygen u bon c Case f monifi trific nifica | ots otatio liptake lioxid lioxid lictivi cation lion | 1 3.17 ns e out ty n (Abs= (Abs= | put | 2 1.91 0. 0. -0. -0. -0. -0. 0. -0. 0. -0. -0. | 3 1. 1995 2435 9409 9093 7047 3055 5768 0793 5307 | 08 (cl | 4 0.82 ut-off Rotati 2 0.0 0.6 0.6 0.0 -0.0 -0.3 -0.6 -0.2 | for 0 n 5 1 20 1 37 1 20 8 36 6 10 4 02 8 53 9 62 1 65 | 5 0.46 vari 3 | max ro 3 -0.87 -0.34 0.09 -0.07 -0.30 -0.56 -0.11 -0.08 0.11 | tatic 53 65 23 62 77 00 47 35 37 |
| Varia Varia Var pH m.c Oxy Car CM Am Nit Hun ² See of spa wit at etc (Sc | nt Roc max Ro riate contriate contrific nifica e Apper ace. I th lat a max c.) sn okal & | ptatio ptatio ptake ptoxid cation tion tion tion tion tion tinum. hese timum. haller | 1 3.17 ns e out ns (Abss (Abss (Abss (Abss (Abss (Abss (Abss (Abss (Abss (Abss (Abss (Abss (Abss (Abss (Abss (Abss (Abss (Abss)) (Abss (Abss (Abss)) (Abss (Abss)) (Abss) (Abs) (Abss)) (Abss) (Abss) (Abss) | put so/a scrii cori cori cori cori cori cori cori | 2 1.91 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. | 3 1. 1995 2435 9409 9093 7047 3055 5768 0793 5307 00 5307 00 5307 00 5307 00 5307 | f con f con lipso diss g the essivon ar ix 3. | 4 0.82 1t-off Rotati 2 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 | for 0n5 120 137 120 836 402 853 962 165 mixe n a by cipl s (r cess 4.1 | 5 0.46 vari 3 s es. In multi princ le axe otati sively 1-4.3 | max ro 3 -0.87 -0.34 -0.37 -0.30 -0.30 -0.11 -0.08 0.11 -0.08 0.11 -0.08 0.11 -0.08 0.11 -0.08 0.11 -0.87 -0.34 -0.14 -0.54 -0.14 -0.54 -0.14 -0.54 -0.14 -0.54 -0.14 -0.54 -0.14 -0.54 -0.14 -0.54 -0.14 -0.54 -0.14 -0.54 -0.14 -0.54 -0.14 -0.54 -0.14 -0.54 -0.14 -0.54 -0.14 -0.54 -0.14 -0.54 -0.14 -0.54 -0.14 -0.55 -0.11 -0.08 0.11 -0.08 0.11 -0.08 0.11 -0.08 0.11 -0.08 -0.11 -0.08 0.11 -0.08 0.11 -0.08 0.11 -0.08 0.11 -0.08 0.11 -0.08 0.11 -0.08 0.11 -0.08 0.11 -0.08 0.11 -0.08 0.11 -0.08 0.11 -0.08 -0.11 -0.08 -0.11 -0.08 -0.11 -0.08 -0.11 -0.08 -0.11 -0.08 -0.11 -0.08 -0.11 -0.08 -0.11 -0.08 -0.11 -0.08 -0.11 -0.08 -0.11 -0.08 -0.11 -0.08 -0.11 -0.08 -0.11 -0.08 -0.11 -0.08 -0.11 -0.08 -0.14 -0.07 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.07 -0.07 -0.07 -0.07 -0.07 -0.07 -0.07 -0.07 -0.08 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.08 -0.14 -0.1 | tatic 5355267700 47537 lional xays ed w dat |

Correlation Matrix of Compost Variables Assayed During R1 and R2. ¹

Results

Table - 6

Mean Percentage Losses of Compost Components¹ after 35d of Composting.

| Component | C:N Initial=45 inal =34 | ratio Initial≈65 Final =48 |
|----------------------|-------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| Ash | 4.13 | 2.72 |
| Cellulose | 26.38 | 6.67 |
| Hemicellulose | 31.41 | 17.94 |
| Lignin | 0.51 | 3.60 |
| Lipid | 85.29 | 85.66 |
| Protein | 9.20 | 0.43 |
| Soluble Carbohydrate | 94.52 | 89.70 |
| Total weight | 24.42 | 14.28 |

Losses shown are percentages of the initial dry weight of each component during bench-scale composting of fish-bark composts (run 2). Detailed results are given in Appendix 4.3.
 ** Significant (p < 0.01) difference between treatments;
 No significant difference between treatments.

3.2.2 Optimization of the Bench-scale System

3.2.2.1 Optimal Temperature and Rate of Aeration for Composting

The effect of compost temperature was evaluated during the latter period of R5 using fish-bark mixes of initial C:N=45 and 55. The maximal respiratory activity was found to occur at 55° (Table 7 and Figure 11).

The optimal rate of aeration during composting was evaluated during R6 using a fish-bark mix of initial C:N ratio of 45. Respiratory data indicated that greatest activity (p < 0.01) occurred at the lowest rate of aeration (10 mL min⁻¹) (Table 8, data Appendix 3). However, poor resolution of peaks of microbial activity were obtained at this rate of aeration (Figure 12) and total microbial counts were lower (Table 13). Consequently, a level of 20 mL min⁻¹ was used in subsequent runs.

Results

Table - 7

Mean CO₂ Output at Various Temperatures in Fish-bark composts of Initial C:N=45 and 55. ¹

| | · · · | | | |
|-----------|-------------------------------|---|--|-------------------|
| C:N ratio | 55° → | $\begin{array}{c} \text{Mean } CO_2 \\ (\text{mg } \text{g}^{-1} \text{ Compost} \\ ^2 50^\circ \longrightarrow 55^\circ \end{array}$ | $\begin{array}{c} \text{Output} \\ h^{-1} \text{) at:} \\ \longrightarrow 60^{\circ} \longrightarrow \end{array}$ | 55° |
| 45 55 | 0.45 a ³ 0.30 a | 0.26 c 0.39 0.15 c 0.25 | ab 0.07 d ab 0.04 d | 0.34 b 0.20 bc |

à.

- ¹ Mean of duplicate units of R5 automatically assayed by GC every 5h after 450h composting and 48h after a change in temperature. See Appendix 1 for composition of R5 mix and Appendix 3 for data.
- ² The compost was stabilized for at least 4d at 55° between the changes to 50° and 60°.
- ³ Values followed by the same letter were not significantly (p < 0.01) different using Duncan's new multiple range test (Steel and Torrie, 1960).

Table - 8

Mean CO₂ Dutput and % Loss of CO₂-C at 55° and Various Aeration Rates During 720 hours of Composting Fish-bark of Initial C:N = 45. 1

| Aeration Rat | e Mean CO2 Output | % Loss of |
|-------------------------|---|--------------------|
| (mL min ⁻¹) | (mg g ⁻¹ Compost h ⁻¹) | CO ₂ -C |
| 10 | 1.58 a ² | 36.29 a |
| 15 | 0.73 b | 20.51 b |
| 20 | 0.60 b | 13.86 c |
| 30 | 0.35 b | 12.78 c |
| LSD (0.05) | 0.23 | 1.64 |
| LSD (0.01) | 0.52 | 1.85 |

- Mean of duplicate units, automatically assayed by 6C every 5h during R6 and manually assayed by 6C every day during R3 (15 mL min⁻¹). See Appendix 1 for compositions of R3 & R6 and Appendix 3 for data.
- ² Means followéd by the same letter were not significantly (p (0.01) different (Appendix 5).

<u>ligure 11</u>

202 output during the composting of fish-bark of initial C:N=45 or 55, aerated at 30 mL min⁻¹ and incubated at 50°, 55° and 60° during latter stages.

Each determination was the mean of effluent gas from duplicate units automatically assayed by gas chromatography every 5h.

Each unit of the composter initially contained 134 or 148g of bark (to give a C:N ratio of 45 or 55), 15g of composted inoculum, 14.45g of thawed fish waste and distilled water to give a moisture content of 214%. Sodium azide (0.05%) was added to two units to determine the level of non-biological CO₂ production. The units were run at a constant temperature of 55° from 192h to 475h after which the temperature was adjusted to 50° for 100h, followed by 55° (100h), 60° (50h) and 55° to the termination of the run.

Data for Figure 11 are shown in Appendix 3.4 (R5) and AOV results are given in Appendix 5.5.

LSD(0.01) between two means at :-

A) different times in the one treatment: 0.17 B) any time or treatment : 0.38



<u>igure 12</u>

 O_2 output during the composting of fish-bark of initial :N=45 aerated at 10, 20 or 30 mL min⁻¹.

ach determination was the mean of effluent gas from uplicate units automatically assayed by gas chromatography very 5h.

ach unit of the composter initially contained 134g of bark, 15g of composted inoculum, 14.45g of thawed fish waste and distilled ater to give a moisture content of 214%. Temperature was ncreased from 20° to 55° at 5° per day.

eta for Figure 12 are shown in Appendix 3.6 (R6) and AOV results re given in Appendix 5.5.

SD(0.01) between two means at :-

A) different times in the one treatment: 0.17
B) any time or treatment : 0.38


3.2.2.2 Optimal Mix of Compost Components Based on Respiratory Activity

Runs seven, eight and nine of the composter were designed to determine the optimal C:N ratio for the four N additives:- fish, sewage, urea and IBDU, while during R3, R4 and R8 various additives (CaCl₂, thiourea and p-benzoquinone) were also investigated.

3

Mean % weight losses (as CO_2-C) from each treatment were calculated from the five hourly recordings of CO_2 output (Appendix 3) over 28d composting (Table 9). The results of CO_2 output versus time are given in Figures 13-17. The data indicate that the optimal C:N ratio for respiration is in the order of 25 for fish and sewage mixes and in the order of 35 for the urea-bark mix. No significant (p < 0.05) difference was found between the activities of the two lower C:N mixes, except for the sewage-bark mix which showed a significant difference at p < 0.01(Figures 15 & 16).

Neither the addition of calcium (1.5mg g⁻¹ compost) nor thiourea (56ug g⁻¹ compost) made any significant (p < 0.01) difference to the composting of fish-bark (Figures 13 and 14). Substituting IBDU for urea significantly (p < 0.01) increased the total C loss, while treating the urea mix with the urease and nitrification inhibitor, p-benzoquinone, made no significant (p < 0.05) difference to the overall CO₂-C loss, but they did significantly delay the first peaks of microbial activity by 110 and 50h respectively (Figure 15).

At least three peaks in respiratory activity were apparent during composting (Figures 11-17), with the first two peaks (largest) generally occurring during the mesophilic stage of composting. In the fish-bark composts of initial C:N=45 these peaks in activity occurred at about 50, 100 and 390 h, while fish-, urea- and sewage-bark composts of lower C:N generally showed peaks in activity at 50, 110, 150 and 195 h. The exceptions were the sewage-bark composts which did not produce a peak in activity at 195 h. A peak in respiratory activity at

about 380 h was only shown by the fish-, urea- and sewage-bark composts with initial C:N ratios of 45, 35 and 25 respectively. The addition of quinone to urea-bark composts or the replacement of urea with IBDU delayed all peaks in respiratory activity until the thermophilic stage of composting (Figure 17). The urea-bark+quinone compost produced peaks in activity at 140, 280, 340 and 370 h, while the IBDU-bark compost showed an initial further delay with peaks at 190, 270, 340 and 370 h.

Table - 9

Mean % Weight Loss as CO₂-C ¹ in Composts of Various C:N Ratios after 28d of composting.

1

| Compost | % | CO ₂ -C Loss c | ver 28d Com | posting (|
|---|--|---|-------------------------------------|---|
| C:N Ratio 25 35 " + Quinone 45 Sterile " 30 mL min ⁻¹ 55 " " " | Fish-bar 15.55 a 15.04 a 0.17 e 13.86 f 10.36 g 6.01 b | k Urea-bark 2 15.64 a 16.78 a 15.44 af - - - - | IBDU-bark 19.48 d - - - | Sewage-bark 6.52 b 4.22 c - - - - - - |

¹ Losses shown are relative to the initial total weight in each compost. Results are means from duplicate units in each run which were automatically assayed every 5h by GC and aerated at 20 mL min⁻¹ unless otherwise noted in the table.
² Means followed by a different letter were significantly (p <</p>

0.01) different. (LSD:0.05 & 0.01) = 1.64 & 1.85) (Appendix 5.10).

Figure 13

CO₂ output during the composting of fish-bark of initial C:N=45, aeration 15 mL min⁻¹.

Each determination was the mean of effluent gas from duplicate units manually assayed by gas chromatography every day.

Each unit of the composter initially contained 148g of bark 15g of composted inoculum, 8.34g of thawed fish waste and distilled water to give a moisture content of 214%. Temperature was initially 20° and increased at 5° per day to 55°.

Propylene oxide was added (indicated by arrow) at day 0 (5 mL) and day 9 (10 mL) to two units.

CaCl₂ was added (1.5mg g⁻¹) at day 0 to different duplicate units to determine the effect of calcium on the development of the thermophilic flora.

Data for Figure 13 are shown in Appendix 3.3 (R3) and ADV results are given in Appendix 5.3.

LSD(0.01) between two means at :-

A) different times in the one treatment: 0.14
B) any time or treatment : 0.32



Figure 14

 CO_2 output during the composting of fish- and urea-bark of initial C:N=45, aeration 10 mL min⁻¹.

Each determination was the mean of effluent gas from duplicate units manually assayed by gas chromatography every day.

Each unit of the composter initially contained 148g of bark 15g of composted inoculum, 16.0g of thawed fish waste or 2.81g urea and distilled water to give a moisture content of 214%. Temperature was initially 20° and increased at 5° per day to 55°.

Thiourea was added (10mg) at day 0 to duplicates of fish-bark to determine the effect of this nitrification inhibitor on the production of nitrate during composting.

Data for Figure 14 are shown in Appendix 3.3 (R4) and ADV results are given in Appendix 5.4.

LSD(0.01) between two means at :-

A) different times in the one treatment: 0.32
B) any time or treatment : 0.71



Eigure 15

 CO_2 output during the composting of fish-, urea- and sewage-bark of initial C:N=35, aeration 20 mL min⁻¹.

Each determination was the mean of effluent gas from duplicate units automatically assayed by gas chromatography every 5h.

Each unit of the composter initially contained 92, 105.2 or 91g of bark with 14.45g of thawed fish waste, 2.81g urea or 56.0g sewage cake respectively, 15g of composted inoculum and distilled water to give a moisture content of 214%. Temperature was initially 20° and increased at 5° per day to 55°.

Data for Figure 15 are shown in Appendix 3.7 (R7) and AOV results are given in Appendix 5.6.

LSD(0.01) between two means at :-

1

A) different times in the one treatment: 0.32 B) any time or treatment : 0.69

ς.



Figure 16

CO₂ output during the composting of fish-, urea- and sewage-bark of initial C:N=25, aeration 20 mL min⁻¹.

Each determination was the mean of effluent gas from duplicate units automatically assayed by gas chromatography every 5h.

Each unit of the composter initially contained 56.3, 42.4 or 65.2g of bark with 14.45g of thawed fish waste, 2.81g urea or 56.0g sewage cake respectively, 15g of composted inoculum and distilled water to give a moisture content of 214%. Temperature was initially 20° and increased at 5° per day to 55°.

Data for Figure 16 are shown in Appendix 3.9 (R9) and AOV results are given in Appendix 5.9.

LSD(0.01) between two means at :-

\$

A) different times in the one treatment: 0.21 B) any time or treatment : 0.46



Eigure 17

CO₂ output during the composting of urea-, urea + p-benzoquinoneand IBDU-bark of initial C:N=35, aeration 20 mL min⁻¹.

Each determination was the mean of effluent gas from duplicate units automatically assayed by gas chromatography every 5h.

Each unit of the composter initially contained 105.2 or 91.0g of bark with 2.81g urea (+/- 5mL p-benzoquinone) or 3.75g IBDU respectively, 15g of composted inoculum and distilled water to give a moisture content of 214%. Temperature was initially 20° and increased at 5° per day to 55°.

Data for Figure 17 are shown in Appendix 3.8 (R8) and ADV results are given in Appendix 5.8.

LSD(0.01) between two means at :-

A) different times in the one treatment: 0.35 B) any time or treatment : 0.79



3.2.2.3 Estimated Numbers of Microorganisms in Relation to Optimization of Composting Conditions

Numbers of thermophilic bacteria present during composting of fish-bark of initial C:N=45 or 65 were estimated in R2, as shown in Table 10. Where estimates were $< 0.01 \times 10^{\circ}$ for both treatments at the one sample time, that time was not used in the AOV. If only one of the treatments gave a count $< 0.01 \times 10^{\circ}$ once, then a missing value < 0.01 was calculated by the Genstat statistical program (Genstat V, 1979). When all counts for two sample times were $< 0.01 \times 10^{\circ}$ no AOV was attempted.

Data on estimated numbers of bacteria during R2 supported the respiratory data in that there was significantly (generally at p < 0.01) larger populations detected in the composts of C:N=45 as compared with that of C:N=65 (Table 10). The same trend was also apparent in R4 between numbers of mesophilic and thermophilic bacteria and respiratory activity (Table 11 & Appendix 6). However, neither total estimated numbers nor estimated numbers of groups of particular hydrolytic bacteria were correlated (none were significant at p < 0.05) with the respiratory data itself for R2 or R4 (Table 12).

During R4 there was a statistical (p < 0.01) difference between the fish- and urea-bark treatments and between these treatments over time for estimated numbers of total aerobes. Mean counts of thermophiles were always significantly greater than for the corresponding group of mesophiles and there was also a significantly (p < 0.01) different count over time for both mesophiles and thermophiles (Appendix 6). The lower rate of aeration during R4 compared with that during R1 and R2 (10, 30 & 30 mL min⁻¹ respectively) with units containing the same initial mix, indicated a significantly later development of the cellulolytic and pectinolytic flora at the higher rate of aeration (Table 13).

Table - 10

Mean Estimates of Numbers of Thermophilic Bacteria Isolated at Intervals During Composting of Fish-bark of Initial C:N = 45 or 65. ¹

<u>ر</u> ،

| Day,Tem Treat | p Total ubacteria | Estimate Anaero. m | s ctino- ycetes | % of Cellulo- lytic | Thermop Ligno- lytic | hiles be Pectir lytic | eing: no-Lipo- : lytic |
|------------------|-------------------------------|------------------------------|-----------------------|---------------------------|----------------------------|-----------------------------|------------------------------|
| 2, 30° | | | | | | | |
| C:N 45 C:N 65 | 0.52a1 0.49a1 | 0.13a1 < 0.01b1 | -<-001- < 0.01 | n.d. n.d. | n.d. | n.d. n.d. | 100.0a1 100.0a1 |
| 7, 50° | | | | | | | |
| C:N 45 C:N 65 | 11185.00a2 166.50b2 | 2 7.05a2 2 4.85a2 | < 0.01 1.17 | n.d. n.d. | n.d. n.d. | n.d. n∢d. | 6.9a2 96.7 <u>b</u> 2 |
| 14, 55° | | | | | | | |
| C:N 45 C:N 65 | 15350.00a3 165.50b2 | 55.00a3 0.61b3 | 184.00 | 39.4 13.0 | n.d. n.d. | 17.3 82.9 | 96.7a3 65.8b23 |
| 28, 55° | | | | | | | |
| C:N 45 C:N 65 | 760.50a4 464.50 <u>b</u> 3 | $< 0.01 \\ < 0.01 \\ < 0.01$ | 57.03 2.42 | 36.8 3.05 (| n.d. n.d. | 41.3 93.8 1 | 86.9a2 4.1a <u>3</u> |

¹ Bacteria (millions g⁻¹ compost) were enumerated on 0.3% TSA (Gibsons) + 0.01 yeast extract (total count) plus L-cysteine hydrochloride (anaerobe count), on mineral salts agar plus 0.5% NaCMC, 0.3% Indulin AT + 0.1% NaCMC, 0.5% pectin; or on Tween 20 agar after incubation at 55° for 4d. Results were a mean obtained from duplicate units & of duplicate plates for each unit in R2. Composting conditions are given in Appendix 1 and detailed results in Appendix 6. Significant differences in numbers (LSDo.or, or LSDo.os if underlined) between treatments at the one time (indicated by a different letter) and within a treatment between times (indicated by a different number) were calculated for each group on log10 transformed data or percentage of aerobic count data (Appendix 6). n.d. - not detected.

Table - 11

Mean Estimates of Numbers of Microorganisms During

Composting of Fish- and Urea-bark of Initial C:N = 45 During R4. 1

5

| Day,Temp. Treat. | Total CFU/g Eubacteria Aero. Anaero. | Compost Actino- Co mycetes Fung | % of ellulo- P i lytic | Total ectino- lytic | Flora Xylan lytic | being: p- Lipo- lytic |
|-----------------------------------|--|--|------------------------------|-----------------------------|-------------------------|-----------------------------|
| 7, 50° | | MESOPI | HILES | | | |
| Fish-bark Urea-bark | < 82.9a1 < 0.1 356.5b1 0.5 | < 0.1 < 0.1 17.0 1.0 | 38.6a1 15.1b1 | 59.0ai 15.1ai | 0.1 2.6 | n.d.a1 0.3b1 |
| 14, 55° | | | | | | |
| Fish-bark Urea-bark | <pre> 93.5a1 < 0.1 63.2b2 < 0.1 </pre> | <pre>< 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 29.0</pre> | 84.5a1 23.5b2 | 86.1a1 1.8b2 | n.d. 23.6 | 22.5a2 23.5b2 |
| 28, <mark>55°</mark> | | | | | | |
| Fish-bark Urea-bark | 18.0a2 < 0.1 78.5b2 < 0.1 | <pre>< 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 57.5()</pre> | n.d.a3 y) 1.7a3 | 65.0a1 92.1b3 | 12.2 n.d. | 14.7a3 73.3b3 |
| 7 500 | | THERM | DPHILES | | • | |
| Fish-bark Urea-bark | 230.0c1 4.6 270.4c1 < 0.1 | < 0.1 < 0.1 256.5 < 0.1 | 66.8c1 0.7d1 | 66.8c1 0.1d1 | $1.0 \\ 0.6$ | 34.1c1 2.2a1 |
| 14, 55° Fish-bark Urea-bark | 2839.0c1 72.5 1069.0b1 < 0.1 | 1490.5 < 0.1 116.0 < 0.1 | 23.8b2 n.d.d1 | 64.6c1 0.5d1 | 31.9 0.5 | 30.8c1 19.8d2 |
| 28, 55° Fish-bark Urea-bark | 103.5c1 < 0.1 62.0a1 < 0.1 | 25.1 < 0.1 1045.2 < 0.1 | 7.9a3 3.4a1 | 70.1ai 2.7ci | n.d. 47.5 | 59.1c2 44.4d3 |

* Total colony forming units (millions g⁻¹ compost) were enumerated on 0.3% TSA (Gibsons) + 0.01 yeast extract (total bacterial count) plus L-cysteine hydrochloride (anaerobe count), potato dextose agar (total fungal count), on mineral salts agar plus 0.5% NaCMC, 0.3% Indulin AT + 0.1% NaCMC, 0.5% pectin; or on Tween 20 agar after incubation at 55° for 4d. Results were a mean obtained from duplicate units & of duplicate plates for each unit. Composting conditions are given in Appendix 1 and detailed results in Appendix 6.

Significant differences (LSD_{0.01}) between treatments at the one time (indicated by a different letter) and within a treatment between times (indicated by a different number) were calculated for each group as either a percentage of total aerobic count or log₁₀ transformed data (Appendix 6). (y) - yeast. n.d. - not detected.

Table - 12

Correlation Matrix of Microbial Counts and Respiration During R1 and R2. ¹

| Counts L-Counts CO2 Output O2 Uptake | 1.0000 0.7052 1.0000 0.2541 -0.2676 -0.0342 -0.6112 Counts L-Counts | r | 1.0000 0.8678 CO ₂ | 1.0000 02 |
|---|---|---|-------------------------------------|--------------|
|---|---|---|-------------------------------------|--------------|

3

.

- .

¹Critical values for r with 6 df were 0.707 & 0.834 (p < 0.05 & 0.01 respectively). L- Log₁₀.

Correlation Matrix of Microbial Counts and Respiration During R4. ¹

| l-Meconhiles | 1 0000 | | r | |
|------------------------|---------|----------|----------|--------|
| L-Thermophiles | -0.0707 | 1.0000 | | |
| CO ₂ Output | 0.4284 | 0.8195 | 0.6548 | 1.0000 |
| · | L-Meso. | L-Thermo | .L-Total | COz |

*Critical values for r with 6 df are 0.707 & 0.834 (p < 0.05 and 0.01 respectively). L= Log₁₀.

93

¢

Table - 13

Comparison of Bacterial Counts During Composting of Fish-bark (Initial C:N=45) at Two Rates of Aeration. ³

À.

| Day Tr | Temp. eat. | | Total Thermon Aero. | Count bhilic Anaero. | % of The Cellulo- lytic | ermophiles Pectino- lytic | being: Lipo- lytic |
|-------------------------------------|----------------|--------------|---------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------------|---------------------------------|--------------------------|
| 7, 5 | 50° | | | | | | |
| 10 30 | mL mi mL mi | n-1 n-1 1 | 230.0a1 1587.8b1 | 4.5a1 7.1a1 | 66.8ai n.d. | 66.8a1 n.d.b1 | 34.1a1 6.9a1 |
| 14, | 55° | | | | | | |
| $\begin{array}{c}10\\30\end{array}$ | mL mi mL mi | n-1 n-1 1 | 2839.0a2 5534.0b1 | 72.5a2 55.0a2 | 23.9a2 39.2b1 | 33.8a2 17.3b2 | 30.8a2 96.7a2 |
| 28, | 55° | | | | | | |
| 10 30 | mL mi mL mi | n-1 n-1 | 128.6a3 817.5b2 | n.d.a n.d.a | 3 7.9a3 3 36.8b2 | 70.1a3 41.3a3 | 59.,1a2 86.9b2 |

¹ Bacteria (millions g⁻¹ compost) were enumerated on 0.3% TSA (Gibsons) + 0.01 yeast extract (total count) plus L-cysteine hydrochloride (anaerobe count), on mineral salts agar plus 0.5% NaCMC, 0.5% pectin; or on Tween 20 agar after incubation at 55° for 4d. Results were a mean obtained from duplicate units & of duplicate plates for each unit (R2 & R4). Composting conditions are given in Appendix 1 and detailed results in Appendix 6. Significant differences in numbers (LSD_{0.01}) between treatments at the one time (indicated by a different letter) and within a treatment between times (indicated by a different number) were calculated for each group on data either as a percentage of total aerobic count or log₁₀ transformed data (Appendix 6). n.d.- not detected.

Figure 18

Total Counts of Microorganisms Isolated During Peaks of Respiratory Activity in Various Compost Mixes, Initial C:N=35.

Each unit of the composter initially contained 92.0, 105.2 or 91.0g of bark with 14.45g fish, 2.81g urea or 3.75g IBDU (or 56.0g sewage cake) respectively, 15g of composted inoculum and distilled water to give a moisture content of 214%. The temperature of the compost was initially 20° and increased at 5° per day to 55°. The temperatures corresponding to each peak of activity during R8 are given below.

| | | Peaks in respiratory activity |
|-------------|-------------|--|
| | 1 -1 | occurred at days and temperatures: |
| Fish-bark | Ξ | Urea-bark 2(25°), 3(30°), 6(45°) & 8(55°). |
| Urea-bark | | Urea-bark + p-benzoquinone 6(45°), 8(55°), 14(55°) & 15(55°). |
| Sewage-bark | | IBDU-bark 8(55°), 12(55°), 14(55°) % 15(55°). |





Total numbers of microorganisms isolated at the temperature of the compost at periods corresponding to peaks in respiratory activity are shown in Figure 18 for R7 and R8. This change in sampling time and incubation temperature resulted in a considerable improvement in the correlation between respiration and microbial estimates (Table 14) over that obtained previously.

Table - 14

Correlation Matrix of Microbial Counts and Respiration During R7 and R8. ¹

Ş.

| | Run 7 | |
|--|--|----------|
| Counts Log Counts CO ₂ Output | 1.0000 0.9211 1.0000 0.9168 0.8951 1.0000 Counts Log-Counts CO ₂ | t |
| <u> </u> | Run 8 | |
| Counts Log Counts CO ₂ Output | 1.0000 0.9415 1.0000 0.7306 0.6513 1.0000 Counts Log-Counts CD ₂ | |
| ¹ Critical va | alues for r with 13 df were 0.514 | & 0.641 |

(p < 0.05 & 0.01 respectively). Data were collected at days 2, 4, 6, 8 and 21 during R7 and days 2, 3, 6, & 8 (R8, urea-bark), 6,8,14 & 15 (R8, urea+quinone-bark) and 8, 12, 14 & 15 (R8, IBDU-bark).

In the composting of urea-bark, the addition of p-benzoquinone significantly (p < 0.05) reduced the CMCase activity for the first 16d, thereafter there was no significant difference in activity (Appendix 7.4). On the other hand, the IBDU-bark compost showed similar activity to the quinone treated urea-bark mix for the first 16d, but peaked in activity at 24d, with activity remaining significantly (p < 0.01) greater until termination of the run.

3.2.3.3 Detection of Other Enzymes During Composting

х С.

Lipolytic activities in samples of two fish-bark composts (R5) are illustrated in Figure 23 (Appendix 7.4). The peak in esterase activity at day 16 corresponded with the third peak in respiratory activity observed during R5 (Figure 12). Estimated numbers of lipolytic thermophiles in a similar compost (R4), also peaked at 16d (Table 13). Laccase activity was not detected in any compost sample over a 28d period.

Eigure 19

Effect of pH on the assay of CMCase activity in 20d old fish-bark compost (pH= 7.2, initial C:N=45).

Compost samples (0.5g) were incubated with 10mL 0.4% NaCMC in citrate-phosphate buffer (0.05M) of varying pH for 1h at 65°.

Each determination was the mean of duplicate assays.

See Appendix 7.1 for results.



рН

•.)

Figures 20 and 21

Eigure 20

Relative CMCase activity against temperature within fish-bark compost samples of various ages (initial C:N=45).

Figure 21

Relative CMCase activity in fish-bark compost of various initial C:N ratios.

Compost samples (0.5g) were incubated with 10mL 0.4% NaCMC in 0.05 M phosphate buffer (pH=6.0) at the indicated temperature or 55° for 1h. The temperature of the compost at day four was 35° and remained constant at 55° from day eight onwards.

Each determination was the mean of duplicate assays. See Appendix 7.2-7.3 for results and ADV.

LSD(0.01) between two means at :-

| | | 1 | ryure z | 0 | rigure zi |
|----------|--|------------|--------------|------|--------------|
| A) B) | different times in the one any time or treatment | treatment: | 6.44 9.24 | | 6.38 8.76 |
| | | Assay | Tempera | ture | C:N Ratio |
| | | | 50 | • | 25 |
| | | | 55 | ÷ | 35 |
| | | | 50 | ¥ | 45 |
| | | | 65 | 0 | 55 |
| | · | | 70 | X | 65 |
| | | | 75 | 0 | |

C:----

FIGURE 20



FIGURE 21

CMCase ACTIVITY IN VARIOUS FISH-BARK MIXES



Figure 22

Relative CMCase activity in fish-, urea- and sewage-bark compost of initial C:N ratios 25 and 35.

Compost samples (0.5g) were incubated with 10mL 0.4% NaCMC in 0.05 M phosphate buffer (pH 6.0) at 65° for 1h. Scales of relative activity are the same for both C:N 25 and 35.

Each determination was the mean of duplicate assays.

See Appendix 7.3 for results and AOV.

LSD(0.01) between two means at :-

A) different times in the one treatment: 3.44
B) any time or treatment : 4.54
;

_____ Fish-bark ____ Urea-bark

_____Sewage-bark

\$





Eigure 23

Lipolytic activity during the composting of fish-bark composts of initial C:N ratios 45 and 55.

Compost samples (0.4g) were incubated with 5mL 3.0% tween-20 in 0.05M citrate-phosphate buffer (pH 7.5) at 65° for 1h. The reaction was stopped with acetone-95% ethanol and the solution titrated to the original pH with 0.05M NaOH.

One unit of esterase = release of 0.1 mM of fatty acid h^{-1} .

Each determination was the mean of duplicate assays.

See Appendix 7.4 for results.

4

| • | C:N= 45 | LSD(0.01) between means at :- | |
|---|---------|-------------------------------|--------|
| | | A) the same C:N ratios: | 0.0245 |
| + | C:N= 55 | B) different C:N ratios: | 0.0784 |



3.2.4 Nitrogen Transformations During Composting

3.2.4.1 Ammonification and Nitrification

Ś.

Levels of net ammonification and nitrification were followed during the composting of fish-bark mixes of initial C:N=25, 35, 45, 55 and 65 (Figure 24), and fish-, urea- and sewage-bark mixes of initial C:N=25 and 35 (Figures 25 & 26), (Appendix 5). It is important to stress that in the following data only net values were determined, not rates of production. For example, similar net levels of ammonification may result from rapid incorporation of ammonium into the biomass from a rapidly ammonifying population as compared to slow incorporation from an inactive microflora.

From the AOV of the ammonification data, significant (p < 0.01) differences were observed between C:N ratios and the different N treatments. A significant difference was also shown within treatments over time and between different treatments over time (Appendix 85. Similar patterns were observed during each run of the composter (Appendix 5). However, with the exception of data from fish-bark compost of initial C:N=65, there was no significant (p < 0.05) difference in ammonification between other fish-bark mixes over time. This is apparent from Figure 24, as peaks in ammonification occurred at days 12 and 20 for all other fish-bark mixes. The bimodal pattern of ammonification was not observed with the urea- and sewage-bark mixes. In these mixes, at both C:N ratios, there was generally a single peak in ammonification at d12-16 for the urea-bark mixes and d20 for the sewage-bark mixes (Figures 25 & 26).

The AOV for the nitrification data, were similar to those just reported for ammonification (Appendices 5 & 8). The fish-bark mixes generally exhibited a unimodal pattern of nitrification with a peak at d16-20 for composts with C:N ratios of 25, 35, 45 and 55, or at d12 for other amendments, coinciding with peak ammonification. The sewage-bark mixes however, showed the reverse trend with peak nitrification apparently preceding ammonification by 8d.

Figure 24

Net ammonification and nitrification in fish-bark composts of various initial C:N ratios.

Each determination was the mean of duplicate extracts (2g compost in 10mL 2M KCl) assayed by titration following steam distillation.

Data for Figure 24 are shown in Appendix 4 and AOV results are given in Appendix 8.1.

LSD(0.01) between two means at :-Ammonification

A) different times in the one treatment: 1.12
B) any time or treatment : 1.54 0.48

Fish-bark Mix of initial C:N :-

| • | 25 |
|---|----|
| + | 35 |
| ¥ | 45 |
| 0 | 55 |
| X | 65 |

÷

Nitrification

0.84

ς...





Eigure 25

Net ammonification and nitrification in fish, urea- and sewage-bark composts of initial C:N=25.

Each determination was the mean of duplicate extracts (2g compost in 10mL 2M KCl) assayed by titration following steam distillation.

Data for Figure 25 are shown in Appendix 4 and AOV results are given in Appendix 5.9.

LSD (0.01) between two means at :-Ammonification Nitrification A) different times in the one treatment: 4.17 2.16 B) any time or treatment : 8.41 5.00

>) Compost :

> > s

- . Fish-bark
- + Urea-bark
- * Sewage-bark





ITRIFICATION IN

Figure 26

Net ammonification and nitrification in fish, urea- and sewage-bark composts of initial C:N≖35.

Each determination was the mean of duplicate extracts (2g compost in 10mL 2M KCl) assayed by titration following steam distillation.

Data for Figure 26 are shown in Appendix 4 and ADV results are given in Appendix 5.8.

LSD(0.01) between two means at :- Ammonification Nitrification

A) different times in the one treatment: 4.88 2.89 B) any time or treatment :10.29 6.08

Compost :

.

+ *

÷.

Fish-bark Urea-bark Sewage-bark




During composting, significant correlations were observed between pH (Figure 27) and ammonification and to a lesser degree between both pH and CMCase with nitrate levels (Tables 5 & 15).

During R4 (fish- and urea-bark composts of initial C:N=45) N mineralization was followed by monitoring levels of ammonium, nitrite and nitrate ions (Figure 28). Accumulation of nitrite-N was mainly restricted to d12-16, although low levels were detected to d28 in the fish-bark composts. The concentration of nitrate-N after d8 was generally greater than that of the other two forms of mineral N.

. N

Hydrolysis of urea during R8 was also examined in the ureaand IBDU-bark composts. Within 4d of commencement of composting nearly all urea in the urea-bark compost was hydrolysed, while considerable quantities of urea were still present in the p-hydroxybenzoquinone amended urea-bark and IBDU-bark composts, becoming undetectable after 20 or 24 days respectively (Figure 29).

Table - 15

Correlation Matrix of pH, Ammonium and Nitrate During 28 Days Composting of all Mixes. ¹

| pH 1.0 Ammonium 0.5 Nitrate 0.0 | 000 978 1.000 556 0.343 H Ammoniu | 0 7 1.0000 m Nitrate |
|---------------------------------------|--|----------------------------|
| P | H Ammoniu | m Nitrate |

'Critical values for r with 61 df were 0.250 & 0.325 (p <
0.05 & 0.01 respectively). Data was collected at days 4, 8, 12,
16, 20, 24 and 28 (Appendix 4).</pre>

pH levels in composts of various initial C:N ratios.

Each determination was the mean of duplicate extracts (2g compost in 10mL 2M KCl) assayed by a glass electrode.

Data for Figure 27 are shown in Appendix 4 and AOV results are given in Appendix 8.2.

LSD(0.01) between two means at :-Composts Fish-bark A) different times in the one treatment: B) any time or treatment : $0.5 \\ 0.3$

Fish-bark Composts of initial C:N : ì 25

35

45

Composts of initial C:N=25 or 35 :

Fish-bark Urea-bark +

¥

Sewage-bark

C:N=25 & 35

 $0.4 \\ 0.3$

0 55

.

ŧ

¥







Net mineralization of N in fish- and urea-bark composts of initial C:N=45.

Each determination was the mean of duplicate extracts (2g compost in 10mL 2M KCl) assayed by titration following steam distillation.

Data for Figure 28 are shown in Appendix 4.5 (R4) and ADV results are given in Appendix 5.4.

LSD (0.01) between two means at :-A) different times in the one treatment: $3.07 \quad 0.08 \quad 3.69$ B) any time or treatment : $6.20 \quad 0.16 \quad 8.15$

| • | NH₄+ |
|---|-------------------|
| + | NO2 ⁻ |
| × | NO ₃ - |



Figure 29

Residual urea in urea- and IBDU-bark composts of initial C:N=35.

Each determination was the mean of duplicate extracts (2g compost in 10mL 2M KCl-phenylmercuric acetate) assayed colorimetrically.

Data for Figure 29 are shown in Appendix 4.10 (R8) and ABV results are given in Appendix 5.8.

LSD(0.01) between two means at :-

ì

A) different times in the one treatment: 0.22
 B) any time or treatment : 0.46

. Urea-bark + Urea-bark + p-benzoquinone * IBDU-bark

Ş



 \cdot

3.2.4.2 Non-biological N-Transformations

Ś.

The use of various compost sterilents was considered to investigate the possibility of non-biological N-transformations occurring under thermophilic conditions. During R3, propylene oxide was shown to be an effective microbial inhibitor for only 5-10d (Figure 13), but sodium azide maintained very low CO_2 output and no detectable CMCase or lipase activity throughout the 28d of composting during R5 (Figure 11 & Appendices 3 & 4 respectively).

Data from R5 (Figure 30) showed that sterilization significantly (p < 0.01) reduced the level of ammonification at all sample times except days 4 and 16 when this situation was reversed. The level of ammonification in the C:N=55 compost was also greater than that of the sterile (C:N=45) compost, except for days 24 and 28 when there was no significant difference (p < 0.05) between the prosts.

The presence of a peak (maximum at d16) in ammonification in the sterile compost was evidence for non-biological ammonification occurring during the thermophilic phase of composting. This non-biological flush in ammonification followed the biological flush by some four days (Figure 30).

Non-biological nitrification was also observed during the thermophilic phase of composting (Figure 30). There was generally no significant (p < 0.01) difference between the level of nitrate in the presence or absence of microbial inhibitors, although in the absence of a microbial inhibitor, a greater net level of nitrification was noted at d8 and 28 in the composts.

Net mineralization of N in sterile and non-sterile fish-bark composts of initial C:N=45.

Each determination was the mean of duplicate extracts (2g compost in 10mL 2M KCl) assayed by titration following steam distillation.

Data for Figure 30 are shown in Appendix 4.6 (R5) and AOV results are given in Appendix 5.5.

LSD (0.01) between two means at :-NH4+ NO₃-A) different times in the one treatment: B) any time or treatment : 0.35 0.31 0.64 ì NH4⁺ in sterile compost • NH4⁺ in non-sterile compost ÷ NO₃⁻ in sterile compost ÷ ٥ NO₃⁻ in non-sterile compost



·:})

3.2.4.2 Volatilization of Nitrogen During Composting

È.

Percentage losses of N, via volatilization of ammonia and N-oxides from the various composts, are given in Table 16. Up to 25% loss of NH₃-N occurred in <u>composts</u> of urea-bark with this being some ten fold greater than the loss from equivalent fish- or sewage-bark composts. Levels of N-oxides volatilized were, however, less and in the reverse order to the losses of ammonia in fish-, urea- and sewage-bark composts (Figures 31-33).

The use of p-benzoquinone + urea or IBDU to slow down the release of urea resulted in an overall greater loss of N than that from unamended urea-bark (Table 16). The patterns of N loss resulting from these treatments are illustrated in Figure 34.

Statistical comparisons were made between N loss data from the fish-bark composts of initial C:N=25, 35, 45 and 55 and between each amendment at a C:N=25 and 35. From the ADV tables (Appendix 8) significant (at least at p < 0.01) differences were shown between treatments, within a treatment over time and between treatments over time.

Despite these overall differences in N loss resulting from different treatments, some common patterns of N loss were apparent (Figures 31-33). In fish-, urea- and sewage-bark composts with an initial C:N=25 there was a bimodal ammonia release, with peaks occurring at d8 and 12 in fish and urea composts and at d12 and 16 in the sewage composts. Also, all composts that exhibited some loss of N-oxides showed an increased loss at d6 or 8 and generally a smaller peak loss at d18 or 20.

Volatilization of ammonia and N-oxides from fish-bark composts of various initial C:N ratios.

Each determination was the mean of NH₃ and nitrogen oxides trapped from duplicate units in 0.1M H_2SO_4 and assayed by titration following steam distillation every 2-3d.

Data for Figure 31 are shown in Appendix 4 and ADV results are given in Appendix 8.1.

LSD(0.01) between two means at :-

| | 0.01/ | o e e n e i | | | Ammonia | N-oxides |
|----------|----------------|----------------|----------------------|-----------------------------|--------------|--------------|
| A) B) | diffe any t | erent ime o | times in r treatm | the one treatment: ent : | 0.17 0.28 | 0.46 1.64 |
| | | · | Fish-ba | rk compost of initi | ial C:N :- | |
| | | 3 | • | 25 | | |
| | | | + | 35 | | |
| | | | ¥ | 45 . | | |
| | | | 0 | 55 | | |





Volatilization of ammonia and N-oxides from fish-, urea- and sewage-bark composts of initial C:N=25.

Each determination was the mean of NH₃ and nitrogen oxides trapped from duplicate units in 0.1M H₂SO₄ and assayed by titration following steam distillation every 2-3d.

Data for Figure 32 are shown in Appendix 4.11 (R9) and AOV results are given in Appendix 5.9.

LSD(0.01) between two means at :-

3

Ammonia N-oxides 0.15

 $0.18 \\ 0.35$

A) different times in the one treatment:
B) any time or treatment : Fish-bark compost.

Urea-bark compost. Sewage-bark compost.







AMMONIA VOLATILIZATION FROM COMPOSTS OF INITIAL C:N=25

Volatilization of ammonia and N-oxides from fish-, urea- and sewage-bark composts of initial C:N=35.

Each determination was the mean of NH_3 and nitrogen oxides trapped from duplicate units in 0.1M H_2SO_4 and assayed by titration following steam distillation every 2-3d.

Data for Figure 33 are shown in Appendix 4.8 (R7) and AOV results are given in Appendix 5.6.

| LSD(0.01) between two means at :- | Ammonia | N-oxides |
|---|-----------------|----------------|
| A) different times in the one treatment B) any time or treatment | t: 0.37 0.69 | $0.34 \\ 0.53$ |
|) . Fish-bark compos | t. | |
| + Urea-bark compost | t. | |

Sewage-bark compost.



\$



Volatilization of ammonia and N-oxides from urea-, urea + p-benzoquinone & IBDU-bark composts of initial C:N=35.

Each determination was the mean of NH₃ and nitrogen oxides trapped from duplicate units in 0.1M H₂SO₄ and assayed by titration following steam distillation every 2-3d.

Data for Figure 34 are shown in Appendix 4.10 (R8) and ADV results are given in Appendix 5.8.

LSD(0.01) between two means at :-

÷.

| | Ammonia | N-oxides |
|---|-------------------------------|----------|
| A) different times in the B) any time or treatment | one treatment: 0.80 : 1.60 | 0.40 |

Urea-bark compost.

Urea-bark + p-benzoquinone compost.

IBDU-bark compost.





Table - 16

| Compost | Form of Volatilized NH ₃ | Nitrogen NÖ* | | |
|--|--|---|--|--|
| Fish-bark Mixes: C:N=25 C:N=35 Sterile C:N=45 C:N=45 C:N=45 C:N=55 | 2.686 a ² 0.709 b 0.040 b 0.251 b 0.018 b | 6.677 a 2.236 b 0.000 0.000 0.000 | | |
| Urea-bark Mixes: C:N=25 C:N=35 + quinone " | 25.277 с 11.193 d 12.874 е | 2.223 b 2.125 b 1.417 b | | |
| IBDU-þark " | 16.081 f | 3.607 с | | |
| Sewage-bark Mixes: C:N=25 C:N=35 | 2.650 a 0.597 b | 13.400 d 6.756 a | | |

ى

Mean Percentage Losses of Nitrogen by Volatilization after 28d of Composting. ¹

- ¹ Percentage losses shown are relative to the initial weight of N in each compost. Volatilized N was continuously collected in dilute acid and assayed by titration following steam distillation every 2d, (Appendix 4).
- ² Means followed by a different letter in one column were significantly different (LDS_{(0.01}) = 1.287 & 1.114 for NH₃ and NOx respectively).

t

3.2.5 Estimation of Compost Microbial Biomass

3

The microbial biomasses of composts produced from R7 and R8 after 30d composting were calculated by the fumigation method from the CO₂ output data reported in Appendix 3.2 (Figure 35) using a k-factor of 0.45 (Jenkinson et.al., 1979). As observed by other workers (Anderson and Domsch, 1978) a net negative CO₂ output was indicated from all composts for the first 10h. Consequently, microbial biomasses were determined from CO₂ outputs between 10-200 h, and estimated to be 15.99, 15.97, 15.68 and 22.66 for fish-, urea-, sewage- and IBDU-bark composts of initial C:N=35. Attempted determinations of microbial biomass in other composts (R8 & R9) were unsuccessful as some units developed water leaks.

Net respiration curves showing the release of CO₂-C from CHCl₃-fumigated, reinoculated composts of initial C:N=35.

Net respiration data for 30d old composts were obtained from paired units, one fumigated the other not. Effluent from each unit was assayed automatically every 5h. The net respiration levels were obtained following subtraction of the respiration data from the matching unfumigated unit.

See Appendix 3.2 for data.

_____ Fish-bark compost. _____ Urea-bark compost. _____ Sewage-bark compost.

IBDU-bark compost.



3.3 Identification and Biochemical Properties of Compost Isolates

ىنى

From an original total of 522 microbial isolates representing the predominant (>10⁵ CFU g⁻¹ compost) microbial flora at various stages of composting (R2 & R4), 212 representative strains were selected for characterization and identification (15 isolates from the original total were lost). Of these, 109 were identified as thermophilic Bacillus spp., 24 as mesophilic Bacillus spp. and 79 were not identified. The distribution of isolates among taxa from R2 and R4 are given in Tables 17 and 18 and morphological and biochemical properties are given in Appendix 9.

Three strains of pink-pigmented Gram positive coccoid bacteria were the most numerous isolates on TSA or LigA from composting fish-bark of initial C:N=45 at 55°. The biochemical properties of these strains (123, 198 and 240) are given in Appendix 9, but the salient features were their oxidative metabolism, cell wall type 1 (ie. no meso-DAP nor arabinose), thermophilic nature (growth between 45-68° with optima at 60-63°) and predominant coccoid morphology with the occasional rod or filament (Plate 4). Rods or filaments were never observed in liquid or solid culture during early stages of growth (cultures were examined at 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, and 12h). The %(6+C) by T_m determined against *Nocardia cellulans* (%6+C = 72.9) was 79 moles %. The methanol extracts of the three strains showed three absorption maxima at 536, 575 and 600 nm being typical of carotenoid pigments. Considering these characteristics the three isolates could not be assigned to any recognized genus, but they did fit the general description for coryneform bacteria.

The 109 thermophilic Bacillus spp. isolated during R2 and R4 were compared on 30 morphological, physiological and biochemical characteristics. The group average (UPGMA) method of cluster analysis on these bacteria resulted in groupings (phenons) with

the closest agreement with the identifications obtained using the key of Gordon, et.al. (1973). Seventy-eight percent (85 strains) could be grouped into 12 phenons at a taxonomic distance of 0.22 (Figure, 36). Strains identified as *B.brevis* were clearly a diverse group, spanning phenons 1, 2, 5, 7 and 8. Isolates similar B.coaqulans were not to placed in any phenon while B.stearothermophilus isolates belonging to groups 1 and 3 described by Walker and Wolf (1971) were always placed in a different phenon to isolates belonging to group 2. Four out of eight unidentified isolates were placed into one of the twelve phenons shown in Figure 36.

Isolates obtained during R7 and R8 were generally identified to generic level largely on morphology and Gram reaction (Table 19). Bacillus spp. dominated all stages of the composting of fish-bark mixtures and for most stages of the composting of sewage-bark mixtures with an initial C:N=35. However, the ureaand IBDU-bark composts supported quite different ⁽ microbial successions. In these composts, Bacillus spp. only dominated during the period between first and second peaks of respiratory activity, after which a succession of Streptomyces, Thermomonospora and then other Streptomyces dominated the microflora (Table 19). The addition of quinone or the replacement of urea with IBDU delayed the peaks in respiratory activity and the estimated numbers of Bacillus spp. had dramatically declined at the time of the second peak of respiratory activity.

<u>late 4</u>

.E.M. of isolate 240, pink-pigmented Gram positive coryneform.

hite bar = 5 µm.

ì

Ţ



Dendrogram showing the relationship between thermophilic Bacillus isolates.

Thirty morphological, physiological and biochemical characteristics were analysed by the Clustan 1C program (Wishart, 1968) using the simple matching coefficient (Sokal and Michener, 1958) and UPGMA sorting algorithm (Sneath and Sokal, 1973).

See Appendix 9 for data.

```
Bre- Bacillus brevis
Cir- B.cirčulans
Coa- B.coagulans
Meg- B.megaterium
S.1- B.stearothermophilus group 1
S.2- B.stearothermophilus group 2
S.3- B.stearothermophilus group 3
Sph- B.sphaericus
?- B.sp.
```



TABLE - 17

Percentage Distribution of Thermophilic Isolates Among Taxa at Various Time Intervals R2⁻¹

| Initial C:N Ratio Week | 1 | 45 2 | 4 | 1 | 65 2 | 4 |
|--|------------------------|-------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------|
| Actinomycetes:(total |) 0.0 | 1.2 | 7.5 | 0.7 | 0.6 | 5.2 |
| Hocardia sp. Streptomyces spp. Thermoactinomyces | - - 5 p p | 1.2 - | 3.9 P 2.3 LP 1.3 P | 0.7 | 0.6 " | 0.3 P 4.9 P |
| Bacillus (total) | 100.0 | 58.4 | 51.3 | 99.3 | 72.7 | 15.5 |
| B.brevis B.circulans B.coagulans B.coagulans | 53.6 - 3.0 - 1.6 | 32.3 L | 6.4 L 28.5 L | 4.1 L + L + | 7.9 L 50.1 L | 1.2 L 13.2 LF 1.1 P |
| B.sphaericus B.stearothermophil Bacillus spp. | 32.4 ∟ us 8.4 ∟ | 0.2 L× 25.9 LP | + 16.4 - | 33.1 P 60.3 L 1.8 L | 11.6 L 2.8 L 0.3 L | - + - |
| Clostridium spp. | + LP | - | - | - | - | - |
| Coryneforms | · | 40.2 CL | 41.1 CL | - | 26.7 CP | 79.3 = |
| Lost | - | 0.2 | 0.1 | - | - | - |

¹ Numbers refer to the percent of strains isolated on dilution plates with at least 10⁶ CFU g⁻¹ compost; + = present in low numbers; - = not isolated. Letter(s) indicate(s) the ability of representative isolates to hydrolyse C= NaCMC, L= Tween 20, P= pectin and X= xylan. See Appendix 6 for estimated numbers of bacteria and Appendix 9 for identification tables. Identifications were made using Bergey's Manual (1974) and the Key of Gordon, et.al. (1973) for Bacillus spp.

-

à

| T | Α | B | L | Ε | - | 1 | 8 | |
|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|--|
|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|--|

Percentage Distribution of Isolates Among Taxa

at Various Time Intervals R4 1

Č

| Compost Week | (initi | ial C: | N=45) 1 | Fish-bark 2 | 4 | 1 | Urea-bark 2 | 4 |
|--|--|--------------------------------------|--------------------------------|---|--|--------------------------------|---------------------------|---|
| Actinomy | cetes | :(tota | 1) 0.0 | Thermo 52.50 | philes 21.7 | 94.6 | 11.1 | 94.4 |
| Hicrop Strept Strept Ther∎o | olyspo omyces ospora actino | ora sp s spp. angium omyces | p _ | 0.4 PX 3.8 LX 48.3 PX - | 21.7 | 4.1 22.2 68.3 | - - 1.3 PX + | 27.8 66.6 cL: _ |
| Bacillus | (tota | 1) | 55.9 | 7.6 | 67.2 | 5.4 | 53.3 | 5.6 |
| B.brev B.circ B.coag B.mega B.spha B.stea B.stp. | is ulans ulans terius ericus rother | n s naophi | 2.2 43.0 + 1us + - | CLPX + L - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - | 4.2 LP 17.7 LP - 44.8 LP - | 0.5,7 - - - + - | 21.3 21.3 LP 10.7 L | 1.5 ° + L - P 4.1 °P + L - |
| Clostrid | ium sp | . | + P | x ₊ ¤x | - | - | - | - |
| Corynefo | rns | | 44.0° | P 37.25LP | 11.1 ^{CP} | - ' | 1 | - |
| Gram neg | ative | rods | - | 2.6 | . – | - | 35.6 | - |
| Lost | | | 0.1 | 0.1 | + | - | <u>-</u> · | - |
| Actinomy | cetes | ł | | Nesop | hiles | | | |
| Strept | omyces | s spp. | - | + 'CPX | + CPX | 4.6 0 | PX | 2.9 000 |
| Bacillus | (tota | 1) | 93.4 | 99.9 | 24.9 | 58.0 | 70.9 | 10.5 |
| B.brev B.circ B.mega B.spha | is ulans terium ericus | 2 | 38.1 + 55.2 | + CP - 3.7 CLI CP 56.4 CLI | - - P 0.5 P P24.4 | 37.2 5.5 0.3 15.0 | 28.6 28.7 42.3 | 0.3 0.2 P 10.0 CP |
| Clostrid | ium sp | р . | - | - | - | + PX | · _ | - |
| Corynefo Gram neg | rms ative | rods | 6.7 | _ CP _ | 16.8 LP: 58.3 F | × _ 41.2 ° | + :P + P | 42.6 LP |
| Fungi: Asperg Penici Tricho Yeasts | illus llium derma | spp. spp. sp. | - | - - - | - | + CF + CF 0.3 L | 29.0 CPL | -× _ - 73,3 LP |

¹ Numbers refer to the percent of strains isolated on dilution plates with at least 10⁶ CFU g⁻¹ compost; + = present in low numbers; - = not isolated. Letter(s) indicate(s) the ability of representative isolates to hydrolyse C= NaCMC, L= Tween 20, P= pectin and X= xylan. See Appendix 6 for estimated numbers of microorganisms and Appendix 5 for identification tables. Identifications were made using Bergey's Manual (1974) and the key of Gordon, et.al. (1973) for Bacillus spp.

Table - 19

Estimated Numbers and % Distribution of Isolates Among Taxa During R7 & R8 ¹

| Day,Temp To Treat. is co | tal CFU olated at mpost temp. | % of Predo at each Pea Bacillus St P) | ominant M ak in Mic trepto- 7 (ces s | licroorga Trobial Au Thermomon Sporm | nisms Is ctivity o- G-ve Rods | olated being: Others ² |
|---|---|---|---|---|--|---|
| R | 7) Fish-, Ure | a- & Sewage- | -bark, Ir | nitial C: | N=35. | |
| 2, 30° Fish-bark Urea-bark Sewage-bark | 178 1680 43 | 100 95 100 | 5 | | | |
| 4, 40° Fish-bark Urea-bark Sewage-bark | 896 1460 656 | 77 91 100 | 3 1 | 8 | 20 | |
| 6, 50° Fish-bark Urea-bark Sewage-bark | 199 1365 89 | 62 50 77 | 23 17 3 | 23 | 5 10 | 20 |
| 8, 55° Fish-bark Urea-bark Sewage-bark | 159 987 23 | 56 4 56 | 34 1 | 95 | 10 26 | 18 |
| 21, 55° Fish-bark Urea-bark Sewage-bark | 64 141 71 | 89 9 100 | 11 50 | 31 | t | 10 (yeasts) |
| R8) Urea | -, Urea+p-ben | zoquinone- 8 | IBDU-ba | rk, Initi | al C:N= | 35. ³ |
| Peak 1 Urea-bark Urea-bark+q IBDU-bark | 1250 1532 2163 | 99 75 68 | 1 17 22 | - - - | - 8 | 10 |
| Peak 2 Urea-bark Urea-bark+q IBDU-bark | 1430 1070 2036 | 80 1 5 | 3 | 90 71 | 17 5 1 | - 4 5 |
| Peak 3 Urea-bark Urea-bark+q IBDU-bark | 128 1510 1896 | 70 5 8 | 15 17 3 | - 55 60 | 15 8 5 | 15 20 |
| Peak 4 Urea-bark Urea-bark+q IBDU-bark | 981 1182 965 | 3 2 12 | 63 62 | 95 25 11 | - - - | - 4 15 |
| Day 28 Urea-tark Urea-bark+q IBDU-bark | 89 164 308 | 28 6 10 | 11 69 78 | 43 24 10 | - - - | 8 3 2 |
| ¹ Total numb (2.5.1.1) See Append ² Isolates w | ers x 10° g ⁻¹ (bacteria) an lix 1 for comp ere identifie | compost in nd on PDA (2 position of ed as actino | clude co .5.1.4) mixes. mycetes, | unts on T (yeasts a corynefo | SA ind moule rms and | ds). fungi. |

³ Peaks in respiratory activity occurred at different times (Figure 19), consequently peaks 1 to 4 correspond to d 2, 3, 6 & 8 for the fish-bark compost, d6, 8, 14, 15 for the quinone (+q) amendment and d8, 12, 14 and 15 for the IBDU-bark compost.

الوالي والتوالية المتعارية والمتار المتوالية محتور متتمر ومارية متاريحا

.

S.

3.3.1 Grouping of Thermophilic Bacilli Based on Isoenzyme Patterns

Isolates of Bacillus spp. capable of growth at 65° or above were examined for possible relationships based on their isoenzyme patterns. Of the seven extracellular enzymes examined (Appendix 9), RNase and lipase were most commonly produced (94% and 88% of isolates respectively). The isoenzyme patterns of these two enzyme complexes were therefore examined further.

3.3.1.1 Isoenzymes of RNase

Š.

Two isolates each of B.stearothermophilus of group 1 (26 & 68), group 2 (25 & 69) and group 3 (19 & 34) as well as isolates of B.brevis and B.coagulans were assayed for isoenzymes, of RNase by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (Table 20). In general, groups 1 and 3 of B.stearothermophilus exhibited similar patterns of RNase activity and a greater degree of banding than found in group 2 isolates. Also, the numbers of intracellular isoenzymes decreased with the age of the culture while extracellular isoenzymes that showed no activity under the conditions used.

A number of parameters were varied in an attempt to improve strain differentiation by RNase isoenzyme patterns. Incubation of the gels at pH 6, 7 or 8 made no difference to the patterns observed, but fewer bands were obtained at pH 5. Temperature of incubation (25-70°) altered the speed of development of isoenzyme patterns (60° was optimal), but the final patterns were similar. Neither growth in a low P medium (TB of Sargeant, et.al., 1971) nor the addition of gelatin (Arella and Sylvestre, 1979) improved the distinctions between, or similarities within, the three groups of B.stearothermophilus.

| | Tabl | e - | 20 | | | | | |
|---------------------------------|----------|-----|--------|----|----------|----|--|--|
| Electrophoretic | Mobility | of | RNases | in | Extracts | of | | |
| Thermophilic Bacillus Cultures. | | | | | | | | |

| Isolate | | R∉ Va Intrac 18h | lues of Isc ellular 3d | penzymes of R Extrac 18h | Nase ¹ ellular 3d |
|---------------|---------|------------------------|-------------------------------------|--------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| B.stearotherm | ophilus | : | | | |
| group 1- | 26 | n.d. | n.d. | n.d | n.d. |
| | 68 | 18 bands | 0.06, <u>0.53</u> | 0.17, <u>0.43</u> | 0.17, <u>0.43</u> |
| group 2- | 25 | n.d. 0 | .11,0.29, <u>0</u> . | 44 0.10 | 0.10 |
| | 69 | n.d. | n.d | n.d. | n.d. |
| group 3- | 19 | 0.05,0.11 0.29,0.44 | 0.08,0.22 0.29,0.44 | 0.23,0.43 | 0.25,0.43 |
| | 34 | 21 bands | 0.05,0.10 0.23,0.29 0.35,0.42 | 0.48 | 0.20,0.48 |
| B.brevis | 29 | n.d. | n.d. | 、 n.d. | 'n.d. |
| B.coagulans | 13 | n.d. | n.d. | n.d. | n.d. |

^a Bands of RNase activity were evident after incubating the gel at 60° for 2h, followed by staining with acridine orange for 2h then destaining in acetic acid for 2h. R_f values were relative to the bromophenol blue front and values underlined indicate strong activity.

n.d. - not detected.

3.3.1.2 Isoenzymes of Esterases

Various compost isolates and strains of *Bacillus brevis* and *B.coagulans* (B636 & B666 from the Australian thermophile collection) able to grow at 65° or above were examined for alpha-esterase activity (Table 21).

Identifications based on traditional methods generally matched the groupings based on esterase mobilities. All strains of compost isolates identified as *B.brevis* produced at least two bands, one of medium intensity at R. 0.33 and another at about 0.49 and/or 0.73. The only other isolate (98) exhibiting

these isoenzymes also produced an intense band at about 0.68, an R, band not seen in isolates of B.brevis, but common to group 1 B, stear othermophilus. B, caldolyticus (placed into group 1 B.stearothermophilus 'by Sharp, et.al. (1980)) lacked the intense band at about 0.68 common to other group 1 B.stearothermophilus This extreme thermophile showed greater similarity in isolates. esterase banding with B.megaterium, a species with members unable to grow at 65°. Group 1 B.stearothermophilus isolates had in common two intense bands at about R. 0.53 and 0.68 and at least one other of lesser mobility and intensity. All aroup 2 isolates produced a single band at about R. 0.50. Group 3 greater variability. 0f the however, showed isolates. unidentified isolates, only one (isolate 100) showed isoenzymes in of B.stearothermophilus (group 2). group common with any Unfortunately neither of the known strains of B.brevis or B.coagulans (B636 & B666) demonstrated any esterase activity on alpha-naphthyl acetate. 1

3.3.1.3 Isoenzymes of Lipase

Ś.

In developing an electrophoretic assay of lipase group of esterase isoenzymes various parameters of the assay were investigated. These included pH (during electrophoresis and subsequent incubation), temperature of incubation and substrate (tween 20, 40, 60, 80 or tributyrin) concentration. The best separation and greatest number of bands was achieved using 0.2% tributyrin in the gel buffered at pH 8.6. Following separation. gels were incubated in 0.1% CaCl₂ at pH 8.5 for 1h at 20°. However, staining showed cross reaction with esterases, as demonstrated by paired gels supplemented with 0.2% tributyrin, one stained for esterases the other for lipases.

Electrophoretic Mobility of Alpha-Naphthyl Esterases in Extracts of Thermophilic Bacillus Cultures. ¹

2.

| Identification | Strain | band 1 | band 2 | R≠≃ band 3 | Value at band 4 | band 5 | band 6 |
|-----------------------|---|-------------------------|--------------------|--|---|---|---|
| B.brevis | B636 29 60 91 151 | n.d. | 0,17(m) | 0.33(m) 0.32(m) 0.33(m) 0.32(m) | 0.49(s) | 0.50(m) 0.48(w) 0.54(s) | 0.73(s) 0.73(m) 0.72(s) |
| B.caldolyticus | B697 | 0.04(w) | 0.11(#) | 0.22(w) | 0.33(5) | 0.36(s) | 0.58(s) |
| B,coagulans | B666 13 163 233 553 | n.d. 0.04(w) n.d. | 0.13(w) | 0.33(w) | 0.38(s) | | 0.68(m) 0.95(s) 0.67(s) |
| B.licheniformis | B691 | | | 0.28(w) | | | |
| B.megaterium | 12 | 0.17(m) | 0.19(m) | 0.33(w) | 0.35(#) | 0.37(s) | 0.53(s) |
| B.stearothermop | hilus B1518 | | 0.18(w) | | 0.42(m) | 0,55(m) | 0.69(m) |
| " group 1 | 26 68 83 98 469 | 0.06(w) 0.05(w) | 0.11(w) 0.13(w) | 0.22(w) .0.33(m) | 0.42(m) | 0.53(s) 0.55(s) 0.53(s) 0.52(s) 0.54(s) | 0.60(m) 0.68(s) 0.68(s) 0.67(s) 0.68(s) |
| " group 2 | 24 25 69 165 182 | | | | | 0.51(s) 0.51(w) 0.47(w) 0.47(m) 0.48(m) | |
| " group 3 | 17 32 34 116 117 124 | | | | 0.38(m) 0.41(m) ? 0.36(m) 0.40(w) | 0.55(s) 0.52(s) 0.46(s) 0.50(s) 0.51(w) 0.54(s) 0.53(m) | 0.69(w) 0.68(w) |
| Bacillus.sp | 28 43 92 100 102b 493 494 | n.d. n.d. | | 0.42(w) | 0.42(s) 0.34(w) 0.36(w) | 0.91(w) 0.49(w) | |

- ¹ Bands indicating esterase activity were evident after incubating the gel at 20° for 1h in alpha-naphthyl acetate and naphthanil diazo at pH 7.0.
- ² R_f values were relative to the bromophenol blue front. Relative intensity of stained band:- s= strong, m= medium, w= weak. n.d.- not detected.
3.3.2 Production of Hydrolytic Enzymes by Compost Isolates

S.

The 212 compost isolates were initially screened for hydrolytic enzyme production by agar plate clearing methods. The following results were obtained: 30% demonstrated amylase activity, 17% CMCase activity, 39% lipase activity, 35% pectic enzyme activity, 9% xylanase activity and 5% demonstrated activity towards lignin. The identifications of these isolates are given in Appendix 9, and their generic distributions at various composting intervals are indicated in Table 19. No isolate demonstrated laccase activity when assayed with the syringaldazine reagent, but six isolates (Appendix 9) showed laccase activity on LigA. Nevertheless most isolates (82%) could tolerate 0.05% ellagic or tannic acid and 6% caused a darkening (indication of laccase activity) or clearing reaction on tannic acid agar. ' Isolates possibly capable of degrading cellulose or lignin were studied in greater detail.

Most isolates which demonstrated CMCase activity on initial isolation could not degrade NaCMC after subculturing on TSA. The exceptions were the cellulolytic fungi, actinomycetes and *Cellulomonas spp.* which exhibited poor cellulolytic activity in pure culture (Table 22). Only the mesophilic Aspergillus and *Penicillium* isolates (490 & 437) were able to release dye from RBBR-cellulose, and only the Aspergillus sp. produced CMCase following growth on 0.1% microcrystalline cellulose. Unfiltered culture extracts were also assayed for the presence of cell-bound cellulases, but none were found.

During R8 samples of compost were examined for microorganisms capable of aerobic, microaerobic or anaerobic utilization of CMC in semi-solid agar deeps and in enrichment culture. Results from the agar deeps were inconclusive, but three cellulolytic strains of *Bacillus coagulans* were isolated from mesophilic enrichments in the medium of Teather and Wood (1982). These strains however, lost their CMCase activity on subculturing.

Possible lignoclastic isolates were examined for laccase and cellobiose:quinone oxidoreductase activities and for qualitative and quantitative biodegradation of Kraft lignin (Table 23). Only the mesophilic yeast (isolate 665) showed degradation of Kraft lignin in pure culture. All combinations of the possible lignoclastic isolates were also assayed for lignin degradation in co-culture. Degradation in excess of that in single-culture controls was found with co-cultures of isolates 440 and 441; 665 and 441; and with 665 and 600, with relative increased degradation of 3.4, 6.0 and 9.2% respectively.

ى

Table - 22

Relative CMCase Activity Produced by Compost Isolates Grown on Various Cellulosic Substrates ¹

| Isolate | | Re 0 c | lative CMCa .1% micro- rystalline cellulose | follou ise ActivityAin 0.5% NaCMC | BBR-rellulose |
|--|-------------------|--------------------------|--|---|---------------|
| Thermophiles | | | ······ | | |
| Cellulomonas Cellulomonas Cellulomonas Cellulomonas Cellulomonas | sp. sp. sp. | 203 205 492 541 | - | 19 36 40 21 | |
| Streptomyces Streptomyces | sp. sp. | 411 532 | | 13 56 | Ξ. |
| Mesophiles | | | | | |
| Aspergillus Penicillium | 5p. 5p. | 490 437 | 15 | 33 26 | + + |
| Streptomyces Streptomyces | sp. sp. | 436 599 | - | 21 15 | - |

Relative CMCase assay values were means of duplicate determinations. Aliquots (1mL) of culture filtrate (10d growth at 28 or 55°) were incubated with 10mL 0.5% NaCMC in phosphate buffer (pH 6.0) for 1h at 55 or 60° for mesophiles or thermophiles respectively prior to relative assessment of CMCase activity by microviscometry. RBBR-cellulose dye release estimates were obtained from duplicate tubes. The incubation period was 10d at 28 or 55°. + = weak , - = no activity.

```
Table - 23
```

Lignoclastic Activity of Selected Compost Isolates 1

| Isolate | Bavendamm Test 0.05% acid Ellagic T | ² in: Lig Qua annic K1+C | noclasti litative CMC S&N | ative 4 | : - |
|--|--|--|---------------------------------|---------|---------------|
| Thermophiles | | | | | |
| B.brevis B.brevis B.brevis B.crevis B.circulans B.coagulans B.sphaericus B.sphaericus Brevibacterium sp Coryneform | 404 g - 530 g - 542 g - 548 g - 548 g - 543 g - 414 g - 534 n.g. 541 g - 541 g - 541 g - | g + n.g. g - g - g - n.g. g - n.g. | | | |
| Mesophiles | | | | | ÷ . |
| Bacillus sp. Bacillus sp. Flavobacterium sp Klebsiella sp. Klebsiella sp. Aspergillus sp. Aspergillus sp. Penicillium sp. Trichoderma sp. Yeast | 440 c 441 c 432 g - 597 g - 439 g - 439 g - 439 c 437 c 426 g - 665 g - | c g - 40 g - 40 g - g - g - g - g - | | | - - - |

- ¹ Isolates (Appendix 9) indicating activity towards Kraft lignin (K1) on agar plates supplemented with NaCMC were selected in the course of R2 and R4. All tests were conducted in duplicate. Thermophiles were incubated at 55° and mesophiles at 28°.
- ² A positive test was indicated by c = clearing or d = darkening, while - = negative reaction. g = growth and n.g. = no growth on the agar in 10d.
- ³ On the K1+NaCMC agar C = cellobiose:quinone oxidoreductase activity (clearing of the agar) and L = laccase activity (darkening of the agar) (Westermask and Ericksson, 1974). On Sundman and Nase (1971) lignin agar (S&N) B = blue reaction and c = clearing reaction after flooding the plates with FeCl₃-K₃(Fe(CN)₆) after 10d growth.
- After 1 month growth broths were purified and assayed against dioxane:water (1:1, v/v) at 281nm (Jansheker, et.al., 1981).
 Meductions in absorbance Readings of transmission were corrected against the mean reading for three uninoculated controls (3.1%).

3.3.3 Isolation of Nitrifying Microorganisms During Composting

No autotrophic nitrifier was isolated in the course of R4 from fish- or urea-bark composts of initial C:N=45 using either of the described media for their isolation (2.5.1.4) following 7, 14, 21 or 28d composting. However, low numbers (< 104 CFU g^{-1}) of heterotrophic nitrifiers were isolated, but only from the urea-bark composts in the medium of Gunner (1963). These nitrifiers were identified as thermophilic strains of *Bacillus spp.* (two representative isolates were lost on subculture on TSA), and a *Streptomyces sp.*, all of which nitrified ammonia to nitrite.

Of the 212 isolates from R2 and R4 which were also screened for ability to nitrify on Gunner's (1963) medium, four were weakly positive. These were a Streptomyces sp. and the three pink coryneforms (isolates 94, 198 and 240). Considering the abundance of the coryneforms (estimated numbers 10^8-10^9 CFU g^{-1}) in fish-bark mixes during R2, thermophilic biological nitrification could be significant in such composts.

3.3.4 Estimated Numbers of Faecal Indicator Bacteria During Composting

Because of the potential health risk in handling sewage-bark compost, numbers of faecal coliform and faecal streptococci were estimated during R7 and R9. The decline in numbers of these faecal indicator bacteria from sewage-bark composts of initial C:N=35 and 25 are illustrated in Figure 37. From the ADV on the log transformed data (Appendix 6.7) and Figure 37 the significant (p < 0.01) decline in numbers and greater rate of decline at the lower C:N ratio, are apparent for both groups of bacteria. At d28, numbers of both groups of bacteria were at the lower limit of detection in both composts. Results



Figure 37

Estimated numbers of faecal coliforms and streptococci in sewage-bark composts.

Faecal coliforms were enumerated on lactose teepol agar and confirmed by the IMViC biochemical tests (Mara, 1974). Faecal streptococci were enumerated on m-enterococcus agar and confirmed by their growth on MacConkey agar, morphology, and Gram and catalase reactions.

. . .

See Appendix 6.7 for data.

. C:N = 25 X C:N₅ = 35





3.3.5 Toxicity of Compost Components to the Predominant Compost Microflora

Compost isolates and samples were examined to determine whether detoxification of compost components was a significant factor controlling the microbial succession observed in bench-scale composts. During R7 and R8 the predominant microflora (Table 19) and the compost were sampled during peaks in respiratory activity for subsequent determination of their interactions. No effect on microbial succession was attributable to the initial changing temperature during R8, since all peaks in activity occurred at 55° (Figure 17).

Growing the three most numerous isolates obtained from each peak of activity during RB, on gradient plates containing compost obtained at various ages, clearly demonstrated that as compost aged, it progressively supported the growth of isolates obtained during the latter stages of composting (Figures 6 & 38).

3.4 Destruction of Phytotoxins by Composting

Tannins and phenolic acids responsible for the phytotoxicity of raw *E.delegatensis* bark were readily detected by a plant bioassay (Ashbolt, Hon. thesis, 1979). The non-phenolic phytotoxins were also determined by the use of a PVP pretreatment which removes most phenolics from the water extracts. Preliminary bioassays on composts of various ages (7, 14, 21 & 28d) revealed that composts less than 28d old completely inhibited lettuce seedling growth. Consequently, only the phytotoxicities of composts at 28d were subsequently assayed (Table 24). Volatile fatty acids were less than 50ppm in all 30d old composts.

Figure 38

Relative Tolerance to Composts (C:N=35) of the Predominant Flora Isolated at Each Peak of Respiratory Activity

Three predominant isolates present in compost at each peak in respiratory activity were streaked in duplicate across a gradient plate (the agar containing an increasing content of compost suspension from one side of the plate to the other). The suspensions were made from compost (fish-, or IBDU-bark composts R8) collected at each peak in respiratory activity, dried, milled (< 1mm) and then suspended in a mineral salts medium which was overlayed with TSA (Figure 4).

Each point is a mean obtained for three isolates. See Appendix 10 for data and ADV results.

The predominant flora at each peak in respiratory activity are identified as :-

| Peak | 1 | |
|-------|----------|---------------------------------------|
| Peak | 2 | ••••• |
| Peak | 3 | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · |
| Peák | 4 | |
| Flora | at day 2 | 1 |



139

Table - 24

Mean Lettuce Root Lengths Following Growth of Plants in Water Extracts of 28d Old Composts ¹

| | | | | _ | | _ |
|-------------|-----|----|------|---|------|---|
| Urea-bark | C:N | 25 | +PVP | 2 | 0.0 | a |
| Urea-bark | C:N | 25 | -PVP | | 0.0 | a |
| Sewage-bark | C:N | 25 | +PVP | | 0.0 | a |
| Sewage-bark | C:N | 25 | -PVP | | 0.0 | a |
| Fish-bark | C:N | 25 | +PVP | | 0.4 | a |
| Fish-bark | C:N | 25 | -PVP | | 0.4 | a |
| Sewage-bark | C:N | 35 | -PVP | | 4.8 | þ |
| Sewage-bark | C:N | 35 | +PVP | | 5.8 | b |
| Urea-bark | C:N | 35 | -PVP | | 8.6 | C |
| Urea-bark | C:N | 35 | +PVP | | 9.3 | С |
| Fish-bark | C:N | 35 | -PVP | | 14.3 | d |
| Fish-bark | C:N | 35 | +PVP | 2 | 21.1 | e |
| Control | | | +PVP | | 23.7 | f |
| Control | | | -PVP | 2 | 24.3 | f |
| | | | | | | |

- ¹ Comparisons were made using Duncan's new multiple-range test on transformed (square root (length mm + 0.5)) means. See Appendix 12 for data and ADV table. Any two means not followed by the same letter are significantly different (p < 0.05). Each assay is the mean of 20 roots. Controls were grown in phosphate buffered (pH 6.0) distilled water, tests also contained 20% (v/w) compost extract. Extracts were prepared by homogenizing 20g of milled (< 1mm) compost in 250 mL of water for three min. The extract was then filtered and centifuged before being concentrated under vacuum.
- ² Polyvinylpolypyrolidone (PVP) was shaken twice with the extracts, centrifuged, and the supernatant used in the bioassay.

Results

3.4.1 Identification of Phenolics in Raw Bark & Composts

Ś

Liquid chromatography of methanolic extracts of raw bark and HPLC techniques. Raw composts was carried out using E.delegatensis bark was found to contain a considerable quantity of gallic acid with lesser quantities of catechol, p-coumaric acid. On the otherhand, p-hydroxybenzoic acid and old, from the large-scale mature composts $\langle \rangle$ 1 year study) contained some three times the quantity of p-coumaric acid. but undetectable levels of the other acids (Table 25). Hence. the ratio of peak heights of p-coumaric over gallic acid was used as an indicator of the maturity of fish-, ureaand sewage-bark composts (Table 25).

Table - 25

1 MI 2 C:N Catechol Gallic p-coumaric p-Hydroxybenzoic Compost Ratio acid acid acid 25 35 57 16 18 3.2 63 Fish-bark 12 Fish-bark 2 0 9 $1.3 \\ 2.5$ 25 35 12 Urea-bark 16 7 Urea-bark 8 20 25 35 15 10 0.9 16 22 Sewage-bark 1 2 Sewaqe-bark 16 Ģ 0.7 $\frac{13}{35}$ 0.2 Raw Bark 65 16 n.d. n.d. 1 year old Bark n.d. 00

¹ Extracts were prepared by shaking 0.5g compost in 5mL of methanol for 15 min, centrifugation (10,000g 10 min), filtration (0.45um), drying under vacuum and redissolving in 0.2 mL ethanol. Phenolics in the extracts were assayed by a HPLC fitted with a C1B Radpak column using a UV (280 nm) detector and Waters automated gradient controller as detailed in the Materials and Methods. Values are a mean of duplicates and reported as mm peak height. n.d. = not detected.

- Maturity Index (MI): ratio of p-coumaric/gallic acids.

Predominant Phenolics Present in 28d Old Composts ¹

l.

3.5 Physical Properties of Bark Compost

х. С The bulk density, particle size distribution and moisture characteristics of one year old urea- and sewage-bark composts (from the large-scale study) are given in Table 26.

Table - 26

Physical Properties of Large-scale Eucalypt Bark, Pine Bark Composts and of Peat Moss ¹

| Material 1 | Moistu AS | re Cha EAW | wBC | rist DAW | ic ² TP | Bulk ^s Density | Part / <0.5 | icle Si 5 0.5-1 | ze Distr 1-2.5 | ibution > 2.5 |
|--------------------------------------|--------------|---------------|------------|-------------|-----------------------|------------------------------|----------------|--------------------|-------------------|------------------|
| Eucalypt: Urea-bark Sewage-bar | 35 rk 28 | 18 15 | 3.5 3.2 | 6 8 | 72 65 | 470 510 | 20 28 | 15 8 | (43 44 | 22 20 |
| Pine Bark: Normal Fine | 38 22 | 10 18 | 0.9 2.5 | 9 16 | . 79 79 | 214 200 | 23 62 | 32 32 | 15 6 | 30 0 |
| Peat Moss | 24 | 30 | 4.9 | 16 | 89 | 114 | 23 | 32 | 14 | 30 |
| Ideal = | 20-30 | 20-30 | 4-10 | 0 | 85 | ? | 35 | 5 | 5 | 10 |

¹ Data on Eucalypt bark were obtained after 1 years' composting while data on pine bark, Irish peat moss and the ideal substrate were from Prasad (1979).

² Air space (AS), Easily available water (EAW), water-buffering capacity (WBC), difficultly available water (DAW) and total porosity (TP) were calculated from the % of water at suctions of 10, 31, 50 and 100cm of water by the methods of Prasad (1979).

³ Bulk density given as kg m⁻³.

⁴ Percentage of partical at various sizes in mm.

⁵ According to Prasad (1979).

4 - DISCUSSION

4.1_The_Bench-scale_System

The bench-scale composter was designed to simulate most of the conditions found in the large-scale study and to allow for efficient sampling of gases and solids. Self-heating systems are unsuitable to study the prolonged thermophilic phase of bark composts (Figure 5), as they typically remain at thermophilic temperatures for only a week (Mote and Griffis, 1979). Total heat control was simply obtained by immersing the units (and air heat exchanger) in the one water bath rather than using separate heating water jackets for each unit (Cappaert, et.al., 1976a) or separate air and unit temperature control systems(Bagstam, et.al., 1974).

Composters providing recirculation of air (e.g. Mote and Griffis, 1979) do allow for sensitive detection of minor gas products such as N_2 , N_2O and H_2S which were not detected in the present study. However, the flow-through system used here had the advantage of simple automatic analysis of gases unaffected by sampling of material. Also, improved detection of minor gases should be possible if N_2 in the carrier-gas mixture was replaced with He. (Cost considerations precluded this option in the present study).

Moisture content control was achieved by the use of chilled condensers as described by Cappaert, et.al. (1976a), rather than by the more demanding method of air humidification and drying used elsewhere (Jeris and Regan, 1968; Bagstam, et.al., 1974). Using the conservative test of significance (Steel and Torrie, 1960) no significant (p < 0.05) deviation from the original moisture

content was found¹. The mixing of compost provided better moisture and air distribution than would have been obtained in the static vessel described by Cappaert, *et.al* (1976a), or in rotating drums where balling of compost occurred (Jeris and Regan, 1968; Galler and Davey, 1971).

With metal bracing (Figure 2) the welded PVC units were strong enough to withstand the stress of prolonged use, and were inexpensive compared with equivalent units of stainless steel or glass. The reproducibility between R1 and R2 of the fish-bark composts was better than reported for other composters (Clark, et.al., 1977). Coefficients of variation have only been reported for respiratory gas data, and the coefficient of variation for cumulative CO₂ production in this study was as good as the best reported (Clark, et.al., 1977; Mote and Griffis, 1979).

4.2_Parameters_Influencing_the_Composting_of_Bark

The principal parameters generally influencing composting include: temperature, aeration, particle size, moisture content, pH, nutrient availability and C:N ratio (Finstein and Morris, 1975; Cappaert, et.al., 1976b). In addition to these factors the presence of tannins in bark (30 %, Table 4) may also be important, this is discussed under factors controlling but microbial successions in compost (4.4.1). Cappaert, et.al. (1976b) reported an optimal free air space for the composting of bark to be 35% (corresponding to 68% moisture on a wet weight basis), with a minimal O₂ level of 5%. The optimal C:N ratio range was reported by these workers to be 25-35 depending on the availability of C and N.

Assuming that bark has low availability of C (most being

143

۲,

^{1.} However, a significant (p < 0.05) deviation was indicated during R4, R8 and R9 using the more sensitive split-plot design (Steel and Torrie, 1969). Whenever such a conflict in the AOV occurred the conservative test has been used for the test of significance.

bound in the lignocellulose complex) an initial C:N ratio of 35 was chosen for the large-scale study. The heaps were compacted as little as possible to facilitate aeration and made up to a mean 68% moisture (214 % on a dry weight basis). The primary aim of the large-scale study was to provide a basis for comparison with the bench-scale system, both in physical and biological characteristics. The advantage of the latter system lay in its versatility in enabling the controlled assessment of a wide range of composting conditions.

4.2.1 Large-scale Studies

Estimated numbers of bacteria present in the two large-scale composts were similar (Figure 7), but temperature and CMCase activities (Figure 6) were highest in the urea-bark heap (Figure 6). A visibly greater degree of decomposition of the bark was also apparent in the urea-bark heap after a year's composting. As the C:N ratios (35), moisture contents (214%) and particle sizes were initially similar, other uncontrolled parameters such as aeration, temperature, nutrient availability or pH must have influenced the composting of these materials.

Levels of aeration would probably have been different from the onset of composting urea- and sewage-bark (despite the similar particle sizes of bark used) due to the inability to disperse the clay-like sewage cake as finely or as evenly as urea. Also, the lower temperatures produced in the sewage-bark heap combined with its lower permeability to air would have resulted in poorer air convection during composting. Despite these differences, there was an apparent greater moisture loss from the less active sewage-bark heap (Figure 6). Such a difference could however be accounted for by the increased production of water through microbial activity (Alexander, 1977) and greater permeability of the urea-bark heap to rain.

Regardless of the varying factors of aeration and moisture mentioned above, the different activities between the urea- and

sewage-bark heaps most likely resulted from the different nutrient availabilities of urea and sewage and from their influence on compost pH. As illustrated in the graph of compost pH against time (Figure 6), a rapid hydrolysis of urea was indicated by a sharp rise in compost pH coinciding with a rapid rise in microbial activity as indicated by the rapid rise in temperature. The result was a compost of near neutral pH and high CMCase activity. In contrast however the sewage, with a predominantly nitrate form of nitrogen (Table 4), showed a reduced influence on initial pH and temperature and produced a compost of about pH 5.4 with low CMCase activity. Similar effects of ammoniacal-N compared to that of nitrate-N amendments on composting activity and pH have been observed in the composting of other hardwood bark (Hoitink, 1980).

The relatively constant total numbers of CFU present in the large-scale composts is consistent with the results of other workers (Finstein and Morris, 1975). As expected the numbers of thermophiles were well correlated with temperature, however, the poorer negative correlation between mesophiles and temperature can be explained by the survival of large numbers of sporing mesophilic Bacillus spp. (e.g. Table 18) during thermophilic composting.

4.2.2 Bench-scale Studies

Previous workers on bench-scale studies have generally neither reported the variability between treatments nor identified the microorganisms involved in composting. The present study was conducted with these shortfalls in mind.

4.2.2.1 Temperature

Temperatures of compost in the bench-scale system were increased at 5° per day, to reflect the natural rise in temperature within large-scale heaps. A plateau temperature of 55° was however used for the bench-scale composts as compared with

60° in the large-scale heaps. The maximum temperature used for bench-scale composting was decreased for two reasons. Firstly, 55° was shown (R5) to support the highest respiratory activity in at least fish-bark composts of initial C:N=45 and 55. However, it must be pointed out that 60° was only held for 2d for fear that a leak may develop in one of the sterile units at this temperature ². Such a short time at the highest temperature may not

have been sufficient for the adaptation of the microflora, particularly at the end of the composting period when readily available nutrients were low. The lower prime reason for the that the optimum temperature for plateau temperature was was reported as 40-50° composting softwood or hardwood bark (Cappaert, et.al., 1976b, Bagstam, 1978; Hoitink, 1980). Nevertheless, respiratory activities in these studies were compared for only the first 10d of composting which is prior to the period of extensive degradation of the major bark components (Waksman, et.al., 1939a) such as cellulose (Figures ¹21 & 22) (Poincelot, 1974). A period of 10d may also be insufficient time for the adaption of an obligate thermophilic flora (McKinley and 1984). (Estimated numbers of microorganisms capable of Vestal, producing wood-component hydrolases in the present study were also generally very low during the first week of composting (Tables 17 & 18)).

An understanding of the thermophilic nature of the degradation of bark in composts has not always been appreciated. Still, et.al. (1974) attempted to study the composting of bark by incubating small samples at 23°. Not surprisingly they only achieved up to 2.6% loss in organic-C as CO₂-C over 30d.

4.2.2.2 Aeration, Particle Size and Moisture Content

~ ~

The interrelationship between aeration, particle size, moisture content and temperature during composting has been noted

2. Subsequent runs were generally free of leaks following the use of silicon rubber sealant around the outside of the screw-cap assembly (Figure 2).

by Wiley and Pearce (1957). Reproducibility between composts in the present study was achieved by using a set moisture content, temperature programme, mixing period and a standard particle size distribution of bark (one batch of hammermilled bark of particle sizes 1-35 mm, with all fibres 1-3mm thick). Under such standardized conditions, the effect of altering single-variable factors (such as aeration) could be readily investigated.

The influence of aeration on the activity of fish-bark composts of initial C:N=45 was compared both by monitoring respiratory activity (R3 & R6) and by estimating numbers of thermophilic bacteria (R2 & R4). While the respiratory data indicated that greatest microbial activity occurred at the lowest rate of aeration used (Table 8) the reverse was indicated by data on bacterial numbers (Table 13). This apparent conflict is not unusual as estimated numbers often do not reflect activity (e.g. Schmidt, 1973). However, the situation here was probably confounded by the inability of the system to satisfactorily flush CO₂ out of a unit at an aeration rate of 10-15 mL min⁻¹ and that the sample times (d7, 14 and 28) for bacterial counts in the treatment with the lowest rate of aeration did not coincide with peaks of respiratory activity (Figure 12). A considerable improvement in the correlation between respiratory activity and total estimated numbers was obtained by sampling during peak respiratory activities (Tables 12 & 14)). Another factor that may have reduced respiratory activity with increasing aeration is cool air entering the units and greater evaporative cooling with the higher flow rates. Thus a flow rate of gas through compost units of 20 mL min⁻¹ was used for most experiments since no significant (p < 0.01) difference was apparent between compost aeration at 20 or 30 mL min⁻¹, and this rate would also ensure a residual 0_2 level of > 5% in active compost. Such a situation would have been unlikely at any lower rate of aeration (Figures 8, 15, & 16). Higher rates of aeration were not investigated as they were outside the scope of this investigation to simulate as far as possible, passive composting conditions.

Generally workers on composting bark have not mentioned on

the chosen rate of aeration of compost units was what basis Bagstam and Swensson (1976), however, used CO₂ determined. output as an indicator of ideal aeration rate, suggesting 150 mL min⁻¹ 150 g⁻¹ Urea-spruce bark. However, only aeration rates of 50-170 mL min⁻¹ were assessed and as a consequence of the decreased sensitivity with increased rate of aeration (Figure 13) only one major peak in respiratory activity was determined (Bagstam and Swensson, 1976), or three minor peaks when sewage replaced urea (Bagstam, 1977). Similarly the high aeration rate of 833 mL min⁻¹ 100g⁻¹ mixed-bark composts used by Deschamps, et.al. (1979) also resulted in a unimodial peak in respiratory activity.

Comparison of a eucalypt- and a similar (C:N=55) but highly aerated spruce-bark compost (Bagstam and Swensson, 1976) showed maximum CO2 outputs (mg CO2 g⁻¹ compost h⁻¹) of three and 336 and total activities (as % CO₂-C loss) of and ten respectively. These differences indicate two six interesting points. Firstly, comparison of maximum respiratory activities gave little indication of the overall activity during And secondly, as softwood bark batch composting ³. i 5 generally more slowly degraded than hardwood back (Cappaert, there is a possibility of achieving greater *et.al.*, 1976a) respiratory activity in cycalypt bark composts bу using considerably higher rates of aeration. However, high rates оf aeration through large-scale heaps would result in the necessity to add water during composting, and process control would also be improved by a feedback control of aeration based on compost temperature (Finstein, et.al., 1983).

Microbial populations were found to be significantly (p < 0.01) different in composts under different aeration regimes (Table 13), but not too much weight can be placed on this finding considering the above discussion on the possible differences in microbial activities at the sampling times used. More frequent

3. For continuous thermophilic composting however, maximum respiratory activity gives a most satisfactory measure for assessing different composting conditions (Suler and Finstein, 1977).

and consistent selection of sampling times would probably be necessary to show any real differences in microbial flora that may occur in different composts.

4.2.2.3 C:N Ratio, Nutrient Availability and pH

There are two basic problems in studying the nutrition of which are not generally recognized. composts Firstly, an unequivocal increase in the degradation of bark can only be when using respiratory techniques by varying assessed the concentration of bark and not a carbonaceous amendment as tried by Cappaert, et.al. (1976b) and Bagstam and Swensson (1976). The problem is that if the amendment is increased it is not possible to distinguish between differences in respiratory activity resulting from increased utilization of the amendment or the substrate under study(Mote and Griffis, 1980). This is exemplified in the present study by fish-bark composts during R2 and R5 as illustrated in Figures 8 and 11. This is particularly important with carbon containing amendments like sewage and fish wastes.

The second problem relates to the nitrogen economy of composting. While the increase in ammonia loss with decreasing C:N ratio is well understood (Finstein and Morris, 1975), there is no report on the losses of nitrogen oxides during composting. It was shown in the present study that there was a poor correlation volatilization between ammonia and N-oxide (Table 16). Consequently both respiratory activity (as CO₂-C loss) and N loss data are valuable in determining the economic as well as the microbiological optimal C:N ratio as illustrated in Figure 39. A comparison of initial and final C:N ratios will only show which compost gives the greatest C:N reduction. From Figure 39 it is clear that the fish-bark composts produced the highest respiratory activity and least loss of N, with the compost of initial C:N=35 producing the lowest N loss for a high loss of CO_2 -C. Both the addition of quinone to urea or urea's replacement with IBDU resulted in a "poorer" performance. In the composting of straw Waksman, et.al. (1939b) also found that increased losses of Ν

Figure 39

Mean percent losses of N versus CO₂ from various (28 days old) compost mixes.

ο

Losses shown are relative to the initial total weight in each compost. Results are means from duplicate units in each run. CO₂ was automatically assayed every 5h by GC. Volatilized N was continuously collected in dilute acid (0.1 M H₂SO4) and assayed by titration following st**eam** distillation every 2d.

See Tables 9 and 16 and Appendix 4 for data.

| | Compost | C:N Rati |
|---|-------------------|----------|
| • | Fish-bark | 25 |
| + | Fish-bark | 35 |
| ¥ | Fish-bark | 45 |
| 0 | Sewage-bark | 25 |
| X | Sewage-bark | 35 |
| 1 | Urea-bark | 25 |
| 2 | Urea-bark | 35 |
| 3 | Urea-bark+Quinone | 2 35 |
| 4 | IBDU-bark | 35 |
| | | |



occurred when decomposition was delayed. This increase N volatilization was probably a nonbiological response related to increased temperature and pH (Finstein and Morris, 1975). A slow release fertilizer with greater thermal resistan**Ce** than IBDU may be more successful in conserving nitrogen. However, it is probably still preferable to have a relatively rapid initial release of N during the mesophilic stage. This would allow rapid microbial activity when conditions are less favourable to ammonia volatilization (low temperature and pH). Such an amendment could consist of urea plus a slow release N fertilizer.

The mean percentage weight loss data (Table 9) indicated that C availability rather than other nutrients was likely to be limiting respiratory activity in composts of initial C:N=25 or 35. It is also interesting to note that limiting high respiratory activity to the thermophilic compost microflora, by the use of IBDU, enhanced the loss of C over that detected from other mixes. At an initial C:N ratio of 45, however, other nutrient(s) were indicated to be limiting respiratory activity in fish-bark composts. Also, from the considerable excess of mineral N in composts of initial C:N=25-35 (Figures 24-26) it is evident that N was readily available. Considering the similar respiratory activities of urea and fish-bark composts of initial C:N=25-35 (Table 9), it is reasonable to assume that P and other amendments are unnecessary for urea-bark composts. The addition of P has been shown to be beneficial for the composting of softwood bark (Solbraa, 1979a), but was not found to be necessary for the composting of mixed softwood and hardwood species (Cappaert, et.al., 1976a). The ability to compost eucalypt bark without addition of P is important considering the sensitivity of many native Australian plants to P (Nichols and Beardsell, 1981).

Considerable nutrient immobilization, however, was evident in the sewage-bark composts. Sewage-bark composts of initial C:N=25 resulted in similar weight losses to that found in fish-bark composts of initial C:N=55. This reduced activity was unlikely to be due to the presence of toxins in the sewage, as increasing the concentration of sewage increased respiratory activity. However,

composts of low pH such as the sewage-bark composts, are known to reduce respiratory activity (Cappaert, et.al., 1976a). A low pH may directly reduce bacterial growth and/or indirectly reduce activity by reducing enzymic release of nutrients (Alexander, 1977). The low pH found with sewage-bark composts (about 5.5) was possibly due to the presence of nitrate N (Table 4) rather than ammoniacal N as produced from the other amendments (Hoitink, 1980).

4.3 Nutrient Transformations

4.3.1 Carbon Transformations

Transformations of the major components of fish-bark composts (R2) were examined after 35d composting. Most of the soluble carbohydrate and lipid was degraded at both C:N=45 and 65 (Table 6). However, apart from lignin degradation there was significantly (p < 0.01) less degradation of more complex components at the higher C:N ratio.

Comparing the weight loss data on the fish-bark compost of initial C:N=45 (Table 6) with that of a similar straw-manure compost (initial C:N=55, composted at 50° for 33d) (Waksman, et.al., 1939b) showed that considerably greater degradation of cellulose, hemicelluloses and lignin (94, 85 & 42% respectively) occurred in the straw compost. Bagstam (1979) also demonstrated low levels of degradation of these components in a spruce-bark compost. Factors contributing to the degradation of these three components are discussed below.

Few workers have actually studied in vivo compost enzyme activities (Hankin, et.al., 1976). In the present study, activities of hydrolytic compost microorganisms were generally confirmed by assay of the enzymes in the crude compost. These assays demonstrated that conditions during composting were suitable for enzyme induction and/or activity.

4.3.1.1 Lipid Biodegradation

Two esterase substrates, Tween-20 (a water soluble ester of and tributyrin (water insoluble, glyceryl lauric acid) tributyrate) were used to study potential lipase activity. Tween 20 was used in preference to insoluble lipids due to its ready hydrolysis and water solubility eliminating the need for an emulsifier with attendant problems of interference (Deploey, et.al., 1981). Tributyrin, a lower triglyceride, was used in the enzyme mobility studies due to its water insolubility and low selectivity (Hugo and Beveridge, 1962). Other workers have shown however, that these substrates only indicate esterase and tributyrinase activity respectively and the presence of these enzymes was not always well correlated with the ability of a microorganism to hydrolyse higher triglycerides (lipase activity) (Hugo and Beveridge, 1962; Elwan, et.al., 1977). It is generally accepted that there are two groups of lipolytic enzymes; one for triglycerides of short-chain saturated fatty acids (esterases) and the other primarily for the triglycerides of long-chain unsaturated fatty acids (lipases) (Khoo & Steinberg, 1975). With these shortfalls in mind esterase activity was used as an indication of lipolytic activity during composting.

Next to RNase, esterase was the most common hydrolase determined (39% of all fish-bark compost isolates), being detected from isolates at every sample interval (Tables 17 & 18). However, lipolytic activity in fish-bark composts was low during the mesophilic and later thermophilic stages of composting (Figure 23). These findings are consistent with the general concept of sequential microbial attack of increasingly complex carbon sources as the simpler components become limiting (Waksman, et.al., 1939b). These results also highlight how misleading it is to only assay isolates' enzyme activities without concurrently studying crude compost samples. Few workers have reported studies on lipolytic activity in composts (Hankin, et.al., 1979) (possibly due to its generally low occurrence).

4.3.1.2 Cellulose Biodegradation

The apparent higher rate of cellulose utilization at the lower fish-compost C:N ratio (45 compared to 65, Table 6) probably occurred after the first 8d (Figure 8) when the CMCase activity was greater at the lower C:N composition. Initial low cellulase activities could be due to the readily available simple while the subsequently higher activity may C-compounds he attributable to the greater N availability as degradation of the nitrogenous material progressed, as suggested by Freer and Detroy lignocellulose biodegradation. (1982) for No cellulolytic thermophilic bacterium was isolated at 7d from composts of either C:N composition, but during a different run with the same (R4, C:N=45) cellulolytic mesophilic Bacillus components sphaericus and Gram negative rods were isolated at 7d. Considering the temperature rise in the composts the CMCase activity initially measured during R2 may have been due to mesophilic microorganisms (which were not enumerated during R2). Nevertheless the compost cellulase assay temperature used (65°) was never significantly (p < 0.01) different from the optimum temperature for CMCase activity in fish-bark composts (Figure 20). It was also of interest to find that the estimated numbers of cellulolytic bacteria (Table 10) were always greater in the compost with the highest CMCase activity (Table 8).

From the above findings it appeared that CMCase activity correlated well with cellulose biodegradation. Further support for this was provided by determination of total CO₂-C loss (Table 9), with higher losses being associated with greater CMCase activity measured during composting, and in particular, the higher CMCase activity at 28d (Figures 21-22). This was also consistent the large-scale study, where poorer degradation of with sewage-bark corresponded with lower CMCase activity compared with that observed in the urea-bark compost (Figure 6).

All stable cellulolytic (CMCase) isolates obtained from dilution plates and from cellulose enrichments maintained this

activity in liquid culture. However, most isolates were poor degraders of crystalline cellulose as seen from the inability of all but the mesophilic fungi (Aspergillus sp. 490 & Penicillium sp. 437) to induce "C1" cellulases (Table 22). Cellulolytic activity by microorganisms capable of anaerobic growth was only demonstrated for the facultative Cellulomonas spp. and B.coagulans. The inability to detect CMCase in all but Aspergillus sp. 490 culture broths containing micro-crystaline cellulose may be accounted for, in part, by adsorption of endogluconase to cellulose (Ryu, et.al., 1984).

4.3.1.3 Hemicellulose Biodegradation

Degradation of xylan (the predominant hemicellulose in of (Hillis, 1962)) was used as an indication hardwood hemicellulase activity of isolates. Bacteria able to hydrolyse xylan were present at weeks 1, 2 and 4, but were predominant at week two in fish-bark and week four in urea-bark composts of initial C:N=45 (Table 18). Most of the xylanolytic isolates were species of Sreptosporangium and Streptomyces, but xylanolytic Bacillus spp., Clostridium sp., coryneforms and Hicropolyspora spp. were isolated. None of the Bacillus spp., demonstrated by Williams and Withers (1983) to hydrolyse xylan anaerobically, were found to be active against xylan in the present study (i.e. B.circulans and B.coaqulans).

4.3.1.4 Pectin Biodegradation

Pectic enzymes were detected from isolates taken at weeks one, two and four, but pectolytic bacteria generally predominated after the first week of composting. The exceptions were isolated from fish-bark composts of initial C:N=65. No direct assay of pectolytic activity within compost was undertaken. Consequently, actual pectolytic activity may well have been retarded by the presence of phenolics and tannins (Rexova, et.el., 1979; Obi and

Umezurite, 1981) until at least the second week of composting.

The predominant pectolytic bacteria isolated during the composting of fish-bark were initially *Streptosporangium spp.* and coryneforms, being followed by *Bacillus spp.* by the fourth week of composting. This situation was reversed during the composting of urea-bark, but with *Streptomyces spp.* replacing *Streptosporangium spp.*.

4.3.1.5 Lignin Biodegradation

The decrease in lignin degradation with the higher level of N in R2 was consistent with the concept of ammonium suppression of lignolytic activity and its biodegradation by secondary metabolism (Fenn and Kirk, 1981). This inability under reasonable levels of N availability for significant lignin degradation may explain the ability of mature eucalypt bark compost to hold its voľume over a year in a plant pot under a normal fertilization programme (Clark, V.S. pers. comm.). Polyphenols and tannins were also included in the assay of lignin degradation in compost and may account for some of the loss of "lignin". Their bioconversion was evident from the change in composition of phenolic components of methanol extracts as determined by HPLC (Table 26). Also, partial reaction towards polyphenols was likely due to the presence of strains able to polymerize (darkening reaction) and depolymerize (clearing reaction) phenolic components in agar (Table 23).

The proposed mechanism of lignolytic enzyme activation (Fenn and Kirk, 1981) may explain why no laccase activity was detected in any compost. Nevertheless laccase-like activity was induced on agar plates (Table 23) and a mesophilic yeast appeared to degrade Greater lignolytic activity was observed in co-cultures liqnin. with the yeast and either a Flavobacterium sp. (isolate 600) or Bacillus sp (isolate 441) and by two mesophilic Bacillus spp. (isolates 440 & 441) isolated from NaCMC enrichments. Although not supported by the assay of lignin biodegradation was 14C-CO₂ assay, the method does not detect used

demethoxylation or metabolism of the side-chains in which the basic structural chromophores responsible for absorption at 281 nm are involved (Janshekar, et.al., 1981). Pure cultures of the lignolytic yeasts Geotrichum spp. (was Trichosporon spp., see Barnett, et.al., 1983) have only been reported to degrade water soluble lignins (Glanser and Ban, 1983). Also, a mixed culture of these yeasts and bacteria significantly increased the rate of lignosulfonate degradation over that of pure cultures (Ban, et.al., 1979).

4.3.2 Nitrogen Transformations

In general terms mineral N transformations depended on the level of ammonification during composting, with net net ammonification reflecting the level of available N from the Despite overall similar availabilities of (urea amendment. and fish N (as discussed above) the order, in decreasing magnitude of ammonification was urea > fish > sewage. Ammonification was delayed by the addition of quinone to urea-bark and by urea's replacement with IBDU or sewage. With these relationships in mind the following discussion on urea-bark N transformations generally applied to other amendments.

Nitrogen originating from urea was largely assimilated (99.3%) into the microbial biomass within the first four days of composting urea-bark of initial C:N=35 (Figures 26 & 29). After the largest peaks (mesophilic) of respiratory activity occurred, net ammonification steadily increased to reach a maximum some 4d after the thermophilic peaks in respiratory activity (d12). Many Bacillus spp. and in particular B. brevis isolated at this time produced detectable free ammonification began to decline, reaching a level similar to that at d4 by the end of the composting period.

Net nitrification generally followed peak net ammonification (Figure 24) and appeared to be chemical rather than biological, since no nitrifying flora (neither autotrophic nor heterotrophic)

was isolated and similar levels of nitrification were apparent in sterile, and non-sterile composts (Figure 30). It is possible, however, that the bulk of nitrate produced (by a heterotrophic population that did not grow on the isolation media used) is being immediately immobilized, to give apparent levels of nitrate This latter proposal similar to the sterile composts. is supported by the isolation from previous fish-bark composts (R2) of heterotrophs able to produce nitrite (4 coryneforms, 2 Bacillus spp. & 2 Streptomyces spp.) and that the addition of thiourea (inhibits autotrophic nitrification) increased net nitrification (and decreased net ammonification) (Figure 28). Only Golovacheva (1975) has isolated a thermophilic (autotrophic) nitrifier. A11 other heterotrophic nitrifiers isolated have been mesophiles and have included actinomycetes and fungi (Verstraete and Alexander, 1972a), Alcaligenes sp. (Castignetti Gunner, and 1981). Arthrobacter sp. (Focht and Verstraete, 1977) and Gram negative rods (Castignetti and Hollocher, 1984). While Waksman et.al. (1939b) has reported nitrification during thermophilic (up to 75°) composting, no nitrifier was isolated. He also found considerable nitrification only after ammonium- N was beginning to accumulate for the second time (after 47d when most carbohydrates had been reduced to a minimum).

Volatilization of ammonia was greatest during the period of greatest ammonification, temperature and pH (Figures 33 and 27). However, the later peaks in ammonia volatilization (Figure 33) occurred when net ammonification was at its lowest, but pH was rising. These peaks, although unique to the urea-bark composts of initial C:N=35, highlight the problem that net, not actual ammonium-N turnover was assayed. Delaying ammonification in the urea based composts (by the addition of quinone to urea or its replacement with IBDU) both delayed and increased ammonia volatilization. Waksman, et.al. (1939b) also noted an increased loss of ammonia when composting was delayed by too low or too high a temperature.

Data on volatilization of N oxides indicated that considerable nitrate may be produced before it was observed to

The data showed net nitrification only began to accumulate. increase after the decline in volatilization of N oxides (Figures 26 & 33). Also, whenever initial respiratory activity was delayed there was a significant increase in the volatilization of N oxides at 6d (Figures 32-34). While denitrification of the nitrate present in sewage was not unexpected there was no obvious source of nitrate in either the quinone+urea- or IBDU-bark composts for biological denitrification. However volatilization resulting from chemodenitrification (Smith and Chalk, 1980a, 1980b) was possible from accumulated nitrite (Figure 28) or the reaction of quinone or IBDU with urea via the formation of nitrosophenols and quinone oximes (Bremner and Nelson, 1968) and/or reaction with amide groups in organic matter via a van Slyke-like process (Reuss and Smith, 1965). Volatilization of nitrous oxide under aerobic conditions may also be explained, in part, by the activity of nondenitrifying (cannot reduce NO₃ to N₂) nitrate reducers such as Bacillus and Citrobacter spp., whose (activities are not inhibited by Oz (Smith and Zimmerman, 1981). Whatever the source of the N oxides, their presence was thought to indicate undesirable nitrogen availability rather than conditions of low 0₂ tension. Nevertheless Bagstam and Swensson (1976)reported an increase in loss of N with an increase in compost moisture content, but he did not assay for N oxides.

The presence of N oxides are also important with regard to the assay of ammonia. The acid produced from N oxides in solution may have caused severe underestimation of ammonia volatilization in systems where compost gases were collected in acid and ammonia assayed by back titration (e.g. Griffis and Mote, 1982).

4.4 The Microorganisms in Bark Compost

·. .

The spreading *B.brevis* and other spreading bacilli made counting most difficult when plates were incubated for over 4d even at an agar concentration of 2.0%. Interestingly no spreading

growth was noted on ellagic acid (0.05%) agar plates by the strains with a spreading habit, but lower counts were obtained after incubation for 4 or 7 days compared to those on TSA after 4d.

An apparent succession of bacteria occurred in fish-bark compost. Mesophilic B.brevis and B.sphaericus dominated during the initial temperature rise, with thermophilic B.circulans or B.brevis (at aeration rates of 10 or 30 πL min⁻¹ respectively) taking over during the early thermophilic periods of composting (Tables 17-19) and finally B.circulans, B.sphaericus or B.stearothermophilus (Table 17-18) dominated during the later stages (after 2 to 4 weeks of composting). Thermophilic Bacillus spp. were strong ammonifiers (noted by the production of ammonia on TSA). Their tolerance of ammonia may have been important to their dominance in fish-bark compost, although actinomycetes were the predominant isolates from urea-bark compost at the lower rate of aeration. It was possible that the ammonia released from the fast arowina bacilli suppressed the growth of sensitive microorganisms on TSA, but with parallel counts on LigA plates, from which no ammonia was noted, no significant difference in isolates was observations. The characteristic odour from one of the B.brevis isolates on agar plates was also evident from the composts during the first week.

Bacillus spp. continued to predominate throughout the composting of sewage-bark (initial C:N=35) and for the duration of most of the fish-bark composts. However, actinomycetes and coryneforms and in particular, Streptomyces and Thermomonospora predominated in urea based composts from the second or third peak in respiratory activity (after 8 days) until the last sampling (21 days) (Tables 17-19). It would appear that the actinomycetes and coryneforms play a dominant role in the degradation of bark. Since Bacillus spp. generally dominated when C sources other than bark were available, fewer Bacillus spp. were found to be capable of attacking bark (Tables 17 & 18).

Sampling for predominant microorganisms during peaks in respiratory activity and incubating the isolates at the

temperature of the compost was found to be necessary to reduce the variability in total CFU isolated from a particular compost and their correlation with respiratory activity improve (r²=0.81). This correlation was relatively high considering the percentage of spores in a soil can range from 1-90% of the total bacterial population and from 5-100% of the Bacillus population (Mishustin and Mirsoeva, 1968). Estimated numbers of eubacteria in composts varied more than those in the urea-bark composts of Bagstam (1979), but were similar to those found in other composts (Waksman, et.al., 1939b; Hankin, et.al., 1976). Bagstam's (1979) total estimated numbers of 1010-1011 bacteria per g compost seem rather high.

Estimated numbers of bacteria in the large-scale composts were generally of the same order of magnitude as those in the bench-scale composts. The high numbers of mesophiles isolated during thermophilic composting in both large- and bench-scale composts could be explained by the survival of spore-forming However, Bacillus strains from mesophilic temperatures. the apparent build up of mesophilic coryneforms and yeasts in the urea-bark compost of initial C:N=45 (Table 18), (and also observed in other composts (Von Klopotek, 1962)), may be due to the rapid growth of Bacillus spp. on agar media suppressing the growth of other isolates during the earlier isolation intervals. These decline in dominance as bacteria, however, would rapidly composting progressed enabling the isolation of yeasts and corvneforms at subsequent time intervals.

Very few strains of *Clostridium* were isolated (Appendix 9) despite conditions of high CO₂ production. Most isolates capable of anaerobic growth were identified as *B.coagulans*. As reported elsewhere (Bagstam, 1979), the microorganisms important in the composting of bark appear to be aerobes.

The decline in the estimated numbers of faecal indicator organisms in sewage-bark compost (Figure 37) would suggest that under the controlled conditions of the bench-scale system satisfactory die-off of pathogens was likely. Nevertheless in large-scale sewage-bark heaps, turning of the outer material into

the hotter interior would be necessary to ensure low survival of mesophilic pathogens.

4.4.1 Influence of Bark Components on Microbial Successions During Composting

In contrast to previous studies (Cappaert, et.al., 1976a; Bagstam, 1979; Clark, et.al., 1977) up to four clearly-separated peaks of respiratory activity were evident in the course of composting bark, using the bench-scale system. Possible reasons for these unusual results may lie with the low rate of aeration used and the presence of toxins in eucalypt bark. The low rate of aeration used may well have reduced the microbial activity possible at any one time and thus slowed down the normal succession of microorganisms to the degree that the activities of each major group were resolved. The second possibility, was that eucalypt bark contains more potent toxins than other bark, and their slow decomposition restricted rapid microbial succession. The first theory was not tested by observing the number of peaks in activity at a very high rate of aeration, but data on the inhibition of compost on the growth of isolates (Table 24) supported the second theory. Microbial succession under isothermal conditions demonstrated that despite the predominance of different isolates, the four peaks in respiratory activity were influenced by toxins present in the compost. In contrast to the work of Clark, et.al. (1977) the availability of calcium did not influence the number of peaks in respiratory activity observed during composting.

These results imply that the toxin(s) must be reasonably thermostable and at least partly water soluble. Also, due to the likely requirement of a microbial succession for successful composting a continuous composting process is unlikely to speed-up the composting of eucalypt bark. 4.4.2 Taxonomy of Thermophilic Isolates

4.4.2.1 Nonsporeforming Genera

Three groups of thermophilic nonsporing bacteria were isolated from fish-bark composts. Firstly, some isolates keyed out to the genus Thermus being non-motile, yellow-pigmented, strictly aerobic Gram negative rods. However, Thermus is only reported to have been isolated from heated water (Buchanan and 1974). Gibbons, Strom (1978) also isolated non-motile. yellow-pigmented, strictly aerobic Gram negative rods, but identified them as thermophilic *Flavobacterium spp.* . The identification of these isolates as *Flavobacterium* spp. would appear to be inappropriate considering the present state of their taxonomy (Shewan and McMeekin, 1983) and that Brock (1978a) created the genus Thermus for such isolates. 1

The second group of isolates were placed with the coryneforms. These pink-pigmented, non-motile, strictly aerobic and generally coccoid (in pairs) Gram positive isolates were at first thought to belong to the *Hocardiacea* or *Hycobacteriaceae* (Buchanan and Gibbons, 1974). However, the lack of meso-DAP and arabinose in their cell wall and a $\chi(G+C) = 79$ do not fit the general description of these genera (comprising meso-DAP, arabinose & galactose in their cell wall & a $\chi(G+C)$ range of 60-72).

The resurrection of the genus Brevibacterium (Skerman, et.al., 1980) from genera incertae sedis (Buchanan and Bibbooks, 1974) enabled the small Gram positive, strictly aerobic thermophilic rod shaped bacteria to be at least assigned to a genus. There is however, no thermophilic member mentioned in Bergey's Manual (Buchanan and Gibson, 1974).

4.4.2.2 Thermophilic Bacillus

Most of the 109 thermophilic Bacillus isolates could be identified to species using the key of Gordon, et.al. (1973), although to achieve this, 40% required a greater degree of variability in up to three characteristics than allowed for bγ Gordon, et.al. (1973). Most mismatches were in the fermentation of sugars. In most cases the species identifications which were made were supported by the numerical taxonomic study (Figure 36) and likely identifications of about half of the seven unassigned isolates were also indicated (Figure 36). The numerical taxonomy study was limited by the number of characteristics compared, but previous characteristics were selected from work to show differences between the species expected. Other workers have noted about a 15% mismatch on a few characteristics (Gordon, et.al., 1973; Strom, 1978). Compared to Strom's (1978) 752 compost isolates most of the isolates in the present study fitted the description and identification given, however, no B.licheniformis was isolated and a greater percentage of B.brevis were identified in the present study. Also, the B.coagulans type A described by Strom (1978) were isolated. Type A strains differ from the more commonly observed type B in their negative V.P. reaction and ability to grow at 65°.

The separation of strains assigned to B.stearothermophilus into the three groups (Table 3) of Walker and Wolf (1971) was supported by the study on esterases produced by the isolates. However, generally fewer bands with different R_* positions were observed in polyacrylamide gels compared to those found in starch gels (Baillie and Walker, 1968). Sharp, et.al. (1980) also reported fewer bands in polyacrylamide gels and identified group 1 stains by the presence of two or more bands and groups 2 and 3 by the position of the single band of activity observed. In the present study group 1 strains were identified by at least three bands (two with similar R_*), one band from group 2 isolates and generally two bands from group 3 isolates. The group 3 isolates differed from those in group 1 by either giving a weak
Discussion

band or none at all at R. 0.68 and no bands at R.'s below 0.36. The differences in banding between the studies could not be accounted for by the culture medium as all used the medium of Sargeant, et.al. (1971), although TSB was shown to induce greater activity and was generally used in the present study. The differences probably reflected the differing enzyme concentrations and/or the age of the cultures. Such differences limit the versatility of this identification system.

The numerical taxonomic study also indicated greater similarity between group 1 and group 3 isolates than between either of these groups and group 2 isolates. Of the seven unidentified strains only isolate 102b fitted B.stearothermophilus (group 1) by both esterase mobility and the taxonomic study.

4.5_Suitability_of_Bark_Compost_as_a_Plant_Growth_Medium

4.5.1 Chemical Properties of Bark Compost

Successful eucalypt bark composting depends on the depletion of water soluble phytotoxins and a satisfactory N balance (Ashbolt, 1979, Hons. Thesis). The possible destruction of phytotoxic phenolics in most composts was difficult to assess due to the presence of non-PVP binding toxin(s) (probably ammonium-N) (Table 25). Nevertheless no additional growth was observed by removing phenolics from most compost water extracts. Only lettuce grown in water extracts of fish-bark compost of initial C:N=35 showed a significant (p < 0.01) increase in growth after the PVP treatment. However, all composts showed the presence of non-PVP binding phytotoxin(s). The levels of ammonium-N in these composts was sufficient to cause the phytotoxicity observed (Bennett and Adams, 1970; Imai, 1977) while levels of volatile fatty acids were insignificant in all 30d old composts. Nevertheless, phenolics which do not bind to PVP, such as gallic acid (Ashbolt, 1979, hons. thesis), may have contributed to the phytotoxicity observed in some composts. The other phenolics assayed by HPLC are less

Discussion

likely to cause phytotoxicity due to their poorer water solubility (Patrick, 1971).

The maturity index (MI, ratio of p-coumaris to over gallic acid) correlated well with the results from the plant bioassay with regard to type of amendment, but did not reflect the highly phytotoxic nature of all composts with an initial C:N=25 due to the presence of non-phenolic phytotoxins. Both the MI data and the combined respiratory activity and N loss data indicated that the fish-bark composts were as good or better than urea-bark composts and that sewage-bark composts were considerable "poorer" products.

4.5.2 Physical Properties of Composts

The superior physical properties (Table 26) of the large-scale urea-bark compost over those of the sewage-bark (1 year old) probably resulted from its lower content of fine particles. These greasy, clay-like lumps of degraded sewage would necessitate considerable mixing of the compost mass to make it acceptable for sale to the general public.

Eucalypt bark composts generally had better physical properties than pine-bark composts and were as good as peat moss except for a four-fold increase in bulk density. These results are, however, limited in that the available water-holding capacities were not tested by plant performance (Beardsell, et.al., 1979). The greater bulk density probably results from the well decomposed nature of one year-old eucalypt-bark compost and has the advantage over pine-bark composts of greatly reducing slumping in large pots (Clark, V.S., pers. come.). Acharya, C.N., (1935). Cited Basu (1980). Biochem. J., 29:1116.

- Adler, E. (1977). Lignin chemistry past, present and future. Wood Sci. Technol., 11:169-218.
- Airhart, D.L., Natarella, N.J. and Pokorny, F.A. (1978). Influence of initial moisture content on the wettability of a milled pine bark medium. Hort. Sci., 13(4):432-434.
- Ait, N., Creuzet, W. and Forget, P. (1979). Partial purification of cellulase from *Clostridium thermocellum*. J. gen. Microbiol., 113:399-402.
- Akhtar, M.W., Mirza, A.Q. and Chuchtai, M.I.D. (1980). Lipase induction in *Hucor hiemalis*. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 40(2):257-263.
- Akin, D.E. (1980). Attack on lignified grass cell walls by a facultatively anaerobic bacterium. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 40(4):809-820.
- Albrecht, M.L., Watson, M.F. and Tayama, H.K. (1983). Chemical characteristics of composted hardwood bark as they relate to plant nutrition. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci., 107:1081-1084.
- Aldag, R. and Rochus, N. (1981). (Amount and distribution of nitrogen in fulvic-, humic-, and silico humic acids from a garbage-sewage sludge compost.) Z. Pflavzenernaehr. Bodenk., 144:587-596.
- Alexander, M. (1977). In, Introduction to soil microbiology. Second ed., John Wiley and Sons, Inc. N.Y.
- Allen, S.E. (1974). Proximate Constituents. In, Chemical analysis of ecological materials. Allen, S.E., *et al.*, (eds.). Blackwell Sci., Oxford. pp. 241-260.
- Allison, L.E. (1965). Organic Carbon. In, Methods of soil analysis, Part 2. Chemical and microbiological properties. Black, C.A. (ed.), Amer. Soc. Agron., Madison, Wisc. pp. 1372-1376.

- Allison, C.R. and Jordan, H.C. (1973). Hardwood bark as a poultry litter. Feedstuffs, (20):20-21.
- Allison, F.E. and Murphy, R.M. (1962). Comparative rates of decomposition in soil of wood and bark particles of several hardwood species. Soil Sci. Soc. Amer. Proc., 26:463-466.
- Allison, F.E., Murphy, R.M. and Klein, C.J. (1963). Nitrogen requirements for the decomposition of various kinds of finely ground woods in soil. Soil Sci., 96(3):187-190.
- American Public Health Association (1971). In, Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater, 13th ed. Amer. Pub. Health Assoc. Inc., Wash. DC.
- Ander, P. and Eriksson, K-E. (1975). Influence of carbohydrate on lignin biodegradation by white-rot fungus Sporotrichum pulverulentum. Sevensk Papperstidn., 18:643-652.
- Ander, P. and Eriksson, K-E. (1978). Lignin degradation and utilization by microorganisms. Progr. Ind. Microbiol., 14:1-58.
- Anderson, J.P.E. and Domsch, K.H. (1978). A physiological method for the quantitative measurement of microbial biomass in soils. Soil biol. Biochem., 10(3):215-221.
- Anon (1955). Preliminary report on a study of the composting of garbage and other solid organic wastes. Civ. Sanitn., Eng. Dept. Mich., St. Univ., Ann Arbor.
- Anon (1975). Bark and the bark problem. Note from SPCI Bark Committee. Svensk Papp-Tidn., 78(4):119-22.
- Anthonisen, R.C., Loehr, R.C., Prakasam, T.B.S. and Srinath, E.B. (1976). Inhibition of nitrification by ammonia and nitrous acid. J. Wat. Pollut. Contr. Fed., 48:835-852.
- Arella, M. and Sylvestre, M. (1979). Production of an extracellular ribonuclease by Pseudomonas maltophilia. Can. J. Microbiol., 25:321-328.

Ashbolt, N.J. (1979). Composting Eucalyptus delegatensis bark with

fish waste or sewage sludge. Honours thesis, Dept. Agric. Sci., Univ. Tasmania, Australia.

- Ashworth, J., Akerboom, H.M. and Crepin, J.M. (1980). Inhibition by xanthates of nitrification and urea hydrolysis in soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Amer. J., 44(6):1247-1249.
- Bagstam, G. (1977). Experiments made in bench scale composters: III Composting of spruce-bark together with sewage sludge. Vatten, 3.77:239-250.
- Bagstam, G. (1978). Population changes in microorganisms during composting of spruce-bark. I. Influence of temperature control. Eur. J. appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 5(4):315-30.
- Bagstam, G. (1979). Population changes in microorganisms during composting of spruce bark. II. Mesophilic and thermophilic microorganisms during controlled composting. Eur. J. appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 6(3):279-288.
- Bagstam, G., Enebo, L., Lindell, T. and Swensson, H. (1974). Experiments made in bench scale composters. I. Apparatus., Vatten, 4.74:358-363.
- Bagstam, G. and Swensson, H. (1976). Experiments made in bench-scale composters. 11 Composting of spruce-bark. Vatten, 1.76:45-53.
- Baillie, A. and Norris, J.R. (1965). Studies of enzyme changes during sporulation in Bacillus cereus using starch gel electrophoresis. J. appl. Bact., 26:102-103.
- Ban, S., Glanser-Soljan, M. and Smailagic, M. (1979). Rapid biodegradation of calcium lignosulfonate by means of a mixed culture of microorganisms. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 21:1917-1928.
- Barnett, J.A., Payne, R.W. and Yarrow, D. (1983). In, Yeasts: characteristics and identification. Cambridge Univ. Press, London.

Baillie, A. and Walker, P.D. (1968). Enzymes of thermophilic

aerobic spore-forming bacteria. J. appl. Bacteriol., 31:114-119.

- Baross, J.A. and Deming, J.W. (1983). Growth of "black smemker" bacteria at temperatures of at least 250 °C. Nature, 303:423-426.
- Barrow, G.L. (1968). In, The genera of Hyphomycetes from soil. Robert E. Krieger Pub. Co., Huntington, N.Y.
- Barsdate, R.J. (1972). The influence of dissolved humic substances on trace metal phytotoxicity. In, Pathways of trace elements in Arctic lake ecosystems. Progr. Rept. Atomic Energy Commission.
- Bartlett, R.J. (1981). Non microbial nitrite-to-nitrate transformation in soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Amer. J., 45:1054-1058.
- Basaraba, J. (1964). Influence of vegetable tannins on nitrification in soil. Plant Soil, 21:8-16.
- Basaraba, J. (1966). Effects of vegetable tanning on glucose oxidation by various microorganisms. Can. J. Microbiol., 12:787-794.
- Basu, M. (1980). Utilization of hemicellulose by thermophilic micro-organisms. National Acad. Sci. Letters, 3(5):143-144.
- Bavendamm, N. (1928). Cited by Kuster (1963). Zentbl. Pflzkrankl. Pflzschutz., 28:257.
- Beardsell, D.V., Nichols, D.G. and Jones, D.L. (1979). Water relations of nursery potting-media. Scientia Hort., 11:9-17.
- Bekedorf, A., Coorts, G.D. and Maleike, R.R. (1977). The evaluation of hardwood bark as a propagation medium for some selected herbaceous ornamental plants. Plant propagator, 23(2):3-4.
- Belser, L.W. and Schmidt, E.L. (1978). Diversity in the ammonia-oxidizing nitrifier population of a soil. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 36(4):584-588.

- Ben-Bassat, A. and Zeikus, J.G. (1981). Thermobacteroides acetoethylicus gen. nov. and spec. nov., a new chemoorganotrophic, anaerobic, thermophilic bacterium. Arch. Microbiol., 128:365-370.
- Benefield, C.B., Howard, P.J.A. and Howard, D.M. (1977). The estimation of dehydrogenase activity in soil. Soil biol. Biochem., 9:67-70.
- Benner, R., Maccubbin, A.E. and Hobson, A.E. (1984). Anaerobic biodegradation of the lignin and polysaccharide components of lignocellulose and synthetic lignin by sediment microflora. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 47(5):998-1004.
- Bennett, A.C. and Adams, F. (1970). Concentration of NH₃ (aq) required for incipient NH₃ toxicity to seedlings. Soil Sci. Soc. Amer. Proc., 34:259-263.
- Bennett, P.G., Jones, D.L. and Nichols, D.G. (1978). Utilization of Pinus radiata bark. Appita, 31(4):275-279.
- Benoit, R.E., Starkey, R.L. and Basaraba, J. (1968). Effects of purified plant tannin on decomposition of some organic compounds and plant materials. Soil Sci., 105:153-158.

Bergey's Manual (1974). See Buchanan and Gibbons (1974).

- Bertoldi, M. de, Vallini, G. and Pera, A. (1982). Comparison of three windrow compost systems. Biocycle, 23(2):45-50.
- Bisaria, V.S. and Ghose, T.K. (1981). Biodegradation of cellulosic materials: substrates, microorganisms, enzymes and products. Enzyme Microbiol. Technol., 3:90-104.
- Blackmer, A.M. and Bremner, J.M. (1977). Nitrogen isotope discrimination in denitrification of nitrate in soils. Soil biol. Biochem., 9:73-77.
- Bland, D.E. and Menshun, M. (1971). Determination of total lignin and polyphenol in eucalypt woods. Appita, 25(2):110-115.

Board, R.G. and Lovelock, D.W. (eds.) (1975). In.

References

Sampling-microbiological monitoring of environments. Soc. Appl. Bacterial., Tech. Ser. No. 7. Acad. Press, p. 137.

- Bollen, W.B. (1969). Properties of tree barks in relation to their agricultural utilization. USDA Forest Surv. Res. Pap. PNW-77.
- Bollen, W.B. and Glennie, D.W. (1961). Sawdust, bark and other wood wastes for soil conditioning and mulching. For. Prod. J., 13(6):209-215.
- Braid, G.H. and Line, M.A. (1980). Biological techniques for determining relative soft-rot attack in hardwoods. Holzforschung, 34(1):1-4.
- Brandon, D.G. (1979). Isolation of an anaerobic cellulolytic mixed culture. Eur. J. appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 7(3):281-288.
- Breed, R.S., Murray, E.G.D. and Smith, N.R. (1957). Bacillus. In, Bergey's Manual of Determinative Bacteriology, 7th ed., London, Bailliere, Tindall and Cox.
- Bremner, J.M. (1965a). Total Nitrogen. Semimicro-Kjeldahl method. In, Methods of soil analysis, Part 2. Chemical and microbiological properties. Black, C.A. (ed.) Amer. Soc. agron., Madison, Wisc. pp. 1171-1178.
- Bremner, J.M. (1965b). Inorganic Nitrogen. Magnesium oxide-Devarda alloy methods for soil extracts. In, Methods of soil analysis, Part 2. Chemical and microbiological properties. Black, C.A. (ed.), Amer. Soc. agron., Madison, Wisc. pp. 1195-1198.
- Bremner, J.M. and Douglas, L.A. (1971). Inhibition of urease activity in soils. Soil biol. Biochem., 3:297-307.
- Bremner, J.M. and Nelson, D.W. (1968). Chemical decomposition of nitrite in soil. Trans. Ninth Int. Congr., Adelaide. Soil Sci., 2:495-503.

Brock, T.D. (ed.) (1978a). The organisms: general overview. In,

Thermophilic microorganisms and life at high temperatures. Springer-Verlag, New York. pp. 51-71.

- Brock, T.D. (ed.) (1978b). The genus Thermoplasma. In, Thermophilic microorganisms and life at high temperatures. Springer-Verlag, New York. pp. 92-116.
- Buchanan, R.E. and Gibbons, W.E. (Co-eds.) (1974). In, Bergey's manual of determinative bacteriology. Eighth Ed. The Williams and Wilkins Co., Baltimore. U.S.A.
- Bundy, L.G. and Bremner, J.M. (1973). Effects of substituted p-benzoquinones on urease activity in soils. Soil biol. Biochem., 5:847-853.
- Bundy, L.G. and Bremner, J.M. (1974). Effects of urease inhibitors on nitrification in soils. Soil biol. Biochem., 6:27-30.
- Bunnell, F.L., Tait, D.E.N., Flanagan, P.W. and Van Cleve, K., (1977a). Microbial respiration and substrate weight loss I. A general model of the influences of abiotic variables. Soil biol. Biochem., 9:33-40.
- Bunnell, F.L., Tait, D.E.N. and Flanagan, P.W. (1977b). Microbial respiration and substrate weight loss. II. A model of the influences of chemical composition. Soil biol. Biochem., 9:41-47.
- Buresh, R.J. and Patrick, W.H. (1978). Nitrate reduction to ammonium in anaerobic soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Amer. J., 42:913-918.
- Burford, J.R. and Bremner, J.M. (1975). Relationships between the denitrification capacities of soils and total, water-soluble and readily decomposible soil organic matter. Soil biol. Biochem., 7:389.
- Burge, W.D. (1983). Monitoring pathogen destruction. Biocycle, 24(2):48-50.
- Burge, W.D., Cramer, W.N. and Epstein, E. (1978). Destruction of pathogens in sewage sludge by composting. Trans. Amer. Soc.

Agric. Eng., 21(3):510-514.

- Burge, W.D., Colacicco, D. and Cramer, W.N. (1981). Criteria for achieving pathogen destruction during composting. J. Wat. Pollut. Contr. Fed., 53:1683-1690.
- Burman, W.P. (1961). The biochemistry and microbiology of composting. J. Soil Ass. July 1961.
- Buswell, J.A. and Clark, J.S. (1976). Oxidation of aromatic acids by a facultative thermophilic Bacillus sp. J. gen. Microbiol., 96:209-213.
- Caldwell, B.A., Hageborn, C. and Denison, W.C. (1979). Bacterial ecology of an old-growth douglas fir canopy. Microbiol. Ecol., 5:91-103.
- Cappaert, I.M.J., Verdonck, O. and de Boodt, M. (1976a). Composting of bark from pulp mills and the use of bark compost as a substitute for plant breeding. Part I. The effect of chemical parameters on the role of composting of bark. Compost Sci., 17(4):6-9.
- Cappaert, I.M.J., Verdonck, O. and de Boodt, M. (1976b). Composting of bark from pulp mills and the use of bark. Part II. Compost as a substrate for plant breeding. Compost Sci., 17(5):18-20.
- Cappaert, I.M.J., Verdonck, O. and de Boodt, M. (1977). Degradation of bark and its value as a soil conditioner. In, Soil organic matter studies. vol. 1, IAEA-SM-211/61 Int. Atomic Energy Assoc. (Vienna). pp. 123-129.
- Castignetti, D. and Gunner, H.B. (1981). Nitrite and nitrate synthesis from pyruvic-oxime by an Alcaligenes sp. Curr. Microbiol., 5:379-384.
- Castignetti, D. and Hollocher, T.C. (1982). Vigorous denitrification by a heterotrophic nitrifier of the genus Alcaligenes. Curr. Microbiol., 6:229-231.

Castignetti, D. and Hollocher, T.C. (1984). Heterotrophic

~

References

nitrification among denitrifiers. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 47(4):620-623.

- Cawse, P.A. and White, T. (1969). Accumulation of nitrate in fresh soils after Y-irradiation. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.), 72:331-333.
- Chang, Y. and Hudson, H.J. (1967). Fungi of wheat straw compost. I Ecological Studies. Trans. Br. Mycol. Soc., 50(4):649-666.
- Chanyasak, V., Hirai, M. and Kubota, H. (1982). Changes of chemical components and nitrogen transformation in water extracts during composting of garbage. J. Fermentation Tech., 60(5):439-446.
- Chapman, H.D. and Pratt, D.F. (1961a). Vanadate-molybdate-yellow method. In, Methods of analysis for soils, plants, and waters. Univ. Calif. Div. Agric. Sci., Riverside, Calif., pp. 170-173.
- Chapman, H.D. and Pratt, D.F. (1961b). Determination of calcium; sodium and potassium with the Perkin-Elmer flame photometer. In, Methods of analysis for soils, plants and waters. Univ. Calif. Div. Agric. Sci., Riverside, Calif., pp. 201-204.
- Chino, M., Kanazawa, S., Mori, T., Araragi, M. and Kanke, B. (1983). Biochemical studies on composting of municipal sewage sludge mixed with rice hull. Soil Sci. Pl. Nutr., 29:159-173.
- Christensen, M.H. and Harremoes, P. (1978). Nitrification and dentrification in wastewater treatment. In, Water pollution microbiology, Vol. 2. Mitchell, R. (ed.), J. Wiley & Sons, N.Y. pp. 391-414.
- Clark, C.S., Buckingham, C.O., Bone, D.H. and Clark, R.H. (1977). Laboratory scale composting: techniques. J. environ. Eng. Div. Amer. Soc. Civil Eng., 103(EE5):893-906.
- Colberg, P.J. and Young, L.Y. (1982). Biodegradation of lignin-derived molecules under anaerobic conditions. Can. J. Microbiol., 28:886-889.

and a second second

- Cooney, D.G. and Emerson, R. (1964). In, Thermophilic fungi. An account of their biology, activities, and classification. W.H. Freeman and Co., San Francisco. p. 158.
- Corcoran, M.R. (1971). Inhibitors from Carob cevatonia siliqua L.II. Effect on growth induced by indoleacetic acid or gibberellins A1, A4, A8, A7. Pl. Physiol., 46:531-534.
- Cornfield, A.H. (1961). A simple technique for determining mineralization of carbon during incubation of soils treated with organic materials. Plant soil, 14(1):90-93.
- Cramer, W.N., Burge, W.D. and Kawata, K. (1983). Kinetics of virus inactivation by ammonia. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 45:760-765.
- Crawford, D.L. (1978). Lignocellulose decomposition by selected Streptomyces strains. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 35(6):1041-1045.
- Crawford, J.H. (1983). Composting of agricultural wastes A review. Process Biochem., 18(1):14-18.
- Crawford, D.L. and Crawford, R.L. (1976). Microbial degradation of lignocellulose: the lignin component. Appl. environ. Microbiol. 31(5):714-717.
- Crawford, D.L. and Crawford, R.L. (1980). Microbial degradation of lignin. Enzyme Microbiol. Technology, 2(1):11-22.
- Crawford, R.L., Bromley, J.W. and Perkins-Olson, P.E. (1979). Catabolism of protocatechuate by Bacillus macerans. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 37(3):614-618.
- Crawford, D.L., Barber, M.J., Pometto III, A.L. and Crawford, R.L. (1982). Chemistry of softwood lignin degradation by Streptomyces viridosporus. Arch. Microbiol., 131:140-145.
- Crawford, D.L., Pometto 111, A.L. and Crawford, R.L. (1983). Lignin degradation by Streptomyces viridosporus isolation and characterization of a new polymeric lignin degradation

intermediate. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 45:898-904.

- Crisan, E.V. (1973). Current concepts of thermophilism and the thermophilic fungi. Mycologia, 65:1171-1198.
- Cross, T. (1968). Thermophilic actinomycetes. J. appl. Bact., 31:36-53.
- Cross, T. and Goodfellow, M. (1973). Taxonomy and classification of the actinomycetes. In, Actinomycetes: characteristics and practical importance. Skinner, F.A. and Sykes, G. (eds.), London, Acad. Press. pp. 11-112.
- Cure, G.L. and Keddie, R.M. (1973). Methods for the morphological examination of aerobic coryneform bacteria. In, Sampling-microbioligical monitoring of environments, Board, R.G. and Lovelock, D.N. (eds.), N.Y., Acad. Press. pp. 123-135.
- Dagley, S. (1967). The microbial metabolism of phenolics. In, Soil Biochemistry. Vol. 1. McLaren, A.B. and Peterson, G.H. (eds.), Arnold, E. (Pub.) Mancel Bekker Inc., N.Y. pp. 287-317.
- Daron, H.H. (1967). Occurrence of isocitrate lyase in a thermophilic Bacillus species. J. Bact., 101:145-151.
- Davis, E.F. (1928). The toxic principle of Juglans nigra as identified with synthetic juglone, and its toxic effects on tomato and alfalfa plants. Amer. J. Bot., 15:620.
- Deibel, R.H. and Seeley, H.W. Jr. (1974). Genus Streptococcus. In, Bergey's Manual of Determative Bacteriology, 8th ed., pp. 490-509.
- Dehérain, P.P. and Demoussy, E. (1896). Sur l'oxydation de la matiere organique du soil. Ann. Agron., 22:305-337. Cited, Waksman, et.al., (1939a).
- Dekker, R.E.H. and Richards, G.N. (1976). Hemicellulases: their occurrence, purification, properties and mode of action. Adv. Carb. Chem. and Biochem., 32:277-351.

- Deploey, J.J., Fortman, B. and Perva, L. (1981). Daily measurements of Hucor miehei lipase activity. Mycologia, 73:953-958.
- Deschamps, A.M. (1982). Nutritional capacities of bark and wood decaying bacteria with particular emphasis on condensed tannin degrading strains. Eur. J. For. Pathology, 12:252-256.
- Deschamps, A.M. and Lebeault, J.M. (1980). A survey of xylan degradation by wood-decaying bacterial isolates. Eur. J. For. Pathology, 10:316-319.
- Deschamps, A.M., Henno, P., Pernelle, C., Caignault, L. and Lebeault, J.M. (1979). Bench-scale reactors for composting research. Biotechnology letters, 1(6):239-244.
- Deschamps, A.M., Mahoudeau, G., Leulliette, L. and Lebeault, J.M. (1980a). Isolation and identification of bark decaying and utilizing bacteria of various origins. Revue d'ecologie et de biologie du sol., 17(4):577-582.
- Deschamps, A.M., Mahoudeau, G., Conti, M. and Lebeault, J.M. (1980b). Bacteria degrading tannic acid and related compounds. J. Ferment. Technol., 58(2):93-97.
- Deschamps, A.M., Gillie, J.P., Lebeault, J.M. (1981). Direct delignification of treated bark chips with mixed cultures of bacteria. Eur. J. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 13:222-225.
- De Vleeschauwer, D., Verdonck, O. and Van Assche, P. (1981). Phytotoxicity of refuse compost. Biocycle, 22(1):44-46.
- Diaz, L.F., Cooper, R.C., Scarpace, L.P., Trezek, G.J. and Golueke, C.G. (1977). Public health aspects of composting combined refuse and sludge and of the leachates therefrom. In, Final report for the State of California Solid Waste Management Board. College of Engineering, Univ. Calif., Berkeley, Cal., June 1977.
- Domsch, K.H., Beck, T., Anderson, J.P., Soderstrom, B., Parkinson, B. and Trolldenier, G. (1979). A comparison of methods for

References

soil microbial populations and biomass studies. Zeitschrift fur Pflangenernahrung und Bodenkunde 142:520-533.

- Donk, R.J. (1920). A highly resistant thermophilic organism. J. Bact., 5:373-374.
- Douglas, L.A. and Bremner, J.M. (1970). Extraction and colorimetric determination of urea in soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Amer. Proc., 34:859-862.
- Dudley, D.J., Guentzel, M.N., Ibarra, M.J., Moore, B.E. and Sagik, B.P. (1980). Enumeration of potentially pathogenic bacteria from sewage sludges. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 39(1):118-126.
- Dye, M.H., and Rothbaum, H.P. (1964). Self-heating of damp wool, part 2. Self-heating of damp wool under adiabatic conditions. N.Z. J. Sci., 7:97-118.
- Ellis, D.H. (1980). Thermophilous fungi isolated from some Antarctic and sub-Antarctic soils. Mycologia, 72:1033-1036."
- Elwan, S.H., El-Nagger, M.R. and Ammar, M.S. (1977). Characteristics of lipases in the growth filtrate dialysate of Bacillus stearothermophilus grown at 55°C using a tributyrin cup-plate assay. Riyadh Univ. Fac. Sci. Bull., 8:105-119.
- Elwan, S.H., Mostafa, S.K.A.A. and Omkolthoum, A. (1978). Identity and lipase activity of an isolate of Thermoactinoymces vulgaris. Zbl. Bakt., 11 133:713-722.
- Enebo, L. (1949). Symbiosis in thermophilic cellulose fermentation. Nature (Lond.), 163:805.
- Enebo, L. (1951). On three bacteria connected with thermophilic cellulose fermentation. Physiol. Plant., 4:652-666.
- Epstein, I. and Grossowicz, N. (1969). Prototrophic thermophilic Bacillus: isolation, properties and kinetics of growth. J. Bacteriol., 99:414-417.

Epstein, E., Taylor, J.M. and Chaney, R.L. (1976). Effects of

sewage sludge and sludge compost applied to soil on some soil physical and chemical properties. J. environ. Qual., 5(4):422-428.

- Eslyn, W.E., Kirk, T.K. and Effland, M.J. (1975). Changes in the chemical composition of wood caused by six soft-rot fungi. Phytopathology, 65:473-479.
- Evans, W.C. (1977). Biochemistry of the bacterial catabolism of aromatic compounds in anaerobic environments. Nature, 270:17-22.
- Evans, M.R., Suoboda, I.F. and Baines, S. (1982). Heat from aerobic treatment of piggery slurry. J. agric., Engng. Res., 27:45-50.
- Fergus, C.L. (1964). Thermophilic and thermotolerant molds and actinomycetes of mushroom compost during peak heating. Mycologia, 56:267-284.
- Fenn, P., Choi, S. and Kirk, T.K. (1981). Ligninolytic activity of Phanerochaete chrysosporium: Physiology of suppression by NH4⁺ and L-glutamate. Arch. Microbiol., 130:66-71.
- Fenn, P. and Kirk, T.K. (1981). Relationship of nitrogen to the onset and suppression of ligninolytic activity and secondary metabolism in *Phanerochaete chrysosporium*. Arch. Microbiol., 130:59-65.
- Festenstein, G.N., Lacey, J. and Skinner, F.A. (1965). Self-heating of hay and grain in Dewar flasks and the development of farmer's lung antigens. J. gen. Microbiol., 41:389-407.
- Finstein, M.S. (1980). Composting microbial ecosystem: implications for process design and control. Compost Sci./Land Utilization, 21(4):25-27, 39.
- Finstein, M.S. and Morris, M.L. (1975). Microbiology of municipal solid waste composting. Adv. appl. Microbiol., 19:113-151.

Finstein, M.S. and Morris, M.L. (1979). Anaerobic digestion and

composting: microbiological alternatives for sewage sludge treatment. Amer. Soc. Microbiol. News, 45(1):44-48.

- Finstein, M.S., Miller, F.C., Strom, P.F., MacGregor, S.T. and Psariands, K.M. (1983). Composting ecosystem management for waste treatment. Bio/technology, 1(4):347-353.
- Firestone, M.K. (1982). Biological denitrification. In, Nitrogen in agricultural soils. Stevenson, F.J. (ed.) Agron. Series. 22. Amer. Soc. Agron., Madison, Wisconsin, USA. pp. 289-326.
- Fischer, F., Zillig, W., Stetter, K.O. and Schreiber, G. (1983). Chemolithoautotrophic metabolism of anaerobic extremely thermophilic archaebacteria. Nature, 301:511-513.
- Flaig, W., Beutelspacher, H. and Rietz, E. (1975). Chemical composition and physical properties of humic substances. In, Soil components Vol 1. Organic components. Gieseking, J.E. (ed.) Springer Verlag, N.Y. pp. 1-213.
- Flaig, W. (1977). The function of soil organic matter in the environment. In, Proc. Int. Seminar Soil Environ. Fertility Management in Intensive Agrie, Tokyo Soc. Soil Sci. Manure, Japan. pp. 65-77.
- Flannigan, B. and Sagoo, G.S. (1977). Degradation of wood by Aspergillus fumigatus isolated from self-heated wood chips. Mycologia, 69(3):514-523.
- Focht, D.D. and Verstraete, W. (1977). Biochemical ecology of nitrification and denitrification. Adv. Microbiol. Ecol., 1:135-214.
- Forney, L.J. and Reddy, C.A. (1979). Bacterial degradation of kraft lignin. Dev. Ind. Microbiol., 20:163-175.
- Freer, S.W. and Detroy, R.W. (1982). Biological delignification of ¹⁴C-labelled lignocelluloses by basidiomycetes: degradation and solubilization of the lignin and cellulose components. Mycologia, 74:943-951.

Galesloot, T.E. and Labots, H. (1959). Thermophilic bacilli in

milk. Netherlands Milk Dairy J., 13:155-179.

- Galler, W.S. and Davey, C.B. (1971). High rate poultry manure composting with sawdust. In, Proc. Int. Symp. Livestock Wastes, April 19-22 1971, Ohio State Univ., Amer. Soc. Agric. Eng. pp. 159-162.
- Garcia, J.L., Roussos, S., Bensoussan, M., Bianchi, A. and Mandel, M. (1982). Numerical taxonomy of a thermophilic "Bacillus" species isolated from West African rice soils. Ann. Microbiol. (Inst. Pasteur), 133A:471-488.
- Gartner, J.B. (1981). Amendments can improve container growing media. Amer. Nurseryman, 153(3) 13, 70-73, 76-78.
- Gartner, J.B., Carbunneau, M.C. and Saupe, D.C. (1968). Tree bark for growing potted plants. Illinois Res., 10:16.
- Gartner, J.B., Carbunneau, M.C. and Saupe, D.C. (1971). Hardwood bark as a growing media for container-grown ornamentals. Forest Prod. J., 21:25-29.
- Gartner, J.B., Still, S.M. and Klett, J.E. (1973). The use of hardwood bark as a growth medium. Proc. Int. Pl. Prop. Soc., 23:222-230.
- Genstat V (1979). In, Genstat V, (a suite of computer programmes) Mark 4.03, B6700 Release converted by Niven, B.E. and distributed by Cox, B.G., Otago Univ. Du**N**edin, N.Z. Supplied by Numerical Algorithms Group Ltd., Oxford, U.K.
- Ghiorse, W.C. and Alexander, M. (1977). Effect of nitrogen dioxide on nitrite oxidation and nitrite-oxidizing populations in soil. Soil biol. Biochem., 9:353-355.
- Gibson, T and Gordon, R.E. (1974). Bacillus. In, Bergey's manual of determative bacteriology. Buchanan, R.E. and Gibbons, N.E. (eds.), Eighth Ed. The Williams and Wilkins Co., Baltimore, U.S.A. pp. 529-555.
- Gibson, D.M. and Ogden, I.D. (1979). A rapid method for purifying bacterial deoxyribonucleic acid. J. appl. Bacteriol.,

46:421-423.

- Gillian, C.H. and Smith, E.M. (1980). How and when to fertilize container nursery stock. Seed Nursery Trader, 78(3):34-41.
- Ginniuan, M.J., Woods, J.L. and O'Callaghan, J.R. (1981). Thermophilic aerobic treatment of pig slurry. J. agric. Engng. Res., 26:455-466.
- Glanser, M. and Ban, S.N. (1983). Degradation of lignin of corn stover by means of yeasts *Trichosporon*. Process Biochem., 18:105-110.
- Glathe, H. (1934). Uber die Rotte des Stalldungers unter besonduer Berucksichtigung der Anaeroben-Flora. Zent. fur Bakteriologie (II), 91:65-101.
- Goldstein, J. (1981). An overview of composting installations. In, Composting theory and practice for city, industry and farm. Staff Compost Sci./land Utiliz. (eds.) J.G. Press, Emmaus. PA. pp. 205-212.
- Golovacheva, R.S. (1975). Thermophilic nitrifying bacteria from hot springs. Mikrobiologiya, 45(2):377-379.
- Golovacheva, R.S. (1976). Association of *Thermus spp.* with thermophilic nitrifying bacteria. IZV Akad. Navk. SSSR Ser. Biol., 5:767-769.
- Golovacheva, R.S., Loginova, L.G., Salikhov, T.A., Kolesnikov, A.A. and Zaitseva, G.N. (1975). A new thermophilic species, Bacillus thermocatenulatus nov. sp. Microbiology, 44(2):230-233.
- Golueke, C.G. (1977). In, Biological reclamation of solid wastes. Rodale Press, Emmaus.
- Golueke, C.G., Card., B.J. and McGauhey, P.H. (1954). A critical evaluation of inoculums in composting. Appl. Microbiol., 2:45-53.
- Goodwin, D. (1980). Bark: A valuable resource for horticulture? N.Z. J. Agric., Aug. 1980.

Gordon, R.E. and Smith, N.R. (1949). Aerobic sporeforming bacteria capable of growth at high temperatures. J. Bact., 58:327-34.

- Gordon, R.E., Haynes, W.C. and Pan, C.H. (1973). Cited Zeikus (1979). In, Ag. handbook, No. 427 U.S. Dept. Agric., Washington.
- Goring, C.A. (1962). Control of nitrification of 2-chloro-6-(trichloro-methyl) pyridine. Soil Sci., 93:211-218.
- Gotaas, H.B. (1956). In, Composting; sanitary disposal and reclamation of organic wastes. W.H.D. pp 1-205.
- Grant, W.D. (1976). Microbial degradation of condensed tannins from *Pinus* radiata bark. Science, 193(4258):1137-1138.
- Grant, W.D. and McMurtry, C.M. (1978). Effects of condensed tannins on the growth of microorganisms. In, Microb**id** ecology, Loutit, M.W. and Miles, J.A.R. (eds.), Springer-Verlag, Berlin. pp. 427-430.
- Gray, K. and Biddlestone, A. (1976). The garden compost heap. Part II - Practical considerations. The Garden, 101(12):594-598.
- Gregory, P.H., Lacey, M.E., Festenstein, G.N. and Skinner, F.A. (1963). Microbial and biochemical changes during the moulding of hay. J. gen. Microbiol., 33:147-174.
- Griffis, C.L. and Mote, C.R. (1982). A bench-scale system for laboratory studies of composting agricultural waste. In, Agric. Expt. Stat., Univ. Arkansas, Fayetteville Report Series 270, August 1982, pp. 1-19.
- Grinsted, E. and Clegg, L.F.L. (1955). Spore-forming organisms in commercial sterilised milk. J. Dairy Res., 22:178-190.
- Grossbard, E. (1979). Problems of assessing the degree of aerobic decomposition of straw. In, Proc. Symp. on straw decay and workshop assessment techniques. Hatfield Polytechnic, April 10-11 1979, J. Wiley & Sons, Chichester. pp. 285-288.

- Gunner, H.B. (1963). Nitrification by Arthrobacter globiformis. Nature, 197:1127-1128.
- Guthrie, T.F. and Bomke, A.A. (1981). Effects of low temperature and nitrification inhibitors on urea hydrolyses. Can. J. Soil Sci., 61:529-532.
- Haars, A., Milstein, D., Lohner, S. and Huttermann, A. (1982). Rapid, sensitive, and inexpensive assay for the determination of lignin degradation using different fluorescence labelled lignin derivatives. Holzforschung, 36:85-91.
- Haider, K., Trojanowski, J. and Sundmann. V. (1978). Screening for lignin degrading bacteria by means of ¹⁴C-labelled lignins. Arch. Microbiol., 119:103-106.
- Hall, P.L. (1980). Enzymatic transformations of lignin. Enzyme Microb. Technol., 2(3):170-176.
- Han, Y.W. and Callihan, C.D. (1974). Cellulose fermentation: Effect of substrate pretreatment on microbial growth. Appl. Microbiol., 27(1):159-165.
- Hankin, L, Zucker, M. and Sands, D.C. (1971). Improved solid medium for the detection and enumeration of pectolytic bacteria. Appl. Microbiol., 22(2):205-209.
- Hankin, L., Anagnostakis, S.L. and Poincelot, R.P. (1976). Compost by biodegradation of leaves. In, Proc. 3rd Int. Biotech'n. Symp., Sharpley, I.M. and Kaplan, A.M. (eds.) pp. 701-709.
- Hankin, L. and Anagnostakis, S.L. (1977). Solid media containing carboxymethylcellulose to detect C_x cellulase activity of micro-organisms. J. gen. Microbiol., 98:109-115.
- Hankin, L., Stephens, G.R. and Hill, D.E. (1979). Effect of additions of liquid poultry manure on excretion of degradative enzymes by bacteria in forest soil and litter. Can. J. Microbiol., 25(11):1258-2363.
- Harding, C.L. (1968). Recycling and utilization. Compost Sci., 9(1):4-9.

. . <u>.</u> . . .

- Harkin, J.M., Larsen, M.S. and Obst, J.R. (1974). Use of syringaldazine for detection of laccase in sporophores of wood rotting fungi. Mycologia, LXVI:469-476.
- Harper, S.H.T. and Lynch, J.M. (1982). The role of water-soluble components in phytotoxity from decomposing straw. Pl. Soil, 65:11-17.
- Hart, S.A. (1970). Composting; a third choice. Compost Sci., 11(5):26-27.
- Hart, J.H. and Hillis, W.E. (1974). Inhibition of wood-rotting fungi by stilbenes and other polyphenols in Eucalyptus sideroxylon. Phytopathology, 64(7):939-948.
- Haslam, E. (1979). Vegetable tannins. In, Recent Adv. Phytochem., 12 Biochem. Pl. Phenolics, Swain. T, Harborne, J.B. and van Sumere, C.F.C. (eds.), Plenum Press, N.Y. pp. 475-524.
- Hathway, D.E. (1962). The condensed tannins. In, Wood extractives and their significance to the pulp and paper industries. Hillis, W.S. (ed.) Acad. Press, N.Y. and London. pp. 191-205, 210.
- Haug, R.T. and Haug, L.A. (1977). Sludge composting: A discussion of engineering principles. Compost Sci., 18(6):6-11.

Hebert, A. (1893). Farm manure. Exp. Sta. Rec., 5:141-158.

- Heinen, U.J. and Heinen, W. (1972). Characteristics and properties of a caldoactive bacterium producing extra-cellular enzymes and two related strains. Arch. Microbiol., 82:1-23.
- Heinen, W., Lauwers, A.M. and Mulders, J.W.M. (1982). Bacillus flavothermus, a newly isolated facultative thermophile. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek, 48:265-272.
- Henderson, J.H.M. and Nitzch, J.P. (1962). Effect of certain phenolic acids on the elongation of Avena first internodes in the presence of auxins and tryptophan. Nature, 195:780-782.

Henderson, R.N., Andrews, D.S., Lightsey, G.R. and Poonawala, N.A.

(1977). Reduction of mercury, copper, nickel, cadmium and zinc levels in solution by competitive adsorption onto peanut hulls, and raw and aged bark. Bull. environ. Contam. Toxicol., 17:355-359.

- Herr, L.J., Hoitink, H.A. and Schmitthenner, A.F. (1976). Composted bark as a container medium. Seed and Nursery Trader, Jan. 1976. pp. 27-28.
- Higgins, A.J. (1982). Ventilation for static pile composting. Biocycle, 23(4):36-40.
- Hillis, W.E. (1962). The distribution and formation of polyphenols within the tree. In, Wood extractives and their significance to the pulp and paper industries. Hillis, W.E. (ed.) Acad. Press, N.Y. and London. p. 87.
- Hippchen, B., Roll, A. and Poralla, K. (1981). Occurrence in soil of thermo-acidophilic bacilli possessing W-cyclohexane fatty acids and hopanoids. Arch. Microbiol., 129:53-55.
- Hirsch, P., Overrein, L. and Alexander, M. (1961). Formation of nitrite and nitrate by actinomycetes and fungi. J. Bact., 82:442-448.
- Hoitink, H.A.J. (1980). Composted bark, a lightweight growth medium with fungicidal properties. Pl. Disease, 64(2):142-147.
- Hoitink, H.A.J. and Kuter, G.A. (1983). Disease suppression by tree bark compost. In, Abstr. Fourth Int. Congress Pl. Path., Univ. Melbourne, Victoria, Australia, August 17-24, 1983. Aust. Pl. Path. Soc., Abstract No. 231. p. 58.
- Hoitink, H.A.J. and Kuter, G.A. (1984). Role of composts in suppression of soil borne plant pathogens of ornamental plants. Biocycle, 25(4):40-42.
- Hoitink, H.A.J., Herr, L.J. and Schmitthenner, A.F. (1976). Survival of some plant pathogens during composting of hardwood tree bark. Phytopathology, 66(11):1369-1372.

- Hoitink, H.A.J., Van Doren, B.M.Jr. and Schmitthenner, A.F. (1977). Suppression of Phytophthora cinnemoni in a composted hardwood bark potting medium. Phytopathology, 67(4):561-565.
- Hoitink, H.A.J. and Poole, H.A. (1976). Composted bark media for control of soil-borne plant pathogens. Amer. Nurserym., 144(5):15, 88, 89.
- Hoitink, H.A.J. and Poole, H.A. (1977). Composted bark media for control of soil borne plant pathogens. Ohio Florists' Ass. Bull., No. 567:10-11.
- Hoitink, H.A.J. Wilson, J.H. and Poole, H.A. (1978). Factors affecting composting of hardwood tree bark. In, Papper presented 2nd Woody Ornamental Workshop, Univ. Missouri, Columbia. March 21-22, 1978, pp. 11-17.
- Hoitink, H.A.J., Nelson, E.B. and Gordon, D.T. (1982). Composted bark controls soil pathogens of plants. Ohio Rep. Res. Div., 67(1):7-10.
- Howard, A. (1935). The manufacture of humus by the Indore process. J. Royal Soc. Arts, 84:25.
- Hugo, W.B. and Beveridge, E.G. (1962). A quantitative and qualitative study of the lipolytic activity of single strains of several bacterial species. J. appl. Bact., 25:72-82.
- Hulme, M.A. and Stranks, D.W. (1976). Heat tolerance of fungi inhabiting chip piles. Wood Sci., 8(4):237-241.
- Hussong, R.V. and Hammer, B.W. (1928). A thermophile coagulating milk under practical conditions. J. Bacteriol., 15:179-188.
- Hynes. R.K. and Knowles, R. (1978). Inhibition by acetylene of ammonium oxidation in *Nitrosomonas europaea*. Fems Microbiol. Lett., 4:319-321.
- Imai, H. (1977). The harmful effects of ammonium nitrogen on crop roots. In, Proc. Int. Seminar Soil Environ. Fertility Management in Intensive Agric. Tokyo Soc. Sci. Soil Manure. Japan. pp. 634-640.

- Ineson, P. and Anderson, J.M. (1982). Microbial biomass determinations in deciduous leaf litter. Soil biol. Biochem., 14:607-608.
- Inoko, A. (1982). The composting of organic materials and associated maturity problems. In, ASPAC Fd. Fert. Tech. Centr., Tech. Bulletin No. 71., Taipei, Taiwan.
- Ironside, G.E. (1976). Potting composts from eucalypt mill wastes
 by accelerated maturation technique. J. Aust. Inst. Hort.
 Sci. Inc., 2(3):14-20.
- Ishaque, M. and Cornfield, A.H. (1974). Nitrogen mineralisation and nitrification in relation to incubation temperature in an acid Bangladesh soil lacking autotrophic nitrifying organisms. Trop. Agric., 51:37-41.
- Ishaque, M., Cornfield, A.H. and Cawse, P.A. (1971). Effect of Y-irradiation of an acid tea soil from East Pakistan (Bangladesh) on nitrogen mineralization and nitrification during subsequent incubation. Pl. Soil, 35:201-204.
- Jacob, F.H. and Pignal, M.-C. (1975). Yeast-tannin interactions. II. Study of some tannic acid-hydrolysing yeasts in medium containing tannic acid. Mycopathologia., 57(3):139-148.
- Jain, M.K., Kapoor, K.K. and Mishra, M.M. (1979). Cellulase activity, degradation of cellulose and lignin, and humus formation by thermophilic fungi. Trans. Brit. Mycological Soc., 73(1)85-90.
- Jann, G.J., Howards, D.H. and Salle, A.J. (1960). Method for determining completion of composting. Compost Sci., 1(3):31-34.
- Janshekar, H., Brown, C. and Fiechter, A. (1981). Determination of biodegraded lignins by ultraviolet spectrophotometry. Analytica Chimica Acta., 150:81-91.
- Jansson, S.L. and Persson, J. (1982). Mineralization and immobilization of soil nitrogen. In, Nitrogen in agricultural soils. Stevenson, F.J. (ed.). Agron. Series 22.

Amer. Soc. agron. Madison, Wisconsinm, U.S.A. pp. 229-252.

- Jenkinson, D.S. and Powlson, D.S. (1976). The effects of biocidal treatments on metabolism in soil V. A method for measuring soil biomass. Soil biol. Biochem., 8:209-213.
- Jenkinson, D.S., Davidson, S.A. and Powlson, D.S. (1979). Adenosine triphosphate and microbial biomass in soil. Soil biol. Biochem., 11:521-527.
- Jeris, J.S. and Regan, R.W. (1968). Progress report on cellulose degradation in composting. Compost Sci., 9(1):20-22.
- Jeris, J.S. and Regan, R.W. (1973a). Controlling environmental parameters for optimum composting. Part I. Experimental procedures and temperature. Compost Sci., 14(1):10-15.
- Jeris, J.S. and Regan, R.W. (1973b). Controlling environmental parameters for optimum composting. Part II. Moisture, free air space and recycle. Compost Sci., 14(2):8-15.
- Jorgensen, J.H., Lee, J.C., Alexander, G.A. and Anowolf, H.W. (1979). Comparison of *limulus* assay, standard plate count, and total coliform count for microbiological assessment of renovated wastewater. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 37(5):928-931.
- Kaila, A. (1956). Determination of the degree of humification in peat samples. Noataloust. Aikak., 28:18-31.
- Kandler, D. and Hippe, H. (1977). Lack of peptido glycan in the cell walls of *Hethanosarcina barkeri*. Arch. Microbiol., 113:57-60.
- Kane, B.E. and Mullins, J.T. (1973). Thermophilic fungi in a municipal waste compost system. Nycologia, 65:1087-1100.
- Kaspar, H.F. and Tiedje, J.M. (1981). Denitrification and dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium in digested sludge. Can. J. Microbiol., 27:878-885.
- Kawada, H. (1978). Production of bark compost and its application to agriculture and forestry. Jarq., 12(3):173-176.

Kawasumi, T., Igarashi, Y., Kodama, T. and Minoda, Y. (1984).

References

Hydrogenbacter thermophilus gen. nov., sp. nov., an extremely thermophilic, aerobic, hydrogen-oxidizing bacterium. Int. J. Syst. Bact., 34(1):5-10.

- Kawata, K., Cramer, W.N. and Burge, W.D. (1977). Compost destroys pathogens in sewage solids. Wat. Sewage Wks., 124(4):76-79.
- Keeney, D.R., Lee, K.W. and Walsh, L.M. (1975). Guidelines for the application of waste water sludge to agricultural land in Wisconsin. Wis. Dept. Nat. Resour. Tech. Bull., 88:36.
- Keeney, D.R., Follery, I.R. and Marx, G.P. (1979). Effect of temperature on the gaseous nitrogen products of denitrification in a silt loam soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Amer. J., 43:1124-1128.
- Keilich, G., Bailey, P. and Liese, W. (1970). Enzymatic degradation of cellulose, cellulose derivatives and hemicelluloses in relation to fungal decay of wood. Wood Sci. Technol., 4:273-283.
- Keller, P. (1961). Methods to evaluate maturity of compost. Compost Sci., 2(3):20-26.
- Kertesz, Z.I. (ed.) (1951). In, The pectic substances. Interscience Pub. Inc., N.Y. pp. 328-329.
- Keyser, P., Kirk, T.K. and Zeikus, J.G. (1978). Ligninolytic enzyme system of Phanerochaete chrysosporium: synthesized in the absence of lignin in response to nitrogen starvation. J. Bacteriol., 135(3):790-797.
- Khoo, J.C. and Steinberg, D. (1975). Hormone-sensitive triglyceride lipase from rat adipose tissue. In, Methods in enzymology XXXV lipids Part B. Lowenstein, J.M. (ed.), Acad. Press, pp. 181-189.
- King, J.O. and White, D.C. (1977). Muramic acid as a measure of microbial biomass in estuarine and marine samples. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 33(4):777-783.

King, B., Henderson, W.J. and Murphy, M.E. (1980). A bacterial

contribution to wood nitrogen. Int. Biodeterior. Bull., 16:79-84.

- Kirk, T.K. (1971). Effect of microorganisms on lignin. A review. Phytopath., 9:185-210.
- Kirk, Ţ.K. (1981). Principles of lignin degradation by white rot fungi. In, Proc. Int. Symp. Wood Pulping Chem., Stockholm, Vol. III, pp. 66-70.
- Kirk, T.K. and Highley, T.L. (1973). Quantitative changes in structural components of conifer woods during decay by whiteand brown-rot fungi. Phytopath., 63:1338.
- Kirk, T.K., Connors, W.J., Bleam, R.D., Hackett, W.F. and Zeikus, J.G. (1975). Preparation and microbial decomposition of (¹⁴C)-lignins. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 72:2515-2519.)
- Kirk, T.K., Connors, W.J. and Zeikus, J.G. (1976). Requirement for a growth substrate during lignin decomposition by two wood-rotting fungi. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 32(1):192-194.
- Kirk, T.K., Connors, W.J. and Zeikus, J.G. (1977). Advances in understanding the microbiological degradation of lignin. Recent adv. Phytochem., 11:369-394.
- Kirk, T.K., Schultz, E., Connors, W.J., Lorenz, L.F. and Zeikus, J.G. (1978). Influence of culture parameters on lignin metabolism by Phanerochaete chrysosporium. Arch. Microbiol., 117(3):277-286.
- Klemidtsson, L., Swensson, B.H., Lindeberg, T. and Rosswall, T. (1977). The use of acetylene inhibition of nitrous oxide reductase in quantifying denitrification in soils. Swed. Agric. Res., 7:179-185.
- Klett, J.E., Gartner, J.B. and Hughes, T.D. (1972). Utilization of hardwood bark in media for growing woody ornamental plants in containers. J. Amer. Inst. hort. Sci., 97(4):448-450.

- Knoll, K.H. (1961). Public health and refuse disposal. Compost Sci., 2:25-40.
- Knowles, R. (1982). Denitrification. Microbiol. Rev., 46:43-70.
- Kononova, M.M. (1966). In, Soil organic matter, Pergamon Press, Oxford. pp.60, 87, 404.
- Kononova, M.M. (1975). Humus of virgin and cultivated soils. In, Soil components, Vol. 1. Gieseking, J.E. (ed.), Springer Verlog, N.Y., pp. 475-526.
- Koranski, D.S. (1979). Growing plants in composted hardwood bark. Minnesota State Florists Bull., 1(2):9-11.
- Koranski, D.S. and Haniza, A. (1978). Growing plants in hardwood bark. In, Papper presented 2nd Woody Ornamental Workshop, Univ. Missouri, Columbia. March 21-22, 1978, pp. 18-20.
- Knuth, D.T. (1970). Nitrogen-cycle ecology of solid waste composting. Compost Sci., 11(4):8-12.
- Krogstad, D. and Gudding, R. (1975). The survival of some pathogenic microorganisms during reactor composting. Acta Agric. Scand., 25(4):281-284.
- Krogstad, D. and Solbraa, K. (1975). Effects of extracts of crude and composted bark from spruce on some selected biological systems. Acta Agric. Scand., 25:306-312.
- Kulander, K-E. and Lindfors, L-G. (1976). Composiing of bark and digested sludge under aeration. In, E.P.A. Int. Eenviron. Document Report 04027A - Sweden. Special Report.
- Kuwatsu, S, Shindo, H. and Tsutsuki, K. (1977). Behavior of phenolic substances in the decaying process of plant materials. In, Proc. Int. Seminar Soil Environ. Fertility Mangement in Intensive Agric., Tokyo Soil Sci. Soil Manure Japan, pp. 731-736.
- Lacey, J. (1973). Actinomycetes in soil, composts and fodders. In, Actinomyctales: characteristics and practical

References

importance. Sykes, G. and Skinner, F.A. (eds.), Acad. Press, New York. pp. 231-251.

- Lacey, J. (1975). Potential hazard to animals and man from microorganisms in fodder and grain. Trans. Brit. Mycol. Soc., 65:171-184.
- Ladd, J.N. and Jackson, R.B. (1982). Biochemistry of ammonification. In, Agronomy: A series of monographs, No. 22. Nitrogen in agricultural soils. Amer. Soc. agron. Inc., Madison, Wis., U.S.A. ISBN 0-89118-070-2. pp. 173-228.
- Lambert, E.B. and Davies, A.C. (1934). Distribution of oxygen and carbon dioxide in mushroom compost heaps as affecting microbial thermogenesis and moisture therein. Agric. Res., 48:587-601.
- Lamed, R. and Zeikus, J.G. (1980). Glucose fermentation pathway of Thermoanaerobium brockii. J. Bacteriol., 141(3):1251-1257.
- Laudelout, H. (1977). Nitrate leaching and chemical decomposition of nitrites in tropical soils. In, Biological nitrogen fixation in farming systems of the tropics. Ayawaba, A. and Dart, P.J. (eds.). J. Wiley & Son, Chichester. pp. 365-368.
- Laura, R.D. (1977). On "Decomposition" and "Primed-decomposition" of organic materials in soils. Can. J. Soil Sci., 57(3):379-382.
- Leigh, J.A., Mayer, F. and Wolfe, R.S. (1981). Acetogenium kivui, A new thermophilic hydrogen-oxidizing acetogenic bacterium. Arch. Microbiol., 129:275-280.
- Leisola, M., Linko, M. & Karvowen, E. (1975). Determination of the activities of a cellulase complex. In, Symp. Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Cellulose. Bailey, M., Enari, T-M. & Linko, M. (eds.), Sitra, Helsinki, pp. 297-313.
- Lee, B.H. and Blackburn, T.H. (1975). Cellulase production by a thermophilic *Clostridium* species. Appl. Microbiol., 30:346-353.

- Lethokarl, M., Nikkola, P and Paatero, J. (1983). Determination of ATP from compost using the firefly bioluminescence technique. Eur. J. appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 17:187-190.
- Lindeberg, G. (1949). Influences of enzymatically oxidised gallic acid on the growth of some Hymenomycetes. Svensk. Botanisk. Tidskrift., 43:438-447.
- Lindeberg, G., Lindeberg, M., Lundgren, L., Popoff, T. and Theander, D. (1980). Stimulation of litter-decomposing basidiomycetes by flavonoids. Trans. Br. Mycol. Soc., 75(3):455-459.
- Lindgren, S. and Clevstrom, G. (1978). Antibacterial activity of lactic acid bacteria. I. Activity of fish silage, a cereal starter and isolated organisms. Swedish J. agric. Res., 8(2):61-6è.
- Lindsay, W.L., Sadio, M. and Porter, L.K. (1981). Thermodynamics of inorganic nitrogen transformations. Soil Sci. Soc. Amer., J., 45(1):61-66.
- Ljungdahl, L.G. (1979). Physiology of thermophilic bacteria. Adv. . Microbiol. Physiol., 19:149-243.
- Lossin, R.D. (1970). Compost studies. Part I. Starch-iodine method. Compost Sci., 11(6):16-17.
- Lossin, R.D. (1971). Compost studies. Part III. Disposing of animal wastes. Measurement of the chemical oxygen demand of compost. Compost Sci., 12(2):31-32.
 - Lundholm, M. and Rylander, R. (1980). Decupational symptoms among compost workers. J. occup. Med., 22(4):256-257.
 - Lunt, O.R. and Clark, S.B. (1959). Horticultural applications for bark and wood fragments. Forest Prod. J., 9:39A-42A.
 - Lunt, O.R. and Clark, S.B. (1969). Properties and value of 1,1-diureidoisobutane (IBDU) as a long lasting nitrogen fertilizer. J. Agric. Fd. Chem., 17(6):1269-1271.

- Macauley, B.J. (1977). Biodegradation of eucalypt leaf litter by fungi. In, Int. Symp. Microbiol. Ecology, Prog. and Abstr., Dunedin, N.Z., 22-26 Aug. 1977. p. B33.
- MacGregor, S.T., Miller, F.C., Psarianos, K.M. and Finstein, M.S. (1981). Composting process control based on interaction bétween microbial heat output and temperature. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 41(6):1321-1330.
- Mach, R. (1983). Processing 7000,000 tons-per-year in Germany. Biocycle, 24(1):37-38.
- Makawi, A.A.M. (1980). The effect of thermophilic actinomycetes isolated from compost and animal manure on some strains of Salmonella and Shigella. Zbl. Bakt. 11 Abt., 135(1):12-21.
- McBee, R.H. (1950). The anaerobic thermophilic cellulolytic bacteria. Bact. Rev., 14:51-63.
- McGauhey, P.H. (1971). American composting concepts. U.S. E.P.A., Solid Waste Management Office, pp. 1-13.
- McKinley, V.L. and Vestal, J.R. (1984). Biokinetic analyses of adaptation and succession : microbial activity in composting municipal sewage sludge. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 47(5):933-941.
- Mandel, M. and Marmur, J. (1968). Use of ultraviolet absorbance temperature profile for determining the guanine plus cytosine content of DNA. Methods in Enzymology, 12(PartB):195-206.
- Mandels, M. and Reese, E.T. (1965). Inhibition of cellulases. Ann. Rev. Phytopath., 3:85-102.
- Mann, P.J.G. and Quastel, J.H. (1946). Manganese metabolism in soils. Nature, 158:154.
- Mara, D.D. (1974). In, Bacteriology for sanitary engineers. Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh, London.
- Marmur, J. and Doty, P. (1962). Determination of the base composition of deoxyribonucleic acid from its thermal denaturation temperature. J. Molec. Biol., 5:109-118.

- Marsh, P.B., Millner, P.D. and Kla, J.M. (1979). A guide to the recent literature on Aspergillosis as caused by Aspergillus fumigatus, a fungus frequently found in self-heating organic matter. Mycopathologia, 69(1-2):67-81.
- Martin, P. (1966). Plant pathology problems in refuse composting. Compost Sci., 6:23.
- Martin, J.K. (1975). Comparison of agar media for counts of viable soil bacteria. Soil biol. Biochem., 7:401-402.
- Martin, J.P. and Haider, K. (1971). Microbial activity in relation to soil humus formation. Soil Sci., 111(1):54-63.
- Martin, J.P. and Haider, K. (1980). Microbial degradation and stabilization of ¹⁴C-labeled lignins, phenols, and phenolic polymers in relation to soil humus formation. In, Lignin biodegradation, microbiology, chemistry and potential applications. Vol. 1, Kirk, T.K., Higuchi, T. and Chang, H.M. (eds.), CRC Press Inc., Florida. pp. 77-100.
- Mayer, A.M. and Evenari, M. (1953). The activity of organic acids as germination inhibitors and its relation to pH. J. exp. Bot., 4:257-263.
- Meek, B.D. and Mackenzie, A.J. (1965). The effect of nitrite and organic matter on aerobic gaseous losses of nitrogen from a calcareous soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Amer. Proc., 29:176-178.
- Michiels, J., de Vleeschauner, D., Verdonck, O. and de Boodt, M. (1981). The influence of the addition of some inorganic waste products of the composting of bark. Resources and Conservation, 6(3-4):329-337.
- Miehe, H. (1907). Cited Bellamy (1977). In, Die Selbsterhitzung des Heues. Fischer, G. (ed.) Jena.
- Millner, P.D., Marsh, P.B., Snowden, R.B. and Parr, J.F. (1977). Occurrence of Aspergillus fumigatus during composting of sewage sludge. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 34(6):765-772.

Milstein, D.A., Vered, Y., Sharma, A., Gressel, J. and Flowers,

References

H.M. (1983). Fungal biodegradation and biotransformation of soluble lignocarbohydrate complexes from straw. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 46(2):55-61.

- Miquel, P. (1888). Cited Sharp et.al. (1980). Nonographic d'um bacille vivant au-dela de 70°C. Annales Micrographic, 1:3-10.
- Mishustin, E.N. and Mirsoeva, V.A. (1968). Sporeforming bacteria in soils of the USSR. In, The ecology of soil bacteria. Gray, T.R.G. and Parkinson, D. (eds.). Univ. Toronto Press, pp. 458-473.
- Mitchell, G.A., Bingham, F.T. and Page, A.G. (1978). Yield and metal composition of lettuce and wheat growth on soils amended with sewage sludge enriched with cadmium, copper, nickel and zinc. J. environ. Qual., 7(2):165-171.
- Morris, M.L. (1975). M.S. Thesis, Rutgers Univ., New Brunswick, New Jersey.
- Mostafa, S.A. and Ali, O.A. (1979). Identity and lipase productivity of a mesophilic actinomycete isolated from Egyptian soil. Zgl. Bakt. 11 Abt., 134:316-324.
- Mote, C.R. and Griffis, C.L. (1979). A system for studying the composting process. Agric. Wastes, 1(3):191-203.
- Mote, C.R. and Griffis, C.L. (1980). Variations in the composting process for different organic carbon sources. Agric. Wastes, 2(3):215-224.
- Moubasher, A.H., Abdel-Hafez, S.I.I., Abdel-Fattah, H.M. and Moharram, A.M. (1982). Fungi of wheat and broad-bean straw composts. II. Thermophilic fungi. Mycopathologia, 78:169-176.
- Muller, G. and Ritter, G. (1972). On the analysis of microbial processes during composting of municipal wastes in a pilot plant. Zbl. Bakt. 11 Abt., 127:270-278.
- Mulvaney, R.L. and Bremner, J.M. (1977). Evaluation of antimetabolites for retardation of urea hydrolysis in soils.

Soil Sci. Soc. Amer. J., 41(5):1024-1027.

- Nannipieri, P., Johnson, R.L. and Paul, E.A. (1978). Criteria for measurement of microbial growth and activity in soil. Soil biol. Biochem., 10:223-229.
- Nell, J.H. and Wiechers, S.G. (1978). High temperature composting. Water SA, 4(4):203-212.
- Nelson, D.W. (1982). Gaseous losses of nitrogen other than through denitrification. In, Nitrogen in agricultural soils. Stevenson, F.J. (ed.). Agron. Series 22. Amer. Soc. agron., Madison, Wis., U.S.A. pp. 327-363.
- Nesterenko, A.V. (1976). (Ground bark as greenhouse substrate for tulips). Issled. po agron. Zootekhnii i Mekhaniz. S-Kh. Proizrodstra. Petrozavodsk, U.S.S.R. (1976):87-88 (Rn).
- Ng, T.K., Weimer, P.J. and Zeikus, J.G. (1977). Celluloytic and physiological properties of *Clostridium thermocellum*. Arch. Microbiol., 114:1-7.
- Ben-Bassat, A. and Zeikus, J.G. (1981). Ethanol Τ.Κ., Ng. production bу thermophilic bacteria: fermentation of substrates by coculture of Clostridium cellulosic thermocellum and Clostridium thermohydrosulforicum. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 41:1337-1343.
- Nichols, D.G. (1981). The effect of *Pinus radiata* bark toxicity on the early growth of plants in containers. Scientia Horticulturae, 15:291-298.
- Nichols, D.G. and Beardsell, D.V. (1981). The response of phosphorus-sensitive plants to slow-release fertilizers in soil-less potting mixtures. Scientia Horticulturae, 15:301-309.
- Niese, G. (1959). Cited, Finstein and Morris 1975. Arch. Microbiol., 34:285.
- Nilsson, T. (1973). Studies on wood degradation and cellulolytic activity of microfungi. Stud. For. Suec. Nr., pp. 1-104.

- Nommik, H. and Vahtras, K. (1982). Retention and fixation of ammonium and ammonia in soils. In, Nitrogen in agricultural soils. Stevenson, F.J. (ed.) Agron. Series 22. Amer. Soc. agron. Madison, Wis, U.S.A., pp. 123-171.
- Nordstrom, U.M. (1974). Bark degradation by AspergillUs füzigatus. Growth studies. Can. J. Microbiol., 20:283-298.
- Dades, J.M. and Jenkinson, D.S. (1979). Adenosine triphosphate content of the soil microbial biomass. Soil biol. Biochem., 11:201-204.
- **Obrist, W. (1966).** Additives and the windrow composting of ground household refuse. **Compost Sci.**, 6:27-29.
- Obi, S.K.C. and Umezurike, G.M. (1981). Pectic enzyme activities of bacteria associated with rotted onions (Allium eepa). Appl. environ. Microbiol., 42(4):585-589.
- Odier, E. and Monties, B. (1977). Activité ligninolytique in vitro de bactéries isolées de paille de bl° en decomposition. C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 284 Série D:2175-2178.
- Odier, E. and Monties, B. (1978). (Biodegradation of wheat lignin by Xanthomonas 23). Ann. Microbiol., 129A(3):361-377 (Fr.).
- Odier, E., Janin, G. and Monties, B. (1981). Poplar lignin decomposition by gram-negative aerobic bacteria. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 41(2):337-341.
- Ogleby, R.T., Christman, R.F. and Driver, C.H. (1967). The biotransformation of lignin to humus - Facts and postulates. Adv. appl. Microbiol., 9:171-184.

.

· · · · · · · ·

- Ogundero, V.W. and Oso, B.A. (1980). Thermal resistance and viability of asexual spores of thermophilic fungi from composts. Z. Allg. Mikrobiol., 20(8):513-516.
- Page, A.L. (1974). Fate and effects of trace elements in sewage sludge when applied to agricultural land: a literature review. Cincinn. Ohio. environ. Prot. Agency.

Parkinson, D., Gray, T.R.G. and Williams, S.T. (eds.) (1971). In,
References

Methods for studying the ecology of soil micro-organisms. Int. Biol. Prog., IBP Handbook No. 19, Blackwell Sci. Pub., Oxford and Edinburgh.

- Parr, J.F., Epstein, E. and Willson, G.B. (1978). Compositing sewage sludge for land application. Agric. Environ., 4:123-137.
- Pask-Hughes, R.A. and Shaw, N. (1982). Glycolipids from some extreme thermophilic bacteria belonging to the genus Thermus. J. Bacteriol., 149(1):54-58.
- Patrick, Z.A. (1971). Phytotoxic substances associated with the decomposition in soil of plant residues. Soil Sci., 111(1):13-18.
- Paul, E.A. and Van Veen, J.A. (1978). The use of tracers to determine the dynamic nature of organic matter. In, Symp. 11th Int. Cong., Soil Sci., 3:61-102.
- Piper, C.S. (1950). In, Soil and plant analysis. Waite Agric. Res. Inst., Univ. Adelaide, Australia, pp. 272-275.
- Poincelot, R.P. (1974). A scientific examination of the principles and practice of composting. Compost Sci., 15(3):24-31.
- Poincelot, R.P. (1975). The biochemistry and methodology of composting. Eonn. Agr. Exp. Stat. Bull., 754:18.
- Poonawala, W.A., Lightsey, G.R. and Henderson, R.W. (1975). Removal of heavy metals from wastewater and sludge by adsorption onto solid wastes. In, Proc. 2nd Nat. Conf. Complete Water Reuse: Water's interface with energy, air and solids. pp. 241-254.
- Prasad, M. (1979). Physical properties of media for container-grown crops. 1. New Zealand peats and wood wastes. Scientia Horticulturae, 10:317-323.
- Prickett, P.S. (1928). Thermophilic and thermoduric microorganisms with special reference to species isolated from milk. Description of spore forming types. N.Y. State Agric. Exp.

Stat. Tech. Bull. 147.

- Psarianos, K.M., MacGregor, S.T., Miller, F.C. and Finstein, M.S. (1983). Design of composting ventilation system for uniform air distribution. Biocycle, 24(2):27-31.
- Pye Unicam Ltd. (1972). In, Atomic absorption methods for use with Pye Unicam SP1900 and SP1950 atomic absorption spectrophotometers. Pye Unicam Ltd., Cambridge, England.
- Quastel, J.H. and Scholefield, P.G. (1949). Influence of organic nitrogen compounds on nitrification in soil. Nature, 164:1068-1072.
- Quispel, A. (1974). In, The biology of nitrogen fixation. North-Holland Pub. Co., Amsterdam, Oxford.
- Ramakrishna, C. and Sethunathan, N. (1983). Inhibition of heterotrophic and autotrophic nitrification in bacterial cultures by carbaryl and 1-naphthol. J. appl. Bacteriol., 54:191-195.
- Ramsay, A.J. and Bawden, A.D. (1983). Effects of sterilization and storage on respiration, nitrogen status and direct counts of soil bacteria using acridine orange. Soil biol. Biochem., 15:263-268.
- Rautela, G.S., and Cowling, E.B. (1966). Simple cultural test for relative cellulolytic activity of fungi. Appl. Microbiol., 14:892-898.
- Reese, E.T. and Mantels, M. (1963). Enzymatic hydrolysis of b-glucans. In, Advances in enzymic hydrolysis of cellulose and related materials. Reese, E.T. (ed.), Pergamon Press, Oxford. pp. 197-234.
- Reese, E.T. and Shibata, Y. (1965). b-mannanase of fungi. Can. J. Microbiol., 11:167-183.
- Reese, S.E., Coorts, G.B. and Maleike, R.R. (1978). Evaluation of hardwood bark as a propagating medium for selected ornamental plants. Proc. Int. Plant Prop. Soc., 28:4-8.

- Regan, R.W. and Jeris, J.S. (1970). A review of the decomposition of cellulose and refuse. Compost Sci., 11(3):32.
- Remacle, J. and Froment, A. (1972). Teneors en azote minéral et numerations microbiologiques dans la chenaie calcicole de virelles. Oecol Plant, 7:69-78.
- Reuss, J.O. and Smith, R.L. (1965).Chemical reactions of nitrites in acid soils. Proc. Soil Sci. Soc. Amer., 29:267-270.
- Rexova-Benkova, L and Markovic, O. (1979). Pectic enzymes. Adv. Carbohydr. Res., 33:323-381.
- Rice, E.L. and Pancholy, S.K. (1973). Inhibition of nitrification by climax ecosystems. II. Additional evidence and possible role of tannins. Amer. J. Bot., 60:691-702.
- Robinson, K. (1974). Use of aerobic processes for the stabilization of animal wastes. Critical Rev. environ. Control, 4:193-220.
- Robinson, L.E. and Crawford, R.L. (1978). Degradation of a ¹⁴C-labeled lignins ny Bacillus megaterium. FEMS Microbiol. Lett., 4(5):301-302.
- Rodale, J.I. (1945). In, Compost and how to make it. Rodale Press, Emmaus, Pa. pp. 1-63.
- Rodale, J.I., et.al. (eds.) (1975). In, The complete book of composting. Rodale Books Inc., Emmaus, Pa.
- Rogosu, E. (1974). Genus Lactobacillus. In, Bergey's Manual of Determative Bacteriology, 8th ed. The Williams and Wilkins Co., Baltimore.-U.S.A., pp. 576-593.
- Romanelli, R.A., Houston, C.N. and Barnet, S.M. (1975). Studies on thermophilic cellulolytic fungi. Appl. Microbiol., 30:276-281.
- Romanovskaia, V.A., Shurova, Z.P., Iurchenko, V.V., Tkachuk, L.V. and Malashenko, I.U.R. (1977). Investigation of the ability of obligate methylotrophs for nitrification. Mikrobiologiia, 46(1):66-70.

- Rombouts, F.M. (1972). Occurrence and properties of bacterial pectate lyases. In, Agric. Res. Report (Versl. Landbouwk. Onderz.) 779. Centre for Agric. Pub. & Documentation, Wageningen. The Netherlands.
- Rosanova, E.P. and Khudiakova, A.I. (1974). A new nonsporulating thermophilic organism Desulfovibrio thermophilus nov. sp. reducing sulphates. Mikrobiologiya, 43:1069-1075.
- Rose, W., Chapman, J., Roseid, S., Katsuyama, A., Porter, V. and Mercer, W. (1965). Composting fruit and vegetable refuse. Compost Sci., 6(2):13-25.
- Ross, W.D. and Corden, M.E. (1975). Selective degradation of lignin and condensed tannins of Douglas-fir bark sclereids by fungi. Wood Fibre, 6(1):2-12.
- Rossell, S.E., Abbot, E.G.M. and Levy, J.F. (1973). Bacteria and wood. A review of the literature relating to the present, action and interation of bacteria in wood. J. Inst. Wood Sci., 6(2):28-35.
- Ruchmann, G. (1928). Vergleichende biologische und chanische untersuchungen an stalldungersorten. Centbl. Bakt., (11), 73:179-706. CIted Waksman, et.al., (1939b).
- Russell, E.J. and Richards, E.H. (1917). The changes taking place during the storage of farmyard manure. J. Agric. Sci., 8:495-563.

Russell, S.E., Abbot, E.G.M. and Levy, J.F. (1973). Bacteria and wood. A review of the literature relating to the presence, action and interaction of bacteria in wood. Inst. Wood Sci. J., 6(2):28-35.

Rudman, P. (1964). Durability in the genus Eucalyptus (14 spp.). Aust. Forester, 28(4):242-257.

Ryu,D.D., Kim, C. and Mandels, M. (1984). Competitive adsorption of cellulose components and its significance in a synergistic mechanism. Biotech. Bioeng., 26:488-496.

- Sabey, B.R., Agbim, W.N. and Markstrom, D.C. (1975). Land application of sewage sludge: 111. Nitrate accumulation and wheat growth resulting from addition of sewage sludge and wood to soil. J. environ. Qual., 4:388-393.
- Saddler, J.N., Chan, M. K-H. and Louis-Seize, G. (1981). A one step process for the conversion of cellulose to ethanol using anaerobic microorganisms in mono- and co-culture. Biotech. Lett., 3(6):321-326.
- Sargeant, K., East, D.N., Whitaker, A.R. and Elsworth, R. (1971). Production of Bacillus stearothermophilus NCA 1503 for glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase. J. gen. Microbiol., 65:iii.
- Satriana, M.J. (1974). In, Large scale composting. Noyes Data Corp., Park Ridge, New Jersey, London, England. ISBN 0-8155-0549-3.
- Schenk, A. and Aragno, M. (1979). Bacillus schlegelii, a new species of thermophilic facultatively chemolitho-autotrophic bacterium oxidising molecular oxygen. J. gen. Microbiol., 115:333-341.
- Schmidt, E.L. (1973). The traditional plate count technique among modern methods - summary of a panel discussion. In, Modern methods in the study of microbial ecology. Rosswall, T. (ed.), Bull. Ecol. Res. Comm. (Stockholm), 17:453-4.
- Schmidt, E.L. (1982). Nitrification in soil. In, Nitrogen in agricultural soils. Stevenson, F.J. (ed.). Agron. Series 22. Amer. Soc. agron., Madison, Wis., U.S.A. pp. 253-288.
- Schulze, K.L. (1961). In, Aerobic decomposition of organic material. Final Report, Michigan State Univ., Lansing, Michigan.
- Schusler, M.J., Schmidt, T., Cartner, S.B. and Fosler, G.M. (1977). A comparison of various bark mixes for bedding plant production. Illignois St. Florists' Ass. Bull. No. 372:4-5.

.

- Seikel, M.K. and Hillis, W.E. (1970). Hydrolysable tannins of Eucalptus delegatensis wood. Phytochemistry, 9:1115-1128.
- Setliff, E. and Eudy, W. (1980). Screening white-rot fungi for their capacity to delignify wood. In, Lignin biodegradation: Microbiology, chemistry and potential applications. Kirk, T.K., Higuchi, T. and Chang, H.M. (eds.). Vol. I. CRC Press Inc. Boca Raton, Florida. pp. 135-150.
- Sharp, R.J., Bown, K.J. and Atkinson, A. (1980). Phenotypic and genotypic characterization of some thermophilic species of Bacillus. J. gen. Microbiol., 117:201-210.
- Shewan, J.M. and McMeekin, T.A. (1983). Taxonomy (and ecology) of Flavobacterium and related genera. Ann. Rev. Microbiol., 37:233-252.
- Shindo, H. and Kunatsuka, S. (1975). Degradation pathway of phenolic acids. Soil Sci. Pl. Nutr., 21:227-238.
- Sivasithamparam, K., Smith, L.D.J. and Goss, D.M. (1982). Effect of potting media containing fresh sawdust and composted tree-barks on *Phytophthora cinnquomi Rands*. Aust. Pl. Pathol., 10:20-21.
- Skerman, V.B.D. (1967). In, A guide to the identification of the genera of bacteria. 2nd ed., Acad. Press.
- Skerman, V.B.D. (1969). In, Abstracts of microbiological methods. J. Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York. pp. 602-603.
- Skerman, V.B.D., McGowan, V. and Sneath, P. (1980). Approved list of bacterial names. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol., 30:225-420.
- Skujins, J.J. (1967). Enzymes in soil. In, Soil biochemistry. Vol. I. McLaren, A.D. and Peterson, G.H. (eds.), Arnold, E., (Pub.). Marcel Dekker Inc. New York. pp. 371-414.
- Smith, N.R. (1948). Genus I. Bacillus Cohn. In, Bergey's manual of determinative bacteriology, Sixth ed. (Breed, R.S. et al eds.), Baltimore, The Williams Wilkins Co., pp. 705-762.

Smith, C.J. and Chalk, P.M. (1980a). Gaseous nitrogen evolution

. . .

References

during nitrification of ammonia fertilizer and nitrite transformations in soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Amer. J. 44:277-282.

- Smith, C.J. and Chalk, P.M. (1980b). Fixation and loss of nitrogen during transformations of nitrite in soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Amer. J., 44:288-291.
- Smith, R.S. and Ofusu-Asiesu, A. (1972). Distribution of thermophilic and thermotolerant fungi in a spruce-pine chip pile. Can. J. For. Res., 22:16-26.
- Smith, M.S. and Zimmerman, K. (1981). Nitrous oxide production by nondenitrifying soil nitrate reducers. Soil Sci. Soc. Amer. J., 45:865-871.
- Sneath, P.H.A. and Sokal, R.R. (1973). In, Numerical taxonomy. The principles and practice of numerical classification. W.H. Freeman and Co., San Francisco. ISBN 0-7167-0697-0.
- Soberstrom, B.E. (1979a). Seasonal fluctuations of active fungal biomass in horizons of a podzolized pine-forest soil in central Sweden. Soil biol. biochem., 11:149-154.
- Soberstrom, B.E. (1979b). Some problems in assessing the fluorescein diacetate-active fungal biomass in the soil. Soil biol. Biochem., 11:147-148.
- Sokal, R.R. and Michener, C.D. (1958). A statistical method for evaluating systematic relationships. Kansas Univ. Sci. Bull., 38:1409-1438.
- Sokal, R.R. and Rohlf, F.J. (1969). In, Biometry. The principles and practice of statistics in biological research. W.H. Freeman and Co., San Francisco.
- Solbraa, K. (1977). The use of bark pellets in planting of conifer seedlings. Norsk. inst. Skogforsk., 33(2):111-142.
- Solbraa, K. (1979a). Composting of Bark. I. Different bark qualities and their uses in plant production. Medd. Norsk. inst. Skogforsk., 34.13:282-333.

- Solbraa, K. (1979b). Composting jof Bark. 11. Laboratory experiments. Medd. Norsk. inst. Skogforsk., 34.14:334-387.
- Solbraa, K. (1979c). Composting of Bark. 111. Experiments on a semi-practical scale. Medd. Norsk. inst. Skogforsk., 34.15:388-439.
- Solbraa, K. (1984). An analysis of compost starters used on spruce bark. Biocycle, 25(2):46-49.
- Solbraa, K., Sant, M.D., Seelmer-Olson, A.R. and Gislerod, H.R. (1983). Composting soft and hardwood barks. Biocycle, 24(4):44-49.
- Sommers, L.E. (1977). Chemical composition of sewage sludge and analysis of their potential use as fertilisers. J. environ. Qual., 6:225-232.
- Soriano, S. and Walker, N. (1968). Isolation of ammonia exidizing autotrophic bacteria. J. appl. Bacteriol., 31:493-497.
 - Spalding, B.P. (1978). The effect of biocidal treatments on respiration and enzymic activities of Douglas fir needle litter. Soil biol. Biochem., 10(6):537-543.
 - Spalding, B.P. (1980). Enzymatic activities in coniferous leaf litter. Soil Sci. Soc. Amer. J., 41:760-764.
 - Sparling, G.P. (1981). Microcalorimetry and other methods to assess biomass and activity in soil. Soil biol. Biochem., 13:93-98.
 - Sparling, G.P., Fermor, T.R. and Wood, D.A. (1982). Measurement of the microbial biomass in composted wheat straw, and the possible contribution of the biomass to the nutrition of Agaricus bisporus. Soil biol. Biochem., 14:609-611.
 - Sparling, G.P. and Eiland, F. (1983). A comparison of methods for measuring ATP and microbial biomass in soils. Soil biol. Biochem., 15:227-229.
 - Spencer, J.F.T., Sinclair, G.D. and Gardner, N.R. (1974). Removal of resin acids from culture media and kraft-mill effluents by

yeasts and some other fungi. Can. J. Microbiol., 20(9):1288-1290.

- Spohn, E. (1978). Determination of compost maturity. Compost Sci./Land Util., 19(3):26-28.
- Spomer, L.A. (1975a). Availability of water absorbed by hardwood bark. Soil amendment. Agron. J., 67(4):589-590.
- Spomer, L.A. (1975b). How much hardwood bark is necessary for proper container-soil amendment? Forest Prod. J., 25(2):57-59.
- Srivastava, L.M. (1964). Anatomy, chemistry and physiology of bark. Int. Rev. For. Res., 1:203-277.
- Staneck, J.Z. and Roberts, G.D. (1974). Simplified approach to identification of aerobic actinomycetes by thin-layer chromatography. Appl. Microbiol., 28(2):226-231.
- Steel, R.G.D. and Torrie, J.H. (1960). In, Principles and procedures of statistics. With special reference to biological sciences. McGraw-Hill Book Co. Inc., N.Y.
- Sterrett, S.B. and Fretz, T.A. (1977). Effect of nitrogen source and rate on composted hardwood bark media and subsequent growth of cotoneaster. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci., 102(5):677.
- Stetter, K.D., Konig, H. and Stackedrandt, E. (1983). Pyrodictium Gen. Nov., a new genus of submarine disc-shaped sulphur reducing archaebacteria growing optimally at 105-degrees-C. Syst. Appl. Microbiol., 4(4):535-551.
- Stevenson, F.J. and Kirkman, M.A. (1964). Identification of methyl nitrite in the reaction product of nitrous acid and lignin. Nature, 201:107.
- Still, S.M. (1977). Comparison of chrysanthemum growth in pine bark or commercial soilless mixes. Hort. Sci., 12(6):573-4.
- Still, S.M., Dirr, M.A. and Gartner, J.B. (1974). Effects of nitrogen and composting on decomposition of barks from four hardwood species. For. Prod. J., 24(7):54-56.

- Still, S.M., Dirr, M.A. and Gartner, J.B. (1976). Phytotoxic effects of several bark extracts on mungbean and cucumber growth. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci., 101(1):34-37.
- Stotzky, G. (1965). Microbial respiration. In, Methods of soil analysis, II. Black, C.A. (ed.), Amer. Soc. Agron., Madison. pp. 1550-1570.
- Strom, P.F. (1978). The thermophilic bacterial populations of refuse composting as affected by temperature. Ph. D. thesis, Rutgers Univ., New Brunswick, N.J.
- Stutzenberger, F.J. (1971). Cellulase production by Thermomonospora curvata isolated from municipal solid waste compost. Appl. Microbiol., 22(2):147-152.
- Stutzenberger, F.J. (1972). Cellulolytic activity of Thermomonospora curvata: nutritional requirements for cellulase production. Appl. Microbiol., 24(1):77-82.
- Stutzenberger, F.J., Kaufman, A.J. and Lossin, R.D. (1970). Cellulolytic activity in municipal solid waste composting. Can. J. Microbiol. 16:553-560.
- Sugahara, K., Harada, Y. and Inoko, A. (1979). Colour change of city refuse during composting process. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr., 25(2):197-208.
- Suler, D.J. and Finstein, M.S. (1977). Effects of temperature, aeration and moisture on CO₂ formation in bench-scale continuously thermophilic composting of solid wastes. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 33: 345-350.

determination of the hexosamine content of wood tissue decayed by fungi. Soil biol. Biochem., 5(3):321-332.

Swisher, R. and Carroll, G.C. (1980). Fluorescein diacetate hydrolysis as an estimator of microbial biomass on coniferous

ŝ,

needle surfaces. Microb. Ecol., 6:217-226.

- Tansey, M.R. (1971). Isolation of thermophilic fungi from self-heated, industrial wood chip piles. Mycologia, 63:537-547.
- Tansey, M.R. and Brock, T.D. (1978). Microbial life at high temperatures: ecological aspects. In, Nicrobial life in extreme environments, Kushner, D., (ed.), Acad. Press, London. pp. 159-215.
- Tansey, M.R., Murrmann, D.N., Behnke, B.K. and Behnke, E.R. (1977). Enrichment, isolation, and assay of growth of thermophilic and thermotolerant fungi in lignin-containing media. Mycologia, 69(3):463-476.
- Tate, R.L.III (1977). Nitrification in histosols: a potential role for the heterotrophic nitrifier. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 33:911-914.
- Taylor, J.M., Sikora, L.J., Tester, C.F. and Parr, J.F. (1978). Decomposition of sewage sludge compost in soil: II. Phosphorus and sulfur transformations. J. environ. Qual., 7:119-123.
- Teather, R.M. and Wood, P. (1982). Use of congo red-polysaccharide interactions in enumeration and characterization of cellulolytic bacteria from the bovine rumen. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 43:777-780.
- Teenana, B. (1961). Composting city refuse in the Netherlands. Compost Sci., 1:11-17.
- Tepper, E.Z., Sidorenko; O.D. and Mochamed, A. (1981). (Rice straw as the source of humus and microclora for its formation). Izv. Akad. Nauk. SSSR, Ser. Biol. No., 1:120-130. (Ru.) Cited Microbiol. Abstr., 9003-A16.
- Thomazeau, R., Ahlers, R. and Grabbe, K. (1975). Behandlung von rinderflussigmst 1. Behandlung in aeroben verfahren mit erhohlem Cemperaturen. Sonder. Ber. Landwirtsch, 192:836.

- Thomazeau, R. (1980). A novel practical method for measuring nitrification in activated sludge. Ann. Microbiol., 131(2):209-218.
- Thouvenot, D., Abily, B. and Moreau, M. (1979). Microfungi development on porcine manure compost. Rev. Mycol. (Paris), 42(4):347-358. Cited Biol. 'Abstr., 68(7):4387.
- Tomaszenski, M. and Thimann, K.V. (1966). Interactions of phenolic acids, metallic ions and chelating agents on auxin-induced growth. Pl. Physiol., 41:1443-1454.
- Toskov, N., Gorbanov, S., Tsirkov, I., Tomov, T. and Sapunozhieva, K. (1979). (Associations of microorganisms involved in the decomposition of composted bark of Scots pine (*Pinus silvestris*) and spruce (*Picea abius*)). Pochvoznanie i Agrokhimiyh, 14(1):72-81. (Bulgaria). Cited Biol. Abstr., 41(4):17395
- Trolldenier, G. (1973). The use of fluorescence microscopy for counting soil microorganisms. Bull. Ecol. Res. Committee (Stockholm), 17:53-59.
- Tykva, R. and Seda, J. (1975). Radio gas chromatography of carbon-14-labelled compounds using continuous activity assay by a semiconductor detector. J. Chromatography, 108:37-41.
- Updegraff, D.M. (1972). Microbiological aspects of solid-waste composting. In, Developments in industrial microbiology. Murray, E.D. (ed.), Vol. 13. Amer. Inst. Biol. Sci., Washington D.C. pp. 16-23.
- Updegraff, D.M. and Grant, W.D. (1975). Microbial utilization of *Pinus radiata* bark. Appl. Microbiol., 30(5):722-726.
- van Summere, C.F., Albrecht, J., Dedonder, A., de Pooter, H. and Pé, I. (1975). In, The chemistry and biochemistry of plant proteins. Harborne, J.B. and van Summere, C.F. (eds.), Acad. Press, London. p. 211.
- VPI (1977). In, Anaerobe laboratory manual. 4th ed., Holdeman, L.A., Cato, E.P. and Moore, W.E.C. (eds.), Anaerobe

Laboratory, Virginia Polytechnic Inst. & State Univ., Blacksburg, Virginia, pp. 134-136.

- Verstraete, W. (1975). Heterotrophic nitrification in soils and aqueous media (a review). Izvestiya Akademii NAUK SSSR, Seriya Biologicheskaya, No. 4, pp. 541-558. Trans. from Rússian by Plenum, New York.
- Verstraete, W. and Alexander, M. (1972a). Heterotrophic nitrification by Arthrobacter sp. J. Bacteriol., 110:955-961.
- Verstraete, W. and Alexander, M. (1972b). Mechanisms of nitrification by Arthrobacter sp. J. Bacteriol., 110:962-967.
- Vlassak, K., Govindaraju, K. and Verstraete, L.M.J. (1977). Nitrification in soils treated with some pesticides. In, Proc. Int. Seminar Soil environ. Fertility Management on Intensive Agric., Tokyo, Soc. Sci. Soil Manure, Japan. pp. 750-754.
- Vleeschauwer, D., Verdonck, O. and de Boodt, M. (1981). Co-composting of refuse and bark. Resour. Recovery Conserv., 5(3):285-291.
- Vogtmann, H. and Besson, J.M. (1978). European composiing methods: treatment and use of farm yard manure and slurry. Compost Sci., 19(1):15-19.
- Von Klopotek, A. (1962). Uber das vorxommen und verhalten von schimmelpilzen bei der kompostierung stadtischer abfallstoffe. Antonie von Leewenhoek; J. Microbiol. Serol., 28:141-160.
- Waksman, S.A. and Cordon, T.C. (1938). A method of studying decomposition of isolated lignin, and the influence of lignin on cellulose decomposition. Soil Sci., 45:199-206.
- Waksman, S.A. and Gerretsen, F.C. (1931). The influence of temperature and moisture upon the nature and extent of decomposition of plant residues by microorganisms. **Ecology**,

12:33-61.

- Waksman, S.A., Umbreit, W.W. and Cordon, T.C. (1939a). Thermophilic actinomycetes and fungi in soils and in composts. Soil Sci., 47:37-62.
- Waksman, S.A., Cordon, T.C. and Hulpoi, N. (1939b). Influence of temperature upon the microbiological population and decomposition processes in composts of stable manure. Soil Sci., 47:83-98.
- Walker, P.D. and Wolf, J. (1971). The taxonomy of Bacillus stearothermophilus. In, Spore research, Barker, et.al.(ed.), Acad. Press, London. pp. 247-264.
- Wallace, J.M. and Elliott, L.F. (1979). Phytotoxins from an aerobically decomposing wheat *Triticum aestivum* straw. Soil biol. Biochem., 11(4):325-330.
- Walseth, C.S. (1952). Occurrence of cellulases in enzyme preparations from microorganisms. Tappi, 35:228-233.
- Wang, T.S.C., Li, S.N. and Ferng, Y.L. (1978). Catalytic polymerization of phenolic compounds by clay minerals. Soil Sci., 126(1):15-21.
- Ward, R.L. and Ashley, C.S. (1976). Inactivation of poliovirus in digested sludge. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 31(6):921-930.
- Ward, R.L. and Ashley, C.S. (1977). Discovery of an agent in wastewater sludge that reduces the heat required to inactivate reovirus. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 34(6):681-688.
- Westermark, U. and Eriksson, K-E. (1974). Carbohydrate-dependent enzymatic quinone reduction during lignin degradation. Acta Chem. Scand. Ser. B., 28:204-208.
- Wichstrom, C.F. (1984). Discovery and evidence of nitrogen fixation by thermophilic heterotrophs in hot springs. Curr. Microbiol., 10:275-280.

Wiechers, S.G. (1975). The erection of an experimental high

References

temperature compost (HTC) plant at Bellville with special reference to the pasteurization of sewage sludge and refuse by composting. NIWR Proj. Rep. No. 1. Proj. 620/2815/4 CSIR, Pretoria. Cited Nell and Wiechers (1979).

- Wiegel, J. and Ljungdahl, L.G. (1981). Thermoanaerobacter ethanolicus gen. nov., spec. nov., a new, extreme thermophilic, anaerobic bacterium. Arch. Microbiol., 128:343-348.
- Wiley, J.S. (1962). Refuse and refuse-sludge composting. J. Boston Soc. Civ. Engrs., 49:13-25.
- Wiley, J.S. and Pearce, G.W. (1957). Cited Finstein and Morris (1975). Trans. Amer. Soc. Civ. Engrs., 122:1009.
- Wilhelm, G.E. (1976). Changes in the chemical components of beech and spruce bark during degradation by microorganisms. Holzforschung, 30:202-212.
- Williams, R.A.D. (1975). Sci. Progress (Oxford), 62:373. Cited Ljungdahl, (1979).
- Williams, A.G. and Withers, S.E. (1983). Bacillus spp. in the rumen ecosystem. Hemicellulose depolymerases and glycoside hydrolases of Bacillus spp. and rumen isolates grown under anaerobic conditions. J. appl. Bacteriol., 55:283-292.
- Wilson, D.O. (1977). Nitrification in soil treated with domestic and industrial sewage sludge. Environ. Pollut., 12(1):73-82.
- Wishart, D. (1968). A Fortran II program for numerical taxonomy. Univ. St. Andrews, St. Andrews, England.
- Woese, C.R., Magrum, L.J. and Fox, G.E. (1978). Archaebacteria. J. Mol. Evol., 11:245-252.
- Wolf, F.T., Martinez, M.L. and Tilford, R.H. (1977). Effects of some phenolic acids upon the germination of lettuce seeds. J. Tenn. Acad. Sci., 52(3):104-105.
- Wolf, J. and Sharp, R.J. (1981). Taxonomic and related aspects of thermophiles within the genus Bacillus. In, Aerobic

References

endospore-forming bacteria, classification and identification. Berkeley, R.C.W. and Goodfellow, M. (eds.). Special Pub. Soc. Gen. Microbiol., Univ. Cambridge, vol. 4. Acad. Press ISBN:0-12-091250-3. pp. 251-296.

- Worrall, R. (1978). The use of sawdust in potting mixes. Rural Néwsletter, 69:28-30.
- Yates, W.L. and Rogers, M.N. (1981). Effects of time, temperature, and nitrogen source on the composting of hardwood bark for use as a plant growing medium. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci., 106:589-593.
- Yazaki, Y. and Nichols, D. (1978). Phytotoxic components of *Pinus* radiata bark. Aust. For. Res., 8:185-198.
- Yazaki, Y. and Nichols, D. (1979). Phytotoxicity of different barks and wood. In, Proc. 19th For. Prod. Res. Conf., CSIRO Div. Building Res., Highett, 12-16 Nov., 1979.

Yeomans and Beauchamp (1978). Soil biol. Biochem., 10:517-519.

- Yoshinari, T. and Knowles, R. (1976). Acetylene inhibition of nitrous oxide reduction by denitrifying bacteria. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 69:705-710.
- Zeijlemaker, F.C.J. and de Laborde, R.M. (1976). Sawdust + bark +
 charcoal = "Wriblok". In, Wattle Res. Bull. S. Afr., 1975-76
 Report. Wattle Res. Inst. Pietermavitzburg, South Africa.
- Zeijlemaker, F.C.J. and de Laborde, R.M. (1977). The use of wribloks in forest nurseries. In, Report, Wattle Res. Inst. South Afr., 1976-77 Report., ISBW 0-86980-121-X. Wattle Res. Inst. Pietermavitzburg, South Africa. pp. 101-108.
- Zeikus, J.G. (1980). Fate of lignin and related aromatic substrates in anaerobic environments. In, Lignin biogradation: microbiology, chemistry, and potential applications. Vol. I. Kirk, T.K., Higuchi, T. and Chang, H-M. (eds.). CRC Press Inc., Florida. pp. 101-109.

Zeikus, J.G., Dawson, M.A., Thompson, T.E., Ingvorsen, K. and

Hatchikian, E.C. (1983). Microbial ecology of volcanic sulphidogenesis: isolation characterization of Thermodesulfobacterium commune gen. nov. and sp. nov. J. gen. Microbiol., 129:1159-1169.

- Zhigalov, V.P. (1976). (Evaluation of methods for using treebark in cucumber and tomato cultivation in plastic-covered greenhouses). Biol. Osnovy Ovoshchevodstra pod Plenkot Vost. Sibibi. Irkutsk, U.S.S.R. (1976):132-143. (Ru).
- Zillig, W., Tu, J. and Holz, I. (1981). Thermoproteales a third order of Thermoacidophilic Archaebacteria. Nature, 293:85-86.
- Zinder, S.H. and Mah, R.A. (1979). Isolation and characterization of a thermophilic strain of *Hethanosarcina* unable to use H₂-CO₂ for methanogenesis. Appl. environ. Microbiol., 38(5):996-1008.
- Zucconi, F., Forte, M., Monaco, A. and de Bertoldi, M. (1981). Biological evaluation of compost maturity. Biocycle, 22(4):27-29.

Composition of Compost Mixtures

& Conditions for Composting - Runs 1-9 *

| Run Un | it | Bar | K : | eio Fis | nt of: sh | Urea | C/ | nitia N % | 1 | Aerati mL/min | on Other Cond or Amendaei | itions nts |
|--------------------------------|-------------------------|--|----------------------------|---|--|------------------|-----------------|------------------------|---------------------------------------|----------------------------|--|-------------------------------|
| F1. | 1452754 | 148 148 148 148 148 148 | | 16 16 16 8 8 | 01 01 34 34 | | 45 " 65 " | 1.0: 0.7: | 771 558 | 30 8 8 8 8 | Unamended "" "" " | |
| к2. R3. | "A9 34 261 5 | 5 for 148 148 148 148 148 148 | R 0 0 0 0 | 1 at 16. 15. 16. 16. 16. | 01 01 01 01 01 01 01 01 | | 45 "" | 1.07 | | 15 "Pr "d("Ca | Unamended ropylene oxide) (SmL) & d9 (1 LCl ₂ (0,27g) | added IOmL) |
| кч. R5. | 123546 | 148. 148. 148. 148. 148. 148. 148. | | 16. 16. 16. 16. | 01 01 01 01 | 2.81 2.81 | 45 """ " | 1.07 | 271 289 | 10 n n a 30 | Unamended Thiourea (0. Unamended Unamended | 01g) |
| | 1456 | 134 184 184 134 134 | . Ŭ . 6 . 0 0 | 14. 14. 14. 14. 14. | 45 45 45 45 45 45 | - | 55 45 | 0.9(1.07 |)21 /30 | 8 8 8 9 9 | 19d 50°, 24 27d 60° & 29 Unamerided. Temp. as above Sodium azide (Temp. as above | 0.05%) |
| Run Unit | : B | ark | F | ish | Weigt IBDU | nt of: J Sewa | ge | Urea | C/1 | nitial N XN | Conditions or Amendment | ts |
| R6. 5 6 1 4 87. | 1333333 | 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 | 14 14 14 14 14 | 455555 | | | | - | 45 "" | 1.073(|) Unamended.1("2("3(| 0mL min=) ") ") " |
| 2 6 3 5 4 RB. | 9 10 10 9 9 | 2.0 2.2 5.2 1.0 1.0 | 14 | - 45 | | 5£.0 56.0 | 0 0 | 2:81 2.51 - | ンジ 8 8 8 8 8 7 5 | 1.3230 |) Unamentes. | |
| 63 5 1 2 R9 | 10 10 10 9 | 5.2 | | - - - - | 3.75 3.75 | - | | 2.81 2.81 2.81 | | 1. 4287 | p-benzoquinc Vnamended. | one (5mL) |
| 3.61425 | 50000 | 334422 | 14 14 | .45 .45 - - - | | 56.0 56.0 | 0 0 | - - 2.81 2.81 | 25 8 8 8 | 1.7282 1.7419 1.9068 | ? Unamended. ; " } | |

"All mixes were made with *Eucalyptus delegatensis* bark, inoculated with 15g of mature compost and made up to 214% m.c. See Table 1 for chemical compositions of raw materials. Mixes were aerated at 20mL/min unless noted otherwise. The temperature of all mixes was initially 20° & increased at 5° per d to 55° then modified as described in the table. Composts were mixed for 15 min every h at 15 rpm

APPENDIX - 2

Temperature in the Large-Scale Compost Heaps ¹

| $ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$ | Day | Probe i | Urea - Probe | Bark He 2 Probe | ap 3 Mean | SE | Probe i | Sewage - Probe 2 | Bark Probe | Heap 3 Mean | SE |
|---|--|--|--|---|--|----|---|--|--|--|--|
| | 05050505050505050505050505050505050505 | 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 | 01349140340035029130931355786590385342385742120794844251870938530 00000134444555444555444555444555544 0000000000 | 0883582493794570592179892313039451207908091029742059459078298959588 do 11112222333344455554655554665556666555555444433345555538 00 111 111 111 | 1999357047036035946874555589919082610887990099876323618729867797588 http 1993570470360359468745555555699190826108879900998763236187298677975888 http 199355555555555555555555555555555555555 | | 10890346891455679032351368924608069136424685555555555555555555555555555555555 | - 11111122223333444455555666555566655556666666666 | 199247036046803791599807685742817955148976998963065523454620275188 t 11112222333344445555565555555555555555555555 | 1002369147034489145801254465222273754447888878889680808745545518174108 1111112223333334444555555555555555555555 | 011222234555555555572889998754445454545459222222222454245424245422222222 |

•

Appendices

CMCase Activity, Moisture, pH & Estimated Numbers of Bacteria

in Large-Scale Compost Heaps ¹

| | | | | | ' | | | | | | | |
|----------------------------------|--|--|--|---|--|--|-------------------------------|---|--|---|---------------------------------------|------------------------|
| Week | Relati Urea- Mean | lve [°] CMC -Bark SE | ase Acti Sewagi Mean | lvity e-bark SE | Mean U-B | м.с. S-В | Mean U-B | pH S-B | Estima Mesoph U-B | ted Na niles 1 S-B |). Bac [hermo] U-B | teria philes S-B |
| 01234567890123454547890482460482 | $\begin{array}{c} 257252877112657724468344054173346\\ 503560367725238771126577254635444366\\ 0.5540367323872146746861559201\\ 0.55403673238721672546635444366\\ 0.559201\\ 0.554035466\\ 0.559201\\ 0.55605665\\ 0.5560566\\ 0.556657\\ 0.55665\\ 0.5565\\ 0.55665\\ 0.55665\\ 0.55665\\ 0.55665\\ 0.55665\\ 0.55665\\ 0.55665\\ 0.5565\\ 0.556655\\ 0.55665\\ 0.55655\\ 0.55655\\ 0.55655\\ 0.55655\\ 0.55655\\ 0.55655\\ $ | 2357654543435678956624547282 235765654343567878956624547282 23576562876378956624547282 23576562876378956624547282 | 32344444443544772144786248544166700190 93825544463566579136043664042642 0190 190 190 190 190 190 190 190 190 19 | 2153123543426366184971188103235 226186788426366184971188103235 3.1235434283375326576434545454 | 22921094575545717950363105013 2292212222222222222222222222222222222 | 22222222222222222222222222222222222222 | 44297553825032713683849897867 | 400000000000000000000000000000000000000 | 5855554447666677 nn c7 c n c6 c n c7 c c | 7765544456777777 nnn7 nnn6 nnn7 nn 680748532568798ttt8ttt3ttt2tt | 349888887787777nnn4nn8nnn7n n n | 448777887766666890 |

*Assays were undertaken on subsamples from about 2kg wet compost (bulked from ten grab samples taken at random > 10cm from the compost surface). U-B, Urea-bark compost; S-B, Sewage-bark compost both of initial C:N = 35. Relative CMCase was assayed in triplicate on 1g samples, m.c. was assayed by oven drying (105°) about 20g wet compost, pH was determined by a glass electrode in a 1:5 suspention (20g compost: 100mL 2N KC1) & total numbers of bacteria (Logio CFU g⁻¹ compost) were estimated on TSA (2.5.1.1) incubated at 28° or 55°. See Figures 6 & 7.

A+2.2

APPENDIX - 3

Respiratory Activity During R1 & R2 *

| Øaγ | | 5 LT 14 | ŧIJ | lnitia 45 | 1 C:N 65 | 65 | 65 |
|---|--|---|----------------------------|--|--|---|--|
| | | , | | OXYGEN | UPTAKE | | |
| 2 4 8 10 14 15 22 24 24 26 28 30 | RRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRR | 779653859975580074098894197 | 77994524331222135996278 | 8.03 108.5 109.5 100 | 4334221000121100211100000000000000000000 | 4234221100121100110000000 74609611000121100110000000 121100110100000000 | 33377990198630065818990396138 22779921987930065818990396138 2250854903961338 2250854903961338 200000000000000000000000000000000000 |
| Day | | | CAR | BON DIOX | IDE OUTP | UT | |
| 2 4 8 10 14 16 18 22 24 24 26 28 30 | 12121212121212121212121212121212121212 | 3.490328611185717545035924333 2.10211122100000110. 7.10211122100000110. | 23442322201111112110000000 | 2244333220111112210001000 9880993872549603255364990847 001000 | $\begin{array}{c} 1.1221110000000000000000000000000000000$ | 1 9729329696737098592532358370 0.00000011000000000000000000000000000 | $\begin{array}{c} 11221120000000000000000000000000000000$ |

* Samples (1 mL) were injected manually into a dual column GC as described in Materials and Methods. Values of O₂ uptake or CO_2 production are given as a percentage of the effluent gas from each compost unit. Gas flow rate = 30 mL min⁻¹. See Figure 8. :

A-3.1

.

Estimated Microbial Biomass in 28d Old Composts '

| h | Net ag Fişh z | CD ₂ 10g Urea | -icomp IBDU | ost h-1 Sewage | Net mg Fish | CO₂-C Urea | 109-1 Co IBDU | ompost 5h-1 Sewage |
|--|--|--|--|--|--|---|--|--|
| 50505050505050505050505050505050505050 | $\begin{array}{c} -0.811 \\ -0.028451226231 \\ 332.1410973567742364192446230000000000000000000000000000000000$ | $\begin{array}{c} -0.970\\ -0.330\\ 0.1.340\\ 0.1.340\\ 0.1.340\\ 0.1.350$ | 1003432211111111111111111100000000000000 | $\begin{array}{c} -0.7175\\ -0.117530338\\ -0.00000000000000000000000000000000000$ | $\begin{array}{c} 0.509\\ 2.5739\\ 3.5098\\ 7.390301\\ 1.1288\\ 7.225398\\ 1.2287\\ 1.1287\\ 1.1205\\ 1.00031\\ 1.0099\\ 9.87555\\ 4.5220\\ 0.000\\ 0.555\\ 7.552\\ 0.000$ | $\begin{array}{c} 0.245321111110010010000000000000000000000000$ | 05555472208420987845868022254784783020 836038765543211009055339553398421000 05553222222222222222222211110106333398428000 00000000000000000000000000000000 | $\begin{array}{c} 0.123\\ 2.293583999457\\ 4.115474890319964479\\ 0.13915709953487961500\\ 0.13915709953487961500\\ 0.13915709953487961500\\ 0.11100999533879\\ 0.13915709953465\\ 0.1110099953387\\ 0.11100900\\ 0.1110099\\ 0.1110000\\ 0.1110000\\ 0.1110000\\ 0.11100000\\ 0.11100000\\ 0.11100000\\ 0.11100000\\ 0.11100000\\ 0.11100000\\ 0.11100000\\ 0.11100000\\ 0.11100000\\ 0.11100000\\ 0.11100000\\ 0.11100000\\ 0.11100000\\ 0.11100000\\ 0.11100000\\ 0.11100000\\ 0.11100000\\ 0.111000000\\ 0.11100000\\ 0.11100000\\ 0.11000000\\ 0.111000000\\ 0.11100$ |
| | Biomass | °(ng C | g-1 Co | ompost) = | 15.99 | 15.97 | 22.66 | 15.68 |

- $^{-1}$ Biomass was determined from the flush in CO $_{2}$ output (assayed every 5h by GC) over that of a control after CHCl₃ fumigation and reinoculation during R7 & R8.
- ² All composts were made with an initial C:N=35 as described for R7 & R8 in Appendix 1.
- ³ The k-factor of 0.45 (Jenkinson, et.al., 1979) was used.

Ŷ

sa⊃ibnaqqA

Carbon Dioxide Output During Runs 3 & 4, Initial C:N=45 ¹

8NN 2

| bark ost | -serU qmoJ | s iourea ² | rk Compost T | sd-Azi7 babn | amsnU | YEU |
|---|---|---|--|---|--|---|
| | | ţ | NUA | | | |
| 777758815588587045855897512007999274520180 7955800210052940042875997512087 54597579672364405894042757528 61111111111000000000000000000000000 | 505095952572051594929411590958725556 49995502092747852949294825611590958725556 0759872208527475852555 07598722085274455555555 07598722555855555555555555555555555555555 | 000 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 | 00000000000000000000000000000000000000 | 7985055012256544715851462891555 294890550122565447585145851555 294845555059447585574981555 2948455555746845555574585554574581555 294845555574684555557468915555555555 2948455555746845555557469815555 2948455555746845555557469815555 294845555557468455555554545555555555555555 | 3209 0 | 242469422222222222244444444444444444444 |
| נינז ב | snid | jeoqacik Composi Lized | 1913 1913 | papua | וחסהו | ΛeQ |
| | | | | | | |

| · • |) i n i | l | j sadı | 000 | ясµ | 2 a | wo . | 1 | τ-4 | <u>j</u> so | ٥dw | כם | ,_Ô | z | 00 | 51 | 0 5 | 5 | ua | ∧ ţ ĉ | re ç | 6 | |
|------|---|---|--|----------|------|--------|---|--|---|---|---|-----|---------|-------------------------------------|------------------------------------|--|-----|---|----|-------|--------------------------------------|--|---|
| noit | onpo | haq | z03 | ło | sar | 1 [8/ | ١ | ' 5 | poy | taM | þ | ue | sį | вi | Ja | J B1 | 1 U | ŗ | pa | qı. | issa | p | |
| 58 | .39 | uw | ntoc | [sı | np a | 2 0 3 | tui | ΎΙ | (eu | 160 | pa | 129 | a Ç u Ç | a | 19 | м | יר) | ! ! | () | saj | lqms | Sτ | t |
| | 144441271344745406295842383998114609 799146295957144124422557757754 175914808445464557555465654222222 | 000000000000000000000000000000000000000 | 9007554204799999999999999999999999999999999999 | | | | 9988292982497979292919292924229892999999999999999999999 | 11842426429978341255886420126242924292 | 000000111110000012222211111222221000010 | 0240252525212462261085558621286202 879807416426526420557515462222222 | 100000000000000000000000000000000000000 | | | 64166482192881120892442488225122224 | 1112244110844800124400480499126142 | 00000000000000000000000000000000000000 | | 748455777577777777777777777777777777777 | | | 122486789012348678801234867888012334 | ANAAANNO NO | |
| | × | 150 JPC | dwog Legau | _ | | z | 59 | лu | 014 <u>1</u> 515 | sn odw | 10 | L K | ₽0_L | IST | pa 4 | pu | ayı | şαţ | ו | | Ϋ́δ | α | |

.v[avitoaqean PA bus 28 tot "inim Jm Of bus 21 = afer well sed

- Amendments: R3, 0.27g CaCl2; R4, 0.01g thioures.

.A1 bns 21 earupi9 aad

Appendices

A-3.4

Carbon Dioxide Output During R5, Fish-bark Initial C:N=45 & 55 '

.

... i

.

- . .

| h | Ste | rile | С: | N=45 | С: | N=55 | | h | Ste | rile | С: | N=45 | С: | :N=55 |
|-----|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-----|------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--------|--------|
| 20 | 0025 | 0015 | 0023 | 0033 | 0019 | 0019 | | 325 | .0060 | .0120 | .3510 | .3189 | .1780 | .2031 |
| 25 | .0023 | .0021 | .0023 | .0030 | .0023 | .0018 | | 330 | .0082 | .0114 | .3998 | .3143 | .1799 | .2119 |
| 30 | .0035 | .0031 | .0045 | .0039 | .0039 | .0034 | | 335 | .0094 | .0104 | .4000 | .2554 | .1853 | .1928 |
| 35 | .0028 | .0030 | .0295 | .0255 | .0122 | .0124 | | 340 | .0059 | .0108 | .4693 | .3693 | .2138 | .2017 |
| 40 | .0029 | .0024 | .0674 | .0610 | .0341 | .0303 | | 345 | .0056 | .0098 | .3120 | .2987 | .1903 | .2215 |
| 45 | .0026 | .0040 | .0696 | .0635 | .0321 | .0361 | | 350 | .0039 | .0074 | .3377 | .2936 | .1653 | .2045 |
| 50 | .0043 | .0016 | .4832 | .4440 | .2196 | .2684 | | 355 | .0077 | .0108 | .5000 | .5291 | .2334 | .2642 |
| 55 | .0054 | .0028 | 1.007 | 1.057 | .4992 | .5521 | | 360 | .0071 | .0102 | .0007 | .6562 | .4425 | .4729 |
| 60 | .0046 | .0029 | .9553 | .9338 | .2988 | .3091 | | 305. | 0078 | .0097 | 6357 | .0170 | .4481 | .4507 |
| 65 | .0031 | .0025 | .3378 | .4100 | .1900 | .2332 | | 375 | .0070 | .0073 | .0357 | 9277 | 5469 | 5502 |
| 70 | .0028 | .0021 | .1869 | .1919 | .1060 | .1302 | | 380 | .0090 | .0110 | .9790 | .9637 | . 4482 | . 4394 |
| 75 | .0030 | .0040 | .1907 | .2534 | .1145 | .1210 | | 385 | .0085 | .0092 | .8008 | .8750 | .4399 | .4390 |
| 85 | 0690 | .0013 | 5210 | 5/10 | .1852 | .2098 | | 390 | .0044 | .0074 | .9122 | .9197 | .4529 | .4731 |
| 90 | 0041 | 00205 | .5210 | 3926 | 0572 | .1149 | | 395 | .0051 | .0069 | 1.063 | 1.045 | .3733 | .4082 |
| 95 | .0050 | .0040 | .3550 | 3600 | 0479 | 0793 | | 400 | .0041 | .0045 | 1.117 | .9889 | .4689 | .5871 |
| 100 | .0056 | .0049 | .2609 | .2634 | .0497 | .0498 | | 405 | .0041 | .0056 | .7670 | .7389 | .3026 | .3170 |
| 105 | .0052 | .0049 | .2800 | .2644 | .0470 | .0487 | | 410 | .0018 | .0041 | .8208 | .7731 | .3698 | .4579 |
| 110 | .0053 | .0044 | .2985 | .2609 | .0394 | .0447 | | 415 | .0065 | .0030 | .7793 | .7516 | .3596 | .4288 |
| 115 | .0055 | .0051 | .1367 | .1183 | .0830 | .0894 | | 420 | .0071 | .0119 | .7269 | .7547 | .3446 | .4126 |
| 120 | .0053 | .0041 | .2772 | .2622 | .1379 | .1332 | | 425 | .0060 | .0104 | .4329 | .4872 | .3374 | .3289 |
| 125 | .0026 | .0041 | .3274 | .3462 | .1558 | .1779 | | 430 | .0058 | .0103 | .4144 | .4473 | .3230 | .3879 |
| 130 | .0040 | .0041 | 1.109 | 1.052 | .2449 | .2054 | | 435 | .0137 | .0124 | .4832 | .4839 | .3135 | .3805 |
| 135 | .0238 | .0138 | 1.026 | 1.017 | .2102 | .2024 | | 440 | .0120 | .0114 | .3911 | .4304 | 2820 | .3273 |
| 140 | .0138 | .0019 | 1.031 | 1.006 | .2102 | .1820 | | 443 | 0066 | 0094 | 3/07 | .4710 | 2035 | 2012 |
| 145 | .0025 | .0038 | 1.144 | 1.159 | .2168 | .2105 | | 455 | 0071 | 0109 | 3840 | .4042 | 2586 | 2829 |
| 150 | .0013 | .0013 | 1.377 | 1.303 | .3397 | .3396 | · · | 460 | .0030 | .0040 | .4764 | .4631 | 2991 | .3248 |
| 100 | .0025 | .0025 | 0/22 | 1.232 | 1/26 | .2217 | | 465 | .0094 | .0109 | .4450 | .4430 | .3900 | .3503 |
| 165 | 0025 | 0025 | 8454 | 8693 | 1332 | 1820 | | 470 | .0078 | .0117 | .4681 | .4368 | .2298 | .2075 |
| 170 | .0054 | 0041 | 7551 | 7940 | 1229 | 1657 | | 475 | .0051 | .0124 | .4963 | .4640 | .2225 | .2444 |
| 175 | .0041 | .0054 | .7589 | .8128 | .1530 | .2003 | | 480 | .0054 | .0115 | .4908 | .4331 | .2193 | .2047 |
| 180 | .0055 | .0054 | .7601 | .7664 | .1398 | .1962 | | 485 | .0020 | .0066 | .2699 | .3648 | .2347 | .2090 |
| 185 | .0038 | .0025 | .7626 | .7890 | .1332 | .2064 | | 490 | .0052 | .0049 | .2800 | .2644 | .0470 | .0487 |
| 190 | .0040 | .0036 | .7476 | .7614 | .1361 | .0146 | | 500 | .0011 | .0045 | .1871 | .2423 | .0946 | .0990 |
| 195 | .0060 | .0045 | .5105 | .5293 | .1229 | .1302 | | 505 | .0015 | .0045 | .2050 | .2510 | .0928 | .1046 |
| 200 | .0031 | .0028 | .4453 | .4792 | .0957 | .0986 | | 510 | .0014 | .0040 | .1790 | .2535 | .0912 | .1010 |
| 105 | .0068 | .0090 | .1443 | .1907 | .0967 | .1119 | | 515 | .0019 | .0040 | .1914 | .2638 | .0940 | .1006 |
| 210 | .0046 | .0029 | .1167 | .1242 | .0610 | .0834 | | 520 | .0015 | .0031 | .1929 | .2501 | 1414 | 10/0 |
| 215 | .0079 | .0083 | .1204 | .1179 | .0638 | .0732 | | 525 | .0010 | .0020 | 2576 | 3107 | 1730 | 2066 |
| 220 | .0059 | .0090 | .1242 | .1279 | .0769 | .0803 | | 535 | 0020 | 0036 | 3280 | 3320 | 1707 | 2000 |
| 225 | .0104 | .0110 | .1217 | .1154 | .0826 | .0722 | | 540 | 0020 | .0045 | 3421 | 3313 | 1825 | 2142 |
| 230 | .0103 | .0127 | .1154 | .1217 | .0723 | .0671 | | 545 | .0030 | .0035 | .3059 | .3210 | .1271 | .1931 |
| 233 | .0103 | .0127 | 1116 | 1020 | .00/0 | .0651 | | 550 | .0019 | .0028 | .2786 | .3046 | .2150 | .1884 |
| 240 | 0146 | .0120 | .1110 | 0024 | .0535 | .0091 | ••• | 555 | .0028 | .0033 | .2654 | .2821 | .1719 | .1988 |
| 250 | 0140 | 0217 | 0765 | 0924 | 0400 | .0750 | • . | 560 | .0031 | .0033 | .2378 | .2581 | .1545 | .1469 |
| 255 | 0140 | 0148 | 0729 | 0817 | 0/65 | 0524 | | 565 | .0029 | .0034 | .2300 | .2443 | .1499 | .1659 |
| 260 | .0142 | 0149 | 0861 | 0765 | 0363 | 0541 | | 570 | .0031 | .0039 | .2445 | .2640 | .1664 | .1463 |
| 265 | .0140 | .0146 | .0966 | .0951 | .0437 | .0546 | | 575 | .0029 | .0033 | .2374 | .2535 | .1561 | .1563 |
| 270 | .0130 | .0140 | .0694 | .0730 | .0323 | .0582 | | 580 | .0034 | .0039 | .2390 | .2501 | .1458 | .1763 |
| 275 | .0139 | .0140 | .0718 | .0717 | .0356 | .0562 | | 585 | .0029 | .0034 | .2448 | .2431 | .1297 | .1242 |
| 280 | .0109 | .0120 | .0698 | .0639 | .0333 | .0486 | | 590 | .0030 | .0040 | .3720 | .3896 | .3783 | .4957 |
| 285 | .0115 | .0124 | .0595 | .0626 | .0411 | .0428 | | 595 | .0045 | .0055 | .4833 | .4454 | .2973 | .3665 |
| 290 | .0066 | .0112 | .0542 | .0569 | .0400 | .0471 | | 600 | .0058 | .0069 | .4094 | .4254 | .2774 | .2505 |
| 295 | .0102 | .0124 | .1658 | .1523 | .1012 | .1006 | | 605 | .0040 | .0049 | .4034 | .4205 | .2612 | .2424 |
| 300 | .0098 | .0140 | .2341 | .2257 | .1427 | .1351 | | 610 | .0035 | .0040 | .3709 | .3831 | .2204 | .2427 |
| 305 | .0090 | .0120 | .3063 | .3066 | .1477 | .1638 | | 615 | .0030 | .0045 | .3730 | .3655 | .1320 | .2114 |
| 310 | .0082 | .0124 | .2783 | .2909 | .1581 | .1367 | | 620 | .0031 | .0043 | 3014 | 3767 | 2050 | 2109 |
| 315 | .0056 | .0114 | .2181 | .2289 | .1256 | .1194 | | 620 | 0031 | .0033 | 3717 | 3817 | 2009 | 2522 |
| | | | | | | | | 630 | 0041 | 0040 | 3797 | 3807 | 22060 | .2777 |
| | | | | | | | | 640 | 0034 | 0041 | 3530 | .3698 | .2160 | .2153 |
| | | | | | | | | 645 | 0034 | 0039 | .3777 | .3631 | .2776 | .2483 |
| | | | | | | | | 650 | .0029 | .0044 | 4028 | .3751 | .2716 | .2707 |
| | | | | | | | | 655 | .0028 | .0039 | .3692 | .3645 | .2574 | .2595 |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

• • •

Appendices ·

| h | Ster | rile | . C: | N=45 | C: | N=55 |
|-----|-------|-------|-------|---------------------|-------|-------|
| 660 | .0030 | .0035 | .3819 | .4028 | .2608 | .2799 |
| 665 | .0033 | .0039 | .4028 | .4034 | .2273 | .2726 |
| 670 | .0142 | .0149 | .0861 | .0765 | .0363 | .0541 |
| 675 | .0140 | .0146 | .0966 | .0951 | .0437 | .0546 |
| 680 | .0130 | .0140 | .0694 | .0730 | .0323 | .0582 |
| 685 | .0139 | .0140 | .0718 | .0717 | .0356 | .0562 |
| 690 | .0109 | .0120 | .0698 | .0639 | .0333 | .0486 |
| 695 | .0115 | .0124 | .0595 | .0626 | .0411 | .0428 |
| 700 | .0066 | .0112 | .0542 | • 0569 [.] | .0400 | .0471 |
| 705 | .0102 | .0124 | .1658 | .1523 | .1012 | .1006 |
| 710 | .0098 | .0140 | .2341 | .2257 | .1427 | .1351 |
| 715 | .0090 | .0120 | .3063 | .3066 | .1477 | .1638 |
| 720 | .0082 | .0124 | .2783 | .2909 | .1581 | .1367 |
| 725 | .0056 | .0114 | .2181 | .2289 | .1256 | .1194 |
| 730 | .0117 | .0124 | .2505 | .2650 | .1466 | .1456 |
| 735 | .0060 | .0120 | .3510 | .3189 | .1780 | .2031 |
| 740 | .0082 | .0114 | .3998 | .3143 | .1799 | .2119 |
| 745 | .0094 | .0104 | .4000 | .2554 | .1853 | .1928 |
| 750 | .0059 | .0108 | .4693 | .3693 | .2138 | .2017 |
| 755 | .0056 | .0098 | .3120 | .2987 | .1903 | .2215 |
| 760 | .0039 | .0074 | .3377 | .2936 | .1653 | .2045 |
| 765 | .0077 | .0108 | .5000 | .5291 | .2334 | .2642 |
| 770 | .0071 | .0102 | .6657 | .6562 | .4425 | .4729 |
| 775 | .0085 | .0097 | .6342 | .6176 | .4481 | .4507 |
| 780 | .0078 | .0073 | .6357 | .6092 | .3952 | .4451 |
| 785 | .0080 | .0097 | .9125 | .9277 | .5469 | .5592 |
| 790 | .0090 | .0110 | .9790 | .9637 | .4482 | .4394 |
| 795 | .0085 | .0092 | .8008 | .8750 | .4399 | .4390 |
| 800 | .0044 | .0074 | .9122 | .9197 | .4529 | .4731 |
| 805 | .0051 | .0069 | 1.063 | 1.045 | .3733 | .4082 |
| 810 | .0041 | .0045 | 1.117 | .9889 | .4689 | .5871 |
| 820 | .0035 | .0040 | .3072 | .3333 | .2287 | .2600 |
| 825 | .0036 | .0039 | .3177 | .2990 | .2039 | .2276 |
| 830 | .0033 | .0035 | .2505 | .2490 | .1777 | .1875 |
| 835 | .0031 | .0036 | .2454 | .2477 | .1572 | .1730 |
| 840 | .0031 | .0035 | .2062 | .1878 | .1246 | .1295 |
| 845 | .0031 | .0033 | .2392 | .2576 | .1468 | .1467 |

¹ Samples (1 mL) were injected automatically into a dual column GC as described in Materials and Methods. Values of CO₂ production are given as mg CO₂ g⁻¹ compost h⁻¹ from each compost unit. Gas flow rate = 30 mL min⁻¹. The temperature of all mixes was initially 20° & increased at 5° per d to 55° then modified to 50° at 19d, 55° at 24d, -60° at 27d and 55° at 29d. Composts were mixed for 15 min every h at 15 rpm.. See Appendix 1 for composition of compost mixtures. See Figure 11.

9•2-8

sacibnaqqA

Carbon Dioxide Output During Ro, Fish-bark Initial C:N=45 *

| 1520. | 7020. | 2890. | 7990. | 1125. | .3330 | 072 | 2609. | 6357 | 8202. | 6652. | 101.2 | 710.5 | 320 |
|---------------|-------------------|--------------|-----------------|-----------------|---------------|-----------------|--------------|---------------|--------|---------|----------------|-------|------------|
| 0250 | 1770 | £870. | 1220. | 7257 | 6275. | 522 | 9219 | 7759 | 0771 | 7660 | 2.223 | 012.2 | 365 |
| 7570. | 8540. | 7660. | 8580. | 8283 | 0077. | 130 | 2959 | 2599. | 6680 | . 2111. | 2.110 | 200.2 | 360 |
| 60+0. | 7600 | 28/0. | 1080. | 6860. | 8819. | 571 | 1675 | 0005* | 0271 | £611. | 1.930 | 086.1 | 322 |
| 6600 | C000. | 0660. | 6000 | 10/8. | 7541 | 07/ | 9262* | 1755. | 6821 | S102. | 026.1 | 016.1 | 320 |
| 0630 | 0150 | 0600. | 0000. | 6606. | P008. | G1/ | /86Z* | 02120 | 0522 | 1177 | 806.1 | 864.1 | 572 |
| 0020 5660 | 8200 | 6000 | 100. | 1106. | tg/6* | 017 | 5695. | 5694. | 1152 | 9/52 | 578.1 | 068.1 | 075 |
| 7000 | 8801 | 00001 | 2020 | 107.1 | 1020 | CO/ | +CC7* | 000** | 0177 | 7007. | 179.1 | #06.1 | 27.0 |
| 2201 | 8591 | 8500 | 2220 | 126 1 | 650 1 | 302 | 7330 | 0007 | 0067 | 0512 | 660.1 | 060.1 | 236 |
| 6920 | 2750 | 7890 | 1240 | 1 423 | DYG 1 | 002 | 2712 | 3002 | 0000 | 7700 | 1 200 | 000 1 | 022 |
| 9290. | S6S0 ⁻ | 7890 | 2520 | 085.1 | 1 328 | 509 | 6815 | 0195 | 5762 | 3022 | 665 L | 259 1 | 525 |
| 6630, | 8690 | 6880. | ££70. | 1 325 | 258-1 | 069 | 0590 | 5056 | 7455 | 3215 | 1.633 | 709 | 330 |
| 7170. | 8170. | 6880. | 2270. | 682.I | 857-1 | 589 | 6822 | 1815. | 0125 | 3650 | 019.1 | 865-1 | 215 |
| 0270. | 7690° | 7201° | 8811. | 1.260 | 145.1 | 08 9 | 606Z * | £875. | 2607. | 1775. | 682.1 | 792.1 | 310 |
| 1260. | 9960 | 9780. | 6860. | 702°1 | 1.224 | 57 3 | • 3066 | · 3063 | 72124 | 2812. | 727.I | 257.1 | 305 |
| 5970. | _1980* | 7660. | 6E60. | 061.1 | 871.1 | 029 | 22257 | 1752. | 6223 | £607. | 848.1 | 269.1 | 300 |
| £860. | 0620 | 8520. | 7680° | 182.1 | 101.1 | 599 | .1523 | 8291. | 0117. | 2124° | 1.823 | 772.1 | 56Z |
| 7660° | 6180. | 7601 | 8501. | 1.132 | 260.I | 099 | 69S0° | 2750 | 0627. | 8127. | 778.I | 928.I | 290 |
| 8601. | 6260. | 7211. | 7521. | 621-1 | 551.1 | 559 | 9290. | 2620. | £877° | 2757 | <u> </u> | 077.1 | 282 |
| 2611. | 1231 | 0121. | 1362 | 621.1 | 660'1 | 059 | 6639. | 8690° | 6627 | LL67° | ደ ንረግ | 547.1 | 280 |
| 5921 | 1322 | 5921 | 8461. | 280.I | 750°L | 579 | 2120 | 8170. | 8705 | 5102. | 068.1 | 169.1 | 575 |
| 1681 | 6071 | 68/1 | 5591. | 7796* | £086° | 079 | • 0570. | 7690° | 8012. | 7802. | <u> </u> | 867.1 | 520 |
| 8571 | 6851 | 0061 | 6781 | 7786 | 2626* | 635 | 1260. | 9960° | 9967* | `£033` | 1.823 | £78.1 | 265 |
| 0191 | 68/1* | 8861 | 8761 | 7086 | 0126. | 050 | 5920. | 1980* | 0187* | 9757. | 288.ľ | 928.1 | 560 |
| 0.21. | 8061 | 6717 | 8107 | 5546. | 7716 | C79 | 7180. | 6270. | .5330 | 1665. | 956.1 | 706°L | 552 |
| 0061. | 0017* | 0017 | C/C7* | 1905 | 1400. | 079 | 0680* | 5920. | 6872. | 7989. | 100.2 | 768°L | S50 |
| +CC7* | 1000 | 0077. | 0007 | ++00°* | 0000 | C10 | 7Z60° | 7E60° | 6229. | L699° | ZZ0.2 | 2.033 | 572 |
| 20C7* | 0017 | 6007. | 6117* | 1130 6070° | +710* | 010 | 6201. | 9111. | 2679. | 5199. | 102.2 | 721°Z | 077 |
| 1077 | 0007 | 6000 | 0110 CHC7* | 0200. | 7610 | 019 | 1711. | L121. | 0729. | 8729. | 121.2 | 050.2 | 552 |
| 6107. | 6617 | 0007 | 0725 | 3300 | 11LL 0H0/* | 303 | LIZI. | 7911° | 7115. | 7802. | 802.2 | 996.1 | 052 |
| 0106 | 0010 | 7107 | 3330 | 10002 | 0436 | 009 | 7511 | LIZI. | 2005 | 9225 | 771.24 | 860.2 | SZZ |
| 8200 | 2276 | 0412. | 3696 | 202 | 8008 | 202 | 6/21* | 2421 | 2012. | 1729 | 852.2 | 601.2 | 022 |
| 10802 | 7866 | 0167 | 0000 | 5276 http:// | 5086 | COC | 6/11 | 70ZL* | 8065. | 5685. | 014.2 | 775 7 | SIZ |
| 1007 | 8776 | 6507. | 2636 | 1001. | +COO. | 202 | 2721 | 7911. | 2029. | 5409. | 125.2 | 777°7 | 012 |
| 1030 | 0026 | 0296 | 8826 | 2100 | 9089 9089 | 210 | 2061 | 5441. | 62.07. | 0160. | 671.7 | 700 0 | COL |
| 3236 | 7626 Cmm7* | 8026 | 0000 | 6153 | 8703 | 373 | 26/7* | 5044. | 6508. | 7799. | 055.2 | C17.2 | 007 |
| 0796 | 5776 | 7686 | 8202 | 7673 | 1085 | 029 | 5625 | CUIC. | 711°1 | 860.1 | 9/7.7 | 754°7 | CEI |
| 2776 | 0020 | 3010 | 2300 | 8733 | 1600- | 222 | 719/* | 9/7/ | 6/111 | 052.1 | 640.2 | 190.2 | 061 |
| 1030 | 822C | 1076. | 0100 | 0160. | 2003 | 222 | 068/ | 979/ | 177.1 | 8/11 | 167.2 | 097.2 | CRI |
| 1080 | 1230 | 7875 | 9645 | 0103 | 1701 | 222 | 7997. | 1097. | 01111 | 961.1 | 124.2 | 675.5 | 081 |
| 9702 | 9870 | 9202 | 2975 | 3553 | 1666 | 023 | 8718 | 6897. | 660.1 | 1711 | 566.2 | 700.2 | C/1 |
| 3310 | 12405 | 3000 | 7010 | 5000. | 480L | 342 | 0767 | 1667. | 811.1 | 557.1 | ₩0 ₩° 7 | 103 0 | 0/1 |
| 2122 | 1672 | 1792 | 6965 | 0808 | 4548 | 075 | 5698. | 7672 | 777.1 | 5/7'1 | \$77.0 | 665.2 | COI |
| 10101 | 13280 | 7022 | 3000 | 2328 | 0031 | 525 | 670.1 | 5546. | #97°1 | CCC.1 | \$75.7 | 075.2 | 231 |
| 2015 | 9696 | 7412 | 8475 | 1008 0008 | 7480 | 025 | 252.1 | 560.1 | 204.1 | 795.1 | 661.2 | 077.2 | CCI |
| 0081 | 7926 | 8066 | 8102 | 0370 | | 363 | 505.1 | 112.1 | 000.1 | 994.1 | 211.2 | C+0.2 | 001 |
| 2100 | 0001 | 5100. | 1000 | 1 032 | 826 1 | 069 | 6911 | 771.1 | 867.1 | 799.1 | 060 2 | 686.1 | 571 |
| 8206 | 101 | 2102 | 61005 | 17011 | 272 1 | 315 | 900.1 | 150.1 | 7/111 | 707.1 | 586.1 | 260°7 | 071 |
| 7201 | 0621 | 8162 | 0422 | 1 302 | 1 300 | 019 | 710.1 | 9201 | 607.1 | 701.1 | 171.7 | 001.2 | CC1 |
| 1803 | 0902 | 17101 | 5722 | 6651 | 854 1 | 505 | 250.1 | 601.1 | 112.1 | 875.1 | 557.7 | 771°7 | 051 |
| 8841 | 1281 | 2105 | 0012 | 1 1/30 | 1 633 | 005 | 2975 | 7/25 | 2171 | 854.1 | 997.7 | 196.2 | C71 |
| 7106 | 0086 | 6705 | 2000 | 775 1 | 262 1 | 067 | 2797 | 7117 | 864.1 | 074.1 | 8/7.2 | 7.0C | 071 |
| 8495 | 2425 | 71001 | 0227 | 099.1 | 605 L | 587 | · 2811. | 7951. | 012.1 | 167.1 | 707 7 | 055.2 | CII |
| 2105 | 61600 | 00000 | 4502 | 1 224 V | 487 L | 087 | 6097 | 5867 | £87.1 | 518.1 | 152.2 | 750.2 | 011 |
| 6107 | 3010 | 7015 | 7015 | 099 1 | 229 1 | 567 | 7797 | 0082. | 110.2 | 210 1 | h71.7 | 171 7 | c01 |
| 1667 | 0127 | 6867 | 0827 | 089 1 | 677 I | 047 | 7507° | 6097. | 672.1 | 728.1 | 575.7 | 727.7 | 001 |
| 0277 | 0977 | 1067 | 9887 | 1.732 | £79 L | 597 | 0095. | 0030 | 070 1 | 061.1 | 095.2 (| 175.2 | C6 |
| 1297 | 7927 0500 | 1067 | 0115 | 196 1 | 283 1 | 097 | 9765 | 8277 | 659.1 | 606.1 | 961.2 0 | -97°7 | 06 |
| 8767 | 0485 | 16001 | 0007 | 108 1 | 1 233 | 557 | 6175 | 8175 | 667.1 | 277 | 800.2 | 1961 | CQ CQ |
| 6797 | 20% | 1003 | 0057 | 006 1 | 584 1 | 057 | 1975* | 0000 | 777°I | 0701 | 106.1 2 | 700 1 | 70 |
| 0127 +0C+* | 1267 | 0007 | 2924 | 094 1 | 1 833 | 577 | 7552 | 1061 | 202.1 | 565.1 | P00.4 0 | | C7 |
| 7927 CCO#* | 7005 | LL87 | 0087 | 17011 | 687 I | 077 | 6161 | 6981. | 767°I | 17511 | 700 T 2 | 200.2 | <u>3</u> 2 |
| 0194 | 6287 | 10201 | 8802 | 108 1 | 448 L | 327 | 0014. | 8/22. | 901-1 | 0771 | 601.2 0 | 500.5 | CQ |
| 2644 7104* | 7717 670+* | 1002. | 0864 1100° | 1 032 | | 027 | 8556. | SCCE. | 221.1 | 117.1 | 552.2 + | 771°7 | <u>09</u> |
| 1401 | 6071 | 2023 | 1010. | 000 2 | 000 1 | 367 | 250.1 | 200.1 | 202.1 | 1.163 | ELL'7 (| 2.030 | 55 |
| 0101. | 5511. | 000.1 | 7966. | 100 0 | 710.7 | UU7 C1# | 0777 | 7832 | 685.1 | 854.1 | 607 7 1 | 767*7 | 05 |
| 1811. | 8028. | 651.1 | CCU.1 | 766'' | 076.1 | 317 | 8080 | 7270. | 601.1 | 797.1 | 870.2 0 | 978'L | 57 |
| 6851. | 0/01. | 175.1 | 907.1 | 171.7 | 146.1 | CU# | 8650. | 2790 | 6106 | 0168 | 785'L t | 67'1 | 07 |
| 6886. | 711.1 | 167'1 | 010.1 | 157.2 | 102.1 | 107 107 | 7200 | 5150. | 0729 | 0279. | 2672 | 768 | 32 |
| 5555 570'I | 200.1 | 882.1 | 513 1 7777 1 | γU2.2 | C86.1 | 565 | \$900 | 8500. | 7622. | S762. | 5792 6 | 5257. | 30 |
| 2616 | 2216 | 4866 | 12.06 | 071.2 | 870.2 | 065 | 0030 | 6200. | 8761. | 7202. | 7822. 9 | 982 · | 52 |
| 0578. | 8008. | 006/* | 6068. | 290.2 | 021.2 | 585 | .0023 | 7 200. | 0720. | £680. | 7601.8 | 8260. | 02 |
| <u>~~~~</u> | | <u> </u> | 7 | | T | 11 | 20 | | 07 | | 01 | | U. |

unit. Eas flow rate = 10, 20 or 30 mL min⁻¹. See Appendix 1 for composition of compost mixtures.

Carbon Dioxide Output During R7, Fish-, Urea- and

sewage=back, Initial C:N=35 *

| 0080 | 2990 | 2971 | 5971 | -0126 | 0155 | 059 | | |
|---------------|---------------------|---------------|--------|----------------|-------|--|--|---|
| 05/1. | 7861 | 7967 | 5027 | 2202 | 1025. | 325 | 5241. 2002. 1812. 4574. 2255. 5425. 255 | |
| C000. | 7//0* | 0001 | 0671 | CZ10. | 8210* | 649 | C041, 4181, 1CC4, 1124, 0012, 8002, 0CC | |
| C000* | CC10* | 7041 | 70011 | 7710 | CC10. | 0#0 | 90+1' 9007' 00+C' 009+' 71CC' #99C' 07C | |
| 2000 | 0110 | +CC1* | 0001. | C710 | 0010 | 072 | | |
| 6100 | 8220 | 7231 | 3821 | 9010 | 9210 | 363 | | |
| 6280 | 0835 | 1220 | 8771 | 6610 | 6610 | 029 | 9191 E166 UD9 7695 166E E677 UIE | |
| 1260. | 2880. | 2771. | 1732 | 5510. | 2510- | 529 | 1171, 1212, 9322, 5882, 2812, 5774, 205 | |
| 7660° | ` 7 880* | 4021 | 7571. | 7210. | 5510. | 029 | 7281 6212 8265 0215 2607 9262 002 | |
| 1221. | 1260. | 5571. | 9771. | EE10. | 2510. | 519 | 7201. 8012. 7802. 8082. 2124. 1004. 202 | ; |
| £021. | 7760° | 7471. | 2921. | SE10. | 7710° | 019 | 8102. E122. 8662. 2243. 8124. 866E. 062 | |
| 1223 | £660° | 1830 | £871. | 7210. | 2410. | S09 | 2681. 8012. 7782. 2040. 2424. 5014. 282 | |
| 0721 | 0001. | 2881. | 6621. | 5510. | .0133 | 009 | 0271. 2202. 1772. 0223. 7794. 5224. 082 | |
| 1730 | 7701 | ٤٢٥٢. | 2081. | 8510. | 6510. | 262 | 7131. 3E02. 0682. 30E3. 2102. SE74. 27S | |
| 5991. | 1021. | 1903 | E771. | EE10. | 1710 | 065 | 8671. 6202. 4482. 9763. 7802. 8694. 072 | |
| 6991 | 1322 | 6681* | E081. | 1710. | 7710. | 585 | 4991, 7701, 8482, 1828, 8502, 8522, 882 | |
| 8571. | 1751. | 2861* | 21.1.1 | 6510. | 2710. | 089 | YOLT, ET81, 8864, 8072, 8264, 1088, 082 | |
| 9771. | 5441. | 0661 | 1012 | 6510. | 5510. | <u><u><u></u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u></u> | ZIVI. 8952. 8994. VE69. 1666. 5229. CC | |
| 6001. | 0051. | 7607 | 1907. | C#10. | cci0. | 010 | 7/61, 8242, 4/6C, 2000, 4000, 2/00, 007 | |
| 0001 | 0011. | +000 | 2001. | 3710 | 1010. | 202 | | |
| 2321 | 9011 | 7226 | C331 | 0210 | 4610° | 323 | 2000 8070 9023 0083 2093 0773 370 | |
| 9101 | 9101 | 6616 | 0031 | 2010 | 7010 | 033 | | |
| 8911 | 0100 | 6116 | 1291 | 8110 | 5020 | 222 | | |
| 5280 | 2120 | 7871 | 1071 | 9010 | 1200 | 022 | | |
| 5280. | 6920 | 6502 | 1671 | 5200 | 7200 | 575 | 0952, 7282, 7384, 7858, 9552, 8502, 755 | |
| 0720 | 8080. | 1622 | 1291 | 6700 | 1500 | 075 | 2812, 1922, 9472, 9597, 1422, 1122, 220 | |
| 9280. | ££60. | 8272. | £861. | 6900 | 7900° | 225 | 8812 0222 763 8078 6367 2550 215 | |
| £880. | 6801. | 4416. | 2153 | 9 <u>5</u> 00. | 8900. | .230 | 0422, 7822, 1968, 5079, 5408, 1207, 012 | |
| 7521 J | 2921. | .3392 | 2652. | 6700° | £200. | 525 | 4842. 8442. 2449. 861.1 0128. E788. 202 | |
| 1711. | £601. | 7955. | 1672. | 7200. | £600. | 220 | 300 1.009 .6624 1.268 1.245 .2719 .936 | |
| 0330 | 5970° | 7221. | 8751. | 8110. | 4210. | 515 | 4205, 1662, 165,1 95,1 860,1 001,1 261 | |
| 7 2£0. | .0352 | 1021. | 7611. | SE10. | 7710° | 015 | 0755. 5125. 804.1 062.1 052.1 661.1 061 | |
| 5220. | 7250. | 7121. | 5721. | 8600. | 2610. | 202 | 5725. 1.132 1.178 1.436 1.324 .2800 .3273 | |
| 2240° | 1220. | 0012. | 2091. | 4700. | £800. | 200 | 1866 1.094 1.156 1.176 .8481 .2863 .3351 | |
| 7E70° | 0420. | 1872. | 2061. | 9700. | 1600. | 567 | 8775. 8225. 2119. 142.1 141.1 200.1 271 | |
| .020e | 5270. | 1772. | 2002. | 7600° | 2010. | 067 | 2825. 0404. 112.1 718.1 523.1 122.1 071 | |
| 6090° | 0960. | .3606 | 8742. | 6510. | 8120. | 587 | 165 1.336 1.273 1.898 1.298 .3805 .4250 | |
| 7780° | 9921. | 9997' | 3026. | 5910. | 4710. | 087 | 8974. 8254. 112.1 202.2 225.1 235.1 001 | |
| SE01. | 2121. | 1172. | 1955. | 0720. | 2220. | 574 | 6657. 1887. 542.1 014.2 705.1 004.1 221 | |
| 7411. | 8731. | 0813. | 6514 | 1250. | 8070. | 027 | 150 1.511 1.466 2.135 2.004 .7657 .8031 | |
| 1711. | £231. | 8723. | £804. | 8750. | 2540. | S97 | 292. 127. 165.1 942.1 274.1 195.1 214 | |
| 2121. | £271. | °9325 | 4444 | 2840. | £220. | 097 | 9005 2725 022 1 027 1 707 1 028 1 071 | |
| 1538 | 5271. | . 6236 | .4386 | 8990. | 9870. | 557 | 135 1.231 1.144 1.497 1.347 .5054 .4733 | |
| 40Z1. | 6171. | 7E83. | 5724. | 2270. | £980. | 057 | 5172. 1388. 1.548. 1.616. 1.540. 5561. 5715 | |
| 9751. | 1130 | 57675 | 0757' | 2880. | 2060. | 544 | 125 1.422 1.438 1.852 1.787 .6720 .6939 | |
| 1563 | 8271. | 7092. | 6633 | S960. | .1132 | 077 | 2877. 786.1 410.2 074.1 724.1 021 | |
| 1951. | 8471. | 1543. | 7184. | 4280° | £601. | 554 | 9208, 9258, 510,2 970,2 164,1 553,1 311 | |
| 28E1. | 6281. | 2674 . | 2124. | 3220. | 6520. | 430 | 110 1.831 1.815 2.229 2.142 .8156 .8034 | |
| 2851. | 5181. | 1812. | 7677 | 2120. | 8020. | 524 | 9678 7898 507 2 957 2 766 1 901 | |
| S151. | 9871. | 1922. | 9627 | 8220. | 7EE0. | 027 | 721.1 251.1 02.2 554.2 758.1 529.1 001 | |
| ESE1. | 2281. | •2388 | 8787 • | 8420. | 8620. | SL7 | 002 1 122 1 788 2 797 2 067 1 477 1 56 | |
| 0721 | 0771. | 7922. | 8784. | .0239 | •0723 | 017 | 9778. 7869. 889.2 188.2 608.1 194.1 09 | |
| 0121. | 0651 | 9627* | .5236 | 9020 . | 1620. | 504 | 85 1.430 1.442 2.325 2.262 .5057 .4459 | |
| 7091 | 9602 | 1029. | 1627. | .0386 | 8070. | 007 | 7067 6267 228 2 98 2 878 1 228 1 08 | |
| 9091 | 7712. | 8123. | 2727. | 7670° | £440. | 395 | 9709 8972 627 2 012 2 268 1 217 1 92 | • |
| 2191. | 1252. | 7563. | 7058. | 7290. | £270. | 390 | 0075. 0854. 040.1 500.2 725.1 275.1 07 | |
| 0651. | 0861. | 5719. | 2408. | 7680 . | 9680. | 385 | 65 1.254 1.246 2.287 2.405 3941 3343 | |
| 2451. | 9881. | .5360 | 48E.1 | 1180. | S960. | 380 | 90 1.199 1.211 2.554 2.550 77440 661.1 05 | |
| 9051. | 2281. | 2874. | 292.1 | 7280. | SE0. | 375 | 0199 1972 165 2 269 2 291 1 700 1 55 | |
| 7021 | 2971. | 2592. | 1.253 | 7260. | 7001. | 02E | 50 1.398 1.322 2.968 2.778 .7831 .6884 | |
| 1262 | 798L° | ££97° | 1.435 | 7660° | 6211. | 365 | 7089. 1118. 207.2 268.3 2.709 201.1 202.1 24 | |
| 1202 | 1825 | 0575. | 722.1 | sitt. | 5541. | 360 | 2787 8285 606 1 061 1 7268 8216 07 | |
| 6611 | 7981. | 2042 | 911.1 | 2611. | 7861 | 322 | 9171. ES21. 6343. 4774. 7629. 307. 85 | |
| 1327 | 6161 | 5635. | 8929 | 2015 | 7822. | 320 | 30 .5493 .5230 .2977 .3329 1224 . | |
| 7481 | 1661 | 0795 | 1625 | 2172 | 2992 | 578 | V211 1960 2660 8180 0182 872 52 | |
| 0571 | 6902 | 72551 | 7767 | 9252 | 2753 | 078 | 2750 5350 1090 6550 2270 8650 02 | |
| d-908 | ама2 | q - X | sarU | q-49 | = i 7 | Ч | 'd-aoswa2 d-sa∩U d-d≥i∃ d | |

at 5° per d to 55°. Composts were mixed for 15 min every h at 15 rpm. See Appendix 1 for se de la compost tradición de compostante de la compostat. La from esch compost. La from esch compost besearch i bas *02 vilsitini zew zexim ils lo arberequet adT. 'r'nim im 20 = 210 wolf zed 'finu slainstem ni badrizeb za 30 nmulos laub a otni yllasitamotua betseribed in Alla I) seiqmad '

,

.cl arupit sec .earutxim feoquos fo noificoquos

aa⊃ibnaqqA

Carbon Dioxide Output During R8, IBDU- and Urea-bark

* 25=N:0 (sitin)

| .2332 | 7367 | 5771. | 9691. | 5912. | 6091 | 079 | | | | | | | |
|--------------------|---------------|----------------|--------------|----------------|----------|-------------|---------------|----------------|---------------------|-------------|---------|--------------|------------|
| 5172. | 1992. | ٤٢٢٢. | 2721° | 9212. | 8171. | <u>9</u> 32 | | | | | | | |
| 6072. | 2336 | 5781. | 0561. | 2512. | 6061. | 630 | | • | | | | | |
| 77E2* | 6172. | 0781. | 8961. | 2143 | 8021. | 625 | ረ ካታ ነ | <u>ረት</u> ረታ | 1237. | 2971 | 9967. | 6227 | 325 |
| 0072. | 1445. | 0781. | 9702. | 7774 | 7271. | 620 | 0165. | 2282° | 1991. | S760. | 74267 | 7997 | 320 |
| 7227° | 1842. | 5281. | 2271. | £842. | 2671. | 513 | 6675* | 7842 J | 7261 | 7COZ• | .6032 | 7602. | 312 |
| <u> ን</u> ትታሪ | 7072. | £661. | 9681. | £££2. | 9861 | 019 | 1867° | 6887° | 0102. | 8661. | 1552. | 7664. | 310 |
| 0762. | 1792. | 9281. | ٤٢٢٢. | S235 | 7081. | S09 | 2043 | 7857. | 25¢2 | 1561. | 2752. | 5355. | 302 |
| 7782 . | 0125. | 7481. | 8281. | 920Z. | 6081. | 009 | £687° | 8029° | 5445 | 1252. | 2175. | 6295. | 300 |
| 2665. | 6962. | 660Z. | 6091 | 1231. | 2781. | 565 | 8655* | 1062* | 7997 | 5715. | 8875. | 7269. | 56Z |
| 8672. | *300¢ | 4712. | 9721. | eisi . | 4151. | 065 | 6799* | 726. | 8615. | 3086 | 9629* | 6802. | 06Z |
| 5533 | 5473 | 2236 | 2881. | 9071 | 2621. | 585 | 1.183 | 2.095 | 1799. | 8789* | 5117. | 7899 | 582 |
| 0952. | 8652 | 2480 | 610Z. | 1321 | £791* | 280 | 2°536 | 2.420 | 1227. | 8748. | 2127. | 2817. | 280 |
| 8892 | 9922 | 6522 | 0722 | E751 | EE71* | SZS | 007°Z | 857.5 | 2978° | 2365. | £277. | ንታዐረ • | 575 |
| 5582 | 7882 | 0722 | 7782 | 8611 | 1381 | 025 | 785°2 | 158.S | 7622. | 7917. | S52ð. | 7959. | 02Z |
| 8662 | 5552 | 2002 | 7802 | 6921 | 7181 | 595 | £86.1 | 2.335 | .2388 | £821. | S173. | S717. | 265 |
| 2886 | 7526 | 2816 | 9716 | 8081 | 7551 | 095 | 2,245 | 909 . 1 | 0692. | 7191. | 2177. | 7618. | 560 |
| 2006 | 1186 | 8266 | 0716 | 2901 | 7551 | 222 | 770.S | 278.I | £067. | 4551. | 29395 | 5248. | 552 |
| 3100 | 9122 | 7616 | 8066 | 3741 | 2071 | 033 | 777.1 | 6352 | 8222. | 2971. | 7699. | 6762. | 220 |
| 7667. | 2005 | 2866 | 7626 | 6007 | \$6C1" | 242 | ° 2066 ° | 5582. | 2200 | 1991 | 26432 | 5724 | 545 |
| C11C* | 9675 | 1007. | 0007. | 1000 | 4001° | 272 | 7588- | 7857 | 0791 | 1261. | 6373 | 8555 | 072 |
| #77C* | 2025 | 67/7* | 6647. | 170C | 7001 | 220 | 0677 | 8029 | 7867 | 5253 | 1075 | 6295 | 522 |
| 8777 | 7605. | 8677* | 0270 | 1117 | 5107° | C7C | 6275 | 1062 | 7997 | 5715 | 1587. | 9699 | 530 |
| 0067 | 8/67* | 7677 | 7557. | 2561 | 7607 | 075 | 2592 | 7286 | 3198 | 9805 | 2503 | 7687 | 522 |
| 0105. | 756Z. | 1242. | 2992. | £202. | 960Z* | SIS | 208 1 | 560 6 | 1799 | 7696 | 5962 | 8999 | 066 |
| 5225. | 7922 | 6582 | 1222. | 2762. | 2595. | 015 | 801 6 | 067 6 | 1000 | 1905 | 2007 | 681Z | 316 |
| 0955. | 9675. | 2675. | 7282. | 9802* | 1255. | 505 | 293 C | b36 C | 4970 \$67C* | CO14. | 060.1 | 100.1 | C07 |
| 3355. | 6125. | 2782. | 9182. | 6265. | 9627' | 005 | 500 5 | 700 0 | 00 1/ Q* | 4/0C. | 900 1 | 100.1 | 007 |
| £77£° | 9725. | . 2656 | 99LZ. | 7SSC. | 8827. | 567 | 779°Z | 764.7 | 6761 | Z06°L | 2691 | 279.1 | 561 |
| 9788 | 6755. | 1272. | 9872. | 9677 | 8554. | 067 | 260.5 | 018.Z | 651.5 | 2.00.2 | 764.1 | 5/9.1 | 061 |
| 1025. | 7195. | 7882 | 7982 | 7975. | 70L7° | 587 | 2°686 | 289.Z | 991.S | 612.2 | 782.1 | 262.1 | 581 |
| 9678 | .3660 | 6762 | .3320 | £074. | 6787. | 087 | 675.2 | 947.2 | 917.2 | 1.113 | 521.1 | 1.033 | 081 |
| 0075. | 8175. | 1662. | e1es. | 2864. | 2882. | ያሪታ | 2.440 | 2.273 | 2.039 | 2.262 | 521-1 | 270.1 | 521 |
| 3685 | 6175. | 5212. | 8862. | 5882. | 6167 | 027 | 826.1 | 211.2 | 851.5 | 2222.5 | 077°l | 723.1 | 021 |
| 6507 | 2017 | 7758 | 7605. | 26832. | 8655 | S97 | 1008. | 1647. | 7.467 | 2.626 | 075.1 | <u> </u> | 59L |
| 5524 | 8257 | 1285- | 2803 | 2225 | 2002 | 097 | 7८98° | 2828. | 2.507 | 2175 | 101.2 | 791.5 | 091 |
| 0877 #77#* | 9057 600#* | 704C. | 0196 | 7009 | 3033 | 557 | .8036 | 8748. | 227.5 | 147.5 | 261.5 | 2.699 | SSI |
| 7667 6777 | 0014. | 20% | 0926 | 1082 | 2009 | 057 | 7898* | 2268. | 2,943 | 3.123 | 2.413 | 2.189 | 051 |
| 0164. | 8604. | 406C. | 9626 7617 | 2001. | 2100. | 244 | 7896 | 2298. | 572.2 | 3.046 | 2.074 | 696-1 | 571 |
| 9727 | 7595. | 0762 | 8655. | 6975 | 77/7° | 554 | 7206 | ££98* | 296.2 | £96°2 | 296-1 | 006-1 | 071 |
| 9877. | 2827. | 6172* | 1087 | 7197. | 5523. | 054 | 6668 | 5168 | 796 6 | 851 2 | 205 L | 789 1 | 551 |
| 5057. | 8277. | 8865. | 2204. | 2967 | 6025. | 527 | 0882 4074* | 2699 | 070 6 | 198 6 | 202 1 | 707 1 | 021 |
| 5644. | 5557. | £607° | 0727 | 9544. | 2223. | 420 | 60C#* | 2005 | C00.2 | 000.2 | 140.1 | 070.2 | 071 |
| 0957. | 8564. | 8795. | 2825. | 7554. | 6625. | 517 | 8865. | 8755 | 900 C | 7° 209 | 228.1 | \$70°C | C11 |
| ££44. | 8022. | 7224. | £867. | 8712. | 2609. | 017 | 6675 | 0212. | 122.2 | EBI.S | 7/.7.2 | 917.1 | 011 |
| 6577. | S992. | £234. | 797S. | 7587' | 2929. | 507 | 7725 | £02E. | 860.2 | 866.1 | 3.166 | 722.2 | 501 |
| 8002. | 7812° | 9617 | £877. | 8072. | 5862. | 007 | S799* | 9859. | 290.1 | 7786. | 2.613 | 2.683 | 001 |
| 5225. | 5222. | 9544. | E784. | 6533. | 2213. | 395 | 9659* | 8817. | 2228- | °2863 | 2.903 | 121.5 | S 6 |
| 5552. | 2122. | 7297 | 6227 | 7289 | 9572. | 390 | .1230 | 5901. | ° 5633 | .2933 | 2.802 | 3.045 | 06 |
| 1125 | 0805 | 0527 | 8642 | 5568- | 8975 | 385 | r280. | 0590. | e2e2. | .2890 | 3.248 | 2.985 | 58 |
| 9299 | 6722 | 2855 | £799° | 8956 | 5598. | 380 | £240° | .0220 | 8842 . | 7801. | 112.5 | 3.020 | 08 |
| 7877 | 7018 | 8617 | 2228 | 2210 | 6206 | 528 | 9640 | 0710. | 8561. | 5771. | 3.072 | 2.973 | 52 |
| CCC.1 | 110.1 | 760.1 | 343 1 | 571 L | 380 1 | 022 COC | . 9670* | 9910 | 1091. | 2951 | 812.2 | 772.1 | 02 |
| 878.1 | 178.1 | 869.1 | 950 1 | 18/ 1 | 100 1 | 395 | S670- | 5110 | 1506 | 7501 | 2,385 | 5.329 | <u>59</u> |
| 6766 | 2029 | 6269. | 628/ | 0/7.1 | 969.1 | 555 | 2150 | 8600 | 8760 | 2960° | 5.422 | 555.5 | 09 |
| £108. | 7272. | 9298. | 5758. | 651 | 560.1 | 055 | 2050 | 0410 | 274U | 6780 | 160.6 | 963 6 | 22 0C |
| .9533 | 7728. | 691.1 | 701.1 | 6668 | 2579. | 572 | 2350 | 9200 | 5840 5840 | 3760 | 100 2 | 510 0 | C17 |
| 572.1 | 1.838 | 869.1 | 1.500 | 7598 | 1988. | 340 | 7010° | 2E10. | 8/21. | 7691 | 29111 | 781°I | יב 07 |
| 2.103 | 195.2 | 271.5 | 786°L | 7S69° | 9829. | 335 | 2110 | 5500. | 2810. | 80Z0. | 2705 | 2852 | 52 |
| 7 .6 67 | 5.549 | 672.5 | 2.324 | 76 /9 ° | 2717. | 330 | 8700 | 0800. | 9500. | .0222 | 1865. | 2817. | 30 |
| 272.5 | 799.2 | 28 6. 1 | 775.I | 27773 | 611S. | 325 | 1700 | 0110. | 2700 | 8010. | 7260. | \$960 | 52 |
| 926.1 | 278.1 | 1.420 | £86e. | 7295. | 8557. | 330 | 7200° | 8700. | 5710. | 7910. | 7790° | SE90. | 50 |
| 9-N08 | II | q-0+5 | Ure | q - e a | <u> </u> | ų | 9-0491 | r r |]_A+P; | n re | E 9 - D | 20 | |
| | | | | | | • | | • | | ~H | | -11 | ч |

÷,

....

A~3.9

| 44 | n | D | 50 | n. | ei. | ÷. | <u>_</u> | - | C | |
|----|----|----|----|-----|-----|----|----------|---|----------|--|
| | r. | ۳. | ~ | ••• | ~ | • | - | - | - | |

| h Ur | Urea-b | | a+Q-b | IBI |)U-b |
|-----------|--------|---------------|-------|-------|-------|
| 645 .1907 | .1854 | .1051 | .1800 | .2399 | .2450 |
| 650 .1611 | .1648 | .2077 | .1978 | .2866 | .2444 |
| 655 .1644 | .1543 | .2012 | .1926 | .2719 | .2510 |
| 660 .2091 | .1632 | .1989 | .1836 | .2571 | .2333 |
| 665 .2591 | .1757 | .2000 | .1510 | .2036 | .2348 |
| 670 .2398 | .1759 | .2371 | .2502 | .2308 | .2230 |
| 675 .2336 | .1763 | .2212 | .2258 | .2436 | .2338 |
| 680 .2724 | .1903 | .1998 | .2246 | .2970 | .2890 |
| 685 .2093 | .1914 | .1989 | .2197 | .2710 | .2898 |
| 690.2381 | .1762 | .2045 | .1636 | .2693 | .2755 |
| 695 .2433 | .1783 | .2400 | .2695 | .2421 | .2385 |
| 700 .2341 | .1775 | .2458 | .2450 | .2120 | .2388 |
| 705 .2153 | .1514 | .2690 | .2754 | .2465 | .2119 |
| 710 .1901 | .1265 | .2646 | .2698 | .1755 | .2668 |
| 715 .2118 | .1336 | .2434 | .2590 | .2146 | .2012 |
| 720 .2301 | .1524 | .2877 | .2710 | .2003 | .2276 |
| 725 .2062 | .1566 | .2789 | .2654 | .2517 | .2187 |
| 730 .2102 | .1592 | .2885 | .2621 | .2376 | .2485 |
| 735 .2083 | .1593 | .2755 | .2671 | .2439 | .2583 |
| 740 .2238 | .1653 | .2337 | .2755 | .2572 | .2342 |
| 745 .2184 | .1666 | .2656 | .2461 | .2555 | .2279 |
| 750 .2537 | .1648 | .2483 | .2305 | .2415 | .2534 |
| 755 .1988 | .1473 | .2600 | .2450 | .2444 | .2337 |
| 760 .2077 | .1563 | .49 88 | .2436 | .2665 | .2444 |
| 765 .2005 | .1382 | .9887 | .5544 | .4440 | .3977 |
| 770 .1986 | .1338 | 1.004 | .9983 | .8864 | .5995 |
| 775 .1893 | .1327 | 2.284 | 1.555 | 1.117 | .6755 |
| 780 .1919 | .1227 | 2.599 | 1.900 | 1.890 | 1.221 |
| 785 .1873 | .1206 | 1.900 | 2.433 | 2.009 | 1.801 |
| 790 .1967 | .2416 | 1.399 | 2.172 | 2.391 | 2.211 |
| 795 .1847 | .2185 | 1.125 | 1.698 | 1.838 | 1.779 |
| 800 .1908 | .1538 | .8847 | 1.169 | .8577 | .5584 |
| 805 .1736 | .1593 | .9846 | .8626 | .7424 | .4398 |
| 810 .1693 | .1037 | 1.139 | .6929 | .6307 | .9986 |
| 815 .1917 | .1635 | 1.444 | 1.698 | 1.841 | 1.434 |
| 820 .1906 | .1444 | 1.548 | 1.466 | 1.617 | 1.229 |
| 825 .1854 | .1493 | 1.009 | 1.816 | 1.623 | 1.113 |
| 830 .1709 | .1553 | .8777 | .7128 | .8194 | .9909 |
| 835 .1645 | .1956 | .6635 | .5587 | .7749 | .8328 |
| 840 .1543 | .2327 | .5595 | .4750 | .5080 | .5537 |
| 845.2088 | .2341 | .7078 | .4674 | .5312 | .4904 |
| 850 .1613 | .2465 | .5544 | .4456 | .5222 | .5099 |

¹ Samples (1 mL) were injected automatically into a dual column GC as described in Materials and Methods. Values of CO₂ production are given as mg CO₂ g⁻¹ compost h⁻¹ from each compost unit. Gas flow rate = 20 mL min⁻¹. The temperature of all mixes was initially 20° and increased at 5° per d to 55°. Composts were mixed for 15 min every h at 15 rpm. See Appendix 1 for composition of compost mixtures. IBDU - isobutylidene diurea. Q - p-benzoquinone. See Figure 17. Carbon Dioxide Output During R9, Fish-, Urea- and Sewage-bark, Initial C:N=25 ¹

| h Fish-b | Urea-b | Sewage-b | | | lless-b | Sowage-b |
|-------------------|----------------------------|-------------|-----|-------------|-------------|-------------|
| 20 0/78 0512 | 0632 0679 | 0690 0660 | | F15(1-0 | <u> </u> | 4000 0744 |
| 25 6638 5973 | 0918 1042 | 1826 2230 | 230 | .3073 .0104 | .0932 .4/70 | .4232 .3744 |
| 30 1 116 1 072 | 3365 3762 | 2325 2954 | 235 | 7661 7039 | 7992 6507 | .4120 .3447 |
| 35 2, 163 2, 398 | 5395 7167 | 2894 | 240 | 7720 8037 | 7716 6550 | 4070 .4040 |
| 40 2.797 2.525 | 1.344 2.157 | 1.117 1.051 | 245 | 8246 7637 | 7517 6299 | 4613 3750 |
| 45 3.067 3.198 | 3.235 3.061 | 1.541 1.755 | 255 | 7/68 7190 | 7839 5275 | 4500 3253 |
| 50 2.524 2.677 | 3.354 3.139 | 2.071 2.136 | 255 | 6361 5/31 | 6/47 4936 | 3444 2864 |
| 55 1.572 1.848 | 3.048 2.927 | 1.870 1.882 | 265 | 6268 6040 | 7097 6379 | 3756 3161 |
| 60 1.439 1.453 | 2.886 2.881 | 1.857 1.815 | 203 | 5995 6104 | 7209 6604 | 3854 3417 |
| 65 1.504 1.496 | 2.584 2.718 | 1.592 1.520 | 275 | 5678 6018 | 7126 6655 | 3869 3072 |
| 70 1.647 1.593 | 2.263 2.202 | 1.406 1.465 | 280 | 5068 5973 | .7029 .6521 | .3848 .3268 |
| 75 1.695 1.672 | 2.497 2.801 | 1.698 1.577 | 285 | 4924 .5450 | .7306 .6641 | .4175 .3595 |
| 80 1.652 1.617 | 2.676 2.624 | 1.713 1.750 | 290 | 4798 .5061 | .7257 .6778 | .4205 .3833 |
| 85 1.716 1.730 | 2.628 2.556 | 1.895 1.855 | 295 | .4909 .5054 | .6664 .6765 | .4177 .3718 |
| 90 1.789 1.811 | 2.373 2.475 | 2.146 1.963 | 300 | .4723 .4911 | .5797 .6707 | .4140 .3560 |
| 95 2.129 2.147 | 2.638 2.630 | 2.510 2.470 | 305 | .5728 .6222 | .6590 .6293 | .4086 .3251 |
| 100 2.308 2.204 | 2.750 2.542 | 2.156 2.198 | 310 | .5308 .4525 | .6242 .6667 | .4205 .3069 |
| 105 2.320 2.344 | 2.775 2.718 | 1.650 1.614 | 315 | .4826 .4380 | .6051 .6527 | .3459 .2772 |
| 110 2.197 2.178 | 2.519 2.421 | 1.550 1.527 | 320 | .4661 .4214 | .5261 .6176 | .3929 .2790 |
| 115 1.839 1.790 | 2.349 2.274 | 1.582 1.527 | 325 | .5762 .5440 | .4865 .5609 | .3765 .3286 |
| 120 1.749 1.764 | 2.276 2.245 | 1.437 1.479 | 330 | .5414 .5022 | .4939 .5150 | .3447 .2784 |
| 125 1.707 1.725 | 2.093 2.020 | 1.277 1.318 | 335 | .4577 .4234 | .5349 .5854 | .3810 .2760 |
| 130 1.665 1.617 | 2.383 2.261 | 1.057 1.086 | 340 | .3875 .4636 | .5586 .6253 | .3932 .2756 |
| 135 1.477 1.373 | 2.016 2.143 | .9603 .8993 | 345 | .4797 .4351 | .6544 .6373 | .3783 .2611 |
| 140 1.596 1.685 | 2.109 1.948 | .9969 .9511 | 350 | .4117 .3627 | .7648 .6367 | .3646 .2522 |
| 145 1.669 1.766 | 2.117 2.258 | 1.435 1.455 | 355 | .3571 .2147 | 1.261 .5697 | .3548 .2278 |
| 150 1.814 1.759 | 2.412 2.205 | 1.455 1.526 | 360 | .2579 .2002 | 1.421 .4237 | .3518 .2284 |
| | 2.723 1.743 | 1.459 1.444 | 365 | .2032 .1789 | 1.618 .5235 | .3542 .2397 |
| | 2.830 1.707 | .8223 .9039 | 370 | .1807 .1669 | 1.755 .4443 | .3349 .2477 |
| 103 1.004 1.327 2 | 2.143 1.407 1 027 1 700 | .1230 .0014 | 375 | .1678 .1488 | 1.765 .5404 | .3518 .2861 |
| 170 1.405 1.400 | 1.027 1.700 | 6120 7170 | 380 | .1737 .1460 | 1.564 .6057 | .3584 .2555 |
| 175 1.205 1.305 | 1 329 9584 | 5/30 6367 | 385 | .1613 .1255 | .9088 .6943 | .3762 .2641 |
| 185 1 350 1 /13 1 | 1 623 1 496 | 5320 6210 | 390 | .1355 .1146 | .9387 .7839 | .4410 .3069 |
| 100 1 430 1 476 1 | 1.025 1.450 | 6105 6403 | 395 | .0797 .0889 | .8560 .7366 | .4137 .3051 |
| 195 1 320 1 318 1 | 1 739 1 764 | 5683 5802 | 400 | .0734 .0696 | .8352 .7120 | .3982 .3048 |
| 200 1 211 70/2 | 1 /33 1 /04 | 5166 3679 | 405 | .0704 .0370 | .5917 .4967 | .3022 .2299 |
| 205 1 065 7812 1 | 1 351 1 067 | 4648 4720 | 410 | .0455 .0430 | .5512 .5985 | .3364 .2546 |
| 210 8425 7251 1 | | 4345 4446 | 415 | .0536 .0446 | .5478 .6088 | .3524 .2513 |
| 215 7612 7072 | 9128 7194 | 4845 4158 | 420 | .0601 .0410 | .4967 .5945 | .3393 .2492 |
| 220 .6253 6289 | 8617 6493 | 4865 4155 | 425 | .0554 .0382 | .5079 .5854 | .3444 .2632 |
| 225 .6046 .6391 | 7217 5498 | 5427 4485 | 430 | .0970 .0458 | .5101 .5415 | .3533 .2626 |
| 220 .0040 .0091 . | | | 435 | .1967 .1484 | .5444 .6137 | .3322 .2644 |

¹ Samples (1 mL) were injected automatically into a dual column GC as described in Materials and Methods. Values of CD₂ production are given as mg CD₂ g⁻¹ compost h⁻¹ from each compost unit. Gas flow rate = 20 mL min⁻¹. The temperature of all mixes was initially 20° and increased at 5° per d to 55°. Composts were mixed for 15 min every h at 15 rpm See Appendix 1 for composition of compost mixtures. See Figure 16

A-3.10

APPENDIX - 4

MDISTURE, pH, NITROGEN LEVELS, CMCase ACTIVITY, HUMIFICATION INDICES AND WEIGHT LOSSES DURING COMPOSTING:

R1 & R2.) Fish-bark of Initial C:N 45 and 65, Unamended. ¹

| Treatment C:N % N (Initial) Initial Weight | 45 1.0771 179.01 | 45 1.0771 179.01 | 45 1.0771 179.01 | 65 0.7658 171.34 | 65 0.7658 171.34 | 65 0.7658 171.34 |
|---|---|--|--|---|--|---|
| Day 2 R1 m.c. ² PH ³ Compost NH ₄ *-N ⁴ Compost NDx ⁻ -N ⁴ CMCase Activity ^D P ₂ D ₄ Index ⁶ E _{440/660} ⁶ | 227.45 216.34 4.3 0.10 0.25 26.44 26.71 2.62 4.01 3.79 | 189.64 189.37 4.4 0.08 0.355 0.28 29.35 29.35 2.95 3.664 | 194.67200.014.44.50.090.300.3129.6622.753.303.203.843.56 | 210.78 218.34 4.0 4.1 0.13 0.26 0.23 59.41 58.85 3.46 3.94 1.84 1.66 | 216.31 187.49 4.0 0.15 0.15 0.24 0.30 58.56 59.47 4.25 3.65 2.33 2.07 | 200.47 220.72 4.1 4.0 0.14 0.28 0.25 61.86 59 3.55 4.75 2.00 2.00 |
| Day 4 M.C. pH Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost NOx ⁻ -N CMCase Activity P ₂ O ₄ Index E _{440/660} | 226.17 216.54 6.8 0.28 0.20 0.25 0.25 50.80 54.83 4.86 5.14 3.59 | 190.11 184.61 6.5 6.6 0.37 0.27 0.28 57.83 51.22 4.79 5.41 3.94 3.66 | 203.16 215.32 6.5 0.31 0.27 55.90 50.45 5.63 5.43 5.47 3.69 4.01 | 210.47 189.04 5.8 5.7 0.27 0.30 1.26 69.32 4.09 4.71 3.78 3.42 | $\begin{array}{c} 216.67\\ 195.46\\ 6.3\\ 5.6\\ 0.22\\ 0.30\\ 1.21\\ 1.29\\ 64.21\\ 4.93\\ 4.57\\ 3.56\\ 4.04 \end{array}$ | 213.44 206.58 6.0 0.27 0.31 1.27 67.57 69.18 4.10 3.67 4.03 |
| Day 6 m.C. pH Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost NOx ⁻ -N CMCase Activity P ₂ O ₄ Index E ₄₄₀₇₀₆₀ | 227.98 178.65 6.5 0.40 1.98 2.09 45.22 48.65 4.22 4.78 4.78 2.68 | 200.42 186.34 6.9 0.32 0.37 1.86 2.00 50.10 46.50 4.99 4.71 2.41 2.49 | 187.69 200.34 7.1 7.1 0.38 0.46 2.02 1.93 48.91 47.72 4.08 4.52 2.99 3.31 | 209.77 178.36 5.9 6.1 0.26 0.29 1.02 2.00 74.31 69.04 6.22 4.28 3.78 3.62 | 210.47 172.89 6.2 5.8 0.32 0.30 1.39 1.18 78.10 69.31 5.91 5.59 3.556 2.74 | 207.55 195.06 6.0 0.27 0.26 1.26 1.26 5.22 5.67 3.00 2.80 |
| Day 8 m.c. pH Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost NOx ⁻ -N CMCase Activity P ₂ O ₄ Index E440/E660 | 216.32 200.45 7.8 0.32 0.39 2.80 2.41 57.20 61.57 4.63 4.47 3.59 | 200.44 189.30 7.6 7.6 0.30 2.76 2.36 61.57 55.73 4.23 4.37 3.66 | 212.51 207.61 7.6 7.3 0.35 0.30 2.40 2.43 59.50 58.94 4.59 4.21 3.58 3.72 | 198.93 200.14 6.4 0.29 0.30 2.00 1.92 55.80 52.55 6.00 6.20 3.22 3.08 | 204.68 200.33 6.2 6.3 0.35 0.32 0.99 1.98 51.57 55.21 5.98 6.62 3.17 3.83 | 200.33 220.17 6.4 0.25 0.35 0.97 1.98 57.20 59.47 6.50 6.90 3.26 3.04 |
| Day 10 m.c. pH Compost NH ₄ *-N Compost NDx ⁻ -N CMCase Activity P2D4 Index E440/660 | 204.38 200.48 7.5 7.3 0.29 1.72 1.86 60.30 65.51 3.63 3.65 9 | 196.78 204.36 7.4 7.5 0.29 .0.32 1.89 1.79 62.33 62.33 62.33 3.47 3.84 3.64 | 200.47 217.09 7.4 7.5 0.37 1.83 79 59.70 60.98 3.58 3.58 3.58 3.72 | $\begin{array}{c} 196.53\\ 204.06\\ 6.0\\ 6.21\\ 1.03\\ 1.03\\ 44.50\\ 45.61\\ 5.19\\ 3.08\\ $ | 214.36 210.47 5.8 6.1 0.21 1.03 1.06 45.00 39.11 5.12 6.18 3.17 3.83 | 204.08 230.78 6.0 6.3 0.24 1.26 43.50 41.405 43.50 41.405 5.36 3.26 |

١

A-4,1

Appendices

A-4.2

| · - | | | | | | |
|--|------------------------|------------------------|------------------------|------------------------|------------------------|------------------------|
| Treatment C:N % N (Initial) Initial Weight | 45 1.0771 179.01 | 45 1.0771 179.01 | 45 1.0771 179.01 | 65 0.7658 171.34 | 65 0.7658 171.34 | 65 0.7658 171.34 |
| Day 12 | 187.33 | 226.47 | 220.34 | 179.68 | 196.07 | 230.47 |
| nH | 188.47 | 215.04 | 230.47 | 213.89 | 214.67 | 231.03 |
| Compost NH.++N | 6.9 0.30 | 7.2 | 6.9 | 6.5 | 6.8 0.27 | 6.6 |
| Compost NOxN | 0.30 1.62 | 0.30 1.66 | 0.28 1.63 | 0.29 0.89 | 0.28 0.94 | 0.27 |
| CMCase Artivity | 1.62 | 1.70 | 1.71 | 0.93 | 0.91 | 0.92 |
| Pafla Index | 62.56 | 62.60 | 66.41 | 46.22 | 40.50 | 40.51 |
| Francis | 3.44 | 5.72 | 5.94 | 3.74 | 3.85 | 3.33 |
| av 14 | 1.93 | 2.53 | 2.41 | 1.30 | 1.44 | 1.22 |
| A.C. | 212.55 | 213.69 | 220.04 | 215.34 | 206.31 | 228.47 |
| рH | 7.2 | 6.8 | 6.8 | 6.4 | 5.7 | 6.3 |
| Compost NH ₄ +-N | 0.26 | 0.25 | 0.25 | 0.19 | 0.21 | 0.19 |
| Compost NOxN | 1.20 | 1.22 | 1.20 | 0.86 | 0.89 | 0.88 |
| CMCase Activity | 63.40 | 61.53 | 68.60 | 41.22 | 45.40 | 42.90 |
| P _z O ₄ Index | 4.62 | 4.36 | 3.99 | 3.12 | ¥0.50 3.53 | 2.87 |
| E440/660 | 2.60 | 3.18 | 2.55 | 6.12 | 5.57 4.54 | 7.00 |
| ay 16 | 100 44 | 210.0/ | 2.33 | 7.40 | 7.38 | 7.00 |
| 69 • L • | 205.65 | 223.01 | 213.48 | 206.35 | 214.70 | 223.45 |
| | 7.1 | 7.1 | 7.5 | 6.1 | 6.2 | 6.7 |
| Compost NN4*-N | 0.21 | 0.20 | 0.20 | 0.21 | 0.14 | 0.20 |
| LOMPOST NUX-N | 1.85 | 1.98 | 1.83 | 0.46 | 0.47 | 0.48 |
| UNLASE ACTIVITY | 72.15 | 79.81 | 70.33 74.78 | 46.61 | 50.22 | 48.97 57.23 |
| P2U ₄ Index | 3.99 | 3.98 3.42 | 3.78 4.12 | 3.61 3.49 | 3.55 | 3.06 3.54 |
| E440/660 | 3.99 0.71 | 3.98 0.72 | 3.78 | 3.61 1.09 | 3.55 1.15 | 3.06 1.64 |
| ay 18 m.c. | 200.53 | 218.46 | 216.07 | 223.46 | 208.96 | 214.07 |
| рН | 198.45 7.1 | 200.46 6.8 | 216.89 7.0 | 226.30 6.9 | 236.14 | 233.89 6.8 |
| Compost NH4+-N | 6.7 0.22 | 6.8 0.24 | 7.2 | 6.6 0.15 | 6.7 0,16 | 7.0 0.16 |
| Compost NOxN | 0.24 0.83 | 0.23 0.81 | 0.24 0.83 | 0.16 0.42 | 0.15 0.41 | 0.14 0.44 |
| CMCase Activity | 0.86 79.32 | 0.86 80.32 | 0.82 77.63 | 0.42 | 0.41 59.33 | 0.42 60.18 |
| P20. Index | 83.15 3.78 | 70.20 | 82.36 | 60.21 3.46 | 59,46 3,55 | 61.36 3.61 |
| EAAD/AAD | 3,42 | 3.84 | 3.68 | 3.64 | 3.05 | 3.59 |
| 20 | 1.75 | 1.57 | 1.83 | 1.20 | 0.91 | 0.85 |
| ay 20 m.c. | 204.38 | 230.14 | 223.78 | 189.64 | 201.04 | 224.78 |
| рH | 6.9 | 6.4 | 233.33 | 6.5 | 6.1 | 6.4 |
| Compost NH4+-N~ | 0.14 | 0.24 | 0.51 | 0.17 | 0.16 | 0.17 |
| Compost NOxN | 0.84 | 0.83 | 0.26 | 0.41 | 0.42 | 0.42 |
| CMCase Activity | 65.20 | 70.00 | 69.30 | 56.55 | 59.44 | 57.91 |
| P₂0₄ Index | 3.99 | 4.15 | 69.44 3.22 | 58.54 3.45 | 3.56 | 3.00 |
| E440/660 | 3.81 | 4.55 | 3.08 | 3.35 | 3.34 | 3.20 0.85 |
| ay 22 | 1.53 | 3.32 | 1.44 | 0.94 | 1.10 | 0.45 |
| m.C. | 186.37 | 185.66 236.38 | 223.14 224.67 | 221.77 193.87 | 235.69 207.89 | 230.14 218.32 |
| рH | 6.4 | 6.0 6.9 | 6.7 6.8 | 6.2 6.4 | 5.9 | 6.6 6.5 |
| Compost NH ₄ +-N | 0.21 0.14 | 0.20 0.12 | 0.20 0.13 | 0.18 0.14 | 0.20 | 0.19 0.17 |
| Compost NOxN | 2.69 | 2.76 2.77 | 2.74 2.67 | 0.61 0.63 | 0.62 0.63 | $0.61 \\ 0.61$ |
| CMCase Activity | 88.43 86.33 | 89.07 87.42 | 86.73 84.64 | 60.47 59.04 | 61.89 59.44 | 62.05 59.73 |
| P20. Index | 4.18 4.37 | 4.75 | 4.92 | 6.01 5.45 | 5.64 | 5.04 5.64 |
| E440/660 | 1.92 | 2.04 | 2.30 | 1.66 | 1.46 | 1.39 |
| • | | | | | | |

Continued....

| Treatment % N (Init Initial W | C:N ial) leight | 45 1.0771 179.01 | 45 1.0771 179.01 | 45 1.0771 179.01 | 65 0.7658 171.34 | 65 0.7658 171.34 | 65 0.7658 171.34 |
|---|---|--|--|--|---|--|---|
| Day 26 m.c. pH Comp Comp CMCa P ₂ O ₄ E ₄₄₀ | ost NH₄+-N ost NOx N se Activity Index ∕é⇔o | 215.66 216.45 6.6 0.20 0.19 2.95 2.95 86.73 85.71 5.00 4.50 1.44 1.75 | 217.94 216.87 6.5 6.9 0.19 0.22 2.94 2.94 2.94 2.94 85.71 87.79 5.06 4.74 1.68 1.64 | 216.31 236.54 6.7 7.0 0.22 0.18 2.94 2.91 84.74 83.51 5.50 4.70 1.88 2.06 | 223.16 216.78 6.6 0.14 0.16 0.89 0.89 53.86 51.48 4.66 4.04 1.22 1.41 | 230.04 223.65 6.3 6.7 0.13 0.14 0.80 0.89 52.84 58.94 4.06 3.84 1.36 1.34 | 227.31 204.72 6.5 0.15 0.13 0.84 0.84 56.47 57.99 4.57 4.33 1.42 1.30 |
| Day 30 m.c. pH Comp Comp CMCa: P204 E440 | ost NH4+-N ost NOx ⁻ -N se Activity Index /000 | 210.09 224.09 6.2 6.0 0.30 0.26 2.90 2.81 82.85 87.35 3.62 3.62 1.31 1.76 | 215.31 210.47 6.1. 6.5 0.28 2.96 3.00 84.73 57.44 3.02 3.37 1.23 1.01 | 216.21 223.95 6.4 6.6 0.28 0.27 3.00 2.91 B6.48 B1.42 3.00 2.42 1.09 1.38 | 217.88 203.04 6.0 0.22 0.85 0.85 56.47 49.88 6.37 6.97 2.06 1.84 | 216.19 195.7 6.0 0.22 0.89 0.85 58.57 50.71 6.49 1.64 | 225.34 207.65 6.2 0.24 0.84 0.84 49.58 51.07 6.20 2.23 |

See Appendix 1 for composition of compost mixes & composting conditions. See Table 4 for the chemical composition of raw materials.

² The % moisture (m.c.) was determined on 5g samples after drying at 105* 24h.

³ The pH was determined on a 1:5 suspension in 2N KCl.

 $^{\bullet}$ Determined by steam distillation on the 2N KCl extracts (mg g^- compost). NO_x-N = NO_2^- + NO_3^-.

Percent reduction in viscosity of NaCMC g⁻¹ compost h⁻¹.

^a Humification was assayed by absorbance in 0.025M Na₄P₂O₄ extracts at 550nm and the ratio of absorbance at 440 and 660 nm.

| R2.) P | ercentage | Weight | Losses | of | Compost | Components.1 |
|--------|-----------|--------|--------|----|---------|--------------|
|--------|-----------|--------|--------|----|---------|--------------|

| Component . | _ | C:N=45 | | | | C:N=65 | | |
|--|--|---|---|--|--|--|---|---|
| | Rep 1 | Rep 2 | Rep 3 | (SE) | Rep 1 | Rep 2 | Rep 3 | 5 (SE) |
| Ash Cellulose Hemicellulose Lignin Lipid Protein Soluble Carbohydrate Total Weight CD ₂ -C ² | 3.17 26.71 31.28 0.54 86.66 5.34 94.69 24.24 13.19 | 4.90 25.51 32.89 0.64 85.11 10.34 94.75 24.68 12.52 | 4.32 26.92 30.07 0.34 84.10 11.90 94.13 24.33 12.64 | (0.51) (0.44) (0.82) (0.10) (0.74) (1.98) (0.20) (0.13) (0.21) | 2.72 7.00 18.04 2.98 87.37 0.14 90.94 14.37 6.16 | 2.45 6.26 19.29 3.27 83.74 0.65 86.40 14.30 6.28 6 | 2.99 6.76 16.49 4.55 86.87 0.52 91.77 14.18 .51 (0. | (0.16) (0.22) (0.81) (0.48) (1.47) (0.15) (1.67) (0.06) 10) |

¹ Components were determined by proximate analysis (Allen, 1974) and losses shown are percentages of the initial dry weight of each component. Standard errors (SE) are given in parentheses. Detailed compositions of raw materials are given in Table 6.

² Results were obtained from bidaily GC analysis of compost gases.

MOISTURE, pH, NITROGEN LEVELS & WEIGHT LOSSES DURING COMPOSTING:

R3.) Fish-bark (C:N 45) Unamended, Fumigated & Calcium amended. 1

| Treatment % N (Initial) ² | | Una 1 | Unamended 1.0771 | | igated | Ca-a i | Ca-amended 1.0771 | | |
|------------------------------|---|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|---------------------------------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|---------------------------------|--|--|
| Ini | tial Weight | Rep 1 | 179.(Rep 2 |)1 Rep 1 | 179.(Rep 2 |)1 Rep 1 | 179.0 Rep 2 | | |
| Day | 4 m.c. ³ pH ⁴ Compost NH₄+-Nª Compost NOxNª | 198.80 4.8 2.34 10.64 | 195.72 4.9 3.95 12.18 | .210.39 4.2 5.68 61.44 | 198.41 4.3 4.53 56.98 | 209.96 4.8 1.59 46.58 | 187.41 5.0 3.21 42.71 | | |
| Day | B m.c. pH Compost NH₄⁺-N Compost.NOx⁻-N | 209.52 6.8 4.56 14.77 | 207.97 6.7 6.25 17.94 | 197.37 6.0 4.47 21.43 | 181.43 5.7 3.65 20.95 | 200.00 6.6 9.68 17.33 | 230.00 6.8 6.84 16.18 | | |
| Day | 12 ø.c. pH Compost NH₄⁺-N Compost NOx⁻-N | 197.39 6.9 5.24 25.87 | 200.11 6.8 4.95 30.05 | 208.45 5.9 7.24 27.22 | 188.27 6.3 6.28 25.74 | 220.82 6.7 7.13 30.12 | 213.75 6.7 8.60 28.98 | | |
| Day | 16 m.c. pH Compost NH₄⁺-N Compost NOx ⁺ -N | 186.88 7.0 4.89 29.65 | 199.22 6.9 6.06 30.73 | 213.72 6.4 5.21 29.63 | 198.76 6.7 7.28 27.88 | 217.33 6.9 6.04 32.02 | 221.07 7.2 7.69 30.28 | | |
| Day | 20 m.c. pH Compost NH₄⁺-N Compost NOx⁻-N | 198.04 6.8 5.45 36.82 | 206.73 7.1 8.31 40.00 | 213.64 6.5 4.45 40.23 | 167.35 6.6 3.81 38.84 | 210.81 6.7 9.77 41.52 | 208.89 6.9 9.49 37.66 | | |
| Day | 24 m.c. pH Compost NH4*-N Compost NOxN | 210.33 6.9 9.06 20.64 | 220.81 6.9 9.34 25.68 | 201.77 6.7 4.33 23.42 | 186.34 6.6 2.98 20.07 | 219.36 6.5 9.32 29.27 | 210.64 6.6 10.07 25.98 | | |
| Day | 28 æ.c. pH Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost NOxN | 198.54 6.5 6.86 19.03 | 210.44 6.4 6.46 21.27 | 210.46 6.6 4.47 14.25 | 188.69 6.3 3.99 15.30 | 206.77 6.4 7.03 22.00 | 207.25 6.5 7.12 28.54 | | |
| (We | eight Loss (CD ₂ -C |) • 20.56 | 20.46 | 10.27 | 10.64 | 18.53 | 18.74 | | |

* See Appendix 1 for composition of compost mixes & composting conditions.

² See Table 4 for chemical composition of raw materials.

* The % moisture (m.c.) was determined on 5g samples after drying at 105* 24h.

* The pH was determined on 1:5 suspension in 2N KCl.

mg g⁻¹, assayed by steam distillation. NOx⁻⁻N = NO₂⁻+NO₃⁻.

Results were obtained from daily 6C analysis of compost gases.

MOISTURE, pH, NITROGEN LEVELS AND WEIGHT LOSSES DURING COMPOSTING:

R4.) Fish-bark and Urea-bark, Initial C:N=45. *

| ial Wein 4 m.c. 3 pH 4 Compost Compost Compost Compost Compost Compost Compost Compost Compost Compost | 9ht NH4+-N NO2N NO3N NO2N NO2N NO3N | 179.01 221.97 5.0 2.69 0.00 2.29 225.36 6.7 2.41 0.00 2.81 216.34 6.8 | 179.01 217.61 4.8 2.67 0.00 2.47 216.77 6.3 2.94 0.00 2.90 222.86 | 206.45 5.1 2.13 0.00 2.19 216.09 6.1 4.20 0.00 2.38 | 217.33 5.2 3.19 0.00 2.20 209.88 6.4 3.80 0.00 2.47 | 165.81 213.14 7.3 10.08 4.48 1.53 221.03 7.9 1.04 1.04 7.17 | 220.14 7.4 7.4 3.74 215.67 7.8 10.89 1.42 6.03 |
|--|---|---|--|--|--|---|---|
| 4 m.c. 3 pH 4 Compost Compost Compost Compost Compost Compost 12 n.c. 12 compost 12 compost 12 compost | NH4 +-N NO2N NO3N NH4 +-N NO2N NO3N | 221.97 5.0 2.69 0.00 2.29 225.36 6.7 2.41 0.00 2.81 216.34 6.8 | 217.61 4.8 2.67 0.00 2.47 216.77 6.3 2.94 0.00 2.90 222.86 | 206.45 5.1 2.13 0.00 2.19 216.09 6.1 4.20 0.00 2.38 | 217.33 5.2 3.19 0.00 2.20 209.88 6.4 3.80 0.00 2.47 | 213.147.310.084.481.53221.037.912.541.047.17 | 220.14 7.4 3.74 3.67 215.67 7.8 10.89 1.42 6.03 |
| o m.c. pH Compost Compost Compost 12 m.c. pH Compost | NH 4 + - N NO2 N NO3 N | 225.36 6.7 2.41 0.00 2.81 216.34 6.8 | 216.77 6.3 2.94 0.00 2.90 222.86 | 216.09 6.1 4.20 0.00 2.38 | 209.88 6.4 3.80 0.00 2.47 | 221.03 7.9 12.54 1.04 7.17 | 215.67 7.8 10.89 1.42 6.03 |
| m.c. pH Compost | NH.+_N | 216.34 6.8 | 222.86 | 210 74 | | | |
| Compost Compost | ND2 ⁻ -N ND3 ⁻ -N | 4.42 0.83 3.26 | 6.5 4.64 0.49 3.10 | 217.34 6.7 3.82 0.36 3.36 | 215.79 6.8 4.38 0.49 3.54 | 206.99 7.1 16.55 13.57 50.51 | 223.82 7.3 17.75 12.29 55.55 |
| n.c. pH Compost Compost Compost | NH4*-N NO2 ⁻ -N NO3 ⁻ -N | 219.33 6.8 1.42 0.83 6.82 | 230.05 6.7 1.64 0.62 8.21 | 211.69 6.9 3.82 0.36 7.36 | 223.37 6.8 4.38 0.49 8.78 | 208.73 7.0 16.55 13.57 44.09 | 225.50 6.9 17.75 12.29 46.47 |
| n.c. pH Compost Compost Compost | NH4*-N NO2 ⁻ -N NO3 ⁻ -N | 206.78 6.6 1.47 0.09 8.53 | 226.91 6.3 1.51 0.13 6.74 | 217.30 7.1 1.27 0.22 6.29 | 217.66 7.1 1.36 0.10 5.24 | 214.32 6.8 10.55 0.00 12.30 | 220.81 6.9 12.29 0.00 15.55 |
| a.c. DH Compost Compost Compost | NH . | 198.89 6.4 0.70 0.06 2.63 | 219.37 6.3 0.60 0.04 3.34 | 209.64 6.5 0.53 0.14 2.29 | 214.81 6.6 0.69 0.21 4.78 | 208.09 6.7 9.47 0.76 9.89 | 221.34 6.8 10.37 0.86 11.60 |
| n.c. DH Compost Compost Compost | NH 4 + - N NO 2 N NO 3 N | 206.55 6.3 0.51 0.03 3.21 | 207.35 6.4 0.63 0.02 4.26 | 218.77 6.6 0.63 0.00 2.82 | 201.04 6.7 0.93 0.00 5.85 | 189.79 6.4 13.47 0.47 6.57 | 215.36 6.5 18.82 0.34 4.10 |
| | composit Com | Compost NO ₃ N Compost NO ₃ N Compost NO ₂ N Compost NO ₂ N Compost NO ₃ N Compost NO ₄ N Compost NO ₂ N | Compost NO2 - N 3.26 16 3.26 16 219.33 30H 6.8 Compost ND2 - N 0.83 Compost ND2 - N 0.83 Compost ND2 - N 0.83 Compost ND3 - N 6.82 Compost ND3 - N 6.82 Compost ND2 - N 0.92 A.c. 206.78 Compost ND2 - N 0.09 Compost ND3 - N 8.53 A.c. 198.89 C. 198.89 Compost ND2 - N 0.06 Compost ND2 - N 0.63 Compost ND3 - N 2.63 Compost ND2 - N 0.06 Compost ND2 - N 0.051 Compost ND2 - N 0.03 Compost ND2 - N 0.03 Compost ND2 - N 0.03 Compost ND3 - N 3.21 Ght Loss (CD2-C)*36.77 | Compost NDs - N 3.26 3.10 16 3.26 3.10 a.c. 219.33 230.05 OH 6.8 6.7 Compost NDs - N 1.42 1.64 Compost NDs - N 0.83 0.62 Compost NDs - N 0.83 0.62 Compost NDs - N 6.82 8.21 20 0.65 226.91 n.c. 206.78 226.91 compost NDs - N 6.46 6.3 Compost NDs - N 0.09 0.13 Compost NDs - N 8.53 6.74 A.c. 198.89 219.37 Compost NDs - N 8.53 6.74 4.4 6.3 0.04 Compost NDs - N 2.63 3.34 B.c. 206.55 207.35 CM 6.3 6.4 Compost NDs - N 0.03 0.02 Compost NDs - N 3.21 4.26 Compost NDs - N 3.21 4.26 Compost NDs - N 3.21 4.26 Compost NDs - N 3.21 | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ |

* See Appendix 1 for composition of compost mixes & composting conditions.

² See Table 4 for chemical composition of raw materials.

³ The % moisture (m.c.) was determined on 5g samples after drying at 105° 24h.

* The pH was determined on 1:5 suspension in 2N KCl.

mg g⁻¹ compost, assayed by steam distillation.

Results were obtained from daily GC analysis of compost gases (Appendix 3).

Appendices

MOISTURE, pH, NITROGEN LEVELS, CMCase ACTIVITY AND WEIGHT LOSSES DURING COMPOSTING

R5.) Fish-bark, Initial C:N=45 or 55. 1

. _ _ . . _ _ . . . _ . .

| Tre Z N Ini | atment (C:N) (Initial) ² tial Weight | Fish-Bark St 1.07 163.45 | erile (45 '30 163.45 |) Fish-B 1.0 163.45 | ark (45) 730 163.45 | Fish-Ba 0.9 214.05 | rk (55) 021 214.05 |
|-------------------|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| Day | 2 ' m.c. ³ ' pH 4 | 229.38 4.4 | 230.77 | 184.73 4.3 | 190.22 | 205.34 | 220.33 4.4 |
| Day | 4 m.C. pH Loss NH ₃ -N ^m Loss NOx-N ^m Compost NH ₄ +-N ^a Compost NOx-N ^a CMCase Activity ^p Lipase Activity ^m | $\begin{array}{c} 233.10\\ 4.5\\ 0.0\\ 0.70\\ 0.71\\ 0.37\\ 0.00\end{array}$ | 220.364.50.00.600.600.610.00 | $200.71 \\ 4.9 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.0 \\ 0.39 \\ 0.12 \\ 31.05 \\ 0.00$ | 230.82 5.0 0.4 0.0 0.22 0.09 32.19 0.00 | 204.33 4.6 0.0 0.09 0.03 83.06 0.05 | 179.39 4.7 0.0 0.0 0.07 0.02 82.85 0.07 |
| Day | o Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N | 0.1 0.0 | 0.1 0.0 | 0.1 0.0 | $\begin{array}{c} 0.1 \\ 0.0 \end{array}$ | 0.0 | 0.0 |
| Day | 8 m.c. pH Loss NH₃-N Loss NOx-N Compost NA₄→-N Compost NOxN CMCase Activity Lipase Activity | $\begin{array}{c} 221.56 \\ 5.0 \\ 0.0 \\ 0.29 \\ 0.04 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$ | 234.88 5.5 0.0 0.56 0.00 0.09 0.00 | 219.32 6.3 0.0 1.41 0.76 46.15 0.95 | 221.08 6.5 0.0 1.23 0.86 45.31 0.90 | 223.31 5.9 0.0 0.51 0.57 56.67 1.60 | 201.23 6.1 0.0 0.0 0.96 0.76 62.16 1.72 |
| Day | 10 Loss NH3-N Loss NOx-N | 0.1 | 0.1 0.0 | 0.2 | 0.2 | 0.1 | $0.1 \\ 0.0$ |
| Day | 12 m.c. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost NOx ⁻ -N CMCase Activity Lipase Activity | 230.21 5.0 0.1 0.70 1.17 0.00 0.00 | 200.90 4.7 0.1 0.0 0.76 1.29 0.01 0.00 | 221.43 6.8 0.2 0.0 2.53 1.01 64.00 1.53 | 225.62 6.7 0.2 0.0 2.48 1.29 62.36 1.59 | 219.77 6.2 0.0 1.76 0.87 52.54 1.80 | 214.38 6.1 0.0 1.84 0.94 50.86 1.83 |
| bay - | Loss NH3-N Loss NOX-N | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.2 | 0.2 | 0.0 | 0.0 |
| Day | Lo m.c. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost NOx ⁻ -N CMCase Activity Lipase Activity | 225.31 5.0 0.0 2.29 8.54 0.0 0.0 | 201.08 4.9 0.0 2.05 8.79 0.01 0.0 | 218.73 6.9 0.2 0.0 0.89 9.11 63.24 4.00 | 219.77 7.0 0.2 0.0 0.93 9.28 62.79 3.91 | 223.27 6.4 0.1 0.0 0.83 8.68 40.37 2.75 | 219.05 6.5 0.0 0.90 9.01 41.56 2.67 |
| Day | Loss NH3-N Loss NOX-N | | 0.0 | 0.2 | 0.3 | 0.2 0.0 | 0.2 |
| Day | 20 B.C. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost NOxN CMCase Activity Lipase Activity | 208.43 5.2 0.1 0.0 0.70 8.56 0.0 | 174.98 5.3 0.1 0.0 0.85 9.00 0.0 | 220.34 7.3 0.4 0.0 1.73 9.20 73.44 2.75 | 217.39 7.0 0.6 0.0 1.69 9.46 75.09 2.81 | 220.32 6.8 0.0 1.15 6.20 42.39 1.00 | 216.88 6.8 0.0 1.09 6.37 44.43 1.06 |

Continued....

A-4.6
| A | D | D | e | n | d | i | С | e | 5 |
|---|---|---|---|----|---|---|---|---|---|
| | _ | | - | •• | ~ | • | - | ~ | - |

| Treatment (C:N) % N (Initial) ² Initial Weight | Fish-Bark S 1.0 163.45 | terile (4 730 163.45 | 5) Fish-B 1.0 163.45 | ark (45) 730 163.45 | Fish-Ba 0.9 214.05 | rk (55) 021 214.05 |
|---|---|--|--|--|---|---|
| | | | | <u></u> | | |
| Loss NH3-N Loss NOX-N | $0.1 \\ 0.0$ | $\begin{array}{c} 0.1\\ 0.0 \end{array}$ | 0.6 | 0.6 | 0.0 | $0.0 \\ 0.0$ |
| n.c. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost NOxN CMCase Activity Lipase Activity | 199.374.80.00.450.300.000.00 | 201.23 5.0 0.0 0.33 0.37 0.00 0.00 | 210.84 6.8 0.6 0.0 0.97 0.58 72.31 1.38 | 215.25 6.6 0.7 0.0 0.98 0.62 71.09 1.40 | 218.94 6.3 0.0 0.53 0.51 40.04 0.90 | 221.22 6.4 0.0 0.44 0.49 39.12 0.96 |
| Loss NH3-N Loss NOX-N | 0.0 | 0.1 | 0.4 | 0.6 | 0.0 | 0.0 |
| Day 28 m.c. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost NOx ⁻ -N CMCase Activity Lipase Activity | 184.97 5.0 0.0 0.4 0.10 0.00 | 176.08 5.2 0.0 0.50 0.22 0.00 0.00 | 216.33 6.7 0.7 1.06 1.49 73.65 1.25 | 220.40 6.7 0.0 1.11 1.60 74.08 1.33 | 203.22 6.3 0.0 0.40 1.10 33.77 0.94 | 216.21 6.2 0.0 0.45 1.06 29.79 0.87 |
| Total Loss NH ₃ -N Total Loss NOx-N X Weight Loss (CO ₂ -C) | 0.6 0.0 e 0.16 | 0.8 0.0 0.19 | 4,2 0.C 13.82 | 4.6 0.0 13.90 | 0.4 0.0 6.00 | 0.3 0.0 6.02 |

³ See Appendix 1 for composiition of mixes & composting conditions.

² See Table 4 for chemical composiition of raw materials.

³ The % moisture (m.c.) was determined on 5g samples after drying at 105* 24Å.

Determined on 1:5 compost: 2N KCl suspension.

 $^{\rm S}$ Nitrogen (mg) collected in 0.1 M H_2SD4 trap, assayed by steam distilation.

▲ mg g⁻¹ compost, assayed by steam distillation.

7 % reduction in viscosity of NaCMC g⁻¹ compost h⁻¹.

Results were obtained from 5 hourly 6C analysis of compost gases (Appendix 3).

R6.) Fish-bark, Initial C:N=45, Aerated at 10, 20 or 30 mL min⁻¹. ¹

| reatment (Aeration) | 10 1.0730 | 20 1.0730 | 30 1.0730 |
|-------------------------------------|---------------|--------------|------------------|
| nitial Weight | 168.45 168.45 | 168.45 168. | 45 168.45 168.45 |
| Weight Loss (CO ₂ -C) 37 | .44 36.24 13 | .62 13.98 | 10.19 10.52 |

See Appendix 1 for composition of mixes and composing conditions and Table 4 for chemical composition of raw materials. CO₂-C loss was determined from 5 hourly analysis of the effluent gas (Appendix 3).

Appendices

MOISTURE, pH, NITROGEN LEVELS, CMCase ACTIVITY AND WEIGHT LOSSES DURING COMPOSTING:

R7.) Fish-bark, Urea-bark and Sewage-bark, Inital C:N=35. 1

.

. . . .

..

.

| Tre % N Ini | atment (Initial) tial Weight | Fis 1. 12 | h-Bark 3241 1.45 | Ure 1. 12 | a-Bark 4000 3.01 | Sewag 1. 16 | e-Bark 3241 2.00 |
|-------------------|---|---|--|---|---|--|--|
| Daý | 2 m.c. ² pH ³ | 223.98 4.9 | 217.31 | 213.84 | 218.47 | 222.52 5.2 | 214.37 5.2 |
| Day | 4 m.c. pH Loss NH ₃ -N 4 Loss NOx-N 4 Compost NH ₄ +-N ⁴ Compost NOxN ⁴ CMCase Activity 4 | 221.33 5.3 1.1 0.0 0.44 0.60 7.33 | 220.07 5.2 1.4 0.0 0.52 0.52 9.94 | 221.65 7.3 9.1 0.0 12.52 2.61 9.37 | 220.74 6.9 10.2 0.0 11.26 2.26 10.05 | 219.88 5.3 0.0 0.21 1.96 15.79 | 217.37 5.4 0.0 0.30 1.90 17.66 |
| , Dav | Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N | 1.1 7.8 | 0.8 10.9 | 4.9 8.0 | 5.9 10.8 | 0.3 19.6 | 0.3 18.4 |
| Day | m.c. pH Loss NH₃-N Loss NOx-N Compost NH₄+-N Compost NOx'-N CMCase Activity | 219.98 6.2 0.8 0.1 1.83 0.89 37.61 | 215.31 6.3 1.1 0.3 1.77 0.95 36.05 | 183.84 7.7 12.1 1.7 16.39 4.53 32.91 | 216.47 7.8 13.3 1.3 18.01 5.71 33.41 | 222.52 5.6 0.6 31.4 1.46 6.81 24.66 | 220.37 5.7 0.3 36.7 1.57 8.04 22.34 |
| bay - | Loss NH3-N Loss NDX-N | 1.0 | 1.5 0.4 | 10.5 | 8.5 0.6 | 1.5 | 1.3 13.7 |
| Day | 12 m.c. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost NOxN CMCase Activity | 189.98 6.9 1.0 0.0 4.42 2.20 56.42 | 207.31 7.0 0.7 0.1 5.02 2.15 57.11 | 210.84 6.8 20.0 0.8 29.22 16.98 56.51 | 218.47 6.8 26.0 0.7 28.28 20.05 53.64 | 212.52 5.8 4.6 4.2 4.21 52.32 28.12 | 223.37 5.9 4.0 3.2 3.68 59.02 29.09 |
| DHI | Loss NH3-N Loss NDX-N | 0.8 | 0.7 0.3 | 25.8 1.0 | 30.7 1.1 | 0.6 | 0.7 10.6 |
| Day | 10 m.c. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost NOx ⁻ -N CMCase Activity | 217.07 5.4 0.3 0.4 2.46 10.65 66.85 | 231.37 5.3 0.4 0.3 2.51 9.98 67.11 | 200.96 6.6 7.7 4.7 28.96 15.32 78.93 | 186.90 6.5 13.7 3.2 30.18 16.87 77.69 | 221.46 5.6 1.0 7.3 5.33 35.48 23.41 | 214.50 5.7 0.8 6.7 4.38 36.33 22.08 |
| Day | 18 Loss NH3-N Loss NOX-N | 1.3 | 0.8 4.9 | 8.4 4.5 | 8.9 4.6 | 0.3 1.9 | 0.4 4.0 |
| Day | 20 m.C. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N Compost NH ₆ +-N Compost NOxN CMCase Activity | 221.07 | 216.37 6.3 0.4 7.2 4.02 8.89 81.67 | 181.96 6.8 18.2 22.23 3.66 80.32 | 195.90 6.9 18.3 3.2 21.58 4.03 79.21 | 211.21 5.7 0.4 3.2 10.21 13.22 36.78 | 222.97 5.9 0.6 2.9 11.08 12.57 38.07 |

Continued,

A-4.8

....

| Tr | eatment | Fis | sh-Bark | Ure | ea-Bark | Sewag | e-Bark | - |
|-------------------|---|---|---|---|---|---|--|---|
| Z | N (Initial) | 1. | 3241 | 1. | 4000 | 1, | 3241 | |
| In | itial Weight | 12 | 21.45 | 12 | 23.01 | 16 | 2.00 | |
| Day Day Day | 22 Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N 24 m.c. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NH ₃ -N Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost NDx-N CMCase Activity 26 Loss NH ₃ -N | 1.0 5.9 189.88 6.8 1.3 3.6 1.28 0.90 63.51 0.8 | 0.7 5.3. 237.22 6.9 1.5 2.8 1.02 0.89 62.78 | 12.0 2.1 241.44 7.0 26.4 3.6 11.33 1.06 70.33 18.7 | 13.7 1.8 215.15 7.1 24.7 4.6 10.37 1.03 69.09 27.9 | 0.0 3.1 233.46 6.1 0.4 3.6 5.41 5.82 15.38 0.4 | 0.0 2.4 244.20 6.0 0.3 7.5 6.01 4.57 16.84 | - |
| Day | Loss NDx-N 28 m.c. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N Compost NH ₄ *-N Compost NOXN CMCase Activity | 3.5 177.07 6.5 0.1 1.2 1.55 1.10 52.99 | 2.8 216.37 6.4 0.5 0.7 1.67 1.39 50.44 | 4.0 201.96 6.8 6.5 0.9 11.99 1.36 55.26 | 4.5 185.23 7.0 3.4 1.2 11.00 1.59 52.94 | 5.2 221.16 6.1 0.0 1.2 3.11 5.98 10.44 | 3.9 209.84 5.8 0.1 1.4 4.01 5.14 9.84 | |
| Tot | al Loss NH ₃ -N | 11.2 | 11.6 | 180.3 | 205.2 | 10.1 | 9.1 | |
| Tot | al Loss NOx-N | 33.9 | 38.0 | 35.6 | 37.6 | 105.9 | 111.4 | |
| % W | eight Loss (CO ₂ -C |)715.14 | 14.93 | 17.49 | 16.06 | 4.43 | 4.02 | |

¹ See Appendix 1 for composition of compost mixes & composting conditions. See Table 4 for chemical composition of raw materials.

² The % moisture (m.c.) was determined on 5g samples after drying at 105* 24h.

³ The pH was determined on 1:5 compost:2N KCl suspension.

 4 mg Nitrogen collected in 0.1 M H₂SO₄ acid traps, assayed by steam distilation

[™] mg g⁻¹ compost, assayed by steam distillation.

♠ % reduction in viscosity of NaCMC g⁻¹ compost h⁻¹.

7 CD₂-C loss was determined from 5 hourly analysis of the effluent gas (Appendix 3).

Appendices

MDISTURE, pH, NITROGEN LEVELS, CMCase ACTIVITY AND WEIGHT LOSSES DURING COMPOSTING:

RB.)Urea-bark, Urea-bark + p-Benzoquinone & IBDU-bark, Inital C:N=35. *

| Tre % N Ini | atment (Initial) tial Weight | Urea-1 1.40 123. | Bark U 100 01 | rea-Bark+ 1.40 123. | Quinone 00 01 | IBDU- 1.4 109 | Bark 287 .75 |
|-------------------|--|---|---|--|--|---|---|
| Day | 2 m.c. ² pH ³ | 200.34 | 205.56 6.3 | 198.98 6.4 | 191.71 | 180.72 4.6 | 193.75 4.8 |
| Day | 4 m.c. pH Loss NH ₃ -N ▲ Loss NDx-N ▲ Compost NH ₄ +-N ³ Compost NOx ⁻ -N ⁵ Compost Urea-N ▲ CMCase Activity 6 | 192.27 6.8 9.7 0.0 8.65 4.07 7 12.04 | 194.22 6.7 11.8 0.0 13.43 3.55 9 10.88 | 188.76 6.6 0.1 2.0 4.38 17.51 90 4.67 | 181.99 6.7 0.3 2.4 4.43 17.59 120 6.35 | 189.32 5.2 0.1 25.7 1.96 19.41 145 7.89 | 193.44 5.1 0.03 19.7 1.64 14.92 153 5.33 |
| , , | Loss NH3-N Loss NOX-N | 8.1 15.2 | 8.7 13.0 | 6.3 8.0 | 7.5 | $0.1 \\ 22.3$ | 0.3 18.2 |
| Day | p.c. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost Urea-N CMCase Activity | 195.23 7.9 11.4 0.013 19.51 4.21 1 42.64 | 199.98 7.7 17.6 0.017 17.97 6.05 2 38.69 | 195.51 6.8 27.7 0.00 6.05 9.33 14 20.26 | 200.48 7.0 35.1 0.00 7.15 11.95 9 25.41 | 198.50 6.0 0.3 0.00 3.54 15.22 102 26.76 | 195.07 5.9 0.8 0.00 1.57 15.09 98 27.22 |
| Jay | Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N | $13.5 \\ 0.1$ | 12.1 0.7 | 20.9. 2.1 | $11.6 \\ 1.1$ | 3.2 0.0 | 3.5 0.0 |
| Day | n.c. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Compost NH ₄ *-N Compost NH ₄ *-N Compost Urea-N CMCase Activity | 191.72 6.8 27.2 0.1 26.82 20.47 52.37 | 200.57 6.9 26.3 0.7 22.19 17.96 1 56.07 | 211.73 6.4 20.7 2.1 13.68 6.33 14 32.49 | 199.62 6.6 17.0 1.1 15.04 5.01 10 37.93 | 223.25 7.1 2.7 0.0 16.21 0.02 22 26.44 | 203.41 7.0 1.5 0.0 18.77 0.02 24 25.31 |
| Jey | Loss NH3-N Loss NOX-N | $11.0 \\ 0.1$ | 13.8 | 6.1 0.0 | 7.3 0.0 | 0.7 0.0 | 0.6 |
| Jay | 16 a.c. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NDx-N Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost NDxN Compost Urea-N CMCase Activity | 189.21 6.4 12.1 2.6 23.65 0.23 0.0 76.88 | 209.45 6.5 8.9 2.3 26.71 0.20 0.0 74.89 | 217.15 6.7 7.3 1.0 24.62 0.33 0.2 62.38 | 212.63 6.5 7.5 0.2 26.46 0.27 0.1 61.00 | 213.46 7.6 46.6 20.58 0.01 0.8 53.64 | 206.54 7.6 43.6 3.5 18.97 0.01 0.6 54.17 |
| Jay | Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NDx-N | 15.1 | 16.8 | 6.6 2.2 | 7.3 3.1 | 33.0 2.9 | 34.1 12.6 |
| lay | 20 m.C. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost NOxN Compost Urea-N CMCase Activity | 188.28 6.7 14.9 0.8 22.00 3.66 0 83.36 | 208.84 6.7 17.0 0.4 20.86 1.97 0 80.12 | 211.34 6.8 29.0 2.9 18.34 1.27 0 86.77 | 215.23 6.6 28.5 4.3 21.93 1.62 0 87.64 | 223.65 7.0 46.5 0.7 30.14 0.55 2 68.99 | 210.87 7.1 43.4 0.1 28.67 0.89 2 71.45 |
|)ay | 22 Loss NH3-N Loss NOX-N | 14.1 | 18.4 | 14.7 | 17.5 | 26.1 | 31.4 |

Appendices

| | Treatment % N (Initial) Initial Weight | | Urea-Bark 1.4000 123.01 | Urea-1 | Bark+Quind 1.4000 123.01 | one | IBDU-Bark 1.4287 109.75 | |
|----------------------|---|--|--|---|--|--|--|--|
| Day Day Day | 24 m.c. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost NUxN Compost Urea-N -CMCase Activity 26 Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N 28 m.c. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NH ₃ -N Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost Urea-N CMCase Activity | 179.28 6.8 17.0 1.8 13.14 0.96 60.58 15.4 1.5 182.77 6.5 7.0 0.5 12.10 0.69 51.89 | 238.84 6.9 18.6 1.5 10.22 0.97 0.97 0.5.44 16.1 1.3 224.87 6.6 7.3 0.6 9.98 0.78 0.78 0.49.90 | 227.15 7.0 41.6 2.7 10.33 0.27 0 68.32 41.8 0.6 220.75 6.7 5.9 0.2 8.45 0.18 0 60.32 | 225.63 6.8 43.0 7.63 0.29 70.47 38.7 0.3 222.49 6.7 6.1 0.3 7.63 0.12 0 61.78 | 221.25 6.7 45.2 0.33 79.38 45.0 0.1 213.22 6.9 4.6 0.4 14.31 0.20 73.68 | 206.54 6.7 42.5 0.3 27.10 0.59 80.77 43.9 0.1 209.98 6.8 4.3 0.3 12.98 0.13 0.77.01 | |
| Tota Tota % Wa | al Loss NH ₃ -N al Loss NOx-N eight Loss (CO ₂ -C) | 175.6 24.5 16.68 | 193.4 23.3 16.69 | 228.7 25.8 15.10* | 227.4 24.4 15.78 | 254.1 58.0 19.62 | 250.2 55.1 19.35 | |

¹ See Appendix 1 for composition of compost mixes & composting conditions. See Table 4 for chemical composition of raw materials.

² The % moisture (m.c.) was determined on 5g samples after drying at 105° 24h.

³ The pH was determined on 1:5 suspension in 2N KCl.

* N (mg) collected in 0.1 M $\rm H_2SO_4$ traps and assayed by steam distillation.

⁵ mg g⁻¹ compost, assayed by steam distillation.

* ppm, Spectrophotometric assay.

7 % reduction in viscosity of NaCMC g⁻¹ compost h⁻¹.

CO2-C was determined from compost gasses assayed every 5 h by 6C (Appendix 3).

R9.) Fish-bark, Urea-bark and Sewage-bark, Inital C:N=25 ¹.

| Trea % N Init | itment (Initial) ial Weight | Fish 1.7 85. | -Bark 282 75 | Urea- 1.74 113. | -Bark 419 .40 | Sенаде- 1.9(ВЗ.(| -Bark)68)1 |
|---------------------|--|--|--|---|---|---|--|
| Day | 2 m.c. 2 pH 3 | 217.33 5.5 | 220.67 5.4 | 211.84 | 219.07 6.8 | 220.77 5.4 | 217.37 5.3 |
| Day | * pH Loss NH ₃ -N * Loss NOX-N * Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost NOXN CMCase Activity | 223.65 6.2 3.1 0.0 0.68 0.68 9.00 | 216.33 6.2 3.4 0.0 0.72 0.63 9.21 | 220.07 7.9 29.1 0.4 18.52 2.69 8.33 | 214.00 7.8 30.2 0.5 17.21 2.55 8.95 | 220.33 6.0 0.9 15.0 0.43 2.30 12.79 | 222.08 5.9 0.10 13.4 0.47 2.22 14.76 |
| Day | o Loss NH3-N Loss NDX-N | 2.2 12.0 | 1.8 13.3 | 54.9 3.7 | 55.9 5.5 | 0.5 30.8 | 0.4 36.6 |
| uay | a,c. pH Loss NH₃-N Loss NOx-N Compost NH₄+-N Compost NOxN CMCase Activity | 221.63 7.2 8.8 8.1 2.09 1.68 33.47 | 215.71 6.9 9.1 9.5 1.98 1.75 31.36 | 199.74 8.4 97.8 1.8 27.11 8.39 9.81 | 217.55 8.3 103.3 2.2 28.34 9.01 10.33 | 222.52 6.6 1.8 70.0 1.72 8.32 25.77 | 221.37 6.7 2.3 67.7 1.66 8.66 24.67 |
| Day | 10 Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N | 3.2 3.1 | 3.5 3.6 | 34.4 | 38.5 0.9 | 6.2 29.5 | $\frac{7.2}{31.1}$ |

Continued....

| Treatment % N (Initial) Initial Weight | Fish 1.7 85. | -Bark 282 75 | Urea 1.7 113 | -Bark 419 .40 | Sewage 1.9 83. | -Bark 068 01 |
|---|--|---|--|--|--|--|
| Day 12 m.C. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N Compost NH ₄ +-N CMCase Activity Day 14 | 189.98 7.6 8.7 0.9 31.45 30.99 42.78 | 207.31 7.6 7.9 1.1 32.47 32.47 44.91 | 187.66 8.0 86.1 0.8 96.78 20.78 19.51 | 201.47 7.9 93.0 0.7 108.28 21.44 20.64 | 219.30 5.8 9.6 9.2 44.17 59.99 36.12 | 223.79 5.9 10.6 10.6 43.84 63.78 39.09 |
| Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NDx-N Day 16 m.c. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NDx-N Compost NH ₄ *-N Compost NDxN CMCase Activity | 2.3 7.8 206.47 7.4 2.3 12.4 21.36 15.26 72.18 | 2.7 7.0 213.70 7.3 2.2 13.3 20.14 16.00 74.22 | 49.5 1.0 200.96 7.6 29.5 6.6 76.11 18.41 53.66 | 50.1 1.1 196.30 7.5 31.4 6.0 75.64 17.29 53.09 | 4.4 18.7 223.46 6.3 7.6 10.6 32.89 37.89 41.33 | 3.1 16.5 224.52 6.7 7.2 11.0 34.15 38.76 43.19 |
| Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N Day 20 a.c. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost NUx-N CMCase Activity | 1.0 20.9 221.07 7.4 0.6 10.0 12.53 12.44 75.29 | 1.3 21.9 216.37 7.5 0.8 9.2 13.67 13.58 74.36 | 16.2 5.5 181.96 7.8 13.7 6.6 20.45 10.55 75.91 | 15.8 6.2 195.90 7.9 13.3 6.2 28.03 12.63 76.47 | 14.8 9.2 221.47 6.7 1.4 9.2 29.66 18.41 42.31 | 5.3 8.8 230.17 6.8 1.2 9.9 31.07 19.60 43.07 |
| Day 22 Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N Day 24 m.c. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NOx-N Compost NOx ⁻ -N CMCase Activity | 1.2 8.6 200.70 7.0 2.6 9.2 4.99 4.11 82.77 | 1.4 8.3 212.66 6.9 2.2 9.8 7.65 4.06 84.01 | 23.4 4.2 204.14 7.5 29.4 5.3 13.46 3.81 79.20 | 22.7 3.8 205.31 7.5 28.8 5.6 16.07 3.00 78.55 | 1.1 5.3 226.67 6.5 0.6 4.5 9.55 9.55 9.16 36.28 | 0.9 4.8 230.02 6.7 0.4 4.1 7.89 10.88 30.11 |
| Day 26 Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NDx-N Day 28 m.c. pH Loss NH ₃ -N Loss NDx-N Compost NH ₄ +-N Compost NDx ⁻ -N CMCase Activity | 1.8 2.2 199.37 6.8 1.7 7.55 2.69 86.26 | 1.6 2.6 217.92 6.9 2.2 1.4 8.02 2.78 85.12 | 17.0 4.8 215.96 7.0 8.0 2.0 15.87 4.18 84.92 | 17.8 4.5 207.39 7.2 8.8 1.8 14.33 4.12 86.01 | 2.0 4.2 219.47 6.7 0.8 3.2 7.34 6.20 32.14 | 1.5 4.9 224.09 6.8 1.1 3.3 9.11 6.13 33.76 |
| Total Loss NH ₃ -N Total Loss NOx-N X Weight Loss (CO ₂ -C) | 39.5 96.9 715.61 | 40.1 101.0 15.49 | 489.0 43.1 16.46 | 509.6 44.1 14:81 | 41.7 201.5 6.69 | 42.2 222.7 6.35 |

³ See Appendix 1 for composition of compost mixes & composting conditions. See Table 4 for chemical composition of raw materials.

² The X moisture (m.c.) was determined on 5g samples after drying at 105° 24h.

³ The pH was determined on 1:5 compost:2N KCl suspension.

 * mg Nitrogen collected in 0.1 M H_2SO_4 acid traps, assayed by steam distillation

⁵ mg g⁻¹ compost, assayed by steam distillation.

* % reduction in viscosity of NaCMC g $^{-1}$ compost $h^{-1}.$

 7 CO_z-C was determined from 5 hourly GC assay of compost gasses (Appendix 3).

APPENDIX - 5

SPLIT-PLOT ADV OF COMPOST CHARACTERISTICS:

R1 & R2.) Fish-bark, Initial C:N=45 or 65. *

| | Oxygen Uptake | | | Carbon 1 | Dioxide D | utput |
|---|-------------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------|--------------------------------|--------------------|-----------------|
| df | MS | · F | | MS | F | |
| Treatment 1 Run 1 Error (unit) 7 | 109.6875 0.4175 0.10867 | 1009.350 3.842 | *** ns | 47.1130 0.2601 0.0749 | 628.413 3.469 | *** NS |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time 12 Time.Treat 12 Error(Sample)122 | 43.4882 8.8432 0.16755 | 256,555 52,779 | *** | 9.4834 1.4525 0.05403 | 175.392 26.864 | *** ***(** |
| % Coefficient of Vari | ation | 14 | . 5 | | 14. | 9 |
| LSD:0.01; between two different times in o any time or treatmen | means at ne treatme t: | - int: 0.8 1.1 | 7 5 | | 0. | 50 48 |
| | M.C. | | | | рH | |
| df | MS | F | | MS | F | |
| Treatment 1 Run 1 Error (unit) 7 | 59.0 360.5 520.87 | 0.113 0.692 | N 5 N 5 | 9.2564 0.2625 0.50998 | 18.151 0.515 | ** ns |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time 12 Time.Treat 12 Error(Sample)122 | 528.59 204.16 170.69 | 3.097 1.196 | ns ns | 2.3053 0.4359 0.22244 | 10.364 1.959 | ***(** *(ns) |
| % Coefficient of Vari | ation | 3.4 | | | 2. | . 9 |
| LSD:0.01, between two different times in o any time or treatmen | means at ne treatme t: | - nt: 27.9 28.4 | 0 | | 1. | 01 41 |
| | Asson | ification | | Nitri | fication | |
| df | MS · | F | | MS | F | |
| Treatment 1 9 Run 1 Error (unit) 7 | 5857.0 1114.7 648.636 | 228.460 1.718 | ±≠≢ 3; ns | 6019241 1869 35284 | 0.001 0.000 | ns ns |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time 12 5 Time.Treat 12 Error(Sample)122 | 3804.3 5359.7 689.157 | 78.073 7.777 | *** ***(*) | 4233008 1581182 7638.131 | 554.194 207.012 | *** |
| % Coefficient of Vari | ation | 8.7 | | | 3. | 9 |
| LSD:0.01) between two different times in o any time or treatmen | means at ne treatme t: | nt: 56.1 74.8 | | | 71. 101. | 4 7 |

Continued...

, ,

| • | Abs | Humification 550 nm | Indices Abs 440/660 nm |
|---|--|-----------------------------------|---|
| | df MS | F | MS F |
| Treatment Run Error (unit) | 1 6.5641 1 0.0576 7 0.1126 | 58.268 *** 7 0.512 ns 5 | 0.05026 - 0.847 ns 0.01641 - 0.126 ns 0.13004 |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time 1 Time.Treat 1 Error(Sample)12 | 2 5.48264 2 6.3834 2 0.11560 | 47.426 *** 1 55.218 *** | 14.49192 131.614 *** 5.59803 50.841 *** 0.11011 |
| % Coefficient of | Variation | 7.1 | 9.7 |
| LSD.0.01, between different times any time or trea | two means at in one treatme tment: | - ent: 0.73 0.97 | 0.27 0.95 |
| | CMCas | se Activity | |
| LATT (plot) | df MS | F | |
| Treatment Run Error (unit) | 1 888.688 1 73.281 7 28.649 | 30.252 *** 2.558 ns | |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time 1 Time.Treat 1 Error(Sample)12 | 2 1750.426 2 526.576 2 7.585 | 230.767 *** 67.421 *** | |
| % Coefficient of | Variation | 4.0 | |
| LSD(c.c1) between different times any time or trea | two means at in one treatme tment: | - ent: 5.88 8.67 | |

¹ Calculated from the data given in Appendices 3 & 4.

ns- not significant (p < 0.05), **- significant at p < 0.01,

***- significant at p < 0.001. Significance indicators in parentheses

were for the conservative test using 1 & 7 df.

Appendices

SPLIT-PLOT AOV OF COMPOST CHARACTERISTICS: R3.) Fish-bark, Initial C:N=45. ¹

| * | Carbon D | loxide Output | | | |
|---|--|--|---------------------------------|---------------------|--------------------|
| d | f MS | F | | | |
| Treatment Error (unit) | 2 2.3421 3 0.0018 | 1301.537 *** | | | |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time 3 Time.Treat 7 Error(Sample) 11 | 7 0.8187 4 0.3209 1 0.0030 | 272.567 *** 106.858 ***(** | | | |
| % Coefficient of V | ariation 9.2 | • | | | |
| LSD.co.or, between different times i any time or treat | two means at - n one treatmen ment: | t: 0.14 0.32 | | | · . |
| | D.C | • ' | P | н | |
| d- | f MS | F | MS | F | |
| UNII (plot) Treatment 2 Error (unit) 3 | 721.01 553.23 | 1.303 ns | 0.8931 0.0298 | 30.00B | * [.] |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time 6 Time.Treat 12 Error(Sample) 18 | 47.90 126.58 72.64 | 0.659 ns 1.743 ns | 3.4365 0.0803 0.0181 | 189.912 4.439 | *** ** (*) |
| % Coefficient of V | ariation | 4.2 | 2 | . 1 | |
| LSD(0.01) between different times in any time or treatm | two means at - n one treatmen ment: | t: 24.53 69.43 | 0 | .39 .82 | |
| | Ammoni | fication | Nitri | fication | |
| d- | f M5 | F | MS | F | |
| Treatment 2 Error (unit) 3 | 22.356 1.536 | 14.557 * | 197.787 15.011 | 13.176 | ¥ |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time 6 Time.Treat 12 Error(Sample) 18 | 9.467 6.304 0.884 | 13.713 ***(*) 7.134 ***(ns) | 412.732 183.260 3.063 | 134.735 59.824 | ***(**) ***(**) |
| % Coefficient of Va | ariation | 15.4 | 6 | . 2 | |
| LSD(0.01) between t different times in any time or treatm | two means at - n one treatmen ment: | t: 2.71 5.77 | 5 12 | .04 .76 | |
| Calculated from t ns- not signific ###- significant | the data given ant (p < 0.05 at p < 0.001. | in Appendices 3), ##- significa Significance in | 3 & 4. ant at p ndicators | (0.01, in parer | theses |

5

SPLIT-PLOT ADV OF COMPOST CHARACTERISTICS:

| R4.) | Fish-bark | <u>گر</u> | Urea-bark, | Initial | C:N=45. | 1 |
|------|-----------|-----------|------------|---------|---------|---|
| | | | | - | | |

ł

110

| | | | | · · -· | | | |
|---|------------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|-----------------|-----------------------------|----------------------------|---------------------------|
| <u></u> | | Carbon | Dioxide Out | tput | | | |
| | df | MS | F | | | | |
| UNIT (plot) Treatment " Error (unit) | 2 3 | 2.5668 0.0169 | 151.904 # | *** | | | |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time Time.Treat Error(Sample) | 31 62 93 | 3.1255 0.0983 0.0147 | 212.343 6.681 | +## +##(ns) | | | |
| % Coefficient of | Varia | tion | 8.5 | | | | |
| LSD(0.01) betwee different times any time or tre | en two 5 in on Patment | means at e treatme : | ent: 0.32 0.71 | | | | |
| | | £. | с, | | pł | 1 | |
| UNIT (n) of) | df | MS | F | | MS | F | • |
| Treatment Error (unit) | 2 3 | 16.53 212.53 | 0.048 ns | i | 2.3016 0.0526 | 43.742 | ₩ ₩ · |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time Time.Treat Error(Sample) | 6 12 18 | 221.55 25.26 94.88 | 2.335 *(0.266 ns | n5) | 0.9007 0.5581 0.0093 | 97.009 60.098 | ***(*) ***(*) |
| % Coefficient of | Varia | tion | 4.5 | | 1. | 5 | |
| LSD(0.01, betwee different times any time or tre | n two in on atment | means at e treatme : | - ent: 28.04 61.73 | | 0. 0. | 28 73 | |
| <u></u> | | Аввол | ification | | Nitrif (Nit | ication rate) | |
| | df | MS | F | | MS | F | |
| Treatment Error (unit) | 2 3 | 557.188 1.049 | 531.187 ** | ŧ | 1100.410 3.786 | 290.653 | *** |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time Time.Treat Error(Sample) | 6 12 18 | 17.679 B.256 2.504 | 15.544 ** 7.258 ** | +{(*) +*(ns) | 344.965 261.732 1.643 | 209.907 159.261 | *** |
| % Coefficient of | Varia | tion | 18.1 | | 13. | 6 | |
| LSD(0.01) betwee different times any time or tre | n two in on atment | means at e treatme : | - nt: 3.07 6.20 | • | 3. 8. | 69 15 | |
| | ł | litrifica (Nitrit | tion e) ² | | CMCase | Activit | y |
| (TT (-), ()) | if | MS | F | | MS | F | |
| Treatment Error (unit) | 2 | 1.0127 14 0.000781 | 409.856 *** 3 | | 888.688 28.649 | 30.252 | *** |
| MPLE (subplot) Time Time.Treat 12 Error(Sample) 18 | | 0.24932 0.11084 0.0007634 | 326.589 *** 145.193 *** 4 | (**) | 1750.426 526.576 | 230.767 69.421 7.585 | ** * ***(** |
| Coefficient of V | /ariati | on | 12.3 | | 4.0 | | |
| D(0.01) between lifferent times i my time or treat | two me n one ment: | ans at - treatment | t: 0.08 0.16 | | 3.5 6.8 | 7 9 | |
| Calculated from | the da | ta given | in Appendi | ces 3 | ь 4. | | - |
| ns- not signifi | cant (| p < 0.05 |), ** - sign: | ifican | tatp < | 0.01, | |
| ***- significant | at p | < 0.001. | Significant | ce ind | icators i | n parent | heśes |
| were for the cor | servat | ive test | using 2 & 3 | 3 df. | | | |
| ata was transfor | med by | 10010 + | 1. | | | | • |

SPLIT-PLOT ADV OF COMPOST CHARACTERISTICS:

R5.) Fish-bark, Initial C:N=45 or 55¹.

| | | | Carbon | Dioxide Output | | |
|--------------|--|--------------------------------------|-------------------------------|----------------------------------|--|---------------------------------|
| | | df | MS | F | | |
| | UNIT (plot) Treatment Error (uni | t) $\frac{2}{3}$ | 13.2655 0.0073 | 1825.863 *** | | |
| | SAMPLE (subp) Time Time.Treat Error(Samp) | lot) 163 326 le) 489 | 0.1090 0.5135 0.00043 | 248.971 *** 117.317 ***(B | * *) | |
| | % Coefficien | t of Varia | tion | 10.2 | | |
| · | LSD(0.01) bet different t any time or | tween two imes in on treatment | means at e treatme : | nt: 0.056 0.122 | | |
| | | | n. (| c. | . рН | |
| | ···· | df | MS | F | MS | F |
| | Treatment Error (unit | t) $\frac{2}{3}$ | 76.27 45.11 | 1.691 ns | 8.9031 7 0.0117 | 63.122 *** |
| | SAMPLE (subp) Time Time.Treat Error(Samp) | lot) 6 12 le) 18 | 160.79 306.63 166.56 | 2.141 ns 4.083 #*(ns | 1.7466) 0.1942 0.0183 | 95.268 ***(**) 10.593 ***(*) |
| | % Coefficient | t of Varia | tion | 4.1 | 2.3 | |
| | LSD:0.01; bet different to any time or | tween two imes in on treatment | means at · e treatmen : | nt: 24.23 50.64 | 0.3 | |
| | | | Asson | ification | Nitrifi | cation |
| | | đf | MS | F | MS | F |
| | UNIT (plot) Treatment Error (unit | $\frac{2}{3}$ | 1.0129 0.0087 | 116.104 ## | 1.569 0.053 | 29.372 * |
| | SAMPLE (subp) Time Time.Treat Error(Samp) | lot) 6 12 1e) 18 | 1.3013 0.5306 0.01195 | 108.878 ***(* 44.396 ***(* | *) 90.31 92 *) 0.881 0.0097 | 52.257 *** 90.306 ***(**) |
| | % Coefficient | t of Varia | tion | 15.4 | 6.2 | |
| | LSD(0.01) bet different ti any time or | ween two imes in on treatment | means at · e treatmen : | nt: 0.31 0.64 | 0.3 | 3 |
| | · | | CMCase (| Activity | Ammonia Vola | tilization 2 |
| 10 | | df | MS | F | MS | F |
| 01 | Treatment Error (unit) | 2 1458 3 | 0.014 1: 0.112 | 29949.410 *** | 0.00862 0.00002 | 405.912 *** |
| 54 | MPLE (subplot Time Time.Treat Error(Sample) | 12 54 18 | 0.707 0.083 1.777 | 11.655 ***(304.001 *** | <pre>#) 0.00031 0.00037 0.000019</pre> | 16.600 ***(*) 20.733 ***(*) |
| 7. | Coefficient o | of Variati | on | 3.6 | 31.9 | |
| LS c á | D(0.01) betwe lifferent time ny time or tr | een two øe es in one eatøent: | ans at - treatment: | 3.57 7.78 | 0.01 0.03 | · · |
| | | | | | | |

Continued...

| | Lipase | Activity ² |
|--------------|---|--|
| df | MS | F |
| 2 3 | 0.01868 0.0000498 | 374.420 *** 39 |
|) 6 12 | 0.13914 0.01785 0.0000644 | 2159.202 *** 276.988 *** |
| f Varia | ation | 2.2 |
| | df 2 3 6 6 12 7 7 7 | Lipase df MS 2 0.01868 3 0.0000498 6 0.13914 6 0.01785 12 0.0000644 F Variation |

LSD.0.01, between two means at -different times in one treatment: any time or treatment: 0.024

¹ Calculated from the data given in Appendices 3 & 4.

ns- not significant (p < 0.05), **- significant at p < 0.01,

***- significant at p < 0.001.' Significance indicators in parentheses were for the conservative test using 2 & 3 df.

² Data was transformed by log₁₀ + 1.

R6.) Fish-bark, Initial C:N=45¹.

| Carbon Dioxide Output | | | | | |
|--|----------------------------|----------------------------------|-----------------------|---------------|--|
| | df | MS | F | | |
| Treatment Error (unit) | 2 3 | 124.722 0.0016 | 76486.833 | ; ** * | |
| SAMPLE (subplot Time Time.Treat Error(Sample) |) 145 290 453 | 1.0215 0.2116 0.0043 | 235.764 48.834 | *** ***(*) | |
| % Coefficient o | f Vari | ation | 7.8 | | |
| LSD(0.01) betwee different times any time or tru | en two s in o eatmen |) means at one treatme it; | - nt: 0.17 0.38 | | |

¹ Calculated from the data given in Appendices 3 & 4. ns- not significant (p < 0.05), **- significant at p < 0.01, ***~ significant at p < 0.001. Significance indicators in parentheses were for the conservative test using 2 & 3 df.

R7.) Fish-, Urea-, & Sewage=bark, Initial C:N=35. *

| | | Carbon D | ioxide Output |
|---|----------------------------------|-----------------------------|----------------------------------|
| | df | MS | F |
| UNII (plot) Treatment Error (unit) | 2 3 | 23.8306 0.1387 | 171.791 *** |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time Time.Treat Error(Sample) | 110 220 330 | 1.5610 0.1857 0.01387 | 112.536 ***(**) 13.385 ***(*) |
| % Coefficient of | F Variat | ion | 19.8 |
| LSD:0.01) betwee different times any time or tre | en two m s in one eatment: | eans at - treatmen | t: 0.32 0.69 |

Continued...

5

| | | ₽. | | ън | |
|---|---|--|---|---|-------------|
| UNIT (plot) | df MS | F | MS | F | |
| Treatment Error (unit) | 2 888.5 3 249.4 | 0 3.562 ns | 5.542 0.001 | 4656.600 *** | |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time Time.Treat Error(Sample) | 6 374.9 12 211.4 18 166.9 | 0 2.246 ns 2 1.267 ns | 0.6176 0.3361 0.0134 | 46.047 *** 25.056 *** | (#*) (#) |
| % Coefficient of | Variation | 6.1 | : | .8 | |
| LSD(0.01) betwee different times any time or tre | en two means s in one tre eatment: | at - atment: 30.48 75.46 | . (|).31).68 | |
| | A df MS | mmonification F | Nitri (Ni MS | fication trate) F | |
| UNIT (plot) Treatment Error (unit) | 2 1134.5 5 0.1 | 11 7717.013 *** 47 | 946.902 1.715 | 552.277 *** | |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time Time.Treat Error(Sample) | 6 79.7 12 38.8 18 0.3 | 73 241.335 *** 02 177.356 *** 31 | 523.386 (**)201.004 1.498 | 349.298 *** 134.145 ***(| (**) |
| % Coefficient of | Variation | 6.8 | 13 | .9 | |
| SD:0.01; betwee different times any time or tre | n two means in one trea atment: | at - atment: 1.59 3.36 | 3 | .56.15 | |
| | Am | Nitrogen Vola monia | itilization ² Nitrogen (| lxides | |
| NIT (plot) | df MS | F | MS | F | |
| Treatment Error (unit) | 2 5.38 3 0.08 | 84 609.486 ** * 84 | 0.75189 10 0.00075 | 09.620 *** | |
| | | | | | |
| AMPLE (subplot) Time 1 Time.Treat 2 Error(Sample) 3 | 2 0.08 4 0.06 6 0.00 | 65 24.738 ***(* 67 19.081 ***(* 35 | 0.23576 0.13895 0.00304 | 77.458 ###(*# 45.653 #**(*# | -) +) |
| AMPLE (subplot) Time 1 Time.Treat 2 Error(Sample) 3 Coefficient of | 2 0.08 4 0.06 6 0.00 Variation | 65 24.738 ***(* 67 19.081 ***(* 35 17.7 |) 0.23576) 0.13895 0.00304 17. | 77.458 ***(** 45.653 ***(** 1 | -) -) |
| AMPLE (subplot) Time 1 Time.Treat 2 Error(Sample) 3 Coefficient of 5D.0.01, between Hifferent times any time or trea | 2 0.08 4 0.06 6 0.00 Variation two means in one trea tment: | 65 24.738 ***(* 67 19.081 ***(* 35 17.7 at - tment: 0.18 0.35 |) 0.23576) 0.13895 0.00304 17. 0. | 77.458 ***(** 45.653 ***(** 1 15 32 | ;) ;) |
| AMPLE (subplot) Time 1 Time.Treat 2 Error(Sample) 3 Coefficient of D.o.o1, between different times any time or trea | 2 0.08 4 0.06 6 0.00 Variation two means in one trea tment: CM | 65 24.738 ****(* 67 19.081 ***(* 35 17.7 at - tment: 0.18 0.35 Case Activity |) 0.23576) 0.13895 0.00304 17. 0. | 77.458 ***(** 45.653 ***(** 1 15 32 | ;) ;) |
| AMPLE (subplot) Time 1 Time.Treat 2 Error(Sample) 3 Coefficient of D.o.o1, between different times any time or trea | 2 0.08 4 0.06 6 0.00 Variation two means in one trea tment: CMI df MS | 65 24.738 ****(* 67 19.081 ***(* 35 17.7 at - tment: 0.18 0.35 Case Activity F |) 0.23576) 0.13895 0.00304 17. 0. | 77.458 ***(** 45.653 ***(** 1 15 32 | ;) ;) |
| AMPLE (subplot) Time 1 Time.Treat 2 Error(Sample) 3 Coefficient of D.c.o1, between different times any time or trea NIT (plot) Treatment Error (unit) | 2 0.08 4 0.06 6 0.00 Variation two means in one trea tment: CMI df MS 2 4527.17 3 1.50 | 65 24.738 ****(* 67 19.081 ***(* 35 17.7 at - tment: 0.18 0.35 Case Activity F 1 3002.899 *** 8 |) 0.23576) 0.13895 0.00304 17. 0. | 77.458 ***(** 45.653 ***(** 1 15 32 | ;) ;) |
| AMPLE (subplot) Time 1 Time.Treat 2 Error(Sample) 3 Coefficient of 5D.0.01, between different times any time or trea NIT (plot) Treatment Error (unit) AMPLE (subplot) Time Time.Treat 1 Error(Sample) 1 | 2 0.08 4 0.06 6 0.00 Variation two means in one trea tment: CMI df MS 2 4527.17 3 1.50 6 1878.57 2 331.08 8 1.04 | 65 24.738 ****** 67 19.081 ******* 17.7 at - tment: 0.18 0.35 Case Activity F 1 3002.899 *** 8 1 1802.541 *** 4 317.683 *** |) 0.23576) 0.13895 0.00304 17. 0. | 77.458 ***(** 45.653 ***(** 1 15 32 | ;) ;) |
| AMPLE (subplot) Time 1 Time.Treat 2 Error(Sample) 3 Coefficient of SD.(0.01, between different times any time or trea NIT (plot) Treatment Error (unit) AMPLE (subplot) Time Time.Treat 1 Error(Sample) 1 Coefficient of | 2 0.08 4 0.06 6 0.00 Variation two means in one trea tment: CMI df MS 2 4527.17 3 1.501 6 1878.57 2 331.08 8 1.04 Variation | 65 24.738 ****** 67 19.081 ****(* 35 17.7 at - tment: 0.18 0.35 Case Activity F 1 3002.899 *** 8 1802.541 *** 4 317.683 *** 2 3.6 |) 0.23576) 0.13895 0.00304 17. 0. | 77.458 ***(** 45.653 ***(** 1 15 32 | · · · |

***- significant at p < 0.001, () significance level with 2 & 3 df.

² Data was transformed by log₁₀+ 1.

١

SPLIT-PLOT ADV OF COMPOST CHARACTERISTICS:

RB.) Urea-bark, Initial C:N=35.

| | | Carbon D | ioxide Ou | utput |
|--|------------------------|-----------------------------|-------------------|----------------------|
| | df | MS | F | |
| Treatment Error (unit) | 23 | 0.1211 0.03896 | 3.107 | ns |
| SAMPLE (subplot Time Time.Treat Error(Sample) |) 164 328 492 | 2.0196 0.8211 0.01845 | 109.438 44.493 | *** (**) *** (**) |
| % Coefficient o | f Vari | ation | 18.3 | |
| | | | | |

LSD.0.01, between two means at different times in one treatment: 0.35 any time or treatment: 0.79

| | | Ω. | .c. | P | н | , |
|---|----------------------------|----------------------------------|--------------------------------|---|-------------------|--------------------|
| UNIT (plot) | df | MS | F | MS | F . | |
| Treatment Error (unit) | 2 3 | 329.69 661.83 | 0.498 ns | 0.1866 0.0026 | 71.273 | * * |
| SAMPLE (subplot Time Time.Treat Error(Sample) |) 12 18 | 350.08 88.46 95.67 | 3.659 *(ns) 0.925 ns | 0.3666 0.7028 0.0093 | 39.479 75.684 | ***(**) ***(**) |
| % Coefficient o | f Var | iation | 4.7 | 1 | . 4 | |
| LSD(0.01) betwee different time any time or tru | en twi s in eatmei | o means at one treatme nt: | ent: 38.25 57.13 | 0 0 | .26 .56 | |
| | | Annon | ification | Nitri | fication | |
| HNIT (plot) | df | MS | F | MS | F | |
| Treatment Error (unit) | 2 5 | 86.514 1.478 | 58.537 ** | 1.934 0.672 | 2.876 | ns |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time Time.Treat Error(Sample) | 6 12 18 | 295.863 63.862 3.105 | 95.278 ***(*) 20.566 ***(*) | *) 163.569) 62.111 1.066 | 153.422 58.258 | *** ***(**) |
| % Coefficient of | F Vari | ation | 11.5 | 20. | . 2 | |
| LSD.co.oi, betwee different times any time or tre | en two s in o eatmer |) means at)ne treatme it: | - nt: 4.88 10.29 | 2. | 89 | |

| <u></u> | N: Ammoni | itrogen Volatili a | zation ² Nitrogen Dx | ides |
|--|--|-------------------------------|------------------------------------|--------------------------------|
| d | f MS | F | MS | F |
| UNIT (plot) Treatment 2 Error (unit) 3 | 6.953 0.110 | 62.998 ** | 0.0267 0.0146 | 1.822 ns |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time 12 Time.Treat 24 Error(Sample) 36 | 7.642 3.251 0.0751 | 159,416 *** 43.298 ***(**) | 0.3497 1 0.1312 0.1118 | 7.818 ***(ns) 6.685 ***(ns) |
| % Coefficient of V | ariation | 12.1 | 63.8 | |
| LSD(0.01) between different times i any time or treat | two means at - n one treatment ment: | t: 0.80 1.60 | 0.4 0.8 | 02 |
| | CMCase | Activity | Residual | Urea ² |
| ď | f HS | F | MS | F |
| UNIT (plot) Treatment 2 Error (unit) 3 | 130.673 6.441 | 20.319 * | 2.887 0.0098 | 293.845 *** (|
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time 6 Time.Treat 12 Error(Sample) 18 | 3964.310 10 221.626 3.605 | 99.676 *** 61.478 ***(**) | 2.2056 0.1503 0.00545 | 404.108 *** 27.588 ***(*) |
| X Coefficient of V | ariation | 3.8 | 8.4 | |
| LSD:0.01; between different times i any time or treat | two means at - n one treatment ment: | : 5.76 11.09 | 0.22 | |

¹ Calculated from the data given in Appendices 3 & 4.

. .•

ns- not significant (p < 0.05), **- significant at p < 0.01,

***- significant at p < 0.001, () significance level with 2 & 3 df.

² Data was transformed by log₁₀ (ammonia) & log₁₀+ 1 (N oxides & urea)

ź

R9.) Fish-, Urea-, & Sewage-bark, Initial C:N=25. *

| | Carbon E | ioxide Output | | |
|---|---------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|--|
| d+ | MS | F | | |
| UNIT (plot) Treatment Error (unit) | 2 0.63498 5 0.034186 | 18.574 * | | |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time 114 Time.Treat 226 Error(Sample) 342 | 2.94492 0.28237 0.006127 | 480.626 *** 46.085 ***(| *) | |
| ⊁ Coefficient of Va | riation | 9.9 | | |
| LSD.(0.01) between t different times in any time or treatm | wo means at - one treatmen ent: | t: 0.21 0.46 | | |
| | A.C | • | pH | |
| df | MS | F | MS | F |
| Treatment 2 Error (unit) 3 | 1420.82 103.27 | 13.758 * | 5.9172 | 273.099 *** |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time 6 Time.Treat 12 Error(Sample) 18 | 107.27 106.97 36.62 | 2.929 *(ns) 2.921 *(ns) | 0.3587 0.3407 0.0094 | 37.983 ***(**) 36.080 ***(**) |
| % Coefficient of Va | riation | 2.8 | 1.4 | 6 |
| LSD:0.01; between t different times in any time or treatm | wo means at - one treatmen ent: | t: 19.55 35.35 | 0.3 | \$0 \$7 |
| ζ | Anmoni | fication | Nitrifi | cation |
| df | MS | ` F | MS | F |
| Treatment 2 Error (unit) 3 | 1107.524 1.883 | 588.215 ***´ | 559.692 1.750 | 319.844 *** |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time 6 Time.Treat 12 Error(Sample) 18 | 264.937 100.405 2.101 | 126.076***(** 47.780 ***(* |)1052.212 1)124.244 0.5627 | 869.873 *** 220.793 *** |
| % Coefficient of Va | riation | 10.0 | 5. | 5 |
| LSD, between t different times in any time or treatm | wo means àt - one treatmen ent: | t: 4.17 8.41 | 2. 5. | 16 00 |
| | Ni | trogen Volati | lization Nitronen Ox | |
| d f | MS | F | MS | F |
| UNIT (plot) Treatment 2 Error (unit) 3 | 107.796 19 0.05396 | 97.841 *** | 12.588 3 0.003874 | 248.991 *** |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time 12 Time.Treat 24 Error(Sample) 36 | 6.939 6 4.883 4 0.01079 | 42.940 *** 52.398 *** | 2.595 2.457 0.008724 | 297.421 *** 281.639 *** |
| % Coefficient of Var | iation | 7.0 | 10. |) |
| LSD.0.01) between tw different times in any time or treatme | o means at - one treatment ent: | : 0.37 0.69 | 0. | 54 53 |
| | CMCase | Activity | | |
| df | MS | F | | |
| Treatment 2 Error (unit) 3 | 2438.818 7 3.296 | 39.972 *** | | |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time 6 Time.Treat 12 Error(Sample) 18 | 2813.554 20 392.305 2 1.355 | 76.209 *** 89.494 *** | | • |
| % Coefficient of Var | iation | 2.7 | | |
| LSD:0.03) between tw different times in any time or treatme | o means at - one treatment ent: | : 3.68 6.80 | | |
| Calculated from th | e data given | in Appendices | 3 & 4. | ······································ |

ns- not significant (p < 0.05), **- significant at p < 0.01, ***- significant at p < 0.001, () significance level with 2 & 3 df.</pre> SPLIT-PLOT ADV OF COMPOST CHARACTERISTICS:

Percentage Weight Loss as CO₂-C in Composts of Various C:N Ratios after 28d Composting. ¹

CO2-C Loss df MS F UNIT (plot) Treatment 185.617 0.423 19 439.247 *** Error (unit) 20 % Coefficient of Variation 4.1 LSD(0.05) between any two means : LSD(0.01) between any two means : 1.64 1.85 ¹ Calculated from the data given in Appendix 4. ***- significant at p < 0.001.

··· ·

Appendix - 6

ESTIMATED NUMBERS OF MICRODRGANISMS DURING COMPOSTING:

R2) - Millions CFU g⁻¹ Fish-Bark Compost, Initial C:N 45 or 65 ¹

| DAY, TEMP TREAT | Tot. Aero | al Count Therm Actir Anero mycete | oophiles 10- 25 Fungi | Nos. of T Cellulo- lytic | hermophiles b Ligno- Pectin lytic lytic | eing: o- Lipo- lytic |
|-----------------------------|--|---|--|--|---|--------------------------------------|
| 2, 30° C:N 45 C:N 65 | 0.54 0.50 0.50 0.48 | $\begin{array}{c} 0.15 < 0.01 \\ 0.10 < 0.01 \\ < 0.01 < 0.01 \\ < 0.01 < 0.01 \end{array}$ | < 0.01 < 0.01 < 0.01 < 0.01 | <pre>< 0.01 < < 0.01 < </pre> | 0.01 < 0.01 0.01 < 0.01 0.01 < 0.01 0.01 < 0.01 0.01 < 0.01 | 0.54 0.50 0.50 0.48 |
| 7, 50* C:N 45 C:N 65 | 12500.00 9870.00 190.00 143.00 | $\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$ | < 0.01 < 0.01 < 0.01 < 0.01 | <pre> (0.01</pre> | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | 697.00 841.00 168.00 143.00 |
| 14, 55' C:N 45 C:N 65 | 14500.00 16200.00 153.00 178.00 | 51.00 179.00 59.00 189.40 0.56 1.00 0.66 0.99 | <pre>0 < 0.01 0 < 0.01 0 < 0.01 0 < 0.01 0 < 0.01</pre> | 6020.00 < 6160.00 < 23.00 < 20.30 < | 0.01 2530.00 0.01 2840.00 0.01 335.00 0.01 341.00 | 14020.0 16090.0 106.0 113.0 |
| 28, 55° C:N 45 C:N 65 | 752.00 769.00 453.00 476.00 | <pre>< 0.01 56.40 < 0.01 57.65 < 0.01 2.36 < 0.01 2.47</pre> | <pre></pre> | 312.00 < 289.00 < 2.60 < 3.50 < | 0.01 335.00 0.01 341.00 0.01 436.00 0.01 440.00 | 702.00 719.00 65.00 67.00 |

³ Bacteria were enumerated on TSA(2.5.1.1.) (total aerobes) or TSA plus cysteine hydrochloride (total anaerobes), on mineral salts agar plus 0.5% Na carboxymethylcellulose (NaCMC), 0.3% Indulin AT + 0.1% NaCMC, or 0.5% pectin; or on Tween 20 agar (2.5.5.3) after incubation at 55° for 4d.

د

Split-plot ADV of Bacterial Counts During R2. *

| | | Total Anero | Count bic | |
|---|--|--|---|----------------|
| Unit (alat) | df | MS | F | |
| Treatment Error (units) | 1 2 | 3.1185 0.00132 | 2356.134 | *** |
| Sample (subplot) Time Time.Treat Error(sample) | 2 1 3 | 6.1433 1.6162 0.00601 | 1021.503 268.744 | *** ***(**) |
| Means & LSD a Days 2 7 14 | fter Log Tre C:N=45 -0,912 0.848 1.739 | Transfor eatment 5 C:N=0 a1 -2.15 a2 0.68 a3 -0.210 | mations 2; 65 3 ³ b1 6 a2 6 b3 | : |
| LSD(0.01) Comparison (a) at tl Comparison (1) at di | of two the same the s | reatments ime 0.0 one treats times 0.0 | s: 66 ment: 45 | |

% Lipolytic

| Total C | ount |
|---------|------|
| Aerob | ic |

| | | | | | · |
|---|---------------|------------------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------------|
| | df | MS | F | MS | F |
| Treatment Error (units) | 1 2 | 4.0728 0.00056 | 7228,226 *** | 3.7806 0.00101 | 3735.9 *** 2 |
| Sample (subplot) Time Time.Treat Error(sample) |) 3 6 | 11.2471 1.0633 0.00267 | 4200.587 *** 397.130 *** | 9.1736 (++)0.7783 0.00113 | 8117.1 *** 688.7 ***(* |
| Means & LSD a | fter Lo | 910 Transfi | ormations ² : | +e | |
| Days 2 | C:N= -0.28 | 45 C:N=4 4 a1 -0.31 | 65 ! 0 ai | C:N=45 100.0 a | C:N=65 1 100.0 a1 |
| 14 28 | 4.18 | 5 a3 2.21 1 a4 2.66 | 7 b2 : 7 b3 : | 6.7 a 96.7 a 86.9 a | 1 65.8 b3 3 14.1 b4 |
| LSD(0.01) Comparison | betweer | n two treat | tments (desig | nated by a | letter) |
| at ti | ne same | time: 0.4 | 46 0. | 13 | |
| Comparison | within | one treat | ment (designa | ated by a nu | eber) |
| at di | ltteren | t times: 0.1 | 19 0. | 33 | |

¹ The data from the above table was transformed (log₁₀) prior to the analysis. *** significant at p < 0.001, ** significant at p < 0.01, * significant at p < 0.05. Significance levels in parentheses are for the conservive test (using plot d.f.).

² Means were significantly different (LSD p < 0.01 or p < 0.05 if underlined) if followed by a different letter (6 df) in the one row or by a different number (conservative test 2 df) in the same column. ESTIMATED NUMBERS OF MICROORGANISMS DURING COMPOSTING

R4) - Millions CFU g-1 Fish- & Urea-bark Compost, Initial C:N=45. *

| Day,Temp Meso Treat Thermo | Total CFU Eubacteria Aero. Anaero | g-1 Compost A Actino- Fungi D. mycetes | Nos. Cellulo lytic | of Tota - Pectin lytic | al Flora t no- Xyland lytic | peing: p- Lipo- lytic |
|---|---|---|--|---|---|---|
| 7, 50 Fish-b MESO THERMO Urea-b MESO THERMO | $\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\begin{array}{c} \langle 0,1 \\ \langle 0,1 \\$ | 32.4 31.5 158.0 149.3 63.5 49.3 1.9 1.6 | 48.9 48.8 158.0 149.3 63.5 49.3 0.3 0.3 | 0.1 2.5 2.3 7.7 11.6 1.9 | <pre>< 0.1 < 0.1 B0.9 76.1 1.5 0.7 6.4 5.3</pre> |
| 14,55 Fish-b MESO " THERMO Urea-b MESO " THERMO | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | 81.9 76.0 678.1 674.1 12.0 17.8 < 0.1 < 0.1 | 81.9 79.0 1774.4 811.5 7.0 7.8 3.1 8.0 | <pre></pre> | 20.0 22.0 937.9 1028.8 12.0 17.8 190.3 282.0 |
| 28,55 Fish-b MESO THERMO Urea-b MESO THERMO | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | <pre>< 0.1 < 0.1 9.2 11.1 1.9 0.8 276.2 240.9</pre> | 10.2 13.2 79.9 100.5 74.0 70.5 29.9 30.9 | 2.0 2.3 < 0.1 < 0.1 < 0.1 531.6 520.5 | 2.3 3.0 69.2 82.7 60.8 54.3 479.2 503.9 |

³ Bacteria were enumerated on TSA(2.5.1.1.) (total aerobes), TSA plus cysteine hydrochloride (total anaerobes), on mineral salts agar plus 0.5% Na carboxymethylcellulose(NaCMC), 0.3% Indulin AT plus 0.1% NaCMC, or 0.5% pectin; or on Tween 20 agar (2.5.5.3) after incubation at 55° (thermo) or 28° (meso) for 4d. CFU of fungi were determined using PDA (2.5.5.6) at 55° or 28°.

y - yeast.

A6.3

Total Count Aerobic % Lipolytic df MS F MS F Isolate (plot) Treatment 1 Error (units) 2 0.51569 0.770 0.053 n.s. 102.324 ** Sample (subplot) Time Time.Treat 3 3 0.49675 0.57494 0.00267 186.041 ***(**)3053.220 215.326 *** 756.559 7.424 411.254 ***(**) 101.905 ***(**) Error(sample) 6 Incubation (Sample Subplot) Temperature 1 4.27966 14107 *** Temp.Time 3 0.78112 2574 *** Temp.Treat 1 0.03996 131.721 ***(Temp.Treat.Time 3 0.09555 314.955 *** Error 8 0.000303 527.325 126.840 *)2310.805 490.130 6.591 80.004 ***(*) 19.244 ***(*) 350.587 ***(**) 74.361 ***(*)) 2: Total Aerobic Count with Log Transformations Mesophiles Thermophiles Fish-bark Urea-bark ! Fish-bark Urea-Mean Counts & LSD Days Urea-bark 1.918 a1 2.570 b1 1.970 a1 1.800 b2 1.253 a2 1.894 b2 7 14 28 2.362 c1 2.440 c1 3.451 c1 3.070 d2 2.107 c2 3.044 d2 ì % Lipolytic Mesophiles Fish-bark Urea-bark Thermophiles Fish-bark Urea-bark Days 7 0.00 al 22.45 a2 14.65 a3 0.30 al 23.45 a2 73.30 b3

 34.15 c1
 2.15 a1

 30.75 c1
 19.75 d2

 59.20 c2
 44.40 d3

 14 26 LSD (0.03) Comparison of two treatments at the: Total Coun (a) same time and temperature 0.122 (b) same time, different temperature 0.096 Comparisons within one treatment and temperature: at different times 0.123 Total Count Lipolytic 0.122 1.68 0.096 5.24 6.47

÷ .

| Sp1 | it-plot | AOV | of | Microbial | Counts | During | R4. | 1 |
|-----|---------|-----|----|-----------|--------|--------|-----|---|
|-----|---------|-----|----|-----------|--------|--------|-----|---|

| | | % Cellu | lolytic | % Pectino | lytic |
|---|--|---|--|---|---|
| | df | MS | F | MS | F |
| Treatment Error (units) | 1 5 2 | 262.935 34.811 | 151.187 ± | 14970.015 24.082 | 621.635 * * |
| Sample (subplot Time Time.Treat Error(sample) |) 32 31 6 | 167.536 192.657 19.123 | 133.345 ***(62.367 *** | (**)1161.551 (*) 1518.939 19.629 | 59.175 ***(*) 77.382 ***(*) |
| Incubation (Sam Temperature Temp.Time | ple Subp 1 3 1 | lot) 626.300 555.943 | 71.762 ***(178.281 ***(| (*) 2181.227 (**) 828.203 | 581.660 ****(**) 220.854 ***(**) |
| Temp.Treat Temp.Treat.Time Error | 138 | 20.163 814.452 8.728 | 2.310 ***(93.320 ***(| ns) 1561.707 *) 1687.815 3.750 | 416.455 ***(**) 450.084 ***(**) |
| Means & LSD a | fter Log | , Transfo | rmations ² : 7 Celluloly | vtir | |
| Days 7 14 28 | fish-t 38.55 84.95 0.00 | fesophili bark Ure bal 15. ba2 23. ba3 1. | c a-bark ! 05 b1 ! 45 b2 ! 65 a3 ! | Thermo Fish-bark 66.85 c1 23.60 b2 7.90 a3 | ophilic Urea-bark 0.65 d1 0.00 d1 3.35 a1 |
| | | | % Pectino | lytic | |
| Days 7 14 28 | Fish-t 58.95 86.45 64.95 | fesophili park Ure 5 al 15. 5 al 15. 5 al 92. | r a-bark ! 05 b1 ! 75 b2 ! 10 b3 ! | Thermo Fish-bark 66.85 cl 64.60 cl 70.10 al | ophilic Urea-bark 0.10 d1 0.45 d1 2.75 c1 |
| LSD(0.01) Comparison (a) same (b) same Comparison (1) at d | of two time ar time, c within ifferent | treatmen od temper lifferent one trea | ts at the: % ature temperature tment and temp | Cellulolytic 20.74 8.12 perature: 10.38 | % Pectinolytic 13.59 7.43 10.51 |
| | | | | | - |

.

ç

Split-plot-ADV of Microbial Counts During R4. *

| 1-24 /-1-41 | đf | | | MS | | F | : | |
|---|-----------------------|------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--|--|----------------------------------|--------------------------|--|
| Treatment Error (units) | 1 2 | 1 | 375. 4 | 620 144 | • | 331. | 975 | ** |
| Sample (subplot Time Time.Treat Error(sample) |) 33 6 | 1 | 663 308 2 | 889 650 264 | - - | 293. 578. | 269 090 | *** (**) *** (**) |
| Incubation (San Temperature Temp.Time Temp.Treat Temp.Treat.Time Error | 1 3 1 3 8 | Sub | plo 150 715 106 104 | L) 5.75 3.65 3.00 4.45 0.95 | 0 0 5 4 | 1578. 7500. 1119. 1095. | 768 551 791 104 | *** *** *** |
| leans & LSD f | or | % of | th | e To | tal F | lora ł Bacij | ein Lus | g [#] : |
| Days 7 14 28 | F 1 | ish- 93.3 00.0 24.9 | Mesi bari 5 a: 0 a: 0 a: | ophi k U 2 3 | lic rea-b 59.00 70.90 2.90 | ark b1 b2 b3 | | Thermophilic Fish-bark Urea-bark 55.70 c1 5.40 d1 7.60 c2 53.30 d2 67.20 c3 66.60 c3 |
| LSD.o.oi, Comparison (a) same (b) same Comparison (1) at d | of ti ti wi | two me a me, thin eren | tre nd f diff one t ti | eatm temp fere tr ines | ents eratu nt te eatme | at the re mperat nt and | e: ure i te | 6.86 3.08 mperature: 3.57 |

The data is expressed as a percentage of the total aerobic count except for total aerobic counts which were transformed (log10) prior to the analysis. Day(s) when both treatments gave counts < 0.01 were not used in the anova (n.u.).
*** significant at p < 0.001, ** significant at p < 0.01, * significant at p < 0.05. Significance levels in parentheses are for the conservive test (2df).
² Means were significantly different (LSD p < 0.01) if followed by a different

letter (4 df) in the one row or by a different number (2df) in the same column.

Estimated Numbers of Microorganisms During Composting: Comparison of Numbers of Thermophiles in Fish-bark Mixes Composted with Aeration at 10 or 30 mL min⁻¹. ¹

df MS F ' . Unit (plot) Treatment 1 Error (units) 2 3.522 762.272 ** Sample (subplot) 1.750 0.2723 0.002370 738.246 ***(**) 114.686 **(**) Time 2 Time.Treat 2 Error(sample) 4 Means & LSD after Log Transformations 2: Treatments 10 mL min⁻¹ Days 30 mL min-1 4.049 b1 4.191 b1 2.912 b2 2.362 a1 3.451 a2 2.085 a3 7 14 28 LSD(0.01) Comparison of two treatments: (a) at the same time Comparison within one treatment: (1) at different times 0.483 0.257 ¹ The data from the above table was transformed (log₁₀)

prior to the analysis. *** significant at p < 0.001, ** significant at p < 0.01, * significant at p < 0.05. Significance levels in parentheses are for the conservative test (using plot d.f.).

² Means were significantly different (LSD p < 0.01) if followed by a different letter (4 df) in the one row or by a different number (conservative test 2df) in the same column.

•••••

A6.6

| Initial C:N | Estim | ated Numbers | x 1000 g ⁻ | ¹ Compost |
|-------------|------------|--------------|-----------------------|----------------------|
| | Faecal | Coliforms | Faecal S ⁻ | treptococci |
| | 25 | 35 | 25 | 35 |
| - Day | | | | |
| 0 | 7980.0 | 7620.0 | 28190.0 | 23660.0 |
| | 7890.0 | 7440.0 | 23660.0 | 23710.0 |
| 7 | 612.0 | 636.0 | 863.0 | 5381.0 |
| | 588.0 | 598.0 | 872.0 | 5440.0 |
| 14 | 0.9 0.8 | 1.2 | 80.2 87.1 | 120.0 |
| 21 | 0.2 0.3 | 0.6. | 45.1 40.6 | 22.6 20.0 |
| 28 | < 0.1 | < 0.1 | 22.8 | 36.7 |
| | < 0.1 | < 0.1 | 20.1 | 30.1 |

Estimated Numbers of Faecal Coliforms & Faecal Streptococci in Sewage-bark Composts of Initial C:N=25 & 35 ¹

¹ Counts of faecal coliforms were estimated form the number of yellow colonies on lactose teepol agar which gave the appropriate IMVC reactions (Mara, 1974). Counts of faecal streptococci were estimated from the number of red colonies on m-enterococcus agar and shown to be minute red colonies on MacConkey agar and Gram positive catalase-negative cocci in chains.

Split-plot ADV of Faecal Indicator Bacteria. 1

| | F | aecal Colif | oras | Faecal Stre | tococci |
|---|--------------------------|--|--------------------------|-------------------------------|---|
| | df. | MS | F | MS | F , |
| Treatment Error (units) | 1 2 | 0.07341 0.00121 | 60.901 ** | 0.09908 0.00275 | 36.046 ** |
| Sample (subplot) Time Time.Treat Error(sample) | 4 4 8 | 23.3425 0.0350 0.0024 | 9768.3 *** 14.6 ***(* | 6.8244) 0.1676 0.00101 | 6737.6 *** 165.5 *** |
| Means & LSD 2 | : | | Trostant | - | |
| Dave | C • N= | 25 C+N=3 | 5 I | » Γ•₩=25 | C • N=35 |
| 54,5 | 3.90 | Dal 3.877 | ัล1 เ | 4,451 | al 4.375 al |
| ž | 2.77 | 3 a2 2.795 | a2 ! | 2.943 | a2 3.733 b2 |
| 14 21 28 | -0.07 -0.61 -2.000 | 1 a3 0.113 1 a4 -0.188 0 a5 -2.000 | b3 ! b4 ! a5 ! | 1.927 1.631 1.331 | a3 2.030 a3 a4 1.328 b4 a4 1.522 b5 |
| LSD(0.01) Comparison at th | betweer ne same | n two treat time: | ments (design | nated by a 1 | etter) |
| | | 0.1 | 6 0.: | 11 | |
| Comparison at di | within fferent | one treatm times: | ent (designai | ted by a num | ber) |
| | | 0.2 | 7 0.3 | 22 | |

¹ The data from the above table was transformed (log₁₀) prior to the analysis. *** significant at p < 0.001, ** significant at p < 0.01, * significant at p < 0.05. Significance levels in parentheses are for the conservative test (using plot d.f.).

² Means were significantly different (LSD p < 0.01 or p < 0.05 if underlined) if followed by a different letter (6 df) in the one row or by a different number (conservative test 2 df) in the same column.

APPENDIX - 7

ENZYME ACTIVITIES DURING COMPOSTING.

1. RELATIVE CARBOXYMETHYL CELLULASE ACTIVITY DURING COMPOSTING:

A.) Effect of pH on the CMCase Activity of Fish-bark Compost. ¹

| | 4.5 | 5.0 | 5.5 | 6.0 | рН 6.5 | 7.0 | 7.5 | 8.0 | 8.5 |
|----------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|-----------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|
| Rep 1 Rep 2 | 59.11 60.36 | 65.32 63.98 | 72.59 72.02 | 77.21. 78.10 | 75.11 75.45 | 68.42 68.03 | 63.86 64.83 | 60.19 61.22 | 58.35 57.60 |
| Mean | 59.74 | 64.65 | 72.31 | 77.66 | 75.28 | 68.23 | 64.35 | 60.71 | 57.98 |

¹Fish-bark compost (initial C:N=45) was composted for 20d prior to assay (0.5g in 10mL NaCMC for 1h at 65°). The pH was controlled by a citrate-phosphate buffer (0.15mM). See Figure 19.

B.) Effect of Temperature on the CMCase Activity of Fish-bark Compost. ¹ Split-plot ADV

| Source of Vari | ation | df | MS | | F-test | |
|--|---|---|--|--|---|--|
| Units (Plots) (Temperato Error(tem | Stratum ure mp.) | 6 6 | 16998.23 2394.66 | | 7.10 + 2 | |
| Sample (Subplo [†] Time Treat.ti Error(sul | ts) Stra me bplots) | 111 5 30 35 | 4131.82 92.54 259.47 | | 15.92 ***(0.35 ns | ₩¥) |
| Day | 50. | 55* | Temperat 60* | ure 65° | 70° 75° | |
| 4 8 12 16 20 24 28 | 79.48 70.35 50.30 48.21 40.83 31.54 20.57 | a1 ³ 85.24 a2 72.9 a3 54.7 a3 50.5 a3 41.2 a4 32.8 a5 22.3 | 7 a1 84.43 7 a2 69.36 7 a3 53.18 4 a3 51.71 5 a: 42.53 7 a4 39.50 5 a5 33.54 | a1 81.83 a2 68.68 a3 57.03 a3 £1.04 a3 48.06 b3 42.16 b3 38.46 | a1 79.61 a1 a2 64.38 a2 a3 42.61 b3 b3 40.43 c3 a4 39.13 b3 b4 38.78 b3 b4 35.33 b3 | 49.44 bi 41.49 bi 28.51 c2 26.83 d2 19.99 c3 19.94 c3 17.44 c3 |
| ¹ Fish-bark con and assayed for 1h. Reult ² Significant a | ∎post (i (0.5g in ts are a at: *- p | nitial (10mL 0 mean of { 0.05 | C:N=55) was .4% NaCMC ; F duplicate , *±- p < (| s sampled oH 6.0) a e assays.).01, **** | at the days t temperature See Figure 2 - p ← 0.001. | specified es designated 20. |

³ Means followed by the same letter in the same row or the same number in the same column are not significantly (LSD_{(0.01}) = 6.44 & 9.24 respectively) different.

C.) Mean Relative CMCase Activity in Fish-bark Composts

of Various C:N Ratios. 1

Split-plot AOV

| Source of Variation | df | MS | F-test |
|---|----------------------|------------------------------|----------------------------|
| Units (Plots) Stratum Treatment Error(treat) | 5 6 | 272.275 0.B19 | 332.407 *** = |
| Sample (Subplots) Stra Time Treat.time Error(subplots) | tum 6 30 36 | 669.280 1048.652 5.374 | 124.547 *** 195.145 *** |

| Day | Fish-bark of Initial C:N Ratio: 25 35 45 55 65 |
|-----|--|
| 4 | 9.10 a ³ 9.55 a 31.62 b 82.96 c 83.26 c |
| 8 | 32.41 a 38.92b 45.73 c 59.42 d 71.01 e |
| 12 | 43.84 a 56.77 b 62.95 b 51.70 c 48.23 c |
| 16 | 73.20 a 67.50 ab64.10 b 40.96 c 52.06 d |
| 20 | 74.83 a 80.99 a 76.83 a 44.41 b 49.77 b |
| 24 | 83.39 a 78.63 a 73.96 a 40.42 b 46.23 b |
| 28 | B5.69 a 77.10 a 75.57 a 29.20 b 31.84 b |

¹ Fish-bark mixes were composted as described in Appendix 1. Samples (0.5g) were assayed in 10mL 0.4% NaCMC at pH 6.0 65° for 1h. Results are a mean of duplicates reported in Appendix 4.

2 Significant at p < 0.001</pre>

³ Means followed by the same letter in the same row or the same number in the same column are not significantly (LSD_(0,01) = 6.38 & 8.76 respectively) different. See Figure 21.

D.) Mean Relative CMCase Activity in Fish-, Urea- & Sewage-bark Mixes of Initial C:N=25 or 35. ¹

Split-plot ADV

÷ .

• .

| Source | ē of Varia | tion | df | MS | : : | | F-te: | 5t | | |
|--------|--|-------------------------------|------------------|---------|---------------------------|------------|----------------|------------|----------------|-----|
| Units | (Plots) S Treatment Error(tre | tratum at) | 5 6 | . 23 | 24.144 5.436 | | 2565. | . 484 | 7 *** 2 | |
| Sample | (Subplot Time Treat.tim Error(sub | s) Stratu ne 3 plots) 3 | m 6 0 6 | 50 4 | 77.519 23.519 1.601 | | 3172. 264. | 169 | 7 *** 3 *** | |
| Day | Fish | C:N=25 Urea | | Sewage | Fis | h | C:N=35 Urea | 5 | Sewage | |
| 4 | 9.10 | a1 ³ 8.64 | ai | 13.78 b | 1 9.63 | ai | 9.71 | ai | 16.73 | b 1 |
| В | 32.42 | a2 10.07 | Ь1 | 25.22 c | 2 36.83 | d 2 | 33.16 | a2 | 23.50 | c 2 |
| 12 | 43.85 | a3 20.07 | b 2 | 37.60 c | 3 56.77 | d 3 | 55.08 | d 3 | 28.56 | еЗ |
| 16 | 73.20 | a4 53.38 | ЬJ | 42.26 c | 4 66.98 | d 4 | 78.31 | e4 | 22.75 | f2 |
| 20 | 74.83 | a4 76.19 | a4 | 42.69 b | 5 81.00 | c 5 | 79.76 | c 4 | 37.43 | d 4 |
| 24 | 83.39 | a5 78.88 | b 4 | 33.20 с | 6 63.15 | d 3 | 69.71 | e5 | 16.11 | fi |
| 28 | 85.69 | a5 85.46 | a5 | 32.95 b | 6 51.72 | c 6 | 54.10 | e 3 | 10.14 | d 4 |

¹ Fish-bark mixes were composted as described in Appendix 1. Results are a mean of duplicates reported in Appendix 4. See Figure 22. Samples (0.5g) were assayed in 10mL 0.4% NaCMC at pH 6.0 65° for 1h.
³ Significant difference at p < 0.01.

³ Means followed by the same letter in a row or same number in a column were not significantly different (LSD_{(0.01})=3.444 & 4.541 respectively).

| Day | Urea-bark | Urea-bark + p-benzoquinone | 1BDU-bari |
|------|-----------------------|-------------------------------|-----------|
| 4 | 11.46 a1 ² | 5.51 bi | 6.61 b1 |
| 8 | 40.67 a2 | 22.84 b2 | 26.88 b2 |
| 12 | 54.22 a3 | 35.21 b3 | 25.88 c2 |
| 16 | 75.89 a4 | 61.69 64 | 53.91 c3 |
| 20 | 81.74 a4 | 87.21 b5 | 70.22 c4 |
| 24 | 63.01 a3 | · 69.40 b4 | 80.08 c4 |
| 28 . | 50.90 a23 | 61.06 b4 | 75.35 c4 |

E.) Mean Relative CMCase Activity in Urea-, Urea+p-benzoquinoneand IBDU-bark Mixes of Initial C:N=35. ¹

> ¹ Fish-bark mixes were composted as described in Appendix 1. Results are a mean of duplicates reported in Appendix 4. Samples (0.5g) were assayed in 10mL 0.4% NaCMC at pH 6.0 65° for 1h.

> ² Means followed by the same letter in the one row or same letter in the same column were not significantly different (LSD.co.ox) =5.77 & 11.09 respectively, see Appendix 5 for ADV).

2.) LIPASE ACTIVIY DURING COMPOSTING:

R5) Lipase activity During the Composting of Fish-bark, Initial C:N=45 & 55

Split-plot ADV 1

| Source of Variation | df | MS | | F-test | | |
|--|-------------------------|--------------------------------|----------------|---------------------|------------|-------------------|
| Units (Plots) Stràtum Treatment Error(treat) | 1 2 | 0.01868 | 789 | 374.420 | ŧŧ | |
| Sample (Subplots) Strat Time Treat.time Error(subplots) | 6 6 12 | 0.13914 0.01785 0.000064 | 144 | 2159.202 276.988 | ### *** | (= *) |
| % Coefficient of Variat | ion | | 2.2 | | | |
| LSD.co.or, between two a different times in one any time or treatment: | eans at - e treatmen | 1 t: | 0.025 0.078 | | | <u></u> |

¹ Calculated from the data given in Appendix 4 after transformation (log₁₀ + 1). See Figure 23.

ns- not significant (p < 0.05), ##~ significant at p < 0.01, ###~ significant at p < 0.001, () significance levels with 1 & 2 df. Means after Log10 + 1 Transformation.

APPENDIX - 8

NITROGEN TRANSFORMATIONS and pH DURING COMPOSTING:

A.) Fish-bark Composts, Initial C:N=25 to 55. *

Split-plot ADV

| | | Annon | ificatio | a | Nitri | ication | |
|---|------------------------------------|-------------------------------|---------------------|-------------------------|------------------------------------|------------------------|-------------------|
| UNIT (plot) Treatment | df 4 14 | M5 12.143 | F 5604.402 | *** | MS 61.331 | F 504.810 |) *** |
| Error (unit) SAMPLE (subplot) Time Time.Treat Error(Sample) | 5 6 24 30 | 25.167 10.341 6.736 | 151.246 62.148 | *** *** | 116.842 11.210 0.030 | 3857.324 370.084 | *** |
| % Coefficient of | F Variati | ion | 1 | 6.2 | | 5 | 5.3 |
| LSD(0.01) betwee different times any time betwee | en two me s in one en treatm | eans at treatme ment: | - nt: 1. 1. | 12 54 | . • | (|).48),84 |
| - 01-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1 | | Ammon | Nitrogen ia | Volati | lization ² Nitrogen | Oxides | |
| UNIT (plot) | df | MS | F | d | f MS | F | |
| Treatment Error (unit) | 3 4 | 0.0589 0.00000 | 11821.70 498 | 59°### | 1 0.2158 2 0.000284 | 758.614 4 | *** |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time Time.Treat Error(Sample) | 12 36 48 | 0.00288 0.00318 0.00004 | 70.8 78.2 069 | 15*** 1 23*** 1 2 | 2 0.0477 2 0.0167 4 0.000271 | 175.935 61.545 4 | ***(**) ***(*) |
| % Coefficient of | Variati | on | 15.9 | 7 | 10 | .4 | |
| LSD(0.03) betwee different times any time or tre | en two me in one eatment: | eans at treatme | - nt: 0.1 0.2 | 171 284 | 01 | .461 .638 | |
| | | | | | | | |

* Calculated from the data given in Appendix 4.

ns- not significant (p < 0.05), ##- significant at p < 0.01,

***- significant at p < 0.001, () significance levels with 3 & 4 df.

² Data was transformed by log¹ + 1 & reported transformed.

| | | • | • | | · ·· - • • • • |
|--|--------------------------|-----------------------------------|---|-------------------------------|-----------------------------|
| | | Anno | onification | Nitri | fication |
| | df | MS | F | MS | F |
| Treatment Error (unit) | 5 6 | 1049.174 1.030 | 1018.424 *** | 644.559 1.882 | 342.565 *** |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time Time.Treat Error(Sample) | 30 36 | 315.057 61.431 1.225 | 257.173 *** 50.145 *** | 1563.569 136.100 1.030 | 1518.078 *** 132.140 *** |
| % Coefficient of | Vari | ation | 9.6 | | 8.9 |
| LSD(0.01) betwee different times any time betwee | n two in o n trea | means at ne treatm atment: | ient: 3.01 4.06 | | · 2.76 3.99 |
| х т. т. х | | . Anno | Nitrogen Volat nia | ilization Nitrogen | Oxides 2 |
| 111177 / 1 - 4 1 | d f | MS | F | MS | F |
| Treatment Error (unit) | 55 | 5461.694 14.551 | 375.338 *** | 0.28855 0.00013 | 2133.515 *** 52 |
| SAMPLE (subplot) Time Time.Treat Error(Sample) | 12 60 72 | 420.544 284.912 3.594 | 117.025 *** 79.282 *** | 0.09711 0.03156 0.02144 | 247.005 *** 80.285 *** |
| % Coefficient of | Varia | ation | 18.8 | 10 |).5 |
| LSD(0.01) between different times any time or trea | n two in or atment | means at ne treatm :: | ent: 5.027 7.807 | |).0526).0716 |
| ¹ Calculated from ns- not signi +**- significal | m the ficant nt at | data giv : (p < 0. p < 0.00 | en in Appendix 05), **- signif 1, | 4. icant at p | < 0.01, |

| Solit-o | lot | ANV |
|---------|-----|-----|
|---------|-----|-----|

 $^{\rm 2}$ Data was transformed by \log_{10} + 1 & reported transformed.

pH DURING COMPOSTING:

pH in Fish-, Urea- and Sewage-bark Composts, of Various Initial C:N Ratios. *

Split-plot ADV

| | Fis | h-, Urea- omposts, | & Sewage C:N=25 & S | -bark 35. | Fish-ba C:N | rk Composts, ⊨25 to 65. |
|--|------------------------------|---------------------------------|------------------------|--------------------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|
| | df | MS | F | | MS | F |
| UNIT (plot) Treatment Error (unit) | 5 6 | 7.746 0.00927 | 835.535 | *** | 2.596 0.0142 | 183.551 *** |
| SAMPLE (subplot Time Time.Treat Error(Sample) |) 7 35 42 | 2.257 0.3217 0.3217 | 210.903 | • * * • * * | 3.8156 0.2548 0.0124 | 314.227 *** 20.987 *** |
| % Coefficient o | f Varia | tion . | 1.6 | | | i.7 |
| LSD' betwee different time any time betwee | en two s∙in on en trea | means at e treatme tment: | - nt: 0.38 0.28 | 8 | | . 0.51 |
| ³ Calculated fr | om the | data give | n in Apper | ndix 4. | | |

ns- not significant (p < 0.05), **- significant at p < 0.01,

#**- significant at p < 0.001,</pre>

APPENDIX - 9

IDENTIFICATION & BIOCHEMICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF COMPOST ISOLATES

All Bacillus spp. were identified by the methods of Gordon, et.al. (1973) while other bacteria were identified using Bergey's (1974) and fungi were identified morphologically (Barrow, Manual 1968).

Thermophilic Bacillus spp. were also analysed using the Clustan 1C program (Wishart, 1968). Most strains were placed into one of 12 phenons (Figure 36) grouped, as indicated in the tables, by the UPGMA algorithm (Sneath and Sokal, 1973) using the simple matching coeffifient (Sokal and Michener, 1958). Strains of Β. stearothermophilis were also placed into the three groups (g1, ٥2 or q3) of Walker and Wolf (1971).

<u>KEY</u>

Gram: Gram stain reaction (+/-).

Morphology: morphology under high power (d- dipteroid, f- filamentous, F-fungal, p- pleomorphic, pr- palisade rods, r- rod, y- budding yeast). Mycelium: aerial mycelium (+/-).

Spore

pore Swollen; swelling of the sporangium (+/-). Location: (c- central, p- paracentral, s- subterminal, t- terminal cl- chain of > 50 spores, cs- chain of < 20 spores, mf- mycelium frag-ments into spores, a- aerial spores only, as- aerial & substrate borne). Spreader: spreading growth on TSA (2.0% agar) (+/-).

Metabolism: oxidative or respiratory metabolism in Huge & Leifsons medium.

Flaglla: presence of flagella (s-single polar, p- peritricous, or -).

Pigment: colony colour (B- blue, b- brown, 6- green, g- grey, r- red-pink, v- violet, w- white, y- yellow or - nil).

Acid fast: acid fast cell wall (+/-).

Cell Wall: cell wall type (1, 2, 3, 4).

M.R.: methyl red test for acid (+/-).

V.P.: Voges-Proskauer test for acetoin production (+/-).

V.P. pH: pH in unbuffered V.P. broth after 7d incubation; uninoculated control = 6.8 (pH).

Catalase: prduction of O_{z} from cells in a drop of 0.3% peroxide (+/-).

 30° , 55° , 65° , 70° : growth on TSA or at 70° , TS medium (+/-).

7% salt: growth in nutrient broth with 7% NaCl added.

Citrate: utilization as sole C source (+/~).

Azide: growth in dextrose broth plus 0.02% Na azide (+/-).

Anaerobic: growth on TSA slant under anaerobic conditions (S- strict anaerobe,+/-). pH 7.5: growth at pH 5.7 on Sabouraud dextrose slant (+/-).

Arabinose, Xylose, Mannose, Glucose: growth and acid production on slant of basal medium (inorganic N) with 0.5% sugar added (+/-). Starch: hydrolysis after 5d.

NO₂: reduction of nitrate to nitrite within 14d.

N₂: reduction of nitrate to dinitrogen within 14d.

DNase: hydrolysis on DNase agar (Oxoid) within 5d (+/-).

RNase: hydrolysis, as for DNase except bovine RNA replaced DNA (+/-).

Cellulase, Lignase, Pectinase, Xylanase: hydrolysis.of NaCMC, Indulin AT lignin, pectin or xylan in mineral salts agar with 0.5% C source added to the top

layer (s- strong, m- medium, w- weak hydrolysis or - nil). Lipase: hydrolysis of Tween 20 (+/-).

| · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | | | | |
|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | | | | | |
| Isolate Identifi | ration Phenon Pation | Position Spreader Pigment V.P. | Catalase 30° 55° 65° 72 Salt | Azide Azide Anaerobic PH 5.7 Arabinose Xylose Mannose Blucose Starch | Nase DNase RNase Cellulase Lipase Pectinase Xylanase |
| TSA-3 B.brevis TSA-8 B.brevis TSA-61 B.brevis TSA-61 B.brevis TSA-61 B.brevis TSA-61 B.brevis LIG-105 B.brevis TSA-185 B.brevis TSA-226 B.brevis LIG-30 B.brevis LIG-30 B.brevis LIG-27 B.brevis LIG-27 B.brevis LIG-82 B.brevis LIG-81 B.brevis TSA-90 B.brevis TSA-91 B.brevis TSA-91 B.brevis LIG-106 B.brevis TSA-151 B.brevis | ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++ | 43200546143534654202610460 ++ | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | | - + + - m |
| PA -103 B.circula TSA-115 B.circula PA -129 B.circula TSA-139 B.circula TSA-181 B.circula TSA-224 B.circula TSA-225 B.circula PA -232 B.circula LIG-243 B.circula LA -235 B.circula LA -238 B.circula LA -238 B.circula LA -200 B.circula | 10.5 2 + 10.5 2 + 10.5 2 + 10.5 2 + 10.5 2 + 10.5 2 + 10.5 2 + 10.5 2 + 10.5 2 + 10.5 6 + 10.5 6 + 10.5 6 + 10.5 6 + 10.5 6 + 10.5 6 + 10.5 6 + 10.5 6 + | t s | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | - + + |
| CMC-13 B.coagula CMC-163 B.coagula | Tis Tis - + | 5 - + - 4.4 5 + 4.8 + 4.8 | + - + + - + - | + + + - + | - + + |
| PA -12 B.megater | ium 12 + | 5 4,8 | +++++ | ++++++ | - + + - 5 |
| TSA-18 B.sphaeri TSA-21 B.sphaeri LA -71 B.sphaeri CMC-74 B.sphaeri PA -101aB.sphaeri TSA-122 B.sphaeri | cus 9 + cus 9 + cus 9 + cus 9 + cus 9 + cus 9 - cus 10 - | s + 7.6 s + 7.4 t 8.2 s 7.3 s 8.0 s 8.3 | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | | - + + + 0 - + + 0 + 0 - + W |
| LA -68 B.stearo. CMC-26 B.stearo. LIG-B3 B.stearo. CMC-98 B.stearo. PA -24 B.stearo. PA -25 B.stearo. LA -69 B.stearo. TSA-182 B.stearo. TSA-117 B.stearo. LIG-199 B.stearo. LIG-199 B.stearo. TSA-19 B.stearo. TSA-19 B.stearo. TSA-14 B.stearo. TSA-14 B.stearo. TSA-14 B.stearo. TSA-14 B.stearo. TSA-14 B.stearo. TSA-14 B.stearo. TSA-14 B.stearo. | 13333-444 13333-444 113333-444 113333-444 11333333 11122222223333333 113333333333 | 54555555555555 5455555555555555 | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | + + + - 5 + + 6 |
| CHC-2E B, sp. LIP-43 B, sp. TSA-60 B, sp. TSA-92 B, sp. CMC-100 B, sp. PA -102bB, sp. | - + 1a + 3 + 3 - 1b + | c 5.2 t 4.9 s + 8.6 s 8.2 s 6.4 s 5.6 | + + + + - + - + + + + + + - + + + + - + + + + | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | |

•

Thermophilic Bacillus spp. Isolates, R2

ı

,

Appendices

Other Thermophiles, R2

| | | | | | | | | ; | - | | | | - | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | - |
|--|--|------------------|------------------|-------------------|------------------|-------------------|----------|----------------------|------------------|--------|--------|------------------|--------|------------------|------------|-----|--------------------|-------|-------------|--------|------------------|-----------------|------------|----------------|------------------|-----|------------------|--------------|-----------|------------------|-------------|-------------|-----------|
| Isolate | ldentification | Bram Stain | Morphology | Mytelium Soore | | Metabolism | Flagella | Pigment Arid fort | Fall wall | M.R. | ч. Р. | Catalase | 30. | 55 | 65. | 70. | // Salt Fitrate | Azide | Anaerobic | pH 5.7 | Arabinose v . | A Y I D S P | | Starch | L UN | N a | DNase | RNase | Cellulase | Lignase | Lipase | Pectinase | lXvlanase |
| CMC-203 CMC-205 | Cellulomonas sp. Cellulomonas sp. | + + | р р | | | o f | - 1 | y - y - | | - | + + | + - | + + | + + | + - | + - | + - | - | - | - + | + + | - | - 4 | + + ; - | - | - | + - | + - | W | - | W | ₩ | ₩ - |
| TSA-184 CMC-123 LIG-198 LIG-240 | Corynebacterium sp. Coryneform Coryneform Coryneform | + + + + | r c d d | | | f - 0 - 0 - | - 1 | r - r - | 1 1 1 | | | + + + + | | + + + + | + + | | + - | - | + - - | | - + - + | - + · + · | + + | + + + - | ++++ | | + - - + | + + | 1 1 3 3 | - - - c | ¥ ¥ | A | |
| TSA-166 TSA-167 | Clostridium sp. Clostridium sp. | + + | r r | - - 5 | t t | f f | | | | + + | - | - | + + | + + | - | | - + | ++ | 5 | + + | + - | + | + + + + | + + + + | + + | - | + + | + + | - | Ë, | - | តា ល | ₩ |
| LIG-201 | Nocardia sp. T3 | + | f | - A | f | 0 | - ' | y .+ | 4 | - | - | + | - | +, | - | | | | | | | | + + | | + | ÷ | | | - | | - | W | - |
| LIP-94 TSA-118 LIP-191 LIP-192 | Streptomyces sp. Streptomyces sp. Streptomyces sp. Streptomyces sp. | + + + + | f f f f | + c + c | 1 1 1 1 | 0 | | y p y y | 1 1 1 1 | | | + + + + | | + + + | - - | | + - | - | | | + | + + + + + | | - + | + + + + | | + - + + | + - -+ | | | - M 5 | - M 5 | |
| TSA-188 | Thermomonospora sp. | + | f | + a | 5 | o · | - 1 | W | 4 | | | + | - | + | - | - | | | - | | - | - | + + | ł | + | - | | | - | - | - | W | - |

.....

Ą

A-9.3

Appendices

Thermophilic Bacillus spp., R4

| Isolate | Identification | Phenon . | Swollen Position | Spreader | V.P. | pH V.P. | Catalase | 30. | 55. | 65 | 77. Salt | Citrate | Azide | Anaerobic | Arabinose | Xylose | Mannose | Glucose | Starch | NO2 | Z . | DNase | RNase | [Cellulase | Lipase | 74661 = 1000 | X y l anase |
|---|--|--|---|---------------|--------|--|---|---------------|---|-------------------|---|-----------------------|--------|-------------------|-------------------------------------|---|------------|---|-------------|-----------------|-------------|---------|-----------------------|------------|----------------|--------------|-------------|
| TSA-408 CMC-542 TSA-404 CMC-464 TSA-418 6AA-548 TSA-454 TSA-454 TSA-407 TSA-530 CMC-536 | B.brevis B.brevis B.brevis B.brevis B.brevis B.brevis B.brevis B.brevis B.brevis B.brevis B.brevis | 1a 125557888 | * * * * * * * * * * * | + - + + + + + | ++ | 8.3 8.0 8.4 8.3 8.0 8.0 8.5 8.1 | + + + + + + - + | + + | +++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++ | | - + | + _ + | | | + | + + - + | | ++++++++++ | | + + - + - + - + | ++-+-+ | + + + | +++ | | | | |
| TSA-401 TSA-402 TSA-406 TSA-410 LIG-467 TSA-529 CMC-543 TSA-552 TSA-403 TSA-403 TSA-401 LA -461 LA -533 | B.circulans B.circulans B.circulans B.circulans B.circulans B.circulans B.circulans B.circulans B.circulans B.circulans B.circulans B.circulans B.circulans B.circulans | 99999555555555555555555555555555555555 | +++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++ | | | 565556564556 5655564556 | +++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++ | +- | * * * * * * * * * * * | | | 1 1 1 1 1 + 1 + 1 1 1 | -+ | +-+ | - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + | +++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++ | + | + | +++++++-+ | + | | | ++++++++ | | - 5 - (5 5 80 | 11171101110 | |
| LA -414 TSA-553 | B.coagulans B.coagulans | 2 | + t + c | | + - | 4.8 4.3 | + - | - . | + · + · | + - | | - | - + | + - | + + | + - | - | + + | + + | + - | - | - | + - | - | - 6, | - | • |
| LIG-547 | B.#eçaterium 1 | 12 | - 5 | | - | 6.3 | + | + | + - | | + | ÷ | | - + | - | - | - | + | + | - | - | + | + | - | - | 5 | - |
| LA -462 TSA-4003 TSA-459 TSA-5284 LA -5345 CMCC-5445 CMCC-5445 CMCC-5445 CMCC-5445 CMCC-5445 CMCC-5445 CAA-5551 TSA-551 | B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus | 69999999999999999999999999999999999999 | + + + + + + + + + + + + | | | 7.044063636464 888888887.777777777777 | -++++++++++ | + - + + + + + | + | | + - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + | | +++ | | | | | * | | | | + + - + | _ + + + + + - + + - + | | A - A - WW- S | | |
| LIG-469 TSA-493 TSA-494 | B.stearo.g1 B.sp. B.sp. | | + t + 5 + t | | ++ | 5.B 4.9 5.3 | + + + | - + + | + + + + | + + + + + + | +++ | ++++ | - | + - + - + - | + + + | + + + | + + | ++++ | + + + | + + - | + + - | +++ | + + + | - | - | - | 5 |

Mesophilic Bacillus spp.,R4

| TSA-421 TSA-481 CMC-488 CMC-489 TSA-673 | B.brevis B.brevis B.brevis B.brevis B.brevis B.brevis | + + + + + + | 5050 | | | | 8.2 8.4 8.6 8.3 8.4 | + + + + + + | + + + + + | | | | | + - + - + | - + + + + - | | | | | | | | ++++- | | | ++++- | 1 3 3 1 3 | | - 2 2 2 - | |
|---|--|---------------------|-------------|---|---|---|--|---------------------------------|-----------------------|-------------|---|---|-------------|-------------|-------------------|---|-------------|---|---|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------|-------------|-------------|-------------|------------|---------|-----------------|---|
| TSA-424 TSA-427 TSA-594 | B.circulans B.circulans B.circulans B.circulans | + + + | C C 5 | | | | 5.0 5.2 5.7 | + + + | + + + | - + - | | | + + - | - - + | + - + | | - + - | - | | - + - | - - + | + + - | | | + + + | + + - | | | 10 10 11 | - |
| TSA-429 TSA-483 LIP-487 GAA-601 LIG-669 | 6,megaterium 8,megaterium 8,megaterium 8,megaterium 8,megaterium | +++-+ | C 5 C C 5 | | | | 6.0 4.8 5.2 4.6 5.0 | + + + + + + + | + + + + + | | | | + - + + - | ++++ | ++++ | | | | + | + | | + + + + - | + - + | | +++-+ | +++-+ | 33111 | W 61.61 | | |
| TSA-422 TSA-425 CMC-433 TSA-480 TSA-480 TSA-482 TSA-580 TSA-580 TSA-582 CMC-668 TSA-672 | B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus B.sphaericus | + + + + + - + + - + | | | | | 7.6 8.1 7.8 7.9 7.7 7.5 7.5 8.3 | + + + + + + + + + + | * * * * * * * * * * | | | | -+++++ | ++-++++++++ | + + + + + + | | -+ | | + | | | | ++ | 11111111111 | -+++ | +++++++ | 1111122211 | | - 2 2 2 - 2 2 2 | |
| T5A-660 | B.subtilis | - | 5 | - | - | ÷ | 5.2 | + | + | ŧ | ŧ | - | ŧ | + | - | - | - | - | - | - | + | ÷ | + | + | + | + | W | - | 5 | - |

Other Microorganisms. Isolated at 55° , R4

··· - · · ··· · · · · · · ·

| Isolate | Identification | Bram Stain Morphology | Mycelium Spore | Metabolism Flagella | Pigment Acid fact | Cell wall Catalase | 30. | 65° | 7% Salt | Citrate Azide | Anaerobic _u < 7 | pr J./ Arabinose | Xylose Mannose | Glucose | Starch | NO2 N | DNase | RNase | Cellulase | Lignase 1 inase | Lipase Pectinase | X yl anase |
|--|--|---|---|------------------------|---|-----------------------|---|---|------------|------------------|---------------------|---------------------|-------------------|----------|--------|----------|-------------------------------|-------------|-----------|--------------------|---------------------|------------|
| LIG-416 | aBrevibacterium sp. | + r | | 0 | | - | - + | - 4 | · _ | | | | - | | | | | . <u>.</u> | W | c · | -, w | |
| TSA-492 CMC-541 | Cellulomonas sp. Cellulomonas sp. | + r + r | | f - f - | | 1 _ | + - | - + + - | - | - + - | - + | | - | | - | + - | + - | - | A N | - (5 | 07 W - W | - |
| T5A-495 | Clostridium sp. | + r | - st | f - | | + | | + + | - | | | - 5 | + - | - + | + | + | + + | - | - | | - 8 | N |
| LIG-468 | Coryneform | + r | | o | | - | | - 4 | - | | - | | - • | + + | - | - | + | - | W | | | - |
| TSA-452 LIP-460 TSA-521 | Flavobacterium sp. Flavobacterium sp. Flavobacterium sp. | - r - r - r | | 0 - 0 - 0 - | y - y - y - | - | + | + - + + - + | | - + | | | | | - | | | - - + | | | | |
| CMC-540 | Klebsella sp. | - r | | f - | | - | + + | + - | - | | | | + | | - | + · | | - | - | | | - |
| CMC-465 TSA-522 | Hicropolyspora sp. Micropolyspora sp. | + f + f | + cs + as | 0 0.~ | g - 6 - | 4 - 4 - | + - + | - + - + | - | | | | - 1 | + + | + | - | + - - + | - + | - | | - 60 | 2 - |
| TSA-401 TSA-451 TSA-520 CMC-538 | Pseudononas sp. Pseudononas sp. Pseudononas sp. Pseudononas sp. | - r - r - r - r | + - | 05 05 0- | | | - + - + - + - + | - + - + + + | | | | | - · - - | | - | | + - | | | | | |
| TSA-405 TSA-411 CMC-415 CMC-420 TSA-450 TSA-450 TSA-455 TSA-456 TSA-456 LIP-463 CMC-466 TSA-523 CMC-466 TSA-524 LIP-532 CMC-539 | Streptomyces sp. Streptomyces sp. | +++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++ | + cl + cl cl cl cl cl cl cl cl cl cl cl cl cl c | | 3 7 7 7 3 3 7 7 7 8 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 | 1 | - + - + | +-+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++ | | + + + | | | | + + F | - | | * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * | | | | | |
| TSA-412 TSA-453 CMC-466 | Streptosporangium s Streptosporangium s Streptosporangium s | p.+ f p.+ f p.+ f | + sb + s + sb | 0 - 0 - 0 | * - * - | 3 - 3 - - | - + - + | - + - + - + | | | | | - | , | | | + + + - + | | - | | - W | |
| TSA-409 TSA-457 | Thermoactinomyces s Thermoactinomyces s | 0.+ f 0.+ f | + as + as | o - 0 | w - W | 3 - 3 - | - + - + | - + - + | | | | | - 1 | + + | - | | + - | - | - | - r | 0 - | - |
| LIP-531 | Thermomonospora sp. | + + - | + a | o - | v - | 4 - | - + | + + | . . | | | | | | | - | | - | - | | | - |

A-9.5

:

1

Other Microorganisms. Isolated at 28°, R4

| Isolate | Identification | Gram Stain Morphology Mycelium Spore | Metabolism Flagella | Pigment Acid fast | Cell wall Catalase 30° | 55° 65° | 7% Salt Citrate Azide | Anaerobic pH 5.7 Arabinose | Xylose Mannose | Glucose Starch | N 2 | RNASE | Cellulase Linnase | Lipase | Pectinase Xylanase |
|---|---|--|---------------------------------|----------------------|------------------------------|---|-----------------------------|-----------------------------------|-------------------|---|-----|-------------------------------|----------------------|--------|----------------------------|
| TSA-585 | Brevibacterium sp. | + r | D - | | • | + + - | + | | | | | | | - | |
| TSA-496 TSA-497 | Clostridium sp. Clostridium sp. | + r - t + r - t | f - f - | | + - + - | + + - - + - | | - + <u>e</u> + e | | | | | | · - | ¥ ¥ |
| TSA-501 TSA-502 TSA-581 TSA-583 CMC-592 LIG-598 TSA-662 | Corynebacterium sp. Corynebacterium sp. Corynebacterium sp. Corynebacterium sp. Corynebacterium sp. Corynebacterium sp. Corynebacterium sp. | + r + r + r + r + r + r | 0 + - 0 0 0 | | | + + - + + + - + + + - + + + + + + + - | + + + + + + | + + - + + + + + | | - + 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 | | + + + + + + - + - | | | - 28835- 8 - 887 |
| CMC-435 | Cytophaga sp. | - r | o - | у - | | + + - | | - + - | - | - | | | - 5 | ; - | a – |
| TSA-661 | Enterobacter sp. | - r | fр | | | + + - | | 1 | | | | | | • - | n – |
| TSA-420 CMC-596 LIG-600 | Flavobacterium sp. Flavobacterium sp. Flavobacterium sp. | - r - r | 0 5 0 - 0 - | y - y - y - | | + + - + + - + + - | | + | | + + + | | + - | | | |
| TSA-432 TSA-500 CMC-597 | Klebsiella sp. Klebsiella sp. Klebsiella sp. | - r - r - r | f - f - f - | | + - - + + - | + + - + + - + + - | + + + | + + + - + + + - + | + | | · | + - + - + + | c | - | H - |
| CMC-434 TSA-586 CMC-591 CMC-595 | Pseudomonas sp. Pseudomonas sp. Pseudomonas sp. Pseudomonas sp. | - r - r - r | 05 05 05 05 | | | + + - + + - + + - + + - | | + + - + + - + | | | | + - + - | 5 | · _ · | W - - 5 - W - |
| TSA-423 CMC-436 TSA-498 CMC-593 LIG-599 | Streptomyces sp. Streptomyces sp. Streptomyces sp. Streptomyces sp. Streptomyces sp. | + f + cl + f + cl + f + cs + f + cl + f + cl + f + cl | 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - | 8 | | + + - - + - + + - + + + + + + | + + - + | - + - + + - + + + - + | | - - - + + | | + - + - + - | W- W - | | 5 M 5 S W 5 - |
| TAA-439 LIG-490 TAA-437 T5A-426 CMC-665 | Aspergillus sp. Aspergillus sp. Penicillium sp. Trichoderma sp. Yeast | + F + + F + + F + + F + - + y - | 0 - 0 - 0 - 1 - f - | G - ₩ - ₩ - | | + - + - + - + + + + + - | + + | - + - + + - + - + - + | • + • + • + | - | | | - c w d - c | | 55 |

ţ

Appendix - 10

Relative Tolerance to Composts (C:N=35) of the Predominant Flora Isolated at each Peak of Respiratory Activity ¹

| Genws | % Isolate-Pea | Growth A 1 k ² | ilong Streak 2 | on Compost 3 | Sampled 4 | at Peak: & Climax |
|--|-----------------------------|---------------------------------|---|---|----------------------------|--|
| Urea-bark Com | post | | | | | |
| Bacillus sp. | 801-1 | 100 100 | 100 100 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | 100 100 |
| Bacillus sp. | 802-1 | 100 100 | 100 100 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | 100 100 |
| Bacillus sp. | 803-1 | 100 100 | 100 100 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | 100 100 |
| Bacillus sp. | 817-2 | 100 100 | 100 100 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | $100 100 \\ 100 100 \\ 100 100 \\ 100 100 $ |
| Bacillus sp. | 818-2 | 100 100 | 100 100 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | |
| Bacillus sp. | 819-2 | 100 100 | 100 100 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | |
| Bacillus sp. | 829-3 | 90 B2 | 95 98 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | $100 100 \\ 100 100 \\ 100 100 \\ 100 100 $ |
| Bacillus sp. | 830-3 | 56 57 | 61 74 | 96 100 1 | 00 100 | |
| Streptomyces | sp. 831-3 | 0 0 | 5 7 | 88 100 1 | 00 100 | |
| Thermomonospo | ora sp.850-4 | 0 0 | 12 16 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | 59 68 |
| Thermomonospo | ora sp.851-4 | 0 0 | 6 10 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | 36 23 |
| Streptomyces | sp. 854-4 | 0 0 | 33 39 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | 100 100 |
| Thermomonospo | ra sp.865-C | 0 0 | 0 0 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | 86 90 |
| Thermomonospo | ra sp.866-C | 0 0 | 8 5 | 93 BB 1 | 00 100 | 40 31 |
| Streptomyces | sp. 867-C | 0 0 | 69 66 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | 100 100 |
| IBDU-bark Com | post | | | | | |
| Bacillus sp. Bacillus sp. Streptomyces | 812-1 813-1 sp. 814-1 | 100 100 100 100 88 100 | $\begin{array}{cccc} 100 & 100 \\ 100 & 100 \\ 100 & 100 \end{array}$ | 100 100 1 100 100 1 100 100 1 | 00 100 00 100 00 100 | $\begin{array}{ccc} 100 & 100 \\ 100 & 100 \\ 100 & 100 \end{array}$ |
| Thermomonospo | ra sp.824-2 | 0 0 | 55 B4 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | 44 60 |
| Thermomonospo | ra sp.825-2 | 0 0 | 66 45 | 87 100 1 | 00 100 | 83 70 |
| Pseudomonas s | p. 826-2 | 12 20 | 100 100 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | 100 100 |
| Thermomonospo | ra sp.845-3 | 0 0 | 12 0 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | 87 33 |
| Thermomonospo | ra sp.846-3 | 0 0 | 22 15 | 93 81 1 | 00 100 | 100 100 |
| Streptomyces | sp. 847-3 | 0 0 | 79 66 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | 100 100 |
| Streptomyces | sp. 859-4 | 0 0 | 55 30 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | 100 100 |
| Streptomyces | sp. 860-4 | 0 0 | 55 67 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | 100 100 |
| Thermomonospo | rasp.861-4 | 0 0 | 0 0 | 69 73 1 | 00 100 | 73 57 |
| Streptomyces | sp. 873-C | 0 0 | 14 22 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | 100 100 |
| Streptomyces | sp. 874-C | 0 0 | 39 24 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | 100 100 |
| Bacillus sp. | 877-C | 90 100 | 100 100 | 100 100 1 | 00 100 | 100 100 |

^a The three most numerous isolates obtained from RB at each peak in respiratory activity (Figure 19) and at d2B (climax flora) were streaked across a sterile compost suspention of varing concentration in solid agar. The precentage growth along the streak is given for duplicate runs.

² Isolates were named by culture number and associated peak in respiratory, activity (-1, -2, -3, -4 or C).

Anaylsis of Variance of Bacterial Growth in Agar Containing Compost of Various Ages.

| Source of Variation | df | MS | F-Test | |
|--|----------------------|---------------------------------------|------------------------------|-------------------|
| Peak of Respiration Isolate Peak.Isolate Residual | 4 21 84 110 | 20.586 0.7627 0.3726 0.00866 | 2377.027 88.070 43.023 | *** *** *** |
| Coefficient of Variati | on 6.1 | 1 % | · | |
| LSD:0.03> between any | two means | 5 : 0.244 | | |
| ¹ Calculated on log ₁₀ | + 1 trans | formed da | ata given | in the above |
| table see cientifica | nt diffo- | ance at a | . (0 01 | |
Appendices

Appendix - 11

PHYTOTOXINS OF BARK AND COMPOST

A.) Plant Bioassay of Phytotoxins in 28 Day Old Composts :

| Composit | C:N | FVF | 2 | 1 2 | 2 3 | en | ath } | of | Lei | ttu 7 (| ce 8 | Rad: 9 1(| ica)) 11 | 1 (1 1 12 | 1.m) 2 1 | for 3 14 | Ri 1 | ≥p: 5 1(| 5 17 | 7 18 | 9 1 9 | 7 20 |
|-------------|------|---------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|------------|----------|--------------|--------------|--------------|-------------|-------------|----------|-------------|----------|-----------|----------|----------|
| Fish-bark | 25 | + | 0 | 9 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 0 | ğ | 4 | 0 | Ő | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | 35 | + | 12 | 20 | 15 | 16 | 10 15 | 13 | 11 | 15 | 17 | 15 | ıž | 18 | 1Ž | 12 | 15 18 | 14 13 | 18 | 13 | 16 | 16 |
| Urea-bark | 25 | + | Ĩ | ìě | 10 | ó | 0 | - õ | 0 | | - ŭ | Ĩ | ó | 10 | Ó | 10 | 0 | 0 | | 0 | 0 | Õ |
| | 35 | + | 16 | ıž | ě | ž | 12 13 | 13 | 12 12 | 6 | 777 | Ž | 8 8 | 4 | 1Ž | ě | 10 | Ž | ý 8 | 10^{12} | 11 | 9 10 |
| Sewage-bark | 25 | + | ó | ó | õ | ó | Õ | ō | ō | • ō | ó | Ö | õ | 0 | 0 | õ | ō | Ö Ö | ō | 0 | Ö | 0 |
| | 35 | + | Ž | 12 | 59 | 68 | 6 | 6 13 | 55 | 4 | 2 | 33 | 34 | 3 | 23 | 277 | 63 | 4 5 | 9 2 | 8 | 10 | 63 |
| ₩ater Contr | 01 | .+ - | 2Ž 26 | 25 26 | 29 25 | 20 28 | 23 24 | 23 22 | 24 28 | 25 23 | 21 23 | 21 20 | 23 20 | 28 24 | 25 25 | 22 22 | 24 27 | 26 26 | 27 23 | 22 25 | 20 24 | 23 25 |
| 1 Lettuce s | eedl | ing | WE | ere | gro | | in | bui | fer | ed | (p) | 1 6. | 0) | wat | er | ext | rac | ts | (20 |)%) | of | |

composts for 72h at 28° in the dark.

2 Polyvinylpolypyrrolidone (PVP) was shacken twice with the extracts, centrifuged, and the supernatant used in the bioassay.

Analysis of Variance of Lettuce Root Lengths Following Growth of Plants in Water Extracts of 28d Old Compost ¹

| Source of Variation | df | MS | F-Test | |
|--|-----------|-----------------|-----------|------------------|
| Compost Residual | 7 152 | 5.491 0.0225 | 244.129 | ≚ ∦ ¥ |
| Coefficient of Variat: | ion 18.1 | % | • | |
| LSD.o.oi, between any | two means | : 0.122 | | |
| ¹ Calculated on log ₁₀ | + 1 trans | formed da | ata given | in the above |

Table. *** - significant difference p < 0.01. See Table 24.

A-11.1